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Al Najjar v. Ashcroft
United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit
July 18, 2001, Decided ; July 18, 2001, Filed
Nos. 99-14391, 99-14807.
Reporter
257 F.3d 1262; 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS 15994; 14 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C 977

Fedaa Al NAJJAR, Mazen Al Najjar, Petitioners, v. John
ASHCROFT, Attorney General, U.S. Department of Justice,
et al., Respondents.
Subsequent History: [**1] Rehearing En Banc Denied
October 25, 2001, Reported at: 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS
30073.
Rehearing, en banc, denied by Najjar v. Ashcroft, 275 F.3d
1085, 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS 30073 (11th Cir. Fla., 2001)
Related proceeding at United States v. Al-Arian, 2003 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 6432 (M.D. Fla., Apr. 10, 2003)
Prior History: Petitions for Review of Orders of the Board
of Immigration Appeals. BIA Nos. A73-228-388;
A26-599-077.
Najjar v. Reno, 97 F. Supp. 2d 1329, 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
8185 (S.D. Fla., 2000)
Disposition: PETITIONS FOR REVIEW DENIED.

Core Terms
alien, persecution, asylum, deportation, immigration,
well-founded, suspension, political opinion, designation,
proceedings, terrorist, decisions, judicial notice, removal,
motion to reopen, transitional, imputed, physical presence,
continuous, fail to demonstrate, nationality, refugee,
eligibility, withholding, notice, cases, courts, habitual,
deportation proceedings, administrative record

Case Summary

Overview
Petitioners raised a myriad of issues. The court declined to
entertain evidence that was not contained in the
administrative record. As to asylum, the only question on
appeal was statutory eligibility. The court found that the
BIA’s conclusion that petitioners failed to demonstrate any
″well-founded fear of persecution on account″ of any
statutory factor to be supported by substantial evidence. As
to withholding of deportation, because petitioners failed to
demonstrate a ″well-founded fear of persecution″ sufficient
to support an asylum claim, the BIA properly found that
they were unable to satisfy the greater burden attending a
request for withholding of removal. Regarding suspension
of deportation, the court concluded it had no jurisdiction to
review the BIA’s determination that the wife failed to
demonstrate ″extreme hardship.″ The court rejected the
husband’s argument that the BIA erred in concluding that he
failed to demonstrate the continuous physical presence
element of his suspension claim. The court affirmed the
imposition of a ″heavy burden″ standard as to their motion
to reopen. It affirmed denial of the motion to remand under
the Convention Against Torture.
Outcome
The decisions were affirmed.

LexisNexis® Headnotes
Civil Procedure > Judgments > Relief From Judgments >
Altering & Amending Judgments

Procedural Posture
Petitioners, husband and wife in consolidated deportation
proceedings, appealed Board of Immigration Appeals’ (BIA)
decisions upholding a deportation order which denied their
asylum petitions, withholding of removal, and suspension of
deportation under §§ 208(a), 243(h), 244(a) of the
Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), specifically 8
U.S.C.S. §§ 1158(a), 1253(h), 1252(a).

Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
General Overview

HN1 Under the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant
Responsibility Act of 1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208,
110 Stat. 3009-546, as amended by Extension of Stay in
United States for Nurses Act, Pub. L. No. 104-302, 110 Stat.
3656 (1996), the court’s authority to review a final order of
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deportation was altered from the previous grant under § 106
of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), codified at 8
U.S.C.S. § 1105a. Specifically, § 306(b) of IIRIRA repealed
§ 106 of the INA, formerly 8 U.S.C.S. § 1105a, and § 306(a)
of IIRIRA replaced it with § 242 of the INA, now codified
at 8 U.S.C.S. § 1252.
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
General Overview

HN2 Where a final order of deportation is entered more
than 30 days after the September 30, 1996, enactment of the
Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility
Act of 1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208, 110 Stat.
3009-546, and the deportation proceedings were begun
before April 1, 1997, the proceedings are not subject to the
permanent new rules at § 242 of the Immigration and
Nationality Act, 8 U.S.C.S. § 1252. Instead, IIRIRA’s
″transitional changes in judicial review″ (transitional rules)
govern such a case.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview

HN3 An order of deportation shall become final upon
dismissal of an appeal by the Board of Immigration Appeals,
among other things.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > Jurisdiction
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
General Overview

HN4 Under the transitional rules, the ″new rules″ do not
apply unless a case meets the enumerated exceptions in §
309(c)(4) of the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant
Responsibility Act of 1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208,
110 Stat. 3009-546. That is, under the transitional rules, the
old rules apply unless any of the transitional rules is
triggered. § 309(c)(1) of IIRIRA. Thus, as long as § 309(c)
of IIRIRA does not expressly alter the court’s 8 U.S.C.S. §
1105a review, the court shall be guided by this old rule in
reviewing a transitional alien’s petition.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > General Overview
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Administrative
Record > General Overview
Environmental Law > Administrative
Litigation > Judicial Review

Proceedings

&

Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Judicial Review
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Records on Appeal

Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN5 Under § 106(a)(4) of the Immigration and Nationality
Act, 8 U.S.C.S. § 1105a(a)(4) (repealed), an alien’s petition
shall be determined solely upon the administrative record
upon which the deportation order is based. Indeed, the
general rule, applicable across the board to judicial review
of administrative action and merely codified for immigration
appeals in § 1105a(a)(4), is that the court may not go
outside the administrative record.
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN6 It is axiomatic that immigration courts are better suited
than a reviewing court to make factual determinations
regarding an alien’s status. Courts of appeal sit as reviewing
bodies to engage in highly deferential review of Board of
Immigration Appeals and immigration judge determinations.
Commensurate with this role, the court cannot engage in
fact-finding on appeal, nor may it weigh evidence that was
not previously considered below.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Administrative
Record > Remands
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN7 In transitional cases, § 309(c)(4)(B) of the Illegal
Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of
1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208, 110 Stat. 3009-546,
directs that a court may not order the taking of additional
evidence under 28 U.S.C.S. § 2347(c). Section 2347(c)
pertains to an application in the court of appeals for leave to
adduce additional evidence that is material and for which
there were reasonable grounds for failure to adduce the
evidence before the agency. 28 U.S.C.S. § 2347(c). Thus,
IIRIRA’s prohibition of remanding for the consideration of
additional evidence pertains to non-record evidence that is
introduced in the first instance before a reviewing court.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Administrative
Record > Remands
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN8 The court interprets § 309(c)(4)(B) of the Illegal
Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of
1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208, 110 Stat. 3009-546, as
eliminating its authority under 28 U.S.C.S. § 2347(c) to
remand to the Board of Immigration Appeals (BIA) so that
an alien can present ″additional evidence.″ This means that,
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in transitional cases, IIRIRA prohibits the court from
ordering the BIA to consider evidence that is offered for the
first time on appeal, even if such material satisfies the rigors
of § 2347(c). Under transitional rule § 309(c)(4)(B) of
IIRIRA, the court must act within the constructs of 8
U.S.C.S. § 1105a(a)(4), and may not rely on its 28 U.S.C.S.
§ 2347(c) authority. Given this procedural paradigm, §
309(c)(4)(B) of IIRIRA is a jurisdictional bar that precludes
the court’s consideration of non-record evidence submitted
for the first time on appeal.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Administrative
Record > General Overview
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Administrative
Record > Remands
Civil Procedure > Judgments > Relief From Judgments > Newly
Discovered Evidence

Evidence > Judicial Notice > General Overview

HN10 The court may take judicial notice of another court’s
order for the limited purpose of recognizing the judicial act
that the order represents or the subject matter of the
litigation and related filings.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Administrative
Record > General Overview
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN12 Not only is the court’s review limited to the
administrative record created below, 8 U.S.C.S. §
1105a(a)(4), but arguments which were not raised at the
administrative level may not be interposed on appeal. 8
U.S.C.S. § 1105a(c).

Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

Civil Procedure > Pleading & Practice > Motion Practice >
General Overview

HN9 Under 8 U.S.C.S. § 1105a(a)(4), the court cannot
consider evidence that was not previously brought before
the Board of Immigration Appeals. The court’s role as a
reviewing body does not contemplate a fact-finding function,
and § 1105a(a)(4) stands to prohibit the court from such an
endeavor in the usual case by limiting review to the
administrative record. Even if the court were inclined to
disregard § 1105a(a)(4) under its 28 U.S.C.S. § 2347(c)
discretion, as some circuits have done, § 309(c)(4)(B) of the
Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility
Act of 1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208, 110 Stat.
3009-546, has stripped the court of authority to step outside
of the administrative record and to remand for the
consideration of non-record evidence.

Civil Procedure > Judgments > Relief From Judgments >
General Overview

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewability >
Exhaustion of Remedies
Civil Procedure > ... > Justiciability > Exhaustion of Remedies >
General Overview
Civil Procedure > ... > Justiciability > Exhaustion of Remedies >
Administrative Remedies
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Exhaustion of Remedies
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN11 Under 8 U.S.C.S. § 1105a(c) (repealed), which
applies to transitional aliens through incorporation, there
shall be no review of a claim if the alien has not exhausted
the administrative remedies available to him as of right
under the immigration laws and regulations.

Civil Procedure > Judgments > Relief From Judgments > Newly
Discovered Evidence
Evidence > Judicial Notice > General Overview
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN13 Under 8 C.F.R. § 3.2(c) (2001), an alien may make a
timely motion to reopen his or her case so that new evidence
may be tendered and considered. A motion to reopen filed
with the immigration courts -- and not a motion for judicial
notice lodged with the reviewing court -- is the appropriate
vehicle through which to present new evidence.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Standards of Review >
Substantial Evidence
Civil Procedure > Appeals > Standards of Review > General
Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Judicial Review
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Restriction on Removal > Judicial Review
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review
Immigration Law > ... > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Substantial Evidence
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HN14 The appropriate standard of review is well-settled. A
factual determination by the Board of Immigration Appeals
(BIA) that an alien is statutorily ineligible for asylum or
withholding is reviewed under the substantial evidence test.
This means that the reviewing court must affirm the BIA’s
decision if it is supported by reasonable, substantial, and
probative evidence on the record considered as a whole. The
court has repeatedly emphasized that the test is highly
deferential, and that the court must defer to the BIA unless
a reasonable factfinder would have to conclude that the
requisite fear of persecution. While the court considers the
BIA’s interpretation of applicable statutes de novo, it is also
obliged to defer to the BIA’s interpretation if that
interpretation is reasonable.

the meaning of § 101(a)(42)(A) of the Immigration and
Nationality Act (INA), codified at 8 U.S.C.S. §
1101(a)(42)(A). It is the asylum applicant who bears the
burden of proving such statutory ″refugee″ status. 8 C.F.R.
§ 208.13(a) (2001). Once the alien demonstrates that he or
she is a ″refugee″ within the meaning of the INA, the
decision to grant asylum is committed to the Attorney
General’s discretion, which has been delegated to Board of
Immigration Appeals. 8 C.F.R. § 3.1(d)(1) (2001). Both the
court and the United States Supreme Court have emphasized
that an alien who satisfies the applicable standard for
asylum does not have a right to remain in the United States;
he or she is simply eligible for asylum, if the Attorney
General, in her discretion, chooses to grant it.

Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewability >
Exhaustion of Remedies

HN15 The court reviews only the Board of Immigration
Appeals’ decision, except to the extent that it expressly
adopts the immigration judge’s (IJ) opinion. Insofar as the
board adopts the IJ’s reasoning, the court reviews the IJ’s
decision as well.

Civil Procedure > ... > Justiciability > Exhaustion of Remedies >
General Overview

Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview

HN16 The Immigration and Nationality Act provides that
any alien who is physically present in the United States
irrespective of such alien’s status, may apply for asylum. 8
U.S.C.S. § 1158(a)(1). The Attorney General may grant
asylum to an alien if the Attorney General determines that
such alien is a refugee within the meaning of 8 U.S.C.S. §
1101(a)(42)(A).
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Refugee Status > General Overview

HN17 See 8 U.S.C.S. § 1101(a)(42)(A).
Administrative Law > Separation of Powers > Executive
Controls
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Administrative Proceedings
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Eligibility for Asylum

HN18 A grant of asylum entails two steps. First, the
applicant must demonstrate that he or she is a refugee within

Civil Procedure > ... > Justiciability > Exhaustion of Remedies >
Administrative Remedies
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Exhaustion of Remedies

HN19 Under 8 U.S.C.S. § 1105a(c), the court is divested of
jurisdiction to consider a claim which was not presented to
the immigration courts, as an alien must exhaust the
administrative remedies available to him prior to obtaining
judicial review.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Eligibility for Asylum
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Refugee Status > Eligibility for Refugee Status

HN20 To demonstrate asylum eligibility, an alien must
prove he or she is a ″refugee″ within the meaning of the
Immigration and Nationality Act.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Eligibility for Asylum
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN21 The court utilizes a very deferential substantial
evidence test to review the immigration judge’s factual
determination that petitioners have not demonstrated
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″well-founded fear of persecution″ on the grounds of their
actual political opinion. The court will reverse the denial of
asylum only if the evidence presented by the applicant is so
overwhelming that a reasonable factfinder would have to
conclude that the requisite fear of persecution exists.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview

HN23 An alien must present specific, detailed facts showing
a good reason to fear that he or she will be singled out for
persecution.
Copyright Law > Foreign & International Protections >
Multilateral Treaties > Uruguay Round Agreements Act
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Refugee Status > General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Refugee Status > Administrative Proceedings
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Refugee Status > Eligibility for Refugee Status

HN22 Demonstrating one’s political opinion is merely one
component of the ″refugee″ inquiry. 8 U.S.C.S. §
1101(a)(42)(A).
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Acts & Mental States > Mens
Rea > Knowledge
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview

HN24 While evidence that authorities lie in wait to punish
an asylum applicant would certainly strengthen any petition
to the Board of Immigration Appeals, it is not evidence
necessary to the ″well-founded fear″ inquiry.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Eligibility for Asylum

HN25 To be eligible for asylum, the alien must establish a
″well-founded fear″ that his or her political opinion (or
other statutorily listed factor) will cause harm or suffering
that rises to the level of ″persecution.″ 8 U.S.C.S. §
1101(a)(42)(A). Demonstrating such a connection requires
the alien to present specific, detailed facts showing a good
reason to fear that he or she will be singled out for
persecution on account of such an opinion.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview

HN26 Political conditions which affect the populace as a
whole or in large part are generally insufficient to establish
persecution.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Eligibility for Asylum

HN27 An imputed political opinion, whether correctly or
incorrectly attributed, may constitute a ground for a
″well-founded fear″ of political persecution within the
meaning of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA). An
asylum applicant may prevail on a theory of imputed
political opinion if he shows that the persecutor falsely
attributed an opinion to him, and then persecuted him
because of that mistaken belief about his views.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview

HN28 Where the alien failed to demonstrate a ″well-founded
fear,″ the court need not decide whether the evidence
compels the conclusion that the alien held a political
opinion, because even if it does, the alien still has to
establish that the record also compels the conclusion that he
has a well-founded fear of persecution because of that
political opinion.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview

HN29 While the precise contours of the ″well-founded fear″
inquiry continue to evolve, it is well-established that it has
both an objective and subjective component. What this
means is that an applicant must demonstrate that his or her
fear of persecution is subjectively genuine and objectively
reasonable. The subjective component is generally satisfied
by the applicant’s credible testimony that he or she genuinely
fears persecution. In most cases, the objective prong can be
fulfilled either by establishing past persecution or that he or
she has a good reason to fear future persecution.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Eligibility for Asylum
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN30 The denial of asylum may be reversed only if the
evidence presented by the applicant is so powerful that a
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reasonable factfinder would have to conclude that the
requisite fear of persecution exists.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview

HN31 An alien must demonstrate specific, detailed facts
showing a good reason to fear that he or she will be singled
out for persecution.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN32 To reverse a determination that an alien is statutorily
ineligible for asylum, there must be record evidence that is
so compelling that a reasonable factfinder would be
compelled to reach a conclusion contrary to that of the
Board of Immigration Appeals.

to the country of ″last habitual residence.″ This means that
where an applicant is stateless, the ″well-founded fear″
inquiry may be directed to the individual’s ″last habitual
residence,″ and not the country of the alien’s ″nationality.″
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN36 The ″last habitual residence″ designation is a question
of fact. As such, the court reviews this conclusion under a
deferential substantial evidence test.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Reviewability >
Exhaustion of Remedies
Civil Procedure > ... > Justiciability > Exhaustion of Remedies >
General Overview
Civil Procedure > ... > Justiciability > Exhaustion of Remedies >
Administrative Remedies
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Exhaustion of Remedies

Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Restriction on Removal > General Overview

Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

Immigration Law > ... > Evidence > Burdens of Proof > General
Overview

International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Asylum

HN33 Where an applicant is unable to meet the well-founded
fear standard for asylum, he is generally precluded from
qualifying for either asylum or withholding of deportation.
The evidentiary burden for establishing entitlement to
withholding of deportation should be greater than that
imposed on aliens who seek asylum.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview

HN34 The statutory methodology for determining the
potential country of deportation is different from that
utilized to pinpoint the asylum testing country.
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Asylum > Eligibility for Asylum

HN35 Statelessness alone does not warrant asylum, as all
asylum applicants must demonstrate the same well-founded
fear of persecution under § 101(a)(42)(A) of the Immigration
and Nationality Act (INA). Indeed, the INA expressly
contemplates that there will be asylum applicants with a
″nationality,″ and those with ″no nationality.″ 8 U.S.C.S. §
1101(a)(42)(A). In the case of an applicant with ″no
nationality,″ § 1101(a)(42)(A) tests the petition by reference

Labor & Employment Law > Collective Bargaining & Labor
Relations > Enforcement of Bargaining Agreements >
Exhaustion of Remedies

HN37 The court will not consider arguments raised for the
first time on appeal.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview

HN39 See 8 U.S.C.S. § 1253(a).
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview

HN38 8 U.S.C.S. § 1253 authorizes the Attorney General to
specify the country to which the alien will be sent, once the
alien’s designation fails or the alien refuses to designate
such a country. The Attorney General’s discretion under §
1253(a), which has been delegated to the Board of
Immigration Appeals, 8 C.F.R. § 3.1(d), is to be aided by
seven statutory guidelines, 8 U.S.C.S. § 1253(a).
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview

HN40 While 8 U.S.C.S. § 1253(a) gives the alien the power
initially to designate the deportation country, when that
designation fails or the alien refuses to specify such a
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country, the provision reposes very broad discretion in the
Board of Immigration Appeals to designate the removal
country.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > Hearing Procedures
Immigration Law > ... > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Abuse of Discretion

HN41 Where, for any reason, the alien refuses to designate
the removal country, the designation is committed to the
Board of Immigration Appeals to be determined in
accordance with seven statutory guidelines. 8 U.S.C.S. §
1253(a).
Evidence > Admissibility > Character Evidence
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > Suspension of Deportation

HN42 In a case where § 244(a)(1) of the Immigration and
Nationality Act (INA), codified at 8 U.S.C.S § 1254(a)(1),
which was repealed by § 308(b)(7) of the Illegal Immigration
Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996 (IIRIRA),
Pub. L. No. 104-208, 110 Stat. 3009-546, governs suspension
applications, in order to be eligible for suspension of
deportation under § 244(a)(1) of the INA, an applicant must
establish that: (1) he or she has been physically present in
the United States for a continuous period of not less than
seven years immediately preceding the date of such
application; (2) during all of such period he was and is a
person of good moral character; and (3) he or she is a person
whose deportation would, in the opinion of the Attorney
General, result in extreme hardship to the alien or to his
spouse, parent, or child, who is a citizen of the United States
or an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence. 8
U.S.C.S. § 1254(a)(1).
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > General Overview
Legal Ethics > Sanctions > General Overview
Legal Ethics > Sanctions > Suspensions

HN43 Even if an alien establishes statutory eligibility for
suspension under § 244 of the Immigration and Nationality
Act, the Attorney General possesses the unfettered discretion
to deny such an application. The applicant for suspension
bears the burden of demonstrating both statutory eligibility

and that the equities merit a favorable exercise of discretion.
8 C.F.R. 240.64(a) (2001).
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN44 The Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant
Responsibility Act of 1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208,
110 Stat. 3009-546, commands that in the case of a
transitional alien there shall be no appeal of any discretionary
decision under §§ 212(c), 212(h), 212(j), 244, or 245 of the
Immigration and Nationality Act (INA). Section 309(c)(4)(E)
of IIRIRA does not preclude the court’s review of all
decisions under § 244 of the INA, but applies only to any
discretionary decision under the enumerated provisions.
Civil Procedure > Appeals > Standards of Review > Abuse of
Discretion
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > General Overview
Immigration Law > ... > Judicial Review > Standards of
Review > Abuse of Discretion

HN45 As to the ″extreme hardship″ prong, the United States
Supreme Court has made it clear that the Attorney General
and his delegates have the authority to construe extreme
hardship narrowly should they deem it wise to do so. This
indicates that the Supreme Court views this element as
discretionary. Before the Illegal Immigration Reform and
Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-208,
110 Stat. 3009-546, the United States Court of Appeals for
the Eleventh Circuit likewise viewed the ″extreme hardship″
element as discretionary insofar as it consistently reviewed
such determinations for abuse of discretion only -- instead
of employing a substantial evidence test.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > General Overview
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
Scope of Review

HN46 The court concludes that in transitional cases,
″extreme hardship″ under § 244 of the Immigration and
Nationality Act is a discretionary decision that § 309(c)(4)(E)
of the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant
Responsibility Act of 1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208,
110 Stat. 3009-546, bars from judicial review.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > Suspension of Deportation
Immigration Law > Judicial Proceedings > Judicial Review >
General Overview
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HN47 Continuous physical presence must be determined
from the facts, not through an exercise of discretion. Either
the petitioner has been continuously present in the United
States for seven years or the petitioner has not. There are
legal standards guiding this inquiry, Thus, the transitional
rules of judicial review provided in § 309(c)(4)(E) of the
Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility
Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-208, 110 Stat. 3009-546, do
not remove appellate jurisdiction over an alien’s challenge
to the Board of Immigration Appeals denial of an application
for suspension of deportation solely on this ground.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > General Overview

HN48 The determination of whether the seven year
continuous presence requirement has been met is subject to
legal standards that guide the inquiry and is thus,
″non-discretionary″ within the meaning of § 309(c)(4)(E) of
the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant
Responsibility Act of 1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208,
110 Stat. 3009-546. The determination of continuous
physical presence is not subject to the agency’s discretion,
but is a matter of applying the law to the facts of the case.
Accordingly, the ″continuous physical presence″ element of
§ 244 of the Immigration and Nationality Act is not a
″discretionary decision″ under § 309(c)(4)(E) of IIRIRA.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > General Overview
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > Cancellation of Removal

HN50 See 8 U.S.C.S. § 1229b(d)(1).
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > General Overview
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > Cancellation of Removal
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > Suspension of Deportation

HN49 The court interpreted § 305(c)(5) of the Illegal
Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of
1996 (IIRIRA), Pub. L. No. 104-208, 110 Stat. 3009-546, as
amended by § 203 of the Nicaraguan and Central American
Relief Act, Pub. L. 105-100, 111 Stat. 2160 (1997), to mean
that the continuous physical presence clock starts upon the
issuance of a ″notice to appear″ or an ″order to show cause″
and, thus, the stop-time provision applies to aliens who were
facing deportation and/or had applied for suspension of
deportation before enactment of IIRIRA.

Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > General Overview
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > Cancellation of Removal

HN51 A majority of the en banc Board of Immigration
Appeals interpreted § 240A(d)(1) of the Immigration and
Nationality Act, codified at 8 U.S.C.S. § 1229b(d)(1), to
mean that the continuous physical presence clock does not
start anew after the service of an Order to Show Cause.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Relief From
Deportation & Removal > General Overview

HN52 An alien does not begin a new period of continuous
physical presence after being served with an order to show
cause.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Administrative
Record > Remands
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Remand & Remittitur
Civil Procedure > Judgments > Relief From Judgments >
Motions to Reargue
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview

HN53 Under 8 C.F.R. § 3.1(d) (1999), the Board of
Immigration Appeals (BIA) may return a case to the
Immigration and Naturalization Service or immigration
judge for such further action as may be appropriate, without
entering a final decision on the merits of the case. While §
3.1(d) authorizes the BIA to order a remand, courts generally
look at the substance of such a motion to determine how it
should be scrutinized on appeal. If a motion to remand
simply articulates the remedy requested by an appeal, it is
treated as part of the appeal and not as a motion to reopen
or reconsider. Conversely, if a motion to remand seeks to
introduce evidence that has not previously been presented, it
is generally treated as a motion to reopen under 8 C.F.R. §
3.2(c) (1999). Where the motion is treated as one to reopen,
the pleading should be subjected to the substantive
requirements for such a motion.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview

HN54 The authority for motions to reopen derives solely
from regulations promulgated by the Attorney General.
Civil Procedure > Appeals > Standards of Review > Abuse of
Discretion
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview
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HN55 Under 8 C.F.R. § 3.2(c), the Attorney General has
commanded that a motion to reopen proceedings shall not
be granted unless it appears to the Board of Immigration
Appeals that evidence sought to be offered is material and
was not available and could not have been discovered or
presented at the former hearing. The provision is ″framed
negatively,″ by directing the board not to reopen unless
certain showings are made. It does not affirmatively require
the board to reopen the proceedings under any particular
condition. Thus, the regulations may be construed to provide
the board with discretion in determining under what
circumstances proceedings should be reopened. Indeed,
under the applicable regulations, the Attorney General has
broad discretion to grant or deny such motions. As such, the
court employs a very deferential abuse of discretion standard
in reviewing the board’s decision on a motion to reopen
regardless of the underlying basis of the alien’s request for
relief.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview

HN56 At a minimum, there are at least three independent
grounds upon which the Board of Immigration Appeals may
deny a motion to reopen: (1) failure to establish a prima
facie case; (2) failure to introduce evidence that was
material and previously unavailable; and (3) a determination
that despite the alien’s statutory eligibility for relief, he or
she is not entitled to a favorable exercise of discretion.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview

HN57 A party seeking reopening bears a ″heavy burden.″
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview

HN60 In making out a claim under the Convention Against
Torture, the burden of proof is on the applicant to establish
that it is more likely than not that he or she would be
tortured if removed to the proposed country of removal. 8
C.F.R. § 208.16(c)(2) (2001).
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview

HN61 See 8 C.F.R. § 208.18(a)(1) (2001).
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Restriction on Removal > General Overview
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview
International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Asylum

HN62 Relief under the Convention Against Torture is in the
form of the mandatory remedy of withholding of removal. 8
C.F.R. § 208.16(c) (2001).
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Restriction on Removal > General Overview
Immigration Law > Asylum, Refugees & Related Relief >
Restriction on Removal > Administrative Proceedings
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview
International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Asylum

HN63 The burden of proof for an applicant seeking
withholding of removal under the Convention Against
Torture, like that for an applicant seeking withholding of
removal under the statute, is higher than the burden imposed
on an asylum applicant. 8 C.F.R. § 208.16(c)(2) (2001).
Counsel: For Fedaa Al Najjar, Appellant (99-14391): Joseph
C. Hohenstein, Nationalities Service Center, Philadelphia,
PA.

HN58 See 8 C.F.R. § 208.18(b)(2).
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > Administrative
Proceedings > General Overview

HN59 Under 8 C.F.R. § 3.2(c), the Board of Immigration
Appeals is required to consider the factual assertions and
supporting evidentiary submissions in determining the merit
of a motion to reopen.
Immigration Law > Deportation & Removal > General
Overview
International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Human
Rights > Torture
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Opinion

1. Judicial Review of a Motion to Reopen 3543
[*1270] ANDERSON, Chief Judge:

2. Heavy Burden 3543
Mazen and Fedaa Al Najjar, a husband and wife in
consolidated deportation proceedings, appeal decisions of
the Board of Immigration Appeals (″BIA″) upholding an
immigration judge’s (″IJ’s″) order of deportation which
denied their petitions for asylum, withholding of removal,
and suspension of deportation under sections 208(a), 243(h)
and 244(a) of the Immigration and Nationality Act (″INA″),
8 U.S.C. §§ 1158 (a), 1253(h) and 1252(a) (1996). Because
we find the BIA’s decisions to be supported by reasonable,
substantial, and probative evidence on the record considered
as a whole, we affirm and dismiss their petitions. Due to the
complex procedural background of this case and the number
of challenges raised, we set out the following table of
contents to assist the reader of this opinion:
TABLE [**2] OF CONTENTS
I. Background 3511

3. Prima Facie CAT Claim 3544
III. Conclusion 3545
I. BACKGROUND
A. Factual Background
Mazen Abdel Abdulkarim Al Najjar (″Mazen″) was born in
1957 in Gaza. He lived in Palestine with his parents until his
first birthday, when he and his family moved to Saudi
Arabia. Mazen remained in Saudi Arabia with his parents
and five siblings for thirteen years. When Mazen was
fourteen, he moved to Egypt where he completed high
school and attended Cairo University, culminating in the
[**3] receipt of a bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering in
1979. From 1979 until 1981, Mazen worked and lived in the
United Arab Emirates (″UAE″) on a temporary work visa.

A. Factual Background 3511
B. Procedural Background 3513
1. IJ Proceedings 3513
2. The INS Detains Mazen 3515
3. BIA Review of the Al Najjars’ Deportation
Orders 3515
4. Mazen’s Habeas Corpus Proceedings 3516

Mazen first entered the United States in 1981 using a
Palestinian refugee travel [*1271] document issued by the
Egyptian government. He came to this country to pursue a
master’s degree in Industrial Engineering at North Carolina
Agricultural and Technical State University (″NCATSU″) in
Greensboro, North Carolina after obtaining authorization
from the Immigration and Naturalization Service (″INS″) to
remain in the United States for the duration of his
nonimmigrant graduate student status.

II. Analysis 3517
A. Judicial Review After IIRIRA 3517
*

In 1984, after completing most of his thesis, but before
graduation, Mazen left the United States to visit his parents

Honorable James L. Oakes, U.S. Circuit Judge for the Second Circuit, sitting by designation.
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in the UAE. 1 After this trip, Mazen re-entered this country
on December 8, 1984, and has not left the United States
since then. Upon re-entry, he completed the final draft of his
thesis and graduated with a master’s degree in Industrial
Engineering from NCATSU in May 1985.
[**4] Thereafter, Mazen entered a Ph.D. program in
Industrial Engineering at North Carolina State University
where he remained for two semesters. While at North
Carolina State, he was accepted into the doctoral program at
the University of South Florida (″USF″) in Tampa. Mazen
transferred to USF in 1986 and began working on his Ph.D.
In the fall of 1993, he finished his dissertation and, in 1994,
earned his Ph.D. in Industrial Engineering from USF.

On January 30, 1988, while working toward his Ph.D. at
USF, Mazen married his cousin, Fedaa Abdulkarim
Muhammed Shaladen Al Najjar, in Tampa, Florida. Fedaa
entered the United States on January 22, 1988, just days
before the wedding, at the age of twenty-three. She was
lawfully admitted to the United States by the INS as a
nonimmigrant visitor with authorization to remain for only
one year. Like Mazen, Fedaa entered this country with a
Palestinian refugee travel document issued by the Egyptian
government.
Fedaa was born in Saudi Arabia in 1964 to Palestinian
parents. She lived in Saudi Arabia with her parents, two
brothers, and four sisters from her birth until her entry into
the United States. While in Saudi Arabia, Fedaa attended
King Saud [**5] University, and received a bachelor’s
degree in Pharmacy. Fedaa’s father passed away in 1994,
while she was living in the United States, but Fedaa’s
mother, four sisters, and at least one of her two brothers
presently reside in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

condition while residing in the United States and,
consequentially, she no longer has a valid Saudi re-entry
visa.
Mazen has lived in Tampa, Florida since 1986 when he
began his studies at USF. Since Fedaa’s entry into the
United States in 1988, she has resided continuously in
Tampa, Florida, as well. While living there, the Al Najjars
had three daughters together. Each of the Al Najjars’ three
daughters is a lawful citizen of this country.
While living in Tampa, Fedaa and Mazen have been active
in the Arab-American and Muslim [**6] communities.
Mazen helped begin a mosque with the Islamic Community
of Tampa, where he was elected president [*1272] and
served in a capacity similar to an Imam, for those of the
Sunni Muslim faith. Fedaa has been active in various
charitable events and programs sponsored by the mosque.
Through the mosque, Fedaa and Mazen also helped found a
private Muslim school, offering kindergarten through junior
high school classes. Over the years, Fedaa taught classes at
the mosque’s school and volunteered there in other
capacities.
While attending USF, Mazen helped begin the World and
Islam Studies Enterprise (″WISE″), a think-tank ostensibly
committed to educating the public about Islamic issues
through research, publishing, and seminars. To this end,
WISE held conferences with roundtable discussions
involving international Islamic leaders and scholars of the
Middle East. WISE also published various journals in
Arabic, tackling issues which face Muslims today, as well as
cataloging discussions from the organization’s conferences.
B. Procedural Background

Despite the fact that Fedaa was born in Saudi Arabia, she
has never been eligible for Saudi citizenship because Saudi
law grants citizenship solely based on Saudi ancestry. Fedaa
is of Palestinian ancestry and therefore is not entitled to
Saudi citizenship. Nonetheless, Fedaa obtained a Saudi
re-entry visa, which remained valid if she returned to Saudi
Arabia at least every six months. Fedaa failed to satisfy this

On April 19, 1985, the INS initiated deportation proceedings
against Mazen by issuing an Order to Show Cause (″OSC″)
under § 241(a)(9) [**7] of the INA, 8 U.S.C. § 1251 (a)(9)
(1984), for failing to maintain the conditions of his
nonimmigrant status by willfully providing untruthful
information to the INS. 2 The Service thereafter

1

Mazen’s parents recently became lawful permanent residents of the United States. They spend approximately one-half of the year in
this country and the other half in the UAE. Mazen’s brother lives in the UAE and works there as a banker. One of Mazen’s sisters also
resides in the UAE, with her husband and children.

2

These proceedings were initiated because of allegations made by Mazen’s first wife, Jan Fairbetter. Mazen met Jan in the fall of 1983
while they were both students in North Carolina. The couple married in January 1984. The following month, Mazen and Fairbetter went
to the INS office in Charlotte, North Carolina to submit Mazen’s application for adjustment of status. They did not have all the
appropriate documentation that day, so they left. In April 1985, Fairbetter and Mazen went back to the INS office in Charlotte to attempt
to submit the adjustment of status application again. While meeting with INS agents, Fairbetter informed the Service that her marriage
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supplemented the OSC, charging that Mazen had not
maintained the conditions of his nonimmigrant student
status under the INA. The case was administratively closed
on June 4, 1986, because Mazen failed to appear at the
hearing. Two weeks later, on June 18, 1986, Mazen formally
requested that the proceedings be reopened because he had
not received notice of the hearing until two days after it was
held. Mazen’s motion to reopen went unanswered for
almost ten years, until his 1985 deportation proceedings
were recalendared for February 8, 1996.
[**8] In the meantime, Fedaa self-reported for deportation

proceedings. On January 22, 1996, by OSC and Notice of
Hearing, the INS charged Fedaa as deporatable under §
241(a)(1)(B) of the INA, 8 U.S.C. § 1251 (a)(1)(B) (1996),
as a nonimmigrant alien who remained in the United States
for a longer period than permitted.
1. IJ Proceedings
On February 8, 1996, Mazen’s recalendared deportation
hearing was held. The Service issued a Form I-261 to
supplement the factual allegations contained in the April
1985 OSC. Over the objection of the INS, the IJ granted the
Al Najjars’ motions to consolidate their deportation
proceedings. Mazen and Fedaa both conceded deportability
under the INA but requested relief from deportation in the
form of asylum, withholding of removal, and suspension of
deportation. In July [*1273] and October of 1996,
consolidated hearings before an IJ in Orlando, Florida took
place.
At these hearings, Mazen and Fedaa argued that they were
stateless Palestinians and declined to designate a country of
deportation. Instead, the Al Najjars argued that no Middle
Eastern country would accept them as permanent residents
due to their lack of citizenship anywhere [**9] in the world.
In the course of the proceedings before the IJ, testimony
from witnesses was heard, and a voluminous amount of
documentary evidence was adduced. While much of this
evidence was relevant to proving the elements of the Al
Najjars’ petitions for relief, a substantial amount of evidence
pertained to Mazen’s professional associations while living
in Tampa, Florida. With respect to this latter type of
evidence, the INS produced various media accounts,
documents seized from WISE’s offices, and testimony of
special agents with the Federal Bureau of Investigations
(″FBI″) and the INS. This evidence, primarily offered by the

Service, purported to show an association between Mazen
and individuals supporting terrorism in the Middle East. The
INS argued that this terrorist evidence was offered to
demonstrate that the Al Najjars were not worthy of any
discretionary relief.
Much of the terrorist evidence offered to the IJ pertained to
Mazen’s and WISE’s involvement with Ramadan Abdullah
Shallah, a former adjunct professor at USF and an official of
WISE, who left the United States in June of 1995. On
October 31, 1995, at the funeral of assassinated Palestinian
Islamic Jihad (″PIJ″) [**10] founder and leader Fathi
Shikaki, Shallah was allegedly proclaiming himself as the
new leader of the PIJ. During this speech, Shallah allegedly
threatened to ″eradicate″ Israel, vowed to avenge Shikaki’s
assassination at the hands of Israeli operatives, and
″applauded the assassination … of Prime Minister Yitzhak
Rabin of Israel.″ Before the IJ, Mazen’s attorney stipulated
that Shallah had been reported to be the new leader of the
PIJ.
The PIJ is on the Secretary of State’s list of terrorist
organizations. The group is committed to the creation of an
Islamic Palestinian state and to undermining any attempt at
a peaceful resolution of the Palestinian/Israeli conflict. The
PIJ has taken responsibility for suicide bombings in the
West Bank, Israel, and other parts of the Middle East that
have killed Israeli soldiers, civilians, and an American
student. In addition to the alleged association between
WISE, the PIJ, and Shallah, many record documents
purported to show a relationship between other militant
organizations and WISE, as well as a Tampa-based charitable
organization, the Islamic Concern Project (″ICP″), which
was founded by Mazen’s brother-in-law Sami Al Arian. To
this end, [**11] FBI and INS agents testified before the IJ
that WISE and ICP were used as fronts to raise money for
the PIJ and other militant Islamic-Palestinian groups such as
the Hamas and the Intifada.
On May 13, 1997, the IJ issued separate decisions in
Fedaa’s and Mazen’s cases, denying all forms of relief,
including asylum, suspension of deportation, and withholding
of removal. The IJ designated the UAE as the appropriate
country of deportation for Mazen, and Saudi Arabia as the
appropriate country of deportation for Fedaa. The Al Najjars
immediately appealed both decisions to the BIA.
2. The INS Detains Mazen
On May 19, 1997, days after the IJ issued its decisions in the
Al Najjars’ deportation proceedings, Special Agents with

to Mazen was a sham and that she had married him solely to allow him to obtain a green card. Fairbetter’s allegations were the grounds
for the 1985 OSC issued against Mazen. Mazen has consistently denied that the marriage was in any way fraudulent. However, Mazen
does not argue that his marriage to Fairbetter should be helpful to him with respect to any issues before this court.
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the FBI and INS arrested Mazen at his home based upon
classified information [*1274] that Mazen was connected
with Middle Eastern terrorist organizations. On the basis of
this secret evidence, the INS held Mazen without bond on
the ground that he posed a threat to national security.
Mazen requested a redetermination of his custody status in
the immigration courts pursuant to 8 C.F.R. § 242.2(d)
(1995). The INS responded by serving him with [**12] a
notice of intent to present classified information in an in
camera proceeding in support of its custody determination.
On May 29, 1997, a bond redetermination hearing was held
before an IJ who conducted an ex parte in camera review of
classified information submitted by the Service to prove
Mazen’s association with the PIJ and other terrorist groups.
Neither Mazen nor his attorney was present at this hearing,
and no record of the hearing was made. The IJ did provide
Mazen with an unclassified summary of the classified
information, stating that: ″This Court was provided with
information as to the association of [Mazen] with the
Palestinian Islamic Jihad.″ Thereafter, the IJ issued a written
decision finding that the classified information demonstrated
that Mazen was a threat to national security which justified
the INS’s decision to hold him in custody without bond.
Mazen appealed the IJ’s decision to the BIA on the ground
that it violated his First and Fifth Amendment rights to be
held without bond on the basis of classified information. On
September 15, 1998, the BIA issued its decision, finding
that ″in view of the government’s compelling need to shield
important, classified [**13] national security information
bearing on this matter, the Immigration Judge’s examination
of the ex parte evidence in camera was proper and
constitutionally sound.″ Further, the BIA noted that the
record reflected that Mazen was ″associated″ with the PIJ,
and that his release from custody ″would pose a threat to
both (1) the national security of this country … and (2) the
safety of other persons or property …″ Thus, the BIA
affirmed the IJ’s decision denying Mazen’s request to be
released on bond.
3. BIA Review of the Al Najjars’ Deportation Orders
In October 1999, over two years after the IJ entered the Al
Najjars’ deportation orders, and almost one year after the
BIA affirmed the continued detainment of Mazen on the
basis of classified evidence, the BIA entered separate

written decisions affirming the IJ’s denial of relief to Mazen
and Fedaa. See In re Mazen Al Najjar, No. A26 599
077--Miami, at 3 (BIA Oct. 26, 1999) (unpublished); In re
Fedaa Al Najjar, No. A73 228 388--Orlando, at 2 (BIA
October 4, 1999) (unpublished). After denying the Al
Najjars’ requests for oral argument, the BIA upheld the IJ’s
orders of deportation and dismissed Fedaa’s and [**14]
Mazen’s appeals.
In both cases, the BIA found that ″the Immigration Judge
adequately considered all of the evidence presented below
under the proper legal standards and correctly addressed the
issues that respondents … raised on appeal.″ First, the BIA
affirmed the IJ’s pretermittance of Mazen’s suspension
application and the IJ’s denial of Fedaa’s suspension petition
on the ground that she failed to demonstrate extreme
hardship. Next, the Board affirmed the IJ’s finding that the
Al Najjars failed to demonstrate a ″well-founded fear of
persecution″ sufficient to support an asylum claim. Third,
the BIA affirmed the IJ’s conclusion that, because they
could not demonstrate statutory asylum eligibility, they
could not meet the ″higher burden″ required to demonstrate
entitlement to withholding of deportation. Accordingly, for
the reasons set forth in the IJ’s decision, the BIA affirmed
the denial of affirmative relief to the Al Najjars.
[*1275] The BIA then denied both of the Al Najjars’
motions to remand. As to their joint motion to remand under
the Convention Against Torture (″CAT″), the BIA held that,
because the ″respondents failed to establish a well-founded
fear of persecution″ sufficient [**15] to support an asylum
claim, they could not ″meet the higher standard of presenting
a prima facie case″ under CAT. Secondly, the BIA denied
the motions to remand for a new hearing on Mazen’s
suspension claim, ″given [its] disposition of the appeal.″
The Al Najjars filed a direct appeal of these decisions with
this court.

4. Mazen’s Habeas Corpus Proceedings
During the pendency of the Al Najjars’ appeal to this court,
Mazen filed a verified petition for habeas corpus and a
complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief in the district
court for the Southern District of Florida on December 22,
1999. 3 See Al Najjar v. Reno, 97 F. Supp. 2d 1329 (S.D. Fla.
2000). In this petition, Mazen sought immediate release
from custody pending the outcome of his deportation

3

By discussing the district court decision in Mazen’s habeas corpus proceedings, we do not mean to imply any view on any issue
decided by that court in that proceeding, nor do we adopt any of that court’s reasoning or discussion. Indeed, presently pending before
us in a wholly separate appeal is the propriety of the district court’s decision in Mazen’s custody proceedings. See Al Najjar v. Ashcroft,
No. 00-14947 (11th Cir. filed Sept. 18, 2000).
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proceedings. He argued that his detention was
unconstitutional and not authorized under any applicable
regulations or statutes. The INS responded by filing a notice
of intent to present to the district court the classified
information that had previously been provided to the IJ and
BIA in the custody proceedings.
[**16] In an Order issued May 31, 2000, the district court

found that the use of classified information at a bond
redetermination proceeding ″was within the implied statutory
authority granted by INA § 242(a) and 8 C.F.R. § 3.19(d).″
97 F. Supp. 2d at 1349. Nonetheless, the court held that, by
using the classified information against Mazen, the INS
violated his rights to procedural due process. See id. at
1356-57. To remedy this, the district court granted relief,
which had the effect of setting aside the the immigration
court’s bond determination so that a decision comporting
with due process could be entered. The court warned that, in
order to respect Mazen’s due process rights upon rehearing,
the immigration courts must rely exclusively on a public
record or implement certain procedural safeguards to protect
Mazen’s rights despite the use of secret evidence. See id. at
1357-60.
Lastly, the district court examined Mazen’s claim that his
First Amendment associational rights were violated through
the use of evidence purporting to criminalize an ″association″
with terrorist sympathizers. The court concluded that
Mazen’s ″mere [**17] ’association’ with the PIJ is not a
reasonable foundation for the IJ’s decision to deny bond and
continue to detain Petitioner as a threat to national security.″
Id. at 1362. Thus, on remand, the court instructed the IJ to
″determine whether the evidence demonstrates more than
mere ’membership’ or ’association,’ but rather a ’meaningful
association’ or a ’degree of participation’ in activities
posing a threat to national security.″ Id. Based on the
foregoing, the court denied Mazen’s petition for habeas
corpus in part by refusing to release him from custody, and
granted the petition in part by effectively setting aside, as
unconstitutional under the circumstances, the immigration
court’s decisions to hold him without bond. In resolving
[*1276] the case, the court expressly found that review of
the classified information was ″unnecessary,″ and noted that
it did not review the information in resolving Mazen’s
habeas corpus petition. Id. at 1336.
Upon redetermination, the immigration judge held a
two-phase proceeding in accordance with the district court’s
opinion. First, the IJ examined the public record evidence
and found that ″the public record is insufficient [**18] to
conclude that [Mazen] must be detained as a national
security threat.″ The IJ then explained that, if the Service so

moved, it would conduct phase-two of the proceedings in
which the INS could offer classified evidence in accordance
with procedures that would protect Mazen’s constitutional
rights.
The INS filed such a motion and on November 29, 2000, the
IJ entered a second order finding that the unclassified
summary of the classified evidence submitted by the Service
″fails to provide Respondent with ’notice of the evidence
against him and a meaningful opportunity to defend against
that evidence.’″ Thus, the IJ concluded that Mazen was
eligible to be released on bond. The INS appealed.
On appeal, the BIA denied the INS’s request to stay the
November 29th Order releasing Mazen on bond. On
December 15, 2000, after being detained for three and
one-half years without any formal criminal charges being
lodged, Mazen was released from custody on bond to await
the resolution of his and his wife’s deportation proceedings.
II. ANALYSIS
In appealing their deportation orders, the Al Najjars raise a
myriad of issues. While we have considered all of the Al
Najjars’ arguments, we [**19] discuss only those issues
which merit analysis. Before doing so, however, we will
examine our own jurisdiction.
A. Judicial Review After IIRIRA
HN1 Under the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant
Responsibility Act of 1996 (″IIRIRA″), Pub.L. No. 104-208,
110 Stat. 3009-546, as amended by Extension of Stay in
United States for Nurses Act, Pub.L. No. 104-302, 110 Stat.
3656 (1996), our authority to review a final order of
deportation was altered from the previous grant under
section 106 of the INA, 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (1995). See Anin
v. Reno, 188 F.3d 1273, 1275-76 n.2. (11th Cir. 1999) (per
curiam). Specifically, IIRIRA § 306(b) repealed INA § 106,
formerly 8 U.S.C. § 1105a, and IIRIRA § 306(a) replaced it
with INA § 242, now codified at 8 U.S.C. § 1252 (1999).
See id.
HN2 Where a final order of deportation is entered more
than thirty days after the September 30, 1996, enactment of
IIRIRA, and the deportation proceedings were begun before
April 1, 1997, the proceedings are not subject to the
permanent new rules at INA § 242, 8 U.S.C. § 1252 (1999).
See [**20] IIRIRA §§ 309(c)(1) & (4), reprinted in 8 U.S.C.
§ 1101 (history) (1999). Instead, IIRIRA’s ″transitional
changes in judicial review″ (″transitional rules″) govern
such a case. See id.
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Mazen’s deportation proceedings commenced in 1985 when
the INS issued an OSC against him. Fedaa’s proceedings
began in January of 1996 with the issuance of an OSC as
well. Final orders of deportation were entered against
Mazen and Fedaa in October 1999 when the BIA, by written
opinion, affirmed the IJ’s decision denying relief under the
INA. See 8 C.F.R. § 241.31 (2001) (explaining that HN3 an
order of deportation ″shall become final upon dismissal of
an appeal by the Board of Immigration Appeals,″ among
other things).Thus, the Al Najjars are subject to the
transitional rules, not the new ″permanent [*1277] rules.″
See Anin, 188 F.3d at 1276 n.2.
″HN4 Under the transitional rules, the ’new rules’ do not
apply unless a case meets the enumerated exceptions in
IIRIRA § 309(c)(4).″ See id. That is, under the transitional
rules, the old rules apply unless any of the transitional rules
is triggered. See IIRIRA § 309(c)(1). Thus, as long [**21] as
IIRIRA § 309(c) does not expressly alter our § 1105a
review, we shall be guided by this old rule in reviewing a
transitional alien’s petition. 4 See id.
[**22]

B. Judicial Notice
Before delving into the fact-intensive issues in this appeal,
we will address the Al Najjars’ two motions to supplement
the record and requests for judicial notice. This is necessary
in order to paint the factual backdrop against which we
review their petitions.
We summarily denied the Al Najjars’ first motion to
supplement through a single judge Order dated May 19,

2000. On August 14, 2000, the Al Najjars filed a second
motion to supplement, which is essentially a renewal of the
first, containing the same documents submitted with the
first motion, plus five additional documents. Specifically,
the second motion seeks to add twenty-one documents to
the record, containing information which spans the gamut
from newspaper clippings pertaining to Mazen’s detainment,
to letters from the Embassy of the UAE and Amnesty
International reports on human rights in Israel. The Al
Najjars argue that if we refuse to supplement the record with
this evidence, we should take judicial notice of the facts
contained in at least some of these documents, as the facts
asserted therein meet the criteria for judicial notice under
the Federal Rules of Evidence.
The Al Najjars [**23] also included a request for judicial
notice in their reply brief on appeal, seeking recognition of
United States treaties with Israel, Saudi Arabia, Egypt, and
the UAE. The Al Najjars argue that these treaties require the
sharing of classified information and that the United States,
in consideration of its own notion that Mazen is a threat to
national [*1278] security, must apprise these nations of its
concerns.
The record reveals that the Al Najjars did not move the BIA
for administrative notice, nor did the Al Najjars seek to
supplement the record before the Board with any of the
foregoing documents. After examining our authority to
admit factual material in the first instance in an immigration
appeal, we address each of these motions in turn.
HN5 Under § 106(a)(4) of the INA, 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (a)(4)
(repealed), an alien’s ″petition shall be determined solely
upon the administrative record upon which the deportation

4
While the general rule is that none of the new, permanent rules codified at 8 U.S.C. § 1252 (1999), apply to transitional aliens, there
is one exception articulated in IIRIRA § 306(c)(1) and made applicable to transitional aliens through IIRIRA § 309(a). See IIRIRA §§
309(a) and 306(c)(1), reprinted in 8 U.S.C. §§ 1101 & 1252 (history). Section 306(c)(1) of IIRIRA directs that the new, permanent rule
in 8 U.S.C. § 1252 (g) (1999), shall apply ″without limitation to claims arising from all past, pending, or future exclusion, deportation,
or removal proceedings.″ See IIRIRA § 306(c)(1). In turn, § 1252(g) states that ″except as provided in this section and notwithstanding
any other provision of law, no court shall have jurisdiction to hear any cause or claim by or on behalf of any alien arising from the
decision or action by the Attorney General to commence proceedings, adjudicate cases, or execute removal orders against any alien under
this Act.″ 8 U.S.C. § 1252 (g) (1999).

In Reno v. American-Arab Anti-Discrimination Comm., 525 U.S. 471, 487, 119 S. Ct. 936, 142 L. Ed. 2d 940 (1999), the
Supreme Court explained that § 1252(g)’s jurisdictional bar applies only to a limited subset of deportation claims by
precluding judicial review of the Attorney General’s discrete acts of ″commencing proceedings, adjudicating cases, [and]
executing removal orders.″ Id. at 482, 119 S. Ct. at 943. Construing § 1252(g) narrowly, the Court reasoned that subsection
(g) ″performs the function of categorically excluding from non-final-order judicial review--even as to transitional cases
otherwise governed by § 1105a …--certain specified decisions and actions of the INS.″ Id. at 483, 119 S. Ct. at 943
(emphasis added). Because the Al Najjars are transitional aliens petitioning the court of appeals for judicial review of the
BIA’s final orders of deportation, § 1252(g) does not alter our review.
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order is based.″ 5 Indeed, the ″general rule, applicable
across the board to judicial review of administrative action
and merely codified for immigration appeals in section
1105a(a)(4), is that the court may not go outside the
administrative record.″ [**24] Osaghae v. U.S. INS, 942
F.2d 1160, 1162 (7th Cir. 1991).
HN6 It is axiomatic that immigration courts are better suited
than a reviewing court to make factual determinations
regarding an alien’s status. Courts of appeal sit as reviewing
bodies to engage in highly deferential review of BIA and IJ
determinations. See INS v. Aguirre-Aguirre, 526 U.S. 415,
425, 119 S. Ct. 1439, 1445, 143 L. Ed. 2d 590 (1999)
(″judicial deference to the Executive Branch is especially
appropriate in the immigration context where officials
’exercise especially sensitive political functions that
implicate questions of foreign relations’″); INS v. EliasZacarias, 502 U.S. 478, 112 S. Ct. 812, 117 L. Ed. 2d 38
(1992) (establishing a deferential substantial evidence test
for our review of the BIA’s factual findings); Mitev v. INS,
67 F.3d 1325, 1331 (7th Cir. 1995) [**25] (Because of the
″’extremely fact-intensive nature of [deportation] inquiries’
and the superior expertise of the agencies that administer
our immigration law,″ reviewing courts are ″limited to
providing deferential review of BIA decisions.″).
Commensurate with this role, we cannot engage in
fact-finding on appeal, nor may we weigh evidence that was
not previously considered below. See Mazariegos v. INS,
241 F.3d 1320, 1323 (11th Cir. 2001) (We ″have emphasized
[that] we may not ’re-weigh the evidence’ from scratch.″);
Rivera-Cruz v. INS, 948 F.2d 962, 967 (5th Cir. 1991) (the
alien’s attempt to argue ″facts for the first time in this forum
is misplaced, for we cannot weigh evidence that has not
been brought previously before the Board″); Tejeda-Mata v.
INS, 626 F.2d 721, 726 (9th Cir. 1980) (″it is an established
principle that this court does not sit as an administrative
agency for the purpose of fact-finding in the first instance.″);
see also Pollgreen v. Morris, 770 F.2d 1536, 1544-45 (11th
Cir. 1985) (reversing the district court’s de novo review of
factual evidence which the administrative body had not
[**26] previously considered because ″our review … is
limited to the record compiled before the agency.″).
Before IIRIRA, however, this Circuit and many others
utilized 28 U.S.C. § 2347 (c) to invoke our discretionary
authority to remand immigration cases in which §
1105a(a)(4) applied, so that new, non-record evidence could
be admitted on appeal and remanded for consideration by
5

the Board. See, e.g., Saiyid v. INS, 132 F.3d 1380, 1384-85
(11th Cir. 1998) (considering whether remand for the
consideration of new evidence admitted for the first time on
appeal was warranted under § 2347); Osaghae, 942 F.2d at
1161-62; Makonnen v. INS, 44 F.3d 1378, 1384-86 (8th Cir.
1995); Becerra-Jimenez v. INS, 829 F.2d 996, 1000-02 (10th
Cir. 1987); Bernal-Garcia v. INS, 852 F.2d 144, 147
[*1279] (5th Cir. 1988); Dolores v. INS., 772 F.2d 223,
226-27 (6th Cir. 1985) (per curiam); Coriolan v. INS, 559
F.2d 993, 1002-04 (5th Cir. 1977) (taking judicial notice of
non-record Amnesty International report to find that the
report established dramatic changes in country conditions
[**27] which merited reversal and remand under § 2347(c)
for further consideration of the alien’s asylum claim). 6 But
see Ramirez-Gonzalez v. INS, 695 F.2d 1208, 1213-14 (9th
Cir. 1983) (holding that it is improper to apply § 2347(c)
where an asylum applicant presents new evidence for the
first time on appeal, because remanding under § 2347(c)
amounts to an order to reopen, and a court should not
generally compel the INS to reopen proceedings).
HN7 In transitional cases, however, IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B)
directs that ″a court may not order the taking of additional
evidence under section 2347(c) of title 28.″ See Altawil v.
INS, 179 F.3d 791, 792-93 (9th Cir. 1999) (denying
transitional alien’s request for leave to adduce additional
evidence [**28] and to remand to the Board thereon since
IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B) precludes the reviewing court from
″ordering the taking of additional evidence by the Board
under 28 U.S.C. 2347 (c)″). Section 2347(c) pertains to an
application in the court of appeals ″for leave to adduce
additional evidence″ that ″is material″ and for which ″there
were reasonable grounds for failure to adduce the evidence
before the agency.″ 28 U.S.C. § 2347 (c) (1994). Thus,
IIRIRA’s prohibition of remanding for the consideration of
″additional evidence″ pertains to non-record evidence that is
introduced in the first instance before a reviewing court. See
Cardenas-Uriarte v. INS, 227 F.3d 1132, 1138 (9th Cir.
2000) (″Section 2347 concerns a party’s appeal to [this]
court [asking permission] to adduce additional evidence, for
example, where new evidence about a well-founded fear of
persecution is discovered.″).
This court has not yet examined how § 1105a(a)(4) and §
2347(c) function in cases in which IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B)
applies. Thus, we have surveyed the landscape of decisions
granting judicial notice in immigration cases.

This old rule was repealed by IIRIRA but is applicable to transitional aliens through incorporation. See IIRIRA §§ 309(c)(1) and (4).

6

In Bonner v. City of Prichard, 661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 1981) (en banc), this Court adopted as binding precedent all of the
decisions of the former Fifth Circuit handed down prior to the close of business on September 30, 1981.
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In an en banc [**29] decision, the Ninth Circuit reasoned
that § 1105a(a)(4) permits a court of appeals to ″review
out-of-record evidence only where (1) the Board considers
the evidence; or (2) the Board abuses its discretion by
failing to consider such evidence upon the motion of an
applicant.″ 7 Fisher v. INS, 79 F.3d 955, 964 (9th Cir. 1996).
Based on this rule, Fisher refused to notice State Department
Country Reports that could have been, but were not, offered
below. See id. at 964. In later decisions, the Ninth Circuit
retreated from Fisher. See, e.g., Lising v. INS, 124 F.3d 996,
998-99 (9th Cir. 1997) (taking judicial notice of official INS
forms not contained in the administrative record); Gafoor v.
INS, 231 F.3d 645, 655-56 (9th Cir. 2000) (taking judicial
notice of dramatic developments in the proposed country of
deportation arising between the BIA’s decision and appellate
review). But see Hernandez v. INS, 2000 U.S. App. LEXIS
15420, *4; 229 F.3d 11572000 WL 831811, (table), (9th Cir.
2000) (unpublished mem.) (denying alien’s request to file
supplemental [*1280] brief under Fisher because the brief
″seeks, not to make legal arguments, [**30] but rather to
present new evidence to this court″); Lin v. INS, 216 F.3d
10832000 WL 519092, (table), (9th Cir. 2000) (unpublished
mem.) (refusing, under Fisher, to consider an affidavit
which was not part of the administrative record but was
submitted for the first time with the alien’s appellate brief);
Orlando Villalobo v. INS, 1999 U.S. App. LEXIS 5346; 173
F.3d 8611999 WL 170865 (9th Cir. 1999) (table),
(unpublished mem.) (refusing, under Fisher, to consider
Department of State Report that was not part of the
administrative record); Fonseca-Zamora v. INS, 1997 U.S.
App. LEXIS 23266, *4; 122 F.3d 10701997 WL 559637 (9th
Cir. 1997) (table), (unpublished mem.) (denying request for
judicial notice of non-record Department of State Country
Reports under Fisher).
[**31] In Lising v. INS, the Ninth Circuit attempted to
justify the expansion of Fisher, by delineating Fisher’s
policy and scope. See 124 F.3d at 998. Lising explains that:
(1) ″Fisher relates to evidentiary material that either party
could have presented to the BIA but that the petitioner
simply failed to introduce at the hearing″ and, (2) ″the
Fisher rule was intended to ensure that the petitioners
present all outside documents, reports, or information during
the course of the administrative proceedings and not offer

them for the first time before the reviewing court.″ Id. Based
on this articulation of Fisher, the Ninth Circuit has taken
judicial notice of INS forms not contained in the
administrative record, see id., as well as dramatic
developments in the proposed country of deportation which
arose between the BIA’s decision and the court of appeals
review, see Gafoor, 231 F.3d at 655-56.
″The Sixth Circuit consistently takes judicial notice of
changed political circumstances in immigration cases.″
Ivezaj v. INS, 84 F.3d 215, 219 (6th Cir. 1996) (citing cases).
To justify this in jurisdictional [**32] terms, the court has
concluded that § 1105a(a)(4) ″cannot be interpreted to bar
[a court of appeals] … from taking judicial notice of
changed conditions in a foreign country.″ Id. at 218.
Similarly, without comment as to § 1105a(a)(4) or §
2347(c), the Seventh Circuit has taken judicial notice of
drastic changes in country conditions occurring in the
interim between the BIA decision and the court of appeals
review. See Kaczmarczyk v. INS, 933 F.2d 588, 594 n.4 (7th
Cir. 1991); Dobrota v. INS, 195 F.3d 970, 973 (7th Cir.
1999) (judicially noticing a State Department Country
Report and examining the facts therein which impacted the
alien’s asylum claim, without mention of § 1105a(a)(4));
see also Fornalik v. Perryman, 223 F.3d 523, 529 (7th Cir.
2000) (taking judicial notice of official notice sent by INS to
alien even though it was not contained in the administrative
record). More recently, in Meghani v. INS, 236 F.3d 843,
847-48 (7th Cir. 2001), the Seventh Circuit, however,
refused to remand an alien’s case so that a more current
Department of State Report could be considered, even
though [**33] the report was issued after the BIA’s decision
but before judicial review. Although Meghani was a
transitional rule case, its impetus for refusing to remand was
not § 1105a(a)(4) or IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B). Instead,
Meghani was based on the Seventh Circuit’s recognition
that the alien could file a motion to reopen. See id. at 848.
The common factor emerging from these decisions granting
judicial notice is that virtually all recognize only facts
relating to dramatic changes of conditions in the proposed
country of removal which arose after the BIA’s review. 8
See, e.g., Gafoor, 231 F.3d at 655-56; Dobrota, 195 [*1281]

7

The court deemed Fisher’s rule so pervasive that it overruled all prior inconsistent decisions, explaining that ″to the extent our prior
decisions may be interpreted as authorizing us to take judicial notice of information not part of the administrative record or not previously
submitted to the Board, they are overruled as inconsistent with the Act and prior precedent.″ Id. at 963.
8

In the asylum context, Congress permits the Attorney General to consider changed circumstances that materially affect an applicant’s
petition. See 8 U.S.C. § 1158 (a)(2)(D) (1999). Indeed, under § 208(a)(2)(D) of the INA, 8 U.S.C. § 1158 (a)(2)(D), successive asylum
petitions may be considered ″if the alien demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Attorney General either the existence of changed
circumstances which materially affect the applicant’s eligibility for asylum or extraordinary circumstances relating to the delay in filing

Jennifer Breedon

Page 18 of 34
257 F.3d 1262, *1281; 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS 15994, **33
F.3d at 973; Ivezaj, 84 F.3d at 218-19; Kaczmarczyk, 933
F.2d at 594 n.4; see also Fornalik, 223 F.3d at 529 (noticing
official INS form); Lising, 124 F.3d at 998 (same). We
derive little comfort from the surveyed decisions, however,
because none justifies how, in the face of IIRIRA §
309(c)(4)(B), we may expand the administrative record with
facts not adduced below. Some of the surveyed decisions are
governed by the old rules, and therefore do not [**34]
reflect the effect of IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B). Of those cases
that do fall under the transitional rules, none even mentions
IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B), and therefore, we cannot regard
them as persuasive authority.
[**35] HN8 We interpret IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B) as
eliminating our authority under § 2347(c) to remand to the
BIA so that an alien can present ″additional evidence.″ See
IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B); Saiyid, 132 F.3d at 1384 n.5
(noting, in dicta, that IIRIRA ″eliminates § 2347 jurisdiction
over motions to reopen″). This means that, in transitional
cases, IIRIRA prohibits us from ordering the BIA to
consider evidence that is offered for the first time on appeal,
even if such material satisfies the rigors of § 2347(c). Under
transitional rule § 309(c)(4)(B), we must act within the
constructs of § 1105a(a)(4) and may not rely on our §

2347(c) authority. Given this procedural paradigm, IIRIRA
§ 309(c)(4)(B) is a jurisdictional bar that precludes our
consideration of non-record evidence submitted for the first
time on appeal. 9 Having satisfied ourselves of this [*1282]
rule, we turn now to address the Al Najjars’ two motions to
supplement the record on appeal and to take judicial notice.
[**36] The Al Najjars’ second motion to supplement and/or
to take judicial notice is nothing more than an attempt to
have us weigh non-record evidence for the first time on
appeal and to remand for the consideration of this additional
evidence. HN9 Under § 1105a(a)(4), however, we cannot
consider evidence that was not previously brought before
the Board. 10 [**37] See Onyeme v. INS, 146 F.3d 227, 235
n.8 (4th Cir. 1998). Our role as a reviewing body does not
contemplate a fact-finding function, and § 1105a(a)(4)
stands to prohibit us from such an endeavor in the usual case
by limiting our review to the administrative record. 11 Even
if we were inclined to disregard § 1105a(a)(4) under our §
2347(c) discretion, as some of our sister Circuits have done,
IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B) has stripped us of authority to step
outside of the administrative record and to remand for the
consideration of non-record evidence. Pursuant to IIRIRA §
309(c)(4)(B) and § 1105a(a)(4), we deny the Al Najjars’

an application within the [time] period.″ INA regulations identify two types of ″changed circumstances″ sufficient to trigger §
1158(a)(2)(D): 1) Material changes of conditions in the removal country; or 2) Objective and material changes relating to an applicant
in the United States. See 8 C.F.R. § 208.4(a)(4) (2001) (defining ″ ’changed circumstances’ in section 208(a)(2)(D) of the Act″ as
including, but not being limited to: 1) ″changes in conditions in the applicant’s country of nationality or, if the person is stateless, country
of last habitual residence,″ or 2) ″changes in objective circumstances relating to the applicant in the United States.″).
The Al Najjars argue that the new evidence presented in their motions to supplement pertains to objective changes in
circumstances which arose in the United States. Thus, the Al Najjars contend that under the statute, as interpreted by the
C.F.R., we may judicially notice such facts. We disagree.
While § 1158(a)(2)(D) permits the consideration of changed circumstances, it does not authorize a reviewing court to assess
these new factual allegations. Instead, § 1158(a)(2)(D) vests the Attorney General with the power to judge an alien’s
changed circumstances petition by requiring the alien to demonstrate ″changed circumstances″ to the ″satisfaction of the
Attorney General,″ not the courts. See 8 U.S.C. § 1158 (a)(2)(D). While we recognize that the C.F.R. definition of ″changed
circumstances″ includes the factual scenario they allege--changes in objective circumstances relating to the applicant in the
United States--we glean no authority from § 1158(a)(2) for this court to consider such circumstances in the first instance.
Therefore, we reject the Al Najjars’ argument that § 1158(a)(2)(D) somehow authorizes us to consider new evidence
relating to their asylum petitions, and return to our jurisdictional inquiry.

9

The Al Najjars do not argue that the BIA or IJ unconstitutionally excluded this supplemental evidence. Therefore, we express no
opinion whether § 1105a(a)(4) or IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B) would preclude consideration of non-record evidence which was
unconstitutionally excluded below. See, e.g., Ladha v. INS, 215 F.3d 889, 903-05 (9th Cir. 2000); Colmenar v. INS, 210 F.3d 967, 971-72
(9th Cir. 2000); Kuhai v. INS, 199 F.3d 909, 913-14 (7th Cir. 1999); Kossov v. INS, 132 F.3d 405, 408-09 (7th Cir. 1998).
10

Our review of the documents leaves us doubtful that these submissions would help the Al Najjars anyway. None of the supplemental
proffers establishes that the Al Najjars would be persecuted in either the UAE or Saudi Arabia.
11

As explained in note 9, supra, we express no opinion whether § 1105a(a)(4) or § 309(c)(4)(B) would preclude consideration of
non-record evidence which was unconstitutionally excluded below.
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second motion to supplement the record with new evidence
relating to the merits of their petitions for relief.
Despite the jurisdictional bar to our consideration of the
foregoing non-record documents, the Al Najjars’ claim, on
appeal, that Mazen’s custody proceedings improperly
affected their deportation cases. 12 Although we are
jurisdictionally precluded from admitting the proffered
[*1283]
newspaper articles describing the custody
proceedings, we may, and do, take judicial notice of the fact
that Mazen’s custody proceeding occurred and the subject
matter thereof. See In re Delta Resources, Inc., 54 F.3d 722,
725 (11th Cir. 1995) (″HN10 This Court may take judicial
’notice of another court’s order … for the limited purpose of
recognizing the ’judicial act’ that the order represents or the
subject matter of the litigation and related filings.’). We will
not take judicial notice of any factual findings, legal
conclusions, or arguments advanced in the custody
proceedings, and we will not consider [**38] these
proceedings as impacting any of the Al Najjars’ claims on
appeal. See 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (a)(4). In sum, we take judicial
notice of the fact that Mazen’s custody proceedings occurred,
and the subject matter thereof, although we will not rely on
these proceedings in reviewing the BIA’s decisions.

[**39] We also deny the Al Najjars’ request for judicial

notice of United States treaties with Saudi Arabia, the UAE,
and Israel. HN12 Not only is our review limited to the
administrative record created below, see 8 U.S.C. § 1105a
(a)(4), but arguments which were not raised at the
administrative level may not be interposed on appeal, see 8
U.S.C. § 1105a (c). Nowhere in the record do the Al Najjars
argue that treaties preclude their return to the UAE or Saudi
Arabia. Therefore, it would be improper for us to consider
these arguments and the non-record facts on which they are
based. See Richardson I, 162 F.3d at 1373; Ka Fung Chan,
634 F.2d 248, 258 (5th Cir. 1981) (″Under 8 U.S.C. § 1105a
(c), this failure to exhaust administrative remedies precludes
review of [the] … arguments in this court″).
For the foregoing reasons, we decline, pursuant to 8 U.S.C.
§ 1105a and IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B), to entertain evidence
on appeal that is not contained in the administrative record
and was not presented below. 13 Accordingly, review of the
Al Najjars’ petitions shall [**40] be limited to the
administrative record created below.
[**41]

12

One such plea was advanced for the first time at oral argument, when the Al Najjars argued that the BIA was improperly influenced
by classified information presented in an in camera ex parte hearing before the IJ and BIA in Mazen’s custody proceedings. We will
not consider this argument made for the first time at oral argument. First, HN11 under 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (c) (1994) (repealed), which
applies to transitional aliens through incorporation, see IIRIRA § 309(c); Lara v. Trominski, 216 F.3d 487, 491-92 (5th Cir. 2000) (″the
transitional rules incorporate § 106(c), 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (c)″); Sofinet v. INS, 188 F.3d 703, 708 (7th Cir.1999) (same); Hose v. INS, 180
F.3d 992, 996 (9th Cir.1999) (en banc) (same), there shall be no review of a claim ″if the alien has not exhausted the administrative
remedies available to him as of right under the immigration laws and regulations.″ Richardson v. Reno, 162 F.3d 1338, 1373 (11th Cir.
1998) (″Richardson I″), vacated, 526 U.S. 1142, 119 S. Ct. 2016, 143 L. Ed. 2d 1029 (1999) (mem.), on remand, 180 F.3d 1311 (11th
Cir. 1999) (Richardson II), cert. denied, 529 U.S. 1036, 120 S. Ct. 1529, 146 L. Ed. 2d 345 (2000); Ka Fung Chan v. INS, 634 F.2d 248,
258 (5th Cir. 1981). The Al Najjars never raised the improper influence argument before the BIA, and their attempt to do so for the first
time in this court is misplaced. See 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (c).
The Al Najjars also failed to raise this issue in their initial brief to this court. We therefore deem the issue abandoned. See
United States v. Nealy, 232 F.3d 825, 830-31 (11th Cir. 2000) (″Defendant abandoned the … issue by not raising the issue
in his initial brief.″).
Even if we were to cast the Al Najjars’ egregious default aside, their argument here would fail. In both Mazen’s and Fedaa’s
decisions, the BIA expressly declared that ″no classified information was considered by the Board in deciding the instant
appeal and motion to remand.″ See Mazen’s Oct. 1999 BIA Decision, supra, at 1 n.2; Fedaa’s Oct. 1999 BIA Decision,
supra, at 1 n. 1. The Al Najjars offer no credible reason why we should assume improper influence in the face of this
statement. See Shaughnessy v. Accardi, 349 U.S. 280, 283, 75 S. Ct. 746, 748, 99 L. Ed. 1074 (1955) (reversing the Second
Circuit’s finding of improper influence because ″speculation on the effect of subconscious psychological pressures [does
not] provide[] sufficient justification for rejecting the District Court’s findings″ that ″the Board’s decisions represented the
free and undictated decision of each member″).

13

Our strict application of § 1105a(a)(4) in conjunction with IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B) does not divest litigants of an opportunity to
present new evidence; it merely forces them to follow INS procedure. HN13 Under 8 C.F.R. § 3.2(c), an alien may make a timely motion
to reopen his or her case so that new evidence may be tendered and considered. See 8 C.F.R. § 3.2(c) (2001); Meghani, 236 F.3d at 848.
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C. Standard of Review
″HN14 The appropriate standard of review is well-settled.″
Mazariegos, 241 F.3d at 1323. ″A factual determination by
the BIA that an alien is statutorily ineligible for asylum or
withholding is reviewed under the substantial evidence
test.″ Perlera-Escobar v. Executive Office for [*1284]
Immigration, 894 F.2d 1292, 1296 (11th Cir. 1990) (per
curiam). This means that the reviewing court must affirm
the BIA’s decision if it is ″supported by reasonable,
substantial, and probative evidence on the record considered
as a whole.″ Lorisme v. INS, 129 F.3d 1441, 1444-45 (11th
Cir. 1997) (quoting 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (a)(4)). We have
repeatedly emphasized that the test is highly deferential, see
id. at 1444-45; Mazariegos, 241 F.3d at 1323, and that ″we
must defer to the BIA unless ’a reasonable factfinder would
have to conclude that the requisite fear of persecution
existed.’″ Lorisme, 129 F.3d at 1445 (quoting Elias-Zacarias, 502 U.S. at 481, 112 S. Ct. at 815); Mazariegos, 241
F.3d at 1323. While we consider the BIA’s [**42]
interpretation of applicable statutes de novo, INS v. Cardoza
-Fonseca, 480 U.S. 421, 446-48, 107 S. Ct. 1207, 1221-22,
94 L. Ed. 2d 434 (1987), ″we are also obliged … to defer to
the BIA’s interpretation … if that interpretation is
reasonable.″ Perlera-Escobar, 894 F.2d at 1296; see also
INS v. Aguirre-Aguirre, 526 U.S. 415, 424, 119 S. Ct. 1439,
1445-46, 143 L. Ed. 2d 590 (1999).
HN15 We review only the Board’s decision, except to the
extent that it expressly adopts the IJ’s opinion. See Garrovillas v. INS, 156 F.3d 1010, 1013 (9th Cir. 1998). Insofar
as the Board adopts the IJ’s reasoning, we will review the
IJ’s decision as well. See Prado-Gonzalez v. INS, 75 F.3d
631, 632 (11th Cir. 1996) (per curiam). In the Al Najjars’
cases, the BIA expressly adopted the IJ’s decisions and
affirmed for the ″reasons set forth therein.″ Thus, we review
the IJ’s analysis as if it were the Board’s.
D. Asylum
HN16 The INA provides that ″any alien who is physically
present in the United States … irrespective of such alien’s

status, may apply for asylum.″ 8 U.S.C. § 1158 (a)(1)
[**43] (1999). ″The Attorney General may grant asylum to
an alien … if the Attorney General determines that such
alien is a refugee within the meaning of § 1101(a)(42)(A) of
[Title 8].″ 8 U.S.C. § 1158 (b)(1). In turn, a ″refugee″ is
defined as:
HN17 Any person who is outside any country of such
person’s nationality or, in the case of a person having
no nationality, is outside any country in which such
person last habitually resided, and who is unable or
unwilling to return to, and is unable or unwilling to
avail himself or herself of the protection of, that
country because of persecution or a well-founded fear
of persecution on account of race, religion, nationality,
membership in a particular social group, or political
opinion….
8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(42)(A).
HN18 A grant of asylum entails two steps. First, the
applicant must demonstrate that he or she is a ″refugee″
within the meaning of INA § 101(a)(42)(A), 8 U.S.C. § 1101
(a)(42)(A). It is the asylum applicant who bears the burden
of proving such statutory ″refugee″ status. See 8 C.F.R. §
208.13(a) (2001). Once the alien demonstrates [**44] that
he or she is a ″refugee″ within the meaning of the INA, the
decision to grant asylum is committed to the Attorney
General’s discretion, which has been delegated to the
Board. See 8 C.F.R. § 3.1(d)(1) (2001). ″Both this court and
the Supreme Court have emphasized that ’an alien who
satisfies the [applicable standard for asylum] does not have
a right to remain in the United States; he or she is simply
eligible for asylum, if the Attorney General, in [her]
discretion, chooses to grant it.’″ Lorisme, 129 F.3d at 1444
(emphasis in original).
In reviewing the Al Najjars’ cases, the BIA concluded that
the IJ ″properly held … that the respondents did not meet
[the] burden of demonstrating a [*1285] ’well-founded fear

A motion to reopen filed with the immigration courts--and not a motion for judicial notice lodged with the reviewing court--is the
appropriate vehicle through which to present new evidence. See Varela v. INS, 204 F.3d 1237, 1239 n.4 (9th Cir. 2000) (″A motion to
reopen is the correct motion to file when seeking to present new facts not already in evidence.″); Lara, 216 F.3d at 499 n.13 (same). This
is especially true in a transitional alien’s case. See IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B).
Our discussion of the INA’s reopening procedure is not intended as a comment on the Al Najjars’ rights to a reopening of
their deportation proceedings. Such procedures have time limitations, and other restrictions, and these issues are not before
this court at this time. See 8 C.F.R. § 3.2(c). Instead, we mention this only to alert litigants that they can file a timely motion
to reopen in the immigration courts under appropriate circumstances, although § 1105a(a)(4) and IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B)
preclude the presentation of new evidence in the court of appeals.
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of persecution’ on account of race, religion, nationality, or
membership in a particular social group, or on account of a
political opinion, whether actual or imputed.″ In finding that
the Al Najjars failed to establish statutory asylum eligibility,
the immigration courts did not address the second prong of
the asylum inquiry--discretion. Thus, on appeal, only the
question of statutory eligibility is at issue. After a thorough
[**45] review of the entire administrative record, we find
the BIA’s conclusion that the Al Najjars failed to demonstrate
any ″well-founded fear of persecution on account″ of any
statutory factor to be ″supported by reasonable, substantial,
and probative evidence on the record considered as a
whole.″ See 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (a)(4); Perlera-Escobar, 894
F.2d at 1296.
Before this court, the Al Najjars advance three articulations
of error in the finding that they failed to establish a
″well-founded fear of persecution.″ 14 [**47] First, they
claim that they will be persecuted in the UAE and Saudi
Arabia because of their actual political opinion advocating
Palestinian self-determination, which has been made public
to the governments in the proposed countries of removal
due to the United States’ allegations against Mazen and the

proliferation of news accounts regarding WISE, ICP, and
those associated therewith. Second, the Al Najjars argue that
terrorist sympathies attributed to Mazen by the media and
the United States government, regardless of their veracity,
will cause them persecution in the UAE and Saudi Arabia
on account of an imputed political [**46] opinion. 15 Lastly,
[*1286] the Al Najjars contend that substantial record
evidence established that they would be denied entry into
the UAE and Saudi Arabia because of their Palestinian
ancestry. We address each argument in turn.
[**48]

1. Actual Political Opinion
First, the Al Najjars argue that they demonstrated
″well-founded fear of persecution″ on the grounds of their
actual political opinion in Palestinian self-determination and
opposition to the Israeli occupation of Palestinian territories.
HN21 We utilize a very deferential substantial evidence test
to review the IJ’s factual determination to the contrary. See
Elias-Zacarias, 502 U.S. at 481, 112 S. Ct. at 815. We will
reverse the denial of asylum only if the evidence presented

14

We refuse to consider the Al Najjars’ argument that they are entitled to asylum as ″refugees sur place″ as defined by the United
Nations High Commissioner’s Handbook on Procedures Criteria for Determining Refugee Status Under the 1951 Convention and the
1967 Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees P 94-96 (Geneva 1992). HN19 Under § 1105a(c), we are divested of jurisdiction to
consider a claim which was not presented to the immigration courts, ″as an alien must exhaust the administrative remedies available to
him prior to obtaining judicial review.″ Asencio v. INS, 37 F.3d 614, 615-16 (11th Cir. 1994) (per curiam). The Al Najjars failed to satisfy
these exhaustion requirements and, therefore, we have no jurisdiction to consider this argument on appeal. See id. Furthermore, we note
that HN20 to demonstrate asylum eligibility, an alien must prove he or she is a ″refugee″ within the meaning of the INA. Because
″refugee sur place″ is not a statutory designation, it is doubtful that such a classification could help the Al Najjars demonstrate ″refugee″
status. See Aguirre-Aguirre, 526 U.S. at 427-28, 119 S. Ct. at 1446-47 (″The U.N. Handbook may be a useful interpretative aid, but it
is not binding on the Attorney General, the BIA, or United States courts.″); Cardoza-Fonseca, 480 U.S. at 439 n.22, 107 S. Ct. at 1217
n.22 (resorting to the Handbook as one of a number of grounds, including the statute itself and precedent, for an interpretation of
″well-founded fear″).
15
After the IJ issued orders of deportation against the Al Najjars, Mazen was detained by the INS on the basis of classified evidence
purporting to show that he was a threat to national security. As previously noted, on appeal, the Al Najjars have repeatedly asserted that
the imputed political opinions springing from Mazen’s detainment impact their asylum claims. Nonetheless, the Al Najjars concede that
the BIA did not consider any evidence of Mazen’s detainment in reviewing their appeals. For instance, the Al Najjars admit that the BIA
″did not take into consideration the change in circumstances and probability for persecution or torture which would result if the Dr. Al
Najjar and his wife were returned to Israel, the UAE, Saudi Arabia or Egypt.″ Appellant Mazen’s Opening Brief at 9. We agree.

In both Mazen’s and Fedaa’s cases, the BIA ″affirmed the Immigration Judge’s decision for the reasons set forth therein″
and emphatically declared that ″no classified information was considered by the Board in deciding the instant appeal and
motion to remand.″ Thus, it is apparent that the BIA only considered the evidence before the IJ which pertained solely to
imputed opinions, if any, directed at the Al Najjars. Since Mazen was arrested after the IJ decisions, it follows that none
of the imputed opinions springing from Mazen’s detainment was considered by the BIA or IJ. Accordingly, we will consider
only those political opinions imputed to the Al Najjars prior to Mazen’s detainment, as we are empowered to review
decisions based only on record evidence. See 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (a)(4). To the extent we recognize Mazen’s custody
proceedings, we decline to place any reliance thereon in reviewing the immigration courts’ decisions on the asylum
petitions.
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by the applicant is so overwhelming ″that a reasonable
factfinder would have to conclude that the requisite fear of
persecution exists.″ Mazariegos, 241 F.3d at 1323-24
(emphasis in original).
There is substantial record evidence demonstrating Mazen’s
personal belief and outspoken advocacy for Palestinian
autonomy. Before the IJ, Mazen testified that he did not
agree with the Israeli occupation of the Palestinian territories.
The record further reveals that Mazen helped begin a
think-tank, WISE, which was ostensibly committed to
″educating the public about Islamic issues through research,
publishing and seminars.″ Mazen volunteered [**49]
countless hours to the activities of WISE, and the resume he
submitted to the immigration court indicates that he was the
Executive Director of WISE from 1990 until the organization
dissolved in the mid-nineties. WISE produced various
seminars and journals that focused on the issue of the
Israeli-Palestinian conflict, and advocated autonomy and
self-determination for Palestine. Mazen acted as an editor in
the publication of many of these journals and was a speaker
regarding Palestinian issues at some of the WISE-sponsored
conferences. Based on these offers of proof, there is
reasonable, substantial, and probative evidence on the
record as a whole demonstrating Mazen’s actual belief in
Palestinian self-determination. 16 [**50]
HN22
Demonstrating one’s political opinion, however, is merely
one component of the ″refugee″ inquiry. 17 See 8 U.S.C. §
1101 (a)(42)(A).
[*1287] HN25 To be eligible for asylum, the alien must
establish a ″well-founded fear″ that his or her political

opinion (or other statutorily listed factor) will cause harm or
suffering that rises to the level of ″persecution.″ See 8
U.S.C. § 1101 [**51] (a)(42)(A). ″Demonstrating such a
connection requires the alien to present ’specific, detailed
facts showing a good reason to fear that he or she will be
singled out for persecution’″ on account of such an opinion.
Faddoul v. INS, 37 F.3d 185, 188 (5th Cir. 1994) 18 (quoting
Zulbeari v. INS, 963 F.2d 999, 1000 (7th Cir. 1992)); Rezai
v. INS, 62 F.3d 1286, 1289 (10th Cir. 1995) (alien ″must
present specific, credible evidence to support his claim that
he has been persecuted or will be persecuted if deported″);
M.A. v. U.S. INS, 899 F.2d 304, 311 (4th Cir. 1990) (en
banc) (″To validate the ’well-foundedness’ of his fear, [the
alien] must set forth specific, concrete facts.″).
[**52] Mazen failed to demonstrate that he possessed a
″well-founded fear″ of persecution in the UAE on account
of his actual political opinion regarding Palestinian
autonomy. The voluminous record in this case contains only
a few documents cataloguing political and social conditions
in the UAE. While some of the media reports in the record
contain isolated comments about political conditions in
various Middle Eastern countries, none offers any facts that
are relevant to this vein of Mazen’s argument. Instead, the
primary offer of documentary proof regarding conditions in
the UAE (and Saudi Arabia) derives from reports published
by the Department of State regarding human rights practices.
See U.S. DEPARTMENT OF STATE, COUNTRY
REPORTS ON HUMAN RIGHTS PRACTICES FOR 1995,
at 1249 (Saudi Arabia), at 1274 (UAE) (″Department of
State Report″ or ″DOS Report″).

16
Fedaa did not testify regarding the substance of her actual political opinions; no witness attested that she believed in Palestinian
autonomy or self-determination; and there was no documentary evidence which purported to attribute such an ideology to her.
Accordingly, there is substantial evidence to support the IJ’s determination that Fedaa failed to demonstrate that her actual political
opinions were hostile to the Saudi government. See Faddoul v. INS, 37 F.3d 185, 188 (5th Cir. 1994) (HN23 an alien must ″present
’specific, detailed facts showing a good reason to fear that he or she will be singled out for persecution’″). Thus, it follows that there
is substantial evidence in the record to uphold the IJ’s finding that she failed to demonstrate a well-founded fear of persecution on account
of her actual political opinions.
17

Mazen need not prove that the UAE has actual knowledge of his allegedly offensive political opinions regarding Palestine. ″HN24
While evidence that authorities lie in wait to punish an asylum applicant would certainly strengthen any petition to the Board, it is not
evidence necessary to the ’well-founded fear’ inquiry.″ Najafi v. INS, 104 F.3d 943, 949 (7th Cir. 1997) (reversing the immigration courts
for requiring an Iranian who converted to Christianity to prove that the Iranian government had knowledge of his apostasy); Osaghae
v. INS, 942 F.2d 1160, 1164 (7th Cir. 1991) (″Asylum is not limited to the notorious.″). Instead, evidence that the removal country has
knowledge of the asylum applicant’s political opinion is merely probative, and not dispositive, of the strength of his or her ″well-founded
fear.″
18

By citing and relying on Faddoul, we do not imply concurrence with the Fifth Circuit’s definition of ″persecution″ in that case. See
37 F.3d at 188 (construing ″persecution″ ″as requiring ’a showing by the alien that ″harm of suffering will be inflicted upon [her] in order
to punish″’″). Neither the scope nor definition of ″persecution″ is at issue in the instant case, and we need not determine the precise
contours of the term at this time. The Al Najjars have failed to demonstrate a ″well-founded fear″ of persecution under any of the extant
formulations of the standard.
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The 1995 Department of State Report, however, not only
discounts Mazen’s argument here; it rebuts it. First, the
DOS Report states that there have been no reports of
politically motivated disappearances or torture at the hands
of the Emirate government. See DOS Report, supra, at
1276. Then, the Report explains that there have [**53] been
no reported political prisoners in the UAE. See id. Thus,
there is no reason to think that Mazen will be jailed for his
political beliefs, whatever they may be.
Cutting even further against Mazen’s position, the DOS
Report indicates that the Emirate government is not hostile
to Mazen’s ideology, but in fact sympathizes with his
position regarding Palestinian autonomy. The Report explains
that, commensurate with the country’s censorship policies,
officials with the Ministry of Information and Culture
censor foreign periodicals, books, and broadcasting programs
to weed out material that the government wishes to suppress.
See id. at 1277. Predominately, the censored material is that
[*1288] which is contrary to Islam, such as pornography,
but the Ministry also censors that which is derogatory to the
Emirate government and material that is ″favorable to
Israel.″ Id. Insofar as the UAE has a policy of censoring
materials that are favorable to Israel, the UAE has an
official position that is similar to Mazen’s advocacy against
Israel and in favor of Palestinian self-determination. Because
Mazen’s actual political opinions are, at the very least, not
in conflict with the official [**54] policy of the UAE, we
fail to see any threat that Mazen will be persecuted by the
Emirate government for his actual convictions. Accordingly,
we find substantial evidence supporting the IJ’s
determination that Mazen failed to establish a well-founded
fear of persecution based on his actual political opinion in
Palestinian self-determination.
To the extent Mazen argues that he will suffer persecution
on account of the official stifling of academic freedom and
political advocacy in the UAE, we reject his argument. The
DOS Report explains that the UAE’s Provisional
Constitution creates freedom of speech, but, in practice, this

freedom is rather limited. See id. at 1276. There are
unwritten but generally recognized bans on criticism of the
government, and the UAE prohibits the formation of political
parties. See DOS Report, supra, at 1277. These restrictions
are insufficient to amount to persecution.
First, Mazen testified that he has never criticized the
Emirate government. Because Mazen has never articulated
the forbidden speech, we fail to see why his academic
advocacy would be officially silenced by the Emirate
authorities. Second, and more importantly, ″HN26 political
conditions [**55] ’which affect the populace as a whole or
in large part are generally insufficient to establish
[persecution].’″ Gonzalez v. Reno, 212 F.3d 1338, 1355
(11th Cir. 2000) (quoting Mitev v. INS, 67 F.3d 1325, 1330
(7th Cir. 1995)). Because any governmental bar on political
advocacy, association, or free speech is applicable to the
general population of the UAE, these social constraints do
not amount to persecution on the grounds of political
opinion. See id.
2. Imputed Political Opinion
Next, the Al Najjars argue that it was an abuse of discretion
for the IJ and BIA to reject their asylum claims as to Saudi
Arabia and the UAE, because allegations of terrorist
associations, regardless of their veracity, create terrorist
opinions imputed to them by the United States government
and media which will cause persecution. Specifically, the Al
Najjars contend that their imputed association and affiliation
with the PIJ, Intifada, Hamas and/or other militant Islamic
organizations will cause them persecution in the UAE and
Saudi Arabia. 19
[**56] [*1289] ″HN27 An imputed political opinion,
whether correctly or incorrectly attributed,″ may constitute
a ground for a ″well-founded fear″ of political persecution
within the meaning of the INA. Morales v. INS, 208 F.3d
323, 331 (1st Cir. 2000). See, e.g., Lwin v. INS, 144 F.3d
505, 509 (7th Cir. 1998); Cruz-Diaz v. U.S. INS, 86 F.3d

19
The Immigration Act of 1990 created an exclusion ground for any alien who has ″engaged in terrorist activity,″ or any ″alien who
the consular officer or the INS knows, or has reason to believe, is likely to engage in terrorist activity after entry.″ INA §§
212(a)(3)(B)(i)(I) and (II), 8 U.S.C. §§ 1182 (a)(3)(B)(i)(I) and (II). Upon the passage of the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty
Act (″AEDPA″) in 1996, Congress expanded the category of aliens excludable as terrorists under § 212(a)(3)(B)(i) to include
″representatives of a foreign terrorist organization,″ and ″members of a foreign terrorist organization.″ See INA §§ 212(a)(3)(B)(i)(III)
and (IV), 8 U.S.C. §§ 1182 (a)(3)(B)(i)(III) and (IV) (1999). Neither the 1990 Immigration Act nor AEDPA’s provisions relating to
terrorists or terrorist organizations are at issue in this case. At no point in these proceedings has the INS argued that Mazen or Fedaa
falls under INA § 212(a)(3)(B)(i). Instead, as previously noted, the Service offered evidence purporting to show Mazen’s association with
terrorists solely to mitigate the immigration court’s exercise of discretion in the Al Najjars’ favor. Therefore, while the INA contemplates
that, under certain circumstances, terrorist loyalties may disqualify an alien for affirmative relief under the INA, these provisions are not
at issue in this case. Furthermore, given our disposition of the Al Najjars’ petition, we express no opinion whether imputed or actual
terrorist opinions may disqualify an alien for affirmative relief under the INA.
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330, 331-32 (4th Cir. 1996) (per curiam); Canas-Segovia v.
INS, 970 F.2d 599, 601-02 (9th Cir. 1992); Matter of S-P-,
21 I. & N. Dec. 486, 1996 BIA LEXIS 25 (BIA 1996)
(″Persecution for ’imputed’ grounds (e.g., where one is
erroneously thought to hold particular political opinions or
mistakenly believed to be a member of a religious sect) can
satisfy the ’refugee’ definition.″). ″An asylum applicant
may prevail on a theory of ’imputed political opinion’ if he
shows that the ’persecutor falsely attributed an opinion to
[him], and then persecuted[him] because of that mistaken
belief about [his] views.’″ Chanchavac v. INS, 207 F.3d 584,
591 (9th Cir. 2000) (quoting Canas-Segovia, 970 F.2d at
601-02).
Even if we were to find that Saudi Arabia and the UAE
would impute [**57] terrorist opinions to Mazen and Fedaa,
the Al Najjars would still be required to demonstrate that
they have a ″well-founded fear of persecution″ because of
that imputed political opinion. The Al Najjars failed to offer
any evidence of such a well-founded fear, and they certainly
have not satisfied the heavy burden on asylum applicants
arguing that the BIA erred in its factual determination that
they are statutorily ineligible for asylum. Accordingly, we
need not decide whether the Al Najjars demonstrated the
imputation of terrorist opinions. Instead, we review the
BIA’s finding that the Al Najjars failed to demonstrate past
persecution or a ″well-founded fear″ of future persecution
on account of such an opinion. See Elias-Zacarias, 502 U.S.
at 483, 112 S. Ct. at 816 (concluding HN28 that because the
alien failed to demonstrate a ″well-founded fear,″ the Court
″need not decide whether the evidence compels the
conclusion that [the alien] held a political opinion,″ because
″even if it does, [the alien] still has to establish that the
record also compels the conclusion that he has a
’well-founded fear’ … [of] persecution … because of that
political [**58] opinion.″) (emphasis in original).
HN29 While the precise contours of the ″well-founded fear″
inquiry continue to evolve, it is well-established that it has
both an objective and subjective component. What this
means is that an applicant must demonstrate that his or her
fear of persecution is subjectively genuine and objectively
reasonable. See Mgoian v. INS, 184 F.3d 1029, 1035 (9th
Cir. 1999); Sayaxing v. INS, 179 F.3d 515, 519-20 (7th Cir.
1999) (same); Mikhailevitch v. INS, 146 F.3d 384, 389 (6th
Cir. 1998) (same); Nazaraghaie v. INS, 102 F.3d 460, 462
(10th Cir. 1996) (same); Ghasemimehr v. INS, 7 F.3d 1389,

1390 (8th Cir.1993) (per curiam) (same); Guevara Flores v.
INS, 786 F.2d 1242, 1249 (5th Cir. 1986) (″An alien
possesses a well-founded fear of persecution if a reasonable
person in her circumstances would fear persecution if she
were to be returned to her native country.″). The subjective
component is generally satisfied by the applicant’s credible
testimony that he or she genuinely fears persecution. See
Mgoian, 184 F.3d at 1035. In most cases, the objective
[**59]
prong can be fulfilled either by establishing past
persecution or that he or she has a ″good reason to fear
future persecution.″ Id.
[*1290] Mazen failed to prove both the objective and
subjective components of his well-founded fear based on
imputed political opinions. The record is devoid of evidence
that the Emirate government has ever detained, arrested,
tortured, or otherwise harmed any suspected member of the
PIJ or other Islamic terrorist group opposed to the
Israeli-Palestinian peace process, much less one who merely
is alleged to have some association with such a group.
Indeed, there was no record evidence indicating that the
UAE feels threatened from terrorist acts in Israel or in any
way sympathizes with the Israeli government. Instead,
Department of State Reports indicate that the UAE is a
predominatingly Arab nation, with a devoutly Muslim
population and a large number of Palestinian refugees. If
anything, this indicates that the UAE is likely to be
sympathetic to the plight of the Palestinians, not the Israelis.
Whatever inferences may be drawn from this Report,
however, are not within our province to make, since Mazen
was required to demonstrate ″’specific, detailed [**60] facts
showing a good reason to fear that he … will be singled out
for persecution.’″ Faddoul, 37 F.3d at 188. He failed to
offer any proof that the Emirate government has a history of
persecuting terrorists, members of the PIJ, or any other
individual with a similar ideology, much less one who is
merely alleged to have some association therewith. He
likewise failed to present evidence that fear of such future
suffering is reasonable. 20

Mazen failed to establish [**61] the subjective component
as well. During his testimony, when asked whether he
feared persecution in the UAE, Mazen recited only his fear
of discrimination on the basis of his Palestinian ancestry. At
no time during the hearings before the IJ did Mazen testify
that he ″genuinely fears persecution″ in the UAE on account
of imputed terrorist loyalties, and there is no other record
evidence indicating that he possessed such a fear.

20

Mazen suggests vaguely that this court should simply assume he will be persecuted because there have been public allegations that
he has had some association with the PIJ or other similar terrorist groups. However, the law requires that Mazen demonstrate specific,
detailed facts showing good reason to fear that he will be singled out for persecution. This he has failed to do. On this record, and in
light of our deferential scope of review, we cannot conclude that the findings of the IJ and BIA were lacking substantial support.
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HN30 The ″denial of asylum may be reversed only if the
evidence presented by the applicant is so powerful that a
reasonable factfinder would have to conclude that the
requisite fear of persecution exists.″ Mazariegos, 241 F.3d
at 1323-24. Mazen failed to present such evidence below.
Accordingly, we cannot say that the IJ lacked a substantial
basis for its conclusion that Mazen’s fears of persecution in
the UAE on account of imputed political opinion were not
well-founded.
We likewise see no reason to disturb the IJ’s finding that
Fedaa’s fear of persecution due to imputed political opinions
was not well-founded. Not only did she fail to present any
evidence that she personally and genuinely feared
persecution due to imputed terrorist opinions, [**62] but
she also failed to demonstrate that Saudi Arabia has
persecuted suspected members of the PIJ or individuals
opposed to the Israeli-Palestinian peace process, much less
the spouse of a person who is merely alleged to have some
association with such a group. 21 Likewise, there was no
showing [*1291] that suspected members of the PIJ or other
similar terrorist group will be persecuted by Saudi Arabia in
the future. Accordingly, we affirm the IJ’s finding that
Fedaa ″failed to provide evidence that published allegations
regarding her husband would subject her to persecution.″

persecution on account of nationality. The IJ rejected this
argument, finding that ″persecution based on denial of entry
was not established″ as to Fedaa or Mazen. In so doing, the
IJ relied on Faddoul v. INS, 37 F.3d 185 (5th Cir. 1994). In
Faddoul, a Saudi-born Palestinian argued that Saudi Arabia’s
denial of exit and re-entry privileges to Palestinians born in
Saudi Arabia constitutes persecution. The Fifth Circuit
rejected this argument, reasoning that even though ″Saudi
Arabia … denies Palestinians certain rights enjoyed by
Saudi citizens, the government does not single out
Palestinians for such discriminatory treatment.″ Id. at 188.
Instead, Saudi law grants citizenship based solely on Saudi
ancestry. The Fifth Circuit reasoned that Saudi Arabia’s
″method of conferring citizenship does not amount to
persecution″ of Palestinians because all non-Saudis are
subject to the same entry and exit restrictions. Id. at 189.
Fedaa’s [**64] claim of persecution based on a denial of
entry mirrors Faddoul’s. She asserts that because she is of
Palestinian ancestry, she will be denied citizenship and/or
entry into Saudi Arabia, which constitutes persecution under
the Act. As Faddoul recognizes, however, Saudi law grants
citizenship solely based on ancestry. This means that the
Saudi government does not single out Palestinians for
discriminatory treatment. Thus, such treatment does not
amount to persecution under the INA. See id.

[**63]

3. Denial of Entry
Lastly, the Al Najjars claim that they will be denied entry
into the UAE and Saudi Arabia because of their status as
stateless Palestinians, which they claim constitutes

Although Fedaa is not legally entitled to become a Saudi
citizen, the Saudis permit nonimmigrant resident refugees to
retain Saudi re-entry visas if they return to the country at
least every six months. Fedaa procured a Saudi re-entry visa
prior to coming to the United States, and since she has been

21
The Department of State Report contained in the record tells the story of Muhammed Al-Mas’ari, spokesman for the Committee for
the Defense of Legitimate Rights (″CDLR″). The CDLR was established in 1993 to advocate a ″rigidly Islamic fundamentalist approach.″
DOS Report, supra, at 1253. Among other things, CDLR spokesman, Al-Mas’ari has expressed opposition to the Saudi King and high
level government officials, as well as ″opposition to peace with Israel and to Saudi support for the peace process.″ Id. After Al-Mas’ari
fled Saudi security forces, fifteen to twenty of his relatives and supporters were arrested. Some were sentenced to prison terms and at
least one has been executed by the Saudi government.

This account prompts us to consider whether Saudi Arabia supports Israel in the Palestinian-Israeli clash, and to ask whether
the Saudis arrested CDLR supporters for expressing opposition to the Israeli-Peace process. We conclude that the foregoing
story is not sufficiently specific or telling to demonstrate either. ″Although other inferences … may be drawn [from this
account], it is not our task to do so as long as substantial evidence supports the BIA’s conclusion.″ Perlera-Escobar, 894
F.2d at 1299. HN31 An alien must demonstrate ″’specific, detailed facts showing a good reason to fear that he or she will
be singled out for persecution.’″ Faddoul, 37 F.3d at 188. The story of the CDLR members does not satisfy such a strong
showing and therefore, is insufficient, standing alone, to undercut the IJ’s determination that Fedaa failed to demonstrate
a well-founded fear of persecution on account of imputed political opinions. In light of the limited scope of our review, we
are not at liberty to reject the inferences which the IJ and BIA accepted--i.e., that the Saudis arrested the CDLR supporters
because of their opposition to the Saudi King and high level governmental officials--and instead to adopt the inference more
favorable to Fedaa’s position which the IJ and BIA rejected.
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here, she has failed to follow the visa’s conditions which
caused it to expire. The cancellation of Fedaa’s visa had
nothing to do with her Palestinian ancestry; it [*1292] was
caused by Fedaa’s failure to follow the terms of her visa.
Now that her visa is expired, Fedaa’s ability to return to
Saudi Arabia is contingent on Saudi Arabia’s generally
applicable policies concerning nonimmigrant refugees.
[**65]
There has been no evidence that these policies
single out Palestinian refugees for discriminatory treatment.
Instead, testimony offered to the IJ indicates that if Fedaa’s
entry were sponsored by an employer, like that of other
non-Saudis, she could obtain a work permit and return to
Saudi Arabia, regardless of her ancestry. The significant fact
about the instant record is that Fedaa has failed to
demonstrate that if she is denied such a visa, it will be
because of her Palestinian ancestry. Indeed, there is nothing
in the record to indicate that Saudi Arabia will deny Fedaa
an entry visa because she is of Palestinian descent.
HN32 To reverse a determination that an alien is statutorily
ineligible for asylum, there must be record evidence that is
so compelling that a reasonable factfinder would be
compelled to reach a conclusion contrary to that of the BIA.
Here, we have not been presented with any evidence that the
Saudis will deny Fedaa entry, or that if such a denial
occurred it would be due to her nationality. Therefore, we
find substantial, reasonable, and probative evidence
supporting the IJ’s conclusion that Fedaa failed to establish
a ″well-founded fear″ that she would be [**66] denied entry
on account of her nationality.
With respect to Mazen’s denial of entry claim, we likewise
find substantial evidence supporting the IJ’s conclusion that
persecution on this basis was not established. Much like
Saudi Arabia, the UAE grants citizenship based on ancestry
and/or marriage. Neither Mazen nor his family is eligible to
become citizens of the UAE, since they are of Palestinian
origin. There are no formal procedures for accepting refugees
into the UAE. See DOS Report, supra, at 1277. Nonetheless,
Mazen testified that nonimmigrant refugees may receive
temporary residence permits from the Emirate government.
Mazen’s siblings have procured temporary residence permits
from the Emirate government and reside in the UAE at this
time. Further, Mazen’s father worked for the Ministry of
Education in the UAE for over twenty-years, and his parents
presently reside in the UAE at least one-half of the year

utilizing temporary residence permits. Mazen failed to
explain why he would be ineligible for such a permit.
Moreover, he has failed to offer any evidence that the
Emirate government has ever, or will ever, deny temporary
resident permits on the basis of Palestinian [**67] ancestry.
Not only do Mazen’s Palestinian parents and siblings
possess such documents, but Mazen himself had such a
temporary permit before he moved to the United States. For
the foregoing reasons, we find substantial evidence
supporting the IJ’s determination that Mazen’s fear that he
will be denied entry into the UAE on account of his
nationality is not well-founded. 22
E. Withholding of Deportation
We have held that ″reasonable, substantial and probative
evidence in the record considered as a whole,″ see 8 U.S.C.
§ 1105a [**68] (a)(4), supports the BIA’s denial of asylum
to the Al Najjars. HN33 Where ″an [*1293] applicant is
unable to meet the ’well-founded fear’ standard for asylum,
he is generally precluded from qualifying for either asylum
or withholding of deportation.″ Nkacoang v. INS, 83 F.3d
353, 355 (11th Cir. 1996); Guevara-Flores v. INS, 786 F.2d
1242, 1250 (5th Cir. 1986) (″The evidentiary burden for
establishing entitlement to withholding of deportation should
be greater than that imposed on aliens who seek asylum.″).
The Al Najjars have not explained why the general rule is
inapplicable to them. Because the Al Najjars failed to
demonstrate a ″well-founded fear of persecution″ sufficient
to support an asylum claim, the BIA properly found that the
Al Najjars were unable to satisfy the greater burden attending
a request for withholding of removal.
F. Asylum & Withholding Testing Countries
Next, the Al Najjars argue that they are natives of Palestine
and that the BIA abused its discretion in determining that
the UAE and Saudi Arabia were the appropriate countries
for consideration of their asylum and withholding claims.
The Al Najjars contend that they are stateless [**69] and
argue that the IJ should have tested their petitions by
reference to Israel, the country with political control over
their homeland in Palestine.
HN34 The statutory methodology for determining the
potential country of deportation is different from that
utilized to pinpoint the asylum testing country. Compare 8
U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(42)(A), with 8 U.S.C. § 1253 (a) (1995)

22

To the extent that the Al Najjars contend that they will be denied entry into the UAE and Saudi Arabia on account of imputed terrorist
opinions, we likewise reject this argument, as there is no record evidence that the UAE and Saudi Arabia have ever, or will ever, exclude
individuals with such opinions. Accordingly, we find substantial, probative evidence supporting the BIA’s finding that the Al Najjars
failed to demonstrate persecution on such a ground.
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(repealed by IIRIRA § 307(a), now codified at INA § 241,
8 U.S.C. § 1231 (b)). Because these statutory provisions
contemplate different procedures, we address the argument
as to asylum and withholding separately.
Beginning with the Al Najjars’ asylum claims, the INS
contends that Emirate and Saudi residence was appropriate
because a ″refugee″ for purposes of asylum is tested by
reference to the ″country of such person’s nationality, or in
the case of a person having no nationality, … any country in
which such person last habitually resided.″ 8 U.S.C. § 1101
(a)(42)(A). Since the Al Najjars repeatedly asserted they
were stateless Palestinians, the Service argues that the BIA
was required by § 1101(a)(42)(A) to test their [**70] asylum
claims by reference to the country in which they ″last
habitually resided.″ The Al Najjars counter that their
nationality is Palestinian and, therefore, that Israel should
have been designated as the asylum testing country.
HN35 ″Statelessness alone does not warrant asylum,″ as all
asylum applicants must demonstrate the same well-founded
fear of persecution under INA § 101(a)(42)(A). See Faddoul, 37 F.3d at 190. Indeed, the INA expressly contemplates
that there will be asylum applicants with a ″nationality,″ and
those with ″no nationality.″ See 8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(42)(A).
In the case of an applicant with ″no nationality,″ section
1101(a)(42)(A) tests the petition by reference to the country
of ″last habitual residence.″ See id. This means that where
an applicant is stateless, the ″well-founded fear″ inquiry
may be directed to the individual’s ″last habitual residence,″
and not the country of the alien’s ″nationality.″
Before the BIA and IJ, the Al Najjars consistently argued
that they were stateless Palestinians, and we will not permit
them to interpose a different argument on appeal. See 8
U.S.C. § 1105a [**71] (c). Thus, to the extent that the Al
Najjars now argue in their brief to this court and in oral
argument that their asylum claim should be tested by
reference to Israel, we refuse to consider this argument
because it was not raised below. 23 We will, however,
[*1294] consider the other articulation of the Al Najjars’
argument which was argued before the immigration courts:
whether the IJ improperly identified the UAE and Saudi
Arabia as the Al Najjars’ ″last habitual residence.″

[**72] HN36 The ″last habitual residence″ designation is a

question of fact. As such, we review this conclusion under
a deferential substantial evidence test. See Mazariegos, 241
F.3d at 1323-24. The IJ made implicit, but not explicit,
findings on the question of ″last habitual residence.″ We
find substantial record evidence supporting these implicit
findings.
Although Fedaa is of Palestinian ancestry, she was born in
Saudi Arabia and lived there with her parents and siblings
for twenty-three years before coming to the United States.
Fedaa attended secondary school and college in Saudi
Arabia. In fact, other than her residence in Tampa, Florida,
Fedaa has lived in no other country. Furthermore, almost
every living member of Fedaa’s close family presently
resides in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Thus, we readily conclude
that there is substantial evidence supporting the IJ’s
determination that Saudi Arabia is Fedaa’s ″last habitual
residence.″
As for Mazen, he was born in Palestine and lived there for
only one year before moving to Saudi Arabia and residing
there for thirteen years with his parents and five siblings.
Thereafter, Mazen moved to Egypt, living there for eight
years. After [**73] completing his bachelor’s degree at a
university in Egypt, Mazen moved to the UAE in 1979. He
lived in the UAE until 1981, working for a consulting firm
in a construction business in Ajman, UAE. Upon leaving the
UAE, Mazen ventured to the United States to commence his
master’s work in North Carolina.
At the hearing before the IJ, Mazen’s attorney stated that he
was offering evidence regarding the UAE as relevant to the
″issue of political asylum, because that’s his last area of
habitual abode.″ Indeed, before the IJ and BIA, Mazen
never contested the designation of the UAE as his ″last
habitual residence.″ Despite this, Mazen asks us to entertain
his complaints on this issue. HN37 We will not consider
arguments raised for the first time on appeal. See 8 U.S.C.
§ 1105a (c); Asencio v. INS, 37 F.3d 614, 615-16 (11th Cir.
1994) (per curiam) (″Under § 106(c) of the Act, 8 U.S.C. §
1105a (c), a court lacks jurisdiction to consider a claim

23

The Al Najjars claim, raised for the first time on appeal, that Israel should have been used as the asylum testing country, was not
raised below and is belied by their position before the immigration courts. Before the IJ, the Al Najjars consistently asserted that they
were stateless Palestinians with legal residency rights in no country in the world. In their petitions for asylum, suspension, and
withholding, both Fedaa and Mazen listed their ″Citizenship″ as ″Stateless″ and before the IJ, the Al Najjars’ attorney stressed the fact
that neither Fedaa nor Mazen had legal citizenship rights anywhere in the world. After the IJ designated the UAE and Saudi Arabia as
the proper asylum testing countries under the statute, the Al Najjars appealed to the BIA and did not in any way challenge the IJ’s
designation of the UAE and Saudi Arabia as the asylum testing countries. Not only did the Al Najjars fail to raise, or even vaguely argue,
this issue of Israeli ″nationality″ below--which is enough to preclude consideration of this argument in the court of appeals--but this
argument is wholly inconsistent with their position of statelessness, which they unwaveringly adhered to in the immigration courts.
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which has not first been presented to the Board, as an alien
must exhaust the administrative remedies available to him
prior to obtaining judicial review.″); Ka Fung Chan v. INS,
634 F.2d 248, 258 (5th Cir. 1981). [**74] Moreover, an
alien may not contest a designation on appeal which he
invited and acquiesced in below. Accordingly, we reject the
Al Najjars’ contentions that the UAE and Saudi [*1295]
Arabia were improperly designated as their ″last habitual
residence″ and affirm the IJ’s designations.
As for the IJ’s designation of Saudi Arabia and the UAE as
the appropriate countries of removal under § 1253(a), 24 we
likewise affirm. HN38 Section 1253 ″authorized the Attorney
General to specify the country to which the alien will be
sent,″ once the alien’s designation fails or the alien refuses
to designate such a country. Ademi v. INS, 31 F.3d 517, 520
(7th Cir. 1994). The Attorney General’s discretion under §
1253(a), which has been delegated to the Board, see 8
C.F.R. § 3.1(d), is to be aided by seven statutory guidelines,
see 8 U.S.C. § 1253 (a).
[**75] HN40 While § 1253(a) gives the alien the power
initially to designate the deportation country, when that
designation fails or the alien refuses to specify such a
country, the provision reposes very broad discretion in the
Board to designate the removal country. See Ademi, 31 F.3d
at 520-21. Here, the Al Najjars did not exercise their right to
designate the country of deportation initially, so the
immigration courts made this designation for them under §
1253(a). This procedure was mandated by § 1253(a), and
we find no error here.

The Al Najjars’ contentions that ″statelessness″ somehow
alters the removal country designation are without merit.
Instead, § 1253(a) clearly defines the procedure to be
followed in all cases, without reference to statelessness.
HN41 Where, for any reason, the alien refuses to designate
the removal country, the designation is committed to the
Board to be determined in accordance with seven statutory
guidelines. See 8 U.S.C. § 1253 (a). We find that there was

no abuse of discretion in designating the UAE and Saudi
Arabia as the removal countries; there is substantial evidence
in the record as a whole demonstrating Fedaa’s [**76] and
Mazen’s nexus to these countries. Accordingly, we reject
the Al Najjars’ argument that the removal countries were
improvidently designated under § 1253(a).
For the first time at oral argument, the Al Najjars cited
Kuhai v. INS, 199 F.3d 909 (7th Cir. 1999), Andriasian v.
INS, 180 F.3d 1033 (9th Cir. 1999), and Kossov v. INS, 132
F.3d 405 (7th Cir. 1998), to support their contention that the
IJ improperly designated the asylum and deportation testing
countries. In Kuhai, Kossov, and Andriasian, the immigration
courts did not give the aliens adequate notice of the
designated removal country and, as a result, [*1296] the
applicants were deprived of an opportunity to offer statutorily
required, country-specific evidence necessary to establish
eligibility for relief under the INA. See Kuhai, 199 F.3d at
912-14 (″Despite the fact that neither party briefed the issue,
the Board [sua sponte] modified the order of the immigration
judge to change Kuhai’s country of deportation from
Uzbekistan to Ukraine.″); Andriasian, 180 F.3d at 1041
(reversing, as violative of due process, the BIA’s affirmance
[**77] of the IJ’s decision to adopt, after the close of all
evidence, an additional country of deportation); Kossov, 132
F.3d at 407-08 (reversing, as violative of due process, a
husband and wife’s consolidated deportation proceedings
because ″both the hearing before the IJ and BIA’s review
concentrated almost exclusively on Latvia … yet the order
itself deports the Kossovs to Russia, not Latvia.″). Kuhai,
Kossov, and Andriasian address immigration proceedings
that do not afford adequate notice regarding changes in the
country of deportation. Inadequate notice might raise due
process concerns by depriving an alien of his or her
opportunity to mount a case for relief insofar as asylum and
withholding require an alien to establish the necessary
country-specific showings. See 8 U.S.C. § 1101 (a)(42)(A)
(requiring proof of a ″well-founded fear of persecution″ on
account of a statutorily protected factor in the country of the
alien’s nationality or ″last habitual residence″); 8 U.S.C. §

24
This provision designates the countries to which an alien may be deported, giving each alien the right initially to designate the
deportation country, and if ″HN39 the country designated by the alien fails … [the] deportation of such alien shall be directed to any
country of which such alien is a subject, national, or citizen if such country is willing to accept him into its territory. If the government
of such country fails finally to advise the Attorney General or the alien within three months following the date of original inquiry, or
within such other period as the Attorney General shall deem reasonable … then such deportation shall be directed by the Attorney
General within his discretion and without necessarily giving any priority or preference because of their order as herein set forth either--(1)
to the country from which such alien last entered the United States; (2) to the country in which is located the foreign port at which such
alien embarked for the United States or for foreign contiguous territory; (3) to the country in which he was born; (4) to the country in
which the place of his birth is situated at the time he is ordered deported; (5) to any country in which he resided prior to entering the
country from which he entered the United States; (6) to the country which had sovereignty over the birthplace of the alien at the time
of his birth; or (7) if deportation to any of the foregoing places or countries is impracticable, inadvisable, or impossible, then to any
country which is willing to accept such alien into its territory.″ 8 U.S.C. § 1253 (a).
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1253 (a) (requiring that an alien demonstrate to the
satisfaction of the Attorney General that his or her ″life or
freedom would be [**78] threatened in such country on
account of race, religion, nationality, membership in a
particular social group, or political opinion″).
In the instant appeal, the Al Najjars were not denied the
opportunity to contest the proposed country of deportation
or ″last habitual residence″ designations. To the contrary,
there was ample notice and opportunity to adduce evidence.
Thus, unlike Kuhai, Kossov, and Andriasian, the Al Najjars’
proceedings involved no lack of notice that the UAE and
Saudi Arabia, respectively, were the appropriate
petition-testing countries. Accordingly, the Al Najjars’ cases
involve no such due process concerns. 25
[**79]

G. Suspension of Deportation
Fedaa argues that the BIA erred in denying her request for
suspension of deportation on the ground that she failed to
demonstrate extreme hardship. Mazen argues that the BIA
erred in concluding that he failed to demonstrate the
continuous physical presence element of his suspension
claim.
HN42 Section 244(a)(1) of the INA, 8 U.S.C. § 1254 (a)(1),
which was repealed by IIRIRA § 308(b)(7), 26 governs
Fedaa’s and [*1297] Mazen’s suspension applications. In
order to be eligible for suspension of deportation under §
244(a)(1) of the Act, an applicant must establish that: (1) he
or she ″has been physically present in the United States for
a continuous period of not less than seven years immediately
preceding the date of such application;″ (2) ″during all of
such period he was and is a person of good moral character;″
and (3) he or she ″is a person whose deportation would, in
the opinion of the Attorney General, result in extreme
hardship to the alien or to his spouse, parent, or child, who
is a citizen of the United States or an alien lawfully admitted
for permanent residence.″ 8 U.S.C. § 1254 (a)(1). HN43
Even if [**80] an alien establishes statutory eligibility for
suspension under INA § 244, the Attorney General possesses

the ″unfettered discretion″ to deny such an application. See
INS v. Yueh-Shaio Yang, 519 U.S. 26, 30, 117 S. Ct. 350,
352, 136 L. Ed. 2d 288 (1996) (″We have described the
Attorney General’s suspension of deportation under a related
and similarly phrased provision of the INA as ’an act of
grace’ which is accorded pursuant to her ’unfettered
discretion’.″) (quoting Jay v. Boyd, 351 U.S. 345, 354, 76 S.
Ct. 919, 925, 100 L. Ed. 1242 (1956)); Tefel v. Reno, 180
F.3d 1286, 1301 (11th Cir. 1999) (″the Attorney General
possesses broad discretion in awarding suspension of
deportation″), cert. denied, 530 U.S. 1228, 120 S. Ct. 2657,
147 L. Ed. 2d 272 (2000). The applicant for suspension
bears the burden of demonstrating both statutory eligibility
and that the equities merit a favorable exercise of discretion.
See 8 C.F.R. 240.64(a) (2001).
[**81] The BIA affirmed the IJ’s denial of suspension to
Fedaa, finding that she failed to demonstrate the necessary
element of extreme hardship. In Mazen’s case, the BIA
affirmed the IJ’s pretermittance of his suspension application
on the ground that Mazen could not establish ″continuous
physical presence.″ The Al Najjars ask us to review these
decisions, but before doing so, we must inquire into our
jurisdiction.

HN44 IIRIRA commands that in the case of a transitional
alien ″there shall be no appeal of any discretionary decision
under section 212(c), 212(h), 212(j), 244, or 245 of the
Immigration and Nationality Act.″ IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(E),
reprinted in 8 U.S.C. § 1101 (history) (1999). Section
309(c)(4)(E) does not preclude our review of all decisions
under § 244 of the INA, but applies only to ″any
discretionary decision″ under the enumerated provisions.
Thus, the question is whether determinations as to ″extreme
hardship″ and ″continuous physical presence″ constitute
″discretionary decisions″ within the meaning of IIRIRA §
309(c)(4)(E). These are questions of first impression in this
Circuit.
HN45 As to the ″extreme hardship″ prong, the Supreme
Court has made [**82] it clear that the ″Attorney General
and his delegates have the authority to construe ’extreme
hardship’ narrowly should they deem it wise to do so.″ INS

25

Before the IJ, Mazen’s attorney conceded that the UAE was Mazen’s ″last habitual residence.″ See A.R. at 1286. And, as to Fedaa,
there is no doubt that Saudi Arabia is the proper asylum and deportation-testing country because, other than her decade hiatus in Florida,
Fedaa has not resided anywhere in the world except Saudi Arabia, and her entire family still lives there. The Al Najjars’ strategy before
the IJ and BIA was to insist that they were stateless Palestinians; however, as noted above, statelessness does not obviate the necessity
of designating a country of deportation or ″last habitual residence.″ Thus, to the extent the Al Najjars conceded and/or did not contest
these country designations below, they will not be permitted to raise this argument for the first time on appeal. See 8 U.S.C. § 1105a
(c) (repealed); Asencio, 37 F.3d at 615-16; Ka Fung Chan, 634 F.2d at 258.
26

The new version is INA § 240A, 8 U.S.C. § 1229b, under which ″suspension of deportation″ is now referred to as ″cancellation of
removal.″ See IIRIRA § 304(a) (placing suspension relief in INA § 240A).
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v. Jong Ha Wang, 450 U.S. 139, 145, 101 S. Ct. 1027, 1031,
67 L. Ed. 2d 123 (1981) (per curiam); see also INS v.
Phinpathya, 464 U.S. 183, 195, 104 S. Ct. 584, 592, 78 L.
Ed. 2d 401 (1984) (″In INS v. Wang, we rejected a relaxed
standard for evaluating the ’extreme hardship’ requirement
as impermissibly shifting discretionary authority from INS
to the courts.″). This indicates that the Court views this
element as discretionary. Before IIRIRA, we likewise viewed
the ″extreme hardship″ element as discretionary insofar as
we consistently reviewed such determinations for abuse of
discretion only--instead of employing a substantial evidence
test. See, e.g., Prado-Gonzalez v. INS, 75 F.3d 631, 632 n.1
(11th Cir. 1996) (per curiam); Gomez-Gomez v. INS, 681
F.2d 1347, 1349 (11th Cir. 1982); Aguilar v. INS, 638 F.2d
717, 719 (5th Cir. 1981) (per curiam).
[*1298] All of the Circuits that have examined this issue
have concluded that the determination of ″extreme [**83]
hardship″ under INA § 244 is a discretionary decision that
the transitional rules insulate from direct judicial review.
See, e.g., Escalera v. INS, 222 F.3d 753, 755-56 (10th Cir.
2000) (concluding that IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(E) divests the
court of appeals of jurisdiction to review a determination
that the alien failed to demonstrate ″extreme hardship″);
Bernal-Vallejo v. INS, 195 F.3d 56, 63 (1st Cir. 1999)
(″’extreme hardship’ determination is a discretionary
decision barred from judicial review by § 309(c)(4)(E)″);
Moosa v. INS, 171 F.3d 994, 1012-13 (5th Cir.1999)
(″denials of suspension based on the INS § 244 element of
’extreme hardship’ are discretionary decisions, which
IIRIRA § 309(c) precludes us from reviewing″); Kalaw v.
INS, 133 F.3d 1147, 1152 (9th Cir. 1997) (″the transitional
rules operate to remove direct judicial review of BIA
determinations of ’extreme hardship’″). In light of our
existing precedent and the sound reasoning of our sister
Circuits, we likewise HN46 conclude that in transitional
cases, ″extreme hardship″ under INA § 244 is a discretionary
decision that IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(E) bars from [**84]
judicial review. Accordingly, we have no jurisdiction to
review the BIA’s determination that Fedaa failed to
demonstrate ″extreme hardship″ and decline her request to
review the denial of her suspension claim on this ground.

Turning now to the ″continuous physical presence″
requirement on which the BIA affirmed the denial of
Mazen’s suspension application, we inquire into whether
this was also a ″discretionary decision″ within the meaning
of § 309(c)(4)(E). In Kalaw v. INS, 133 F.3d 1147, 1151 (9th
Cir. 1997), the Ninth Circuit examined this question,
reasoning that:
HN47 Continuous physical presence[] must be
determined from the facts, not through an exercise of

discretion. Either the petitioner has been continuously
present in the United States for seven years or the
petitioner has not. There are legal standards guiding
this inquiry, see, e.g., Rosenberg v. Fleuti, 374 U.S. 449,
462, 83 S. Ct. 1804, 1812, 10 L. Ed. 2d 1000 (1963)
(brief, casual, and innocent departures from the United
States do not break a period of continuous physical
presence), and we have reversed the BIA’s
determination when it applied the wrong standard, see,
e.g., [**85] Castrejon-Garcia v. INS,60 F.3d 1359 (9th
Cir.1995); Kamheangpatiyooth v. INS, 597 F.2d 1253
(9th Cir.1979). . Thus, the transitional rules of judicial
review provided in IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(E) … do not
remove appellate jurisdiction over an alien’s challenge
to the BIA’s denial of an application for suspension of
deportation solely on this ground.
Similarly, in Bernal-Vallejo, the First Circuit found that
″HN48 the determination of whether the seven year
continuous presence requirement has been met is subject to
legal standards that guide the inquiry″ and is thus,
″non-discretionary″ within the meaning of § 309(c)(4)(E).
195 F.3d at 62. As Kalaw and Bernal-Vallejo demonstrate,
the determination of continuous physical presence is not
subject to the agency’s discretion, but is a matter of
applying the law to the facts of the case. See also Gonzalez
-Torres v. INS, 213 F.3d 899, 901 (5th Cir. 2000) (interpreting
the continuous physical presence requirement and the new
stop-time provisions of IIRIRA not as ″matters of agency
discretion, but involving application of the law to factual
determinations″). [**86] Accordingly, the ″continuous
physical presence″ element of INA § 244 is not a
″discretionary decision″ under IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(E), and
we may review the BIA’s denial of Mazen’s suspension
application on this ground.
The BIA reasoned that Mazen’s suspension petition was
properly pretermitted [*1299] by the IJ because Mazen
failed to establish the required seven years of continuous
physical presence. The BIA found that Mazen entered the
United States on December 8, 1984, and an OSC was issued
against him on April 19, 1985. Because an alien’s physical
presence clock stops when he is served with an OSC, the
Board concluded that Mazen was ineligible to apply for
suspension for failure to establish the requisite seven years.
We agree with the BIA. Before IIRIRA, the time an alien
spent in deportation proceedings counted toward the physical
presence requirement. However, IIRIRA enacted a ″stop
time″ provision providing that the period of continuous
physical presence would be deemed to end once the alien
was served with a notice to appear for removal proceedings
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[**88] Under the reasoning of Tefel, Mazen’s physical
presence clock stopped when he was served with an order to
show cause in April 1985 upon the commencement of his
removal proceedings. See id. We agree with the BIA that
Mazen has proved continuous physical presence only from
December 5, 1984, to April 1985, and therefore, that he has
failed to establish an essential element of his suspension
claim.

In In re Mendoza-Sandino, 2000 BIA LEXIS 3Int. Dec.
34262000 WL 225840 (BIA 2000),, , HN51 a majority of
the en banc BIA interpreted INA 240A(d)(1), 8 U.S.C. §
1229b (d)(1), to mean ″that the continuous physical presence
clock does not start anew after the [*1300] service of an
Order to [**89] Show Cause.″ The Board based this
interpretation on the statute’s language, title and history.
The BIA reasoned that while § 240A(d)(1) states that an
alien’s period of continuous physical presence in the United
States ″shall be deemed to end when the alien is served″
with a charging document, subsection (d)(2) states that
when an alien departs the United States for more than 90
days the alien ″shall be deemed to have failed to maintain
continuous physical presence.″ See INA § 240A(d), 8
U.S.C. § 1229b (d) (emphasis added). Mendoza found that
use of the word ″end″ in subsection (d)(1) and ″fail[] to
maintain″ in (d)(2) demonstrates Congress’ intent to restart
the seven-year clock upon certain events, such as an alien’s
reentry into the United States after an absence in excess of
90 days, but that Congress did not intend to restart the clock
after the alien had been served with an OSC or notice or
appear. Instead, the BIA found that ″under section
240A(d)(1), such service is deemed to end an alien’s
presence completely.″ Thus, ″a reading of section
2450A(d)(1) that would allow an alien to accrue a new
period of continuous physical presence [**90] after the
service of a charging document is not supported by the
language of either section 240A(d)(1) or (2).″

When recalendaring Mazen’s deportation proceedings in
1996, the INS issued a Form I-261 to supplement the factual
allegations contained in the 1985 OSC. Accordingly, the
instant deportation proceedings stem from the 1985 OSC
and were merely supplemented with additional allegations
in 1996. To the extent that Mazen argues that his stop-time
clock was merely suspended and restarted in June 1986
when the 1985 deportation proceedings were
administratively closed, we reject his argument.

Where the BIA’s interpretation of the INA is reasonable and
consistent with the plain language of the statute, we are
obliged to defer to the Board’s interpretation. See INS v.
Aguirre-Aguirre, 526 U.S. 415, 424, 119 S. Ct. 1439,
1445-46, 143 L. Ed. 2d 590 (1999). After examining the
statute, the BIA opinion, and the well-reasoned decisions of
our sister Circuits on this issue, we too find that Mendoza is
reasonable and consistent with the statute’s language and
legislative history and we therefore defer to the BIA’s
interpretation of § 240A(d)(1) to reject Mazen’s claim.

or at which time the alien committed a criminal offense
described in INA § 244A(d)(1). See IIRIRA § 305(c)(5);
Tefel, 180 F.3d at 1289 [**87] (citing 8 U.S.C. § 1229b
(d)(1)). Subsequently, Congress promulgated the Nicaraguan
and Central American Relief Act, see Pub.L. 105-100, 111
Stat. 2160 (1997) (″NACARA″), which, among other things,
amended IIRIRA § 309(c)(5) to broaden the phrase ″notices
to appear″ to encompass ″orders to show cause″ as well, see
NACARA § 203(f), and specifically to make NACARA’s
amendments effective as if originally enacted with IIRIRA.
27
See Tefel, 180 F.3d at 1293. In Tefel v. Reno, 180 F.3d
1286, 1293 (11th Cir. 1999), cert. denied., 530 U.S. 1228,
120 S. Ct. 2657, 147 L. Ed. 2d 272 (2000), HN49 we
interpreted IIRIRA § 305(c)(5), as amended by NACARA §
203, to mean that the continuous physical presence clock
starts upon the issuance of a ″notice to appear″ or an ″order
to show cause″ and, thus, ″the stop-time provision applies to
aliens who were facing deportation and/or had applied for
suspension of deportation before IIRIRA’s enactment.″

27

INA § 240A(d)(1), HN50 8 U.S.C. § 1229b (d)(1) (2000) provides that:
Any period of continuous physical residence or continuous physical presence in the United States shall be deemed to end
when the alien is served a notice to appear … or when the alien has committed an offense referred to in section 1182(a)(2)
of this title …
And, IIRIRA § 305(c)(5), as amended by NACARA § 203(f), provides that:
Subject to subparagraphs (B) and (C), paragraphs (1) and (2) of section 240A(d) of the Immigration and Nationality Act
[section 1229b(d) of this title] (relating to continuous physical presence) shall apply to orders to show cause … issued
before, on, or after the date of the enactment of this Act.
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Accord McBride v. INS, 238 F.3d 371, 374-77 (5th Cir.
2001); Afolayan v. INS, 219 F.3d 784, 788-89 (8th Cir.
2000). See also Ram v. INS, 243 F.3d 510, 518 (9th Cir.
2001) (″holding that HN52 an alien does not begin a new
period of continuous physical presence after being served
with an OSC″).
H. Motions to Remand
Lastly, the Al Najjars argue that the BIA committed reversible
error in denying their motions to remand. The Al Najjars
[**91] submitted two such motions to the BIA, and both
were denied.
First, on November 7, 1996, the Al Najjars filed a ″Motion
to Remand Case to Immigration Judge,″ arguing that a new
hearing was warranted because the IJ erred in pretermitting
Mazen’s application for suspension of deportation. In the
motion, the Al Najjars argued that the IJ’s legal error in
applying Matter of N-J-B-, 21 I. & N. Dec. 812, 1997 BIA
LEXIS 8 (BIA 1997), tainted not only the IJ’s consideration
of Mazen’s suspension, asylum, and withholding claims,
but also Fedaa’s similar claims. Thus, the Al Najjars
requested that their consolidated proceedings be remanded
to the IJ for a new hearing. The BIA denied this motion,
stating that ″given our disposition of this appeal, the
respondent’s November 7, 1997, motion to remand the
instant case, for a hearing on the relief of suspension of
deportation, is denied.″ Because we affirm the BIA’s
decision to deny Mazen’s suspension application, see supra
at II., G., we likewise affirm the BIA’s denial of the motion
to remand on this ground.
On June 19, 1999, the Al Najjars submitted a second motion
to remand. This motion requested the BIA to remand so that
the IJ could consider [**92] the Al Najjars’ claims under
Article 3 of the United Nations Convention Against Torture
and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or
Punishment (″CAT″ or ″the Convention″), June 26, 1987, S.
Treaty [*1301] Doc. No. 100-200 (1988), 1465 U.N.T.S.
85, which is implemented through the Foreign Affairs
Reform and Restructuring Act (″FARR″), Pub.L. No.
105-277, 112 Stat. 2681, 2681-821 (1999). The BIA denied
this motion as well, reasoning that because the Al Najjars
failed to meet the prima facie standard for asylum, they
could not demonstrate eligibility for relief under CAT.
HN53 Under 8 C.F.R. § 3.1(d) (1999), the ″Board may
return a case to the Service or Immigration Judge for such

further action as may be appropriate, without entering a
final decision on the merits of the case.″ While § 3.1(d)
authorizes the BIA to order a remand, courts generally look
at the substance of such a motion to determine how it should
be scrutinized on appeal. If a motion to remand ″simply
articulates the remedy requested by an appeal, [it is] treat[ed
] as part of the appeal″ and not as a motion to reopen or
reconsider. Matter of Coelho, 20 I. & N. Dec. 464, 471 (BIA
1992). [**93] Conversely, if a motion to remand seeks to
introduce evidence that has not previously been presented, it
is generally treated as a motion to reopen under 8 C.F.R. §
3.2(c). See id.; see also Saiyid v. INS, 132 F.3d 1380, 1383
n.3 (11th Cir. 1998) (″Courts customarily treat motions to
remand as motions to reopen under 8 C.F.R. § 3.2″);
Mansour v. INS, 230 F.3d 902, 907 n.2 (7th Cir. 2000)
(Because the alien’s ″request was ’essentially a motion to
reopen proceedings to present additional evidence and apply
for new relief,’″ the court ″analyzed his request as a motion
to reopen.″); Lara v. Trominski, 216 F.3d 487, 499 n.13 (5th
Cir. 2000) (same); Varela v. INS, 204 F.3d 1237, 1239 n.4
(9th Cir. 2000) (″A motion to reopen is the correct motion to
file when seeking to present new facts not already in
evidence.″). Where the motion is treated as one to reopen,
the pleading should be subjected to the substantive
requirements for such a motion. See Matter of Coelho,
supra, 20 I. & N. Dec. at 471.
In this instance, the Al Najjars’ motion to remand under
CAT is in the nature of a [**94] motion to reopen because
the Al Najjars requested additional proceedings to present
new evidence regarding their eligibility for relief under
CAT. Accordingly, we will analyze it as such on appeal. 28
See Mansour, 230 F.3d at 907 n.2; Saiyid, 132 F.3d at 1383
n.3; Varela, 204 F.3d at 1239 n.4; Lara, 216 F.3d at 499
n.13.
1. Judicial Review of a Motion to Reopen
HN54 The authority for motions to reopen ″derives solely
from regulations promulgated by the Attorney General.″
INS v. Doherty, 502 U.S. 314, 322, 112 S. Ct. 719, 724, 116
L. Ed. 2d 823 (1992). HN55 Under 8 C.F.R. § 3.2(c), the
Attorney General has commanded that a ″motion [**95] to
reopen proceedings shall not be granted unless it appears to
the Board that evidence sought to be offered is material and
was not available and could not have been discovered or
presented at the former hearing.″ The provision is ″framed
negatively,″ by ″directing the Board not to reopen unless

28

This determination is not intended in any way to affect § 3.2(c)(2)’s limitation that ″a party may file only one motion to reopen
deportation″ proceedings, as our determination that the CAT motion was in the nature of a motion to reopen is merely for purposes of
appellate review.
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certain showings are made. It does not affirmatively require
the Board to reopen the proceedings under any particular
condition. Thus, the regulations may be construed to provide
the Board with discretion in determining under what
circumstances proceedings should be reopened.″ INS v.
Abudu, 485 U.S. 94, 105, 108 S. Ct. 904, 912, [*1302] 99
L. Ed. 2d 90 (1988) (quoting Jong Ha Wang, 450 U.S. at
144 n.5, 101 S. Ct. at 1031 n.5). Indeed, under the
applicable regulations, ″the Attorney General has ’broad
discretion’ to grant or deny such motions.″ Doherty, 502
U.S. at 323, 112 S. Ct. at 724. As such, we employ a very
deferential abuse of discretion standard in reviewing the
BIA’s decision on a motion to reopen ″regardless of the
underlying basis of the alien’s request″ for relief. Id., 112 S.
Ct. at 725; see also Mansour, 230 F.3d at 906-07 [**96]
(″reviewing the BIA’s decision not to reopen the case under
the CAT … for abuse of discretion″).

In utilizing a ″heavy burden,″ the BIA cited INS. v. Abudu,
485 U.S. 94, 110, 108 S. Ct. 904, 914, 99 L. Ed. 2d 90
(1988). [**97] In Abudu, the Supreme Court analogized the
burden on an applicant seeking to reopen to that imposed on
a criminal defendant seeking a new trial ″on the basis of
newly discovered evidence, as to which courts have
uniformly held that the moving party bears a heavy burden.″
Id. at 110, 108 S. Ct. at 914. The implication of this analogy,
the reasoning of Abudu, and the fact that the regulations
″plainly disfavor″ motions to reopen all support the BIA’s
imposition of a ″heavy burden.″ See id.; see also Matter of
Coelho, supra, 20 I. & N. Dec. at 471-72 (explaining that
″HN57 a party seeking reopening bears a ’heavy burden’″).
The Al Najjars contend that 8 C.F.R. § 208.18(b)(2) (2001),
which governs motions to reopen under CAT, articulates a
much more deferential standard than the ″heavy burden″
and, therefore, the BIA erred in deciding their motion. 29
The Al Najjars’ interpretation of § 208.18(b)(2), as
abrogating the heavy burden articulated in Abudu and
Matter of Coelho, is unpersuasive. They point to nothing in
§ 208.18(b)(2) which alters this burden of proof.
Accordingly, we reject the Al Najjars’ [*1303] contention
and affirm the imposition [**98] of a ″heavy burden.″

HN56 At a minimum, there are at least three independent
grounds upon which the Board may deny a motion to
reopen: 1) failure to establish a prima facie case; 2) failure
to introduce evidence that was material and previously
unavailable; and 3) a determination that despite the alien’s
statutory eligibility for relief, he or she is not entitled to a
favorable exercise of discretion. See Doherty, 502 U.S. at
323, 112 S. Ct. at 725 (citing Abudu, 485 U.S. at 104-05,
108 S. Ct. at 911-12).

3. Prima Facie CAT Claim

Here, the BIA denied the motion on the ground that the Al
Najjars failed to demonstrate a prima facie case for protection
under CAT. The BIA found that, because the Al Najjars
failed to demonstrate a ″well-founded fear of persecution″
sufficient to support an asylum claim, they could not satisfy
the ″heavy burden″ of demonstrating CAT eligibility.

Next, the Al Najjars argue that it was error for the BIA to
reject their motion to remand [**99] because the new
evidence of imputed terrorist opinions was compelling and
merited a remand. The BIA held that because the Al Najjars
failed to demonstrate asylum eligibility, they likewise could
not satisfy the standard for CAT eligibility. We agree.

2. Heavy Burden
First, the Al Najjars argue that the BIA improperly employed
a ″heavy burden″ standard of review which merits reversal.
We disagree.
29

HN59 Under § 3.2(c), the Board is required to consider the
factual assertions and supporting evidentiary submissions in
determining the merit of a motion to reopen. See 8 C.F.R. §
3.2(c) (2001). Here, the record on appeal reveals that in their

HN58 8 C.F.R. § 208.18(b)(2) states:
An alien under a final order of deportation, exclusion, or removal that became final prior to March 22, 1999 may move to
reopen proceedings for the sole purpose of seeking protection under § 208.16(c). Such motions to reopen shall be governed
by [8 C.F.R.] §§ 3.23 and 3.2 of this chapter, except that the time and numerical limitations on motions to reopen shall not
apply and the alien shall not be required to demonstrate that the evidence sought was unavailable and could not have been
presented at the former hearing. The motion to reopen shall not be granted unless:
(i) The motion is filed within June 21, 1999; and
(ii) The evidence sought to be offered establishes a prima facie case that the applicant’s removal must be withheld or
deferred under §§ 208.16(c) or 208.17(a).
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motion to remand under CAT, the Al Najjars merely claimed
that there were ″substantial grounds for believing [they]
would be in danger of being subjected to torture″ in the
UAE and Saudi Arabia on account of terrorist opinions
imputed after the IJ’s decision. For instance, the motion
states that ″the … governments [of Israel, Saudi Arabia,
UAE, and Egypt] have policies regarding terrorism which
would make them take the Al-Najjars into detention.″ Yet,
the motion does not provide any proof of what these policies
are. Without explanation as to why they will be imprisoned,
the motion then asserts that a non-record, 1997 DOS Report
on human rights proves that prisoners [**100] in the UAE
and Saudi Arabia are abused by governmental officials.
However, since the Al Najjars failed to submit the 1997
Country Report which allegedly supports these assertions,
the material never became part of the administrative record,
and we are therefore barred from considering it on appeal.
See 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (a)(4); IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B). Based
on the fact that the Al Najjars failed to submit evidence to
support their motion, the BIA properly considered only the
factual record before it in assessing its merit. This is the
vantage point from which we review the Board’s decision.
HN60 In making out a claim under CAT, ″the burden of
proof is on the applicant … to establish that it is more likely
than not that he or she would be tortured if removed to the
proposed country of removal.″ 8 C.F.R. § 208.16(c)(2)
(2001). In turn, ″torture″ is defined as:
HN61 Any act by which severe pain or suffering,
whether physical or mental, is intentionally inflicted on
a person for such purposes as obtaining from him or her
or a third person information or a confession, punishing
him or her for an act he or she or a third person has
[**101]
committed or is suspected of having
committed, or intimidating or coercing him or her or a
third person, or for any reason based on discrimination
of any kind, when such pain or suffering is inflicted by
or at the instigation of or with the consent or
acquiescence of a public official or other person acting
in an official capacity.

8 C.F.R. § 208.18(a)(1) (2001). HN62 Relief under the
Convention is in the form of the mandatory remedy of
withholding of removal. See 8 C.F.R. § 208.16(c).
There is no reason to disturb the BIA’s conclusion that,
because the Al Najjars failed to demonstrate a ″well-founded
fear of persecution″ sufficient to support an asylum claim,
they likewise cannot establish ″torture″ sufficient to warrant
relief under CAT. HN63 The burden of proof for an
applicant seeking withholding of removal under the
Convention, like that for an applicant seeking withholding
of removal under the statute, is higher than the burden
imposed on an asylum applicant. See 8 C.F.R. § 208.16(c)(2).
On the record before the BIA, there was no evidence of a
well-founded fear, and it therefore follows that the [**102]
Al Najjars failed to demonstrate [*1304] that it was more
likely than not that they would be tortured on account of a
protected factor. 30 Accordingly, we affirm the BIA’s denial
of the motion to remand under CAT as supported by
substantial evidence, and well within the broad discretion of
the BIA in determining a motion to reopen.
III. CONCLUSION
While the Al Najjars raise serious concerns on appeal, none
is substantiated with record evidence. This stems from the
fact that such evidence either does not exist, or their
attorneys failed to offer it. In either case, we cannot expand
the scope of our review where an [**103] alien fails to
follow immigration procedures. Based on the record before
us, we find the BIA’s denial of asylum, suspension, and
withholding to be supported by substantial evidence. We
also affirm the BIA’s denial of the motion to remand under
the Convention Against Torture. For all of the foregoing
reasons, the BIA’s decisions are affirmed and the Al
Najjars’
PETITIONS FOR REVIEW ARE DENIED.

30

31

The Al Najjars failed to offer the BIA any supplemental or additional evidence demonstrating their eligibility for relief under CAT.
Instead, through motions to supplement and take judicial notice, they seek to have us examine evidence in the first instance in the court
of appeals. We are prohibited from this endeavor. See IIRIRA § 309(c)(4)(B); 8 U.S.C. § 1105a (a)(4).
31

Any pending motion not disposed of explicitly in this opinion is denied.
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>

Grounds

for

HN5 See 8 U.S.C.S. § 1182(a)(3)(B)(iii).
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Terroristic
Acts > General Overview

HN2 See 18 U.S.C.S. § 2339B(a)(1).
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Terroristic
Acts > Elements

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Support of
Terrorist Organizations > General Overview

HN6 Terrorism is defined as premeditated, politically
motivated violence perpetrated against noncombatant targets
by subnational groups or clandestine agents. 22 U.S.C.S. §
2656f(d)(2).

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Support of
Terrorist Organizations > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Fraud > Securities Fraud >
Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Counterfeiting > Document
Counterfeiting > Penalties
Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting
Governments > Federal Government > Domestic Security

HN3 The term ″material support″ is broadly defined in the
Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996
(AEDPA), Pub. L. No. 104-132, to mean currency or other
financial securities, financial services, lodging, training,
safehouses, false documentation or identification,
communications equipment, facilities, weapons, lethal

Administrative Law > Judicial Review > Administrative
Record > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals > Procedural Matters >
Records on Appeal

HN7 The Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of
1996 (AEDPA), Pub. L. No. 104-132, precludes a criminal
defendant’s right to raise any question concerning the
validity of the issuance of a Foreign Terrorist Organization
(FTO) designation as a defense or objection at any trial or
hearing. 8 U.S.C.S. § 1189(a)(8).
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Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Terroristic
Threats > Elements

Admiralty & Maritime Law > ... > Priority & Sources >
Contracts > Ship Mortgages

Governments > Federal Government > General Overview

Banking Law > International Banking > Bonds, Guarantees &
Letters of Credit > General Overview

Governments > Federal Government > Domestic Security
Governments > Federal Government > Executive Offices
Governments > Federal Government > International Emergency
Economic Powers Act
Military & Veterans Law > Armed Forces > Organization > US
President

Commercial Law (UCC) > Documents of Title (Article
7) > Warehouse Receipts > Liens
Contracts Law > ... > Discharge & Payment > Payments >
Interest
Contracts Law > Types of Commercial Transactions > Sales of
Goods > General Overview

HN8 Under the International Emergency Economic Powers
Act (IEEPA), 50 U.S.C.S. § 1701 et seq., the President is
granted the authority to deal with any unusual and
extraordinary threat to the national security, foreign policy,
or economy of the United States, if the President declares a
national emergency with respect to such threat. 50 U.S.C.S.
§ 1701(a). The President’s authority includes the power to
investigate, regulate, or prohibit financial transactions. 50
U.S.C.S. § 1702(a)(1). 50 U.S.C.S. § 1705(b) makes it
unlawful to willfully violate or attempt to violate any
executive order or regulation issued pursuant to IEEPA and
provides for imprisonment of up to 10 years for such a
violation.

Contracts Law > ... > Sales of Goods > Formation > Acceptances
& Offers

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting

Contracts Law > ... > Sales of Goods > Performance > General
Overview
Contracts Law > ... > Sales of Goods > Performance > Delivery
& Shipment by Seller
Contracts Law > ... > Priorities > Liens > Warehousemen’s
Liens
Contracts Law > Types of Commercial Transactions > Secured
Transactions > Trust Receipt Transactions
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Counsel > Right to
Counsel > General Overview

Tax Law > ... > Nonbusiness Expenses > Charitable
Contributions > Disallowance of Deductions

Business & Corporate Compliance > ... > Ownership >
Conveyances > Royalties

HN9 31 C.F.R. § 595.204 makes it unlawful to deal in
property or interests in property of a specially designated
terrorist (SDT), including the making or receiving of any
contribution of funds, goods, or services to or for the benefit
of a SDT. The regulations interpret this prohibition to
include charitable contributions or donations of funds,
goods, services, or technology to relieve human suffering,
such as food, clothing, or medicine. 31 C.F.R. § 595.408(a).
The regulations interpret the prohibition against financial
transactions to extend to conspiracies and attempts. 31
C.F.R. § 595.205.

Real Property Law > Financing > Mortgages & Other Security
Instruments > General Overview

Admiralty & Maritime Law > Maritime Liens > General
Overview
Admiralty & Maritime Law > Maritime Liens > Discharge
Admiralty & Maritime Law > Maritime Liens > Enforcement
Admiralty & Maritime Law > Maritime Liens > Nature >
General Overview
Admiralty & Maritime Law > ... > Priority & Sources >
Contracts > General Overview

Real Property Law > Ownership & Transfer > Powers of
Attorney
Real Property Law > Purchase & Sale > General Overview
Real Property Law > Trusts > Holding Trusts
Trademark Law > Conveyances > General Overview
Transportation Law > Carrier Duties & Liabilities > Bills of
Lading
Business & Corporate Compliance > ... > Transportation
Law > Water Transportation > Licensing & Registration

HN10 31 C.F.R. § 595.310 broadly defines property and
property interests to include, but not be limited to: money,
checks, drafts, bullion, bank deposits, savings accounts,
debts, indebtedness, obligations, notes, guarantees,
debentures, stocks, bonds, coupons, any other financial
instruments, bankers acceptances, mortgages, pledges, liens
or other rights in the nature of security, warehouse receipts,
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bills of lading, trust receipts, bills of sale, any other
evidences of title, ownership or indebtedness, letters of
credit and any documents relating to any rights or obligations
thereunder, powers of attorney, goods, wares, merchandise,
chattels, stocks on hand, ships, goods on ships, real estate
mortgages, deeds of trust, vendors sales agreements, land
contracts, leaseholds, ground rents, real estate and any other
interest therein, options, negotiable instruments, trade
acceptances, royalties, book accounts, accounts payable,
judgments, patents, trademarks or copyrights, insurance
policies, safe deposit boxes and their contents, annuities,
pooling agreements, services of any nature whatsoever,
contracts of any nature whatsoever, and any other property,
real, personal, or mixed, tangible or intangible, or interest or
interests therein, present, future or contingent. 31 C.F.R. §
595.310.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting

HN11 31 C.F.R. § 595.307 defines ″interest,″ as in ″interest
in property,″ to mean an interest of any nature whatsoever,
direct or indirect.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting

HN12 ″Services″ as used in 31 C.F.R. § 595.204 is broadly
interpreted and includes legal, accounting, public relations,
educational, or other services to a specially designated
terrorist (SDT). 31 C.F.R. § 595.406. However, 31 C.F.R. §§
595.506 and 595.507 allow for legal and emergency medical
services, including legal services to a SDT regarding its
designation.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting
Tax Law > ... > Nonbusiness Expenses > Charitable
Contributions > Disallowance of Deductions

HN13 Not all transactions with a specially designated
terrorist (SDT) are banned or are criminal. For example, the
regulations make clear that there is no liability for a
charitable contribution if the contribution is made without
knowledge or reason to know that the donation or
contribution is destined to or for the benefit of a SDT. 31
C.F.R. § 595.408(b). In addition, the regulations exempt
certain transactions from the ban, including transactions

that: (a) are licensed or authorized; (b) involve personal
communications that do not transfer anything of value; (c)
involve some types of information and informational
materials; or (d) are incidental to travel. 31 C.F.R. §§
595.101, 595.206, 595.501.
Administrative Law > Judicial Review > General Overview
Governments > Federal Government > Domestic Security
Governments > Federal Government > International Emergency
Economic Powers Act
Military & Veterans Law > National Defense

HN14 The International Emergency Economic Powers Act
(IEEPA), 50 U.S.C.S. § 1701 et seq., itself does not
explicitly or implicitly provide for judicial review of an
executive order, but it does provide a procedure for court
review of classified information. 50 U.S.C.S. § 1702(c). The
regulations provide a process for administrative review of a
designation of an organization as an specially designated
terrorist (SDT). 31 C.F.R. §§ 501.806, § 501.807. Courts
have held that judicial review of a designation under IEEPA
or its regulations exists and that the Administrative
Procedures Act governs that review.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments >
Indictments > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Pretrial
Motions & Procedures > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Defenses > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of Review >
Harmless & Invited Error > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of Review > Plain
Error > General Overview

HN15 Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b) allows a defendant to raise by
pretrial motion any defense, objection, or request that the
court can determine without a trial of the general issue.
Moreover, Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3) requires certain motions
be made prior to trial including motions alleging a defect in
the indictment. Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3)(B).
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Dismissal > Grounds for
Dismissal > Legal Insufficiency
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments >
Indictments > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Pretrial
Motions & Procedures > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Pretrial
Motions & Procedures > Dismissal

Jennifer Breedon

Page 5 of 36
308 F. Supp. 2d 1322, *1322; 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4227, **1
HN16 A district court may resolve a motion to dismiss in a
criminal case when the ″infirmity″ in the indictment is a
matter of law and not one of the relevant facts is disputed.
There is no summary judgment procedure for criminal cases
and no rule provides a pretrial determination of the
sufficiency of the government’s evidence. In deciding a
motion to dismiss, a court must deny the motion if the
factual allegations of the indictment taken in the light most
favorable to the government are sufficient to charge an
offense as a matter of law.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Criminal Offenses > Acts &
Mental States > General Overview
Governments > Legislation > Interpretation

HN21 The United States Supreme Court has stated that in
criminal statutes the presumption in favor of a scienter
requirement should apply to each of the statutory elements
that criminalize otherwise innocent conduct.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Criminal Offenses > Acts &
Mental States > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Indictments > Contents >
Surplusage

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Acts & Mental States > Mens
Rea > Specific Intent

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments >
Informations > General Overview

Governments > Legislation > Overbreadth

HN17 A district court may strike surplusage from an
indictment. The standard for striking surplusage is exacting.
The standard requires it to be clear that the allegedly surplus
language is irrelevant to the charge and is also inflammatory
and prejudicial. The court may reserve ruling on a motion to
strike surplusage until hearing the evidence and determining
its relevance at trial.
Governments > Legislation > Interpretation

HN18 In interpreting statutes, a court is to begin with the
words of a statutory provision. If the plain meaning of a
provision is unambiguous, then the court’s inquiry is
usually complete. Only when the plain meaning is ambiguous
or causes absurd, unintended results is the court’s analysis
incomplete. If an ambiguity exists or an absurd result
occurs, the court is to resort to the cannons of statutory
construction to determine the meaning of a statutory
provision by focusing on the broader, statutory context.
Governments > Legislation > Interpretation

HN19 Courts are to interpret statutes in a manner that
avoids constitutional difficulty. It is incumbent to read a
statute to eliminate constitutional doubts so long as such a
reading is not plainly contrary to the intent of Congress.
Lower courts run ″afoul″ of a well established principle of
statutory interpretation when they fail to avoid constitutional
difficulties and broadly interpret a statute.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Criminal Offenses > Acts &
Mental States > General Overview
Governments > Legislation > Interpretation

Governments > Legislation > Vagueness

HN23 The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly
recognized that a scienter or mens rea requirement may
mitigate a law’s vagueness.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Support of
Terrorist Organizations > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Support of
Terrorist Organizations > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting
Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of Proof >
Prosecution
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Acts & Mental States > Mens
Rea > Specific Intent

HN22 To convict a defendant under 18 U.S.C.S. §
2339B(a)(1) the government must prove beyond a reasonable
doubt that the defendant knew that: (a) the organization was
a Foreign Terrorist Organization (FTO) or had committed
unlawful activities that caused it to be so designated; and (b)
what he was furnishing was ″material support.″ To avoid
Fifth Amendment personal guilt problems, the government
must show more than a defendant knew something was
within a category of ″material support″ in order to meet (b).
In order to meet (b), the government must show that the
defendant knew (had a specific intent) that the support
would further the illegal activities of a FTO.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting

HN20 Courts interpret criminal statutes to include broadly
applicable scienter requirements.

Governments > Federal Government > International Emergency
Economic Powers Act
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Military & Veterans Law > National Defense
Tax Law > ... > Nonbusiness Expenses > Charitable
Contributions > Disallowance of Deductions

HN24 50 U.S.C.S. § 1705(b) makes it unlawful to ″willfully″
violate or attempt to violate any regulation or order issued
pursuant to the International Emergency Economic Powers
Act (IEEPA), 50 U.S.C.S. § 1701 et seq. Pursuant to IEEPA,
Exec. Order No. 12947 prohibits financial transactions with
any specially designated terrorist (SDT). Pursuant to the
Executive Order, the Secretary of the Treasury promulgated
regulations. 31 C.F.R. § 595.204 of those regulations makes
it unlawful to deal in property or interests in property of a
SDT, including the making or receiving of any contribution
of funds, goods, or services to or for the benefit of a SDT.
The regulations further interpret this prohibition as including
some charitable contributions. 31 C.F.R. § 595.408.

HN27 While knowledge of the International Emergency
Economic Powers Act (IEEPA), 50 U.S.C.S. § 1701 et seq.;
Exec. Order No. 12947; or the regulations thereunder is not
necessary to support a conviction, some ″bad purpose″ must
be demonstrated by the government. A ″bad purpose″
cannot be demonstrated by proof of knowledge of past
unlawful activity alone. The government must show some
additional intent to further future unlawful activity to
support criminal liability.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview

HN28 8 U.S.C.S. § 1189(a)(8) provides that a criminal
defendant may not raise any question concerning the validity
of the issuance of a Foreign Terrorist Organization (FTO)
designation as a defense or objection at any trial or hearing.
Section 1189(a)(8) only precludes review of the Secretary’s
designation of an organization as a FTO and not a criminal
defendant’s ability to raise a constitutional challenge.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting

Evidence > Burdens of Proof > Clear & Convincing Proof

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of Proof >
Prosecution

Governments > Courts > Authority to Adjudicate

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Acts & Mental States > Mens
Rea > Specific Intent
Governments > Federal Government > International Emergency
Economic Powers Act

HN25 To criminally convict a defendant for violating the
International Emergency Economic Powers Act (IEEPA),
50 U.S.C.S. § 1701 et seq., the government must prove a
defendant: (a) knew either that an organization was a
specially designated terrorist (SDT) or committed unlawful
activities that caused it to be designated as a SDT; and (b)
had a specific intent that the contribution be used to further
the unlawful activities of the SDT.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Acts & Mental States > Mens
Rea > Willfulness

HN26 The United States Supreme Court has interpreted
″willfully″ in criminal statutes to differentiate between
deliberate and unwitting conduct and means an act
undertaken with a bad purpose.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of Proof >
Prosecution
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Acts & Mental States > Mens
Rea > Willfulness
Governments > Federal Government > International Emergency
Economic Powers Act

Military & Veterans Law > Veterans > Claim Procedures

HN29 The United States Supreme Court requires a clear
and convincing showing of congressional intent before a
court construes a statute to prohibit judicial review because
of the serious constitutional concerns that such a prohibition
causes.
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Freedom
of Speech > Scope
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > Defenses > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Acts & Mental States > Mens
Rea > General Intent

HN30 It is well established that the government can use
speech to prove elements of crimes such as motive or intent.
The defense of freedom of speech or press has often been
raised in conspiracy cases, because, whether committed by
Communists, by businessmen, or by common criminals, it
usually consists of words written or spoken, evidenced by
letters,
conversations,
speeches
or
documents.
Communication is the essence of every conspiracy, for only
by it can common purpose and concert of action be brought
about or be proved. But it has never been deemed an
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abridgement of freedom of speech merely because the
conduct was in part initiated, evidenced, or carried out by
means of language. Such an expansive interpretation of the
constitutional guaranties of speech and press would make it
practically impossible ever to enforce laws against
agreements and conspiracies deemed injurious to society.
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Freedom
of Speech > Advocacy of Illegal Action
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Freedom
of Speech > Scope
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > General Overview

HN31 An overt act need not be criminal, and may indeed be
otherwise innocent. Constitutionally protected speech can
constitute an overt act. The reason that an overt act can
include even protected speech is that it is the agreement that
is punishable in a conspiracy charge and not the overt act
itself.
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Freedom
of Speech > General Overview
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Freedom
of Speech > Expressive Conduct
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Freedom
of Speech > Scope

HN32 The United States Supreme Court has repeatedly
determined that activities such as seeking and donating
funds are more like expressive conduct than pure speech.
Constitutional Law > Bill of Rights > Fundamental Freedoms >
Freedom of Association
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Freedom
of Speech > Scope
International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Human
Rights > General Overview
International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Human
Rights > Terrorism

HN33 The Buckley standard applies to determine the
constitutionality of a regulation prohibiting contributions to
foreign organizations.
Constitutional Law > Bill of Rights > Fundamental Freedoms >
Freedom of Association
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Freedom
of Speech > Scope

HN34 Under Buckley and its progeny, a regulation of
fundraising is constitutional if it is closely drawn to further
a sufficiently important government interest.
Constitutional Law > ... > Fundamental Freedoms > Judicial &
Legislative Restraints > Overbreadth & Vagueness of Legislation
Criminal Law & Procedure > Criminal Offenses > Crimes
Against Persons > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Terrorism > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Support of
Terrorist Organizations > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Terroristic
Acts > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Terrorism > Terroristic
Acts > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting
Governments > Federal Government > International Emergency
Economic Powers Act
International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Human
Rights > Terrorism

HN35 The United States Supreme Court has termed the
protection of the foreign policy interests of the United States
to be of great importance. Likewise, other courts have
concluded that the government’s interest in stopping the
spread of global terrorism is ″paramount″ or ″substantial.″
Stopping the spread of terrorism is not just a sufficiently
important governmental interest, but is a compelling
governmental interest. Similarly, a congressional decision to
stop the spread of global terrorism by preventing fundraising
and prohibiting support is closely drawn to further this
interest. A construction of the Antiterrorism and Effective
Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA), Pub. L. No. 104-132,
and the International Emergency Economic Powers Act
(IEEPA), 50 U.S.C.S. § 1701 et seq., that requires proof of
a specific intent to further the unlawful activities of a
specially designated terrorist (SDT) or Foreign Terrorist
Organization (FTO) reinforces the conclusion that the
prohibitions in AEDPA and IEEPA are closely drawn to
further the governmental interest.
Constitutional Law > ... > Case or Controversy > Standing >
Third Party Standing

HN36 Except in rare cases, third parties do not have
standing to assert the legal rights or interests of others. The
limited exception to this general rule occurs only when: (1)
a defendant suffers an injury-in-fact; (2) a defendant had a
″close relationship″ to the third party such that the two share

Jennifer Breedon

Page 8 of 36
308 F. Supp. 2d 1322, *1322; 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4227, **1
a common interest; and (3) there is some hindrance to the
third party’s assertion of its rights.
Constitutional Law > Congressional Duties & Powers > Bills of
Attainder & Ex Post Facto Clause > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Racketeer
Influenced & Corrupt Organizations Act > General Overview

HN37 The ex post facto clause prohibits the enactment by
Congress of a statute that punishes an act which was
innocent when committed.
Constitutional Law > Congressional Duties & Powers > Bills of
Attainder & Ex Post Facto Clause > General Overview
Constitutional Law > Congressional Duties & Powers > Bills of
Attainder & Ex Post Facto Clause > Bills of Attainder
Constitutional Law > ... > Bills of Attainder & Ex Post Facto
Clause > Ex Post Facto Clause > General Overview

HN39 See U.S. Const. art. I, § 9, cl. 3.

Further, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh
Circuit has stated that when analyzing challenges to the
sufficiency of an indictment, courts give the indictment a
common sense construction, and its validity is to be
determined by practical, not technical, considerations. This
means that it is proper for a court to infer or imply essential
elements of a crime.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Racketeer
Influenced & Corrupt Organizations Act > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Racketeer
Influenced & Corrupt Organizations Act > Elements

HN41 18 U.S.C.S. § 1962(d) makes it unlawful for any
person to conspire to violate any of the provisions of
subsection (a), (b), or (c) of § 1962.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Racketeer
Influenced & Corrupt Organizations Act > General Overview

Constitutional Law > Congressional Duties & Powers > Bills of
Attainder & Ex Post Facto Clause > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Racketeer
Influenced & Corrupt Organizations Act > Elements

HN38 The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh
Circuit has held that the ex post facto clause is not violated
when a conspiracy continues after the effective date of a
statute making that action illegal.

HN43 18 U.S.C.S. § 1962(c) makes it unlawful for any
person employed by or associated with any enterprise
engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or
foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or
indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs through
a pattern of racketeering activity.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Grand Juries > Indictments >
Contents

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > Elements

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments >
Indictments > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Racketeer
Influenced & Corrupt Organizations Act > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Indictments > Contents >
Challenges
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Indictments > Contents >
Sufficiency of Contents
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Entry of Pleas > Types of
Pleas > General Overview

HN40 Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(c) requires that an indictment must
be a plain, concise, and definite written statement. An
indictment is sufficient if it: (1) sets forth each essential
element of the offense so that a defendant has notice of the
charges against which he must defend; and (2) enables a
defendant to enter a plea which will act as a bar against
subsequent prosecutions for the same offense. The United
States Supreme Court has stated that an indictment normally
is sufficient when it sets forth the words of the statute itself.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Racketeer
Influenced & Corrupt Organizations Act > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of Proof >
Prosecution

HN42 In order to sustain a conviction under 18 U.S.C.S. §
1962(d) the government must prove that a defendant
objectively manifested, through words or actions, an
agreement to participate in the conduct of the affairs of the
enterprise. The government can meet this burden by showing
either that: (a) the defendant agreed to the overall
conspiracy’s objective; or (b) the defendant personally
committed two predicate acts. The government can show an
agreement with a conspiracy’s overall objective by showing
that each defendant must necessarily have known that the
others were also conspiring to participate in the same
enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity.
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Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Kidnapping > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > Elements

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Homicide, Manslaughter &
Murder > Murder > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of Proof >
Prosecution

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > General Overview

Governments > Federal Government > International Emergency
Economic Powers Act

International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Human
Rights > General Overview

HN46 18 U.S.C.S. § 371 makes it unlawful to conspire to
commit any offense against the United States or defraud the
United States. In order to sustain a conviction under § 371,
the government must prove: (a) an agreement to achieve an
unlawful objective; (b) a defendant’s knowing and voluntary
participation; and (c) the commission of an overt act in
furtherance of the conspiracy.

International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Human
Rights > Hostage Taking & Kidnapping

HN45 See 18 U.S.C.S. § 956(a)(1).
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Kidnapping > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Crimes Against Persons >
Kidnapping > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Homicide, Manslaughter &
Murder > Murder > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of Proof >
Prosecution
International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Human
Rights > General Overview
International Law > Individuals & Sovereign States > Human
Rights > Hostage Taking & Kidnapping

HN44 In order to sustain a conviction under 18 U.S.C.S. §
956(a)(1), the government must prove: (1) defendants
agreed with at least one person to commit murder, engage in
kidnapping, or maim a person outside the United States; (2)
defendants willfully joined the agreement with the intent to
further the conspiracy’s purposes; (3) during the conspiracy,
at least one of the conspirators must commit at least one
overt act in furtherance of the objects of the conspiracy; and
(4) at least one of conspirators was within the United States
when the agreement was made.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Fraud > Fraud Against the
Government > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Fraud Against the
Government > Conspiracy to Defraud > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Fraud Against the
Government > Conspiracy to Defraud > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > General Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > Accessories > Aiding & Abetting

HN48 18 U.S.C.S. § 2 makes it unlawful to commit an
offense against the United States or aid, abet, counsel,
command, procure, or willfully cause the commission of an
offense.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Travel
Act > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Travel
Act > Elements

HN47 See 18 U.S.C.S. § 1952.
Banking Law > Public Enforcement > Criminal Offenses >
Money Laundering
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Money
Laundering > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Travel
Act > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Travel
Act > Elements

HN49 18 U.S.C.S. § 1952(b) defines ″unlawful activity″ to
include extortion and money laundering.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments >
Indictments > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Imposition of
Sentence > Factors
Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing > Imposition of
Sentence > Statutory Maximums

HN50 The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh
Circuit has held that Apprendi has no effect on whether a
complete federal crime is alleged in an indictment. The
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Eleventh Circuit has commented that facing theoretical or
potential exposure to a particular fate borders on the
metaphysical and does not create Apprendi error. The
Eleventh Circuit has found such a concern of no consequence
unless a defendant is sentenced above the otherwise
applicable statutory maximum based on a statutory
enhancement without being indicted on that enhancement,
that enhancement being submitted to a jury, and that
enhancement being proven beyond a reasonable doubt.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Extortion >
General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Racketeer
Influenced & Corrupt Organizations Act > General Overview
International Trade Law > General Overview

HN51 18 U.S.C.S. § 1962(c) makes it unlawful for any
person employed by or associated with any enterprise
engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or
foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or
indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs through
a pattern of racketeering activity. 18 U.S.C.S. § 1962(c).
″Pattern of racketeering activity″ is statutorily defined as at
least two acts of racketeering activity. 18 U.S.C.S. §
1961(5). In turn, ″racketeering activity″ is defined to include
various crimes, including extortion chargeable under State
law and punishable by imprisonment for more than one
year. § 1961(1). The United States Supreme Court has held
to constitute the racketeering activity of ″extortion″ a state
statute must exist that in a ″generic sense″ criminalizes the
crime of extortion as it was understood in the majority of
states and under the Model Penal Code. The Supreme Court
has defined ″generic″ extortion statute as a statute that
criminalizes obtaining something of value from another
with his consent induced by wrongful use of force, fear, or
threats.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Extortion >
General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Racketeering > Extortion >
Penalties

HN52 Florida law, specifically Fla. Stat. ch. 836.05, makes
chargeable the crime of extortion which is punishable by
imprisonment of more than one year.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments >
Indictments > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Indictments > Contents >
Surplusage

HN53 The standard for striking surplusage in an indictment
is ″exacting″ and requires it to be clear that the allegedly
surplus language is irrelevant to the charge and is also
inflammatory and prejudicial.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Inchoate Crimes >
Conspiracy > Elements
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments >
Indictments > General Overview

HN54 The government is not limited to the overt acts
pleaded in the indictment in proving a conspiracy; it may
show other acts of the conspirators occurring during the life
of the conspiracy. Similarly, it is common to see allegations
of other unnamed persons being involved in a conspiracy.
Civil Procedure > Judicial Officers > Magistrates > Pretrial
Referrals
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of Review > Clearly
Erroneous Review > General Overview

HN55 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C.S. § 636(b)(1)(A), a district
court may reconsider any pretrial matter referred to a
magistrate and reverse the magistrate’s decision where it is
shown that the decision is clearly erroneous or contrary to
law.
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments > Bill
of Particulars > General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Accusatory Instruments > Bill
of Particulars > Factors
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of Review >
Harmless & Invited Error > General Overview

HN56 Under Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(f), a court may direct the
government to file a bill of particulars. The purpose of a bill
of particulars is to: (1) inform a defendant of the charges so
that a defendant can prepare a defense; (2) avoid surprise at
trial; and (3) enable a defendant to plead double jeopardy. A
bill of particulars is not a means to obtain generalized
discovery. It is an appropriate way to discover the names of
the unindicted co-conspirators who the government plans to
use as witnesses at trial. However, a bill of particulars is not
typically warranted in so far as it seeks information already
available through other sources.
Counsel: SAMI AMIN AL-ARIAN aka Amin aka Abu
Abdullah aka The Secretary, defendant, Pro se, Coleman,
FL.
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For SAMI AMIN AL-ARIAN aka Amin aka Abu Abdullah
aka The Secretary, defendant: William B. Moffitt, Asbill
Moffitt & Boss, Chtd., Washington, DC.
For SAMI AMIN AL-ARIAN aka Amin aka Abu Abdullah
aka The Secretary, defendant: Linda G. Moreno, Law Office
of Linda Moreno, Tampa, FL.

U. S. Attorneys: Daniel W. Eckhart, U.S. Attorney’s Office,
Middle District of Florida, Orlando, FL.
Judges: JAMES S. MOODY, JR., UNITED STATES
DISTRICT JUDGE.
Opinion by: JAMES S. MOODY, JR.

For SAMEEH HAMMOUDEH aka Sameeh Hamouda aka
Abu Anas, defendant: Stephen N. Bernstein, Stephen N.
Bernstein, P.A., Gainesville, FL.

Opinion

For GHASSAN ZAYED BALLUT aka Abu Fadi, defendant:
Bruce G. Howie, Piper, Ludin, Howie & Werner, P.A., St.
Petersburg, FL.

THIS CAUSE came before this Court upon:

[*1327] ORDER

For GHASSAN ZAYED BALLUT aka Abu Fadi, defendant:
Ghassan Zayed Ballut, Tinley Park, [**3] IL.

1. Defendant Ballut’s Motion to Dismiss or Strike [**4]
Counts 1 through 4, 19, 36 through 38, and 40 through 42
(Dkt. # 200) and the government’s response (Dkt. # 347)
thereto;

For HATIM NAJI FARIZ aka Abu Obayada aka Abu
Obaida, defendant: Kevin T. Beck, M. Allison Guagliardo,
Wadie E. Said, Federal Public Defender’s Office, Middle
District of Florida, Hatim Naji Fariz, Tampa, FL.

2. Defendant Al-Arian’s Motion to Dismiss Counts 1, 2, 3
and 4 of the Indictment (Dkt. # 245), the government’s
response (Dkt. # 346), and Al-Arian’s reply (Dkt. # 425)
thereto;

For EHAB HUSEIN: Ehab Husein, West Paterson, NJ.

3. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Dismiss Count 44 of the
Indictment (Dkt. # 250) and the government’s response
(Dkt. # 347) thereto;

For YAZAN AHMAD: Yazan Ahmad, Orland Park, IL.
For HAZEM FARIZ: Hazem Fariz, Chicago Ridge, IL.
For NAJI AHMAD: Naji Ahmad, Burbank, IL.

4. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Strike Surplusage (Dkt. #
251) and the government’s response (Dkt. # 340) thereto;
5. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Dismiss Count 1 of the
Indictment (Dkt. # 255) and the government’s response
(Dkt. # 343) thereto;

For RABA AHMAD: Raba Ahmad, Burbank, IL.
For AYMAN RAMADAN: Ayman Ramadan, Bridgeview,
IL.
For AYSAR RAMADAN: Aysar Ramadan, Bridgeview, IL.
For FARIZ AHMAD: Fariz Ahmad, Bridgeview, IL.
For TARIQ S. ISA: Tariq S. Isa, Cicero, IL.
For HANAN A. BALLUT: Hanan A. Ballut, Tinley Park,
IL.

6. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Strike as Surplusage as to
Count 1, Paragraph 43, Subparagraphs (236), (240), (247),
and (253) of the Indictment, and to Dismiss Counts 35, 37,
41, and 43 of the Indictment (Dkt. # 256) and the
government’s response (Dkt. # 340) thereto;
7. Defendant Al-Arian’s Amended Motion to Dismiss Counts
1, 2, 3 and 4 of the Indictment (Dkt. # 273), the government’s
response (Dkt. # 346), and Al-Arian’s reply (Dkt. # 425)
thereto;

For KHALID A. SHAQILDI: Khalid A. Shaqildi, Chicago,
IL.

8. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Dismiss Counts 3 and 4 of
the Indictment [**5] (Dkt. # 301) and the government’s
response (Dkt. # 345) thereto;

U. S. Attorneys: Walter E. Furr, U.S. Attorney’s Office,
Middle District of Florida, Tampa, FL.

9. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Quash Section (b) of
Paragraph 26 of the Indictment for Failure to State a Legal
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Basis for Relief (Dkt. # 302) and the government’s response
(Dkt. # 344) thereto;
10. Defendant Fariz’s Request for Oral Argument on
Defendant’s Pretrial Motions (Dkt. # 303);
11. Defendant Hammoudeh’s Motion to Dismiss Count 1 of
the Indictment (Dkt. # 313) and the government’s response
(Dkt. # 343) thereto;
12. Defendant Hammoudeh’s Amended Motion to Dismiss
Count 1 of the Indictment (Dkt. # 330) and the government’s
response (Dkt. # 343) thereto;
13. Defendant Faiz’s Motion for Reconsideration of
Magistrate Judge’s Order Denying in Part Fariz’s Motion
for Bill of Particulars (Dkt. # 440); and
14. Defendant Ballut’s Motion for Reconsideration of
Motion for Bill of Particulars (Dkt. # 441).
[*1328] I. BACKGROUND

A. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
This is a criminal action against alleged members of the
Palestinian Islamic Jihad-Shiqaqi Faction (the ″PIJ″) who
purportedly operated and directed fundraising and other
organizational activities in the United States for almost
twenty years. The PIJ is a [**6] foreign organization that
uses violence, principally suicide bombings, and threats of
violence to pressure Israel to cede territory to the Palestinian
people. On February 19, 2003, the government indicted the
Defendants 1 in a 50 count indictment that included counts
for: (1) conspiracy to commit racketeering (Count 1); (2)
conspiracy to commit murder, maim, or injure persons
outside the United States (Count 2); (3) conspiracy to
provide material support to or for the benefit of foreign
terrorists (Counts 3 and 4); (4) violations of the Travel Act

(Counts 5 through 44); (5) violation of the immigration laws
of the United States (Counts 45 and 46); (6) obstruction of
justice (Count 47); 2 and (7) perjury (Counts 48 through 50).
3

[**7] Count 1 of the Indictment alleges a wide ranging

pattern of racketeering activity beginning in 1984 lasting
through February 2003, including murder, extortion, and
money laundering. 4 The Indictment details some 256 overt
acts, ranging from soliciting and raising funds 5 to providing
management, organizational, and logistical support for the
PIJ. The overt act section of the Indictment details numerous
suicide bombings and attacks by PIJ members causing the
deaths of over 100 people, including 2 American citizens,
and injuries to over 350 people, including 7 American
citizens. These same overt acts (or parts of them) support
the remaining counts of the Indictment.
[**8] Each of the Defendants filed numerous pretrial
motions primarily seeking the dismissal of Counts 1 through
4 of the Indictment and the striking of various overt acts or
parts of overt acts as surplusage. 6 The government opposed
each motion. On January 21, 2004, this Court held oral
argument. Additionally, Defendants Ballut and Fariz filed
motions for reconsideration of the Magistrate’s Order
denying in part Defendants’ motions for bill of particulars
(Dkt. # 428).

B. STATUTORY BACKGROUND
Center stage in the motions are two statutes (along with the
regulations, administrative designations and executive orders
associated with each): (1) the Antiterrorism and Effective
Death Penalty Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-132 (″AEDPA″);
and (2) the International Emergency Economic [*1329]
Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. § 1701, et seq. (″IEEPA″).
1. AEDPA

1

For purposes of this Order, this Court is only referring to Defendants Al-Arian, Hammoudeh, Ballut, and Fariz, when it uses the word
″Defendants.″

2

The obstruction of justice count is against defendants Al-Arian and Nafi.

3

The perjury counts are against Nafi alone for his testimony in the Immigration and Naturalization Service, Department of Justice
matter styled In the Matter of Mazen Al-Najjar.

4

The remaining conspiracy counts (Counts 2 through 4) have slightly different durations and incorporate only part of the overt acts
contained in Count 1.

5

An example of a soliciting or fundraising act is contained in Overt Act 130. In that overt act, the government claims that Defendant
Al-Arian wrote a letter to a gentleman in Kuwait requesting additional money so that the PIJ could engage in more bombings and provide
financial assistance to the families of recent suicide bombers who belonged to the PIJ.

6

Prior to and at the oral argument, each of the Defendants adopted the arguments raised by the other Defendants.
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HN1 AEDPA authorizes the Secretary [**9] of State (the
″Secretary″), in consultation with the Attorney General and
the Secretary of the Treasury, to designate an organization
as a Foreign Terrorist Organization (″FTO″). See 8 U.S.C. §
1189(a). Designation as a FTO has severe consequences to
an organization, its members, and its supporters. For
example, after designation, the Secretary of the Treasury
may freeze all assets of a FTO in or controlled by a United
States financial institution. See 8 U.S.C. § 1189(a)(2)(C).
Additionally, representatives and certain members of FTOs
may be barred from entry into the United States. See id. §
1182(a)(3)(B). More relevant to this case, the designation of
an organization as a FTO has potential criminal ramifications
on a FTO’s supporters. 7 See 18 U.S.C. § 2339B(a)(1).
[**10] In passing AEDPA, Congress sought to prevent
persons within the United States or subject to United States’
jurisdiction from providing material support to foreign
organizations engaged in terrorist activities ″to the fullest
possible basis, consistent with the Constitution.″ AEDPA,
Pub. L. No. 104-132, § 301(b). Under Section 2339B(a)(1),
a person who:

conspires to do so, shall be fined under this title or
imprisoned not more than 15 years, or both, and if the
death of any person results, shall be imprisoned for any
term of years or for life.
18 U.S.C. § 2339B(a)(1). HN3 The term ″material support″
is broadly defined in AEDPA to mean ″currency or other
financial securities, financial services, lodging, training,
safehouses, false documentation or identification,
communications equipment, facilities, weapons, lethal
substances, explosives, personnel, transportation, and other
physical assets, except medicine or religious materials.″ 9
Id. § 2339A(b); id. § 2239B(g)(4). In passing such a broad
prohibition, Congress found that FTOs ″are [**11] so
tainted by their criminal conduct that any contribution to
such an organization facilitates that conduct.″ Pub. L. No.
104-132, § 301(a)(7).
8

In order to designate an organization a FTO under AEDPA,
the Secretary must find that the: (a) organization is foreign;
(b) organization engages in ″terrorist activity,″ [*1330] 10

HN2 knowingly provides material support or resources
to a foreign terrorist organization, or attempts or
7

Numerous other federal statutes potentially criminalize conduct related to or associated with terrorist groups. See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. §
2332 (criminalizing a homicide of a U.S. national); id. § 2332a (outlawing use of weapons of mass destruction); id. § 2332b
(criminalizing acts of terrorism transcending national boundaries); id. § 2332d (outlawing financial transactions with a foreign state
supporting international terrorism); id. § 2332f (criminalizing the bombing of places of public use, government facilities, public
transportation systems, and infrastructure facilities); id. § 2339 (outlawing the harboring or concealing of terrorists); id. § 2339A
(criminalizing providing material support while intending to commit certain crimes); id. § 2339C (prohibiting providing or collecting
funds with the intention that they be used in an act of terrorism).
8

HN4 The definition of ″material support″ was expanded by the Patriot Act to add ″monetary instruments″ and ″expert advice or
assistance.″ Pub. L. No. 107-56, § 805(a)(2).
9

According to the legislative history of AEDPA, the exclusions for medicine and religious materials are to be strictly construed. See
H. Conf. Rep. No. 104-518, at 114 (1996), reprinted in 1996 U.S.C.C.A.N. 944, 947. As used in AEDPA, ″medicine″ is limited to
medicine itself and not medical supplies. See id. Similarly, ″religious materials″ is limited to typical, customary, time honored articles
of a religious faith or sect that cannot cause physical injury to a person. See id.
10

8 U.S.C. § 1182(a)(3)(B)(iii) defines terrorist activity as:
HN5 any activity which is unlawful under the laws of the place where it is committed (or which, if it had been committed
in the United States, would be unlawful under the laws of the United States or any State) and which involves any of the
following:
(I) The highjacking or sabotage of any conveyance (including an aircraft, vessel, or vehicle).
(II) The seizing or detaining, and threatening to kill, injure, or continue to detain, another individual in order to compel a
third person (including a governmental organization) to do or abstain from doing any act as an explicit or implicit condition
for the release of the individual seized or detained.
(III) A violent attack upon an internationally protected person (as defined in section 1116(b)(4) of Title 18) or upon the
liberty of such a person.
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″terrorism,″ 11 or has the [**12] capability and
intent to engage in terrorist activity or terrorism; and (c) the
terrorism or terrorist activity threatens either the security of
United States nationals or national security. See 8 U.S.C. §
1189(a)(1). AEDPA provides no pre-designation notice to a
potential FTO. See id. § 1189(a)(2)(A) (providing
pre-designation notice by classified communication only to
various congressional leaders). A designation takes effect
upon publication. See id. § 1189(a)(2)(B)(i). A designation
lasts for two years unless revoked by Congress or the
Secretary. See id. §§ 1189(a)(2)(B)(ii), (a)(4)(A), (a)(5),
(a)(6). The Secretary may renew a FTO designation every
two years. See id. § 1189(a)(4)(B).
[**13]

AEDPA limits the right, scope, basis and time period for
judicial review by a FTO. See id. § 1189(b) (limiting
judicial review to 30 days after designation based solely on
the administrative record, unless the government wants to
submit additional classified evidence ex parte, and limiting
the scope of review that the United States Court of Appeals
for the District of Columbia Circuit takes of a designation).
Further, HN7 AEDPA precludes a criminal defendant’s
right to ″raise any question concerning the validity of the
issuance of such designation as a defense or objection at any
trial or hearing.″ Id. § 1189(a)(8).
On October 8, 1997, the Secretary designated PIJ as a FTO
under AEDPA. See 62 Fed. Reg. 52,650 (1997). 12 The
Secretary’s designation of PIJ as a FTO was renewed in
1999, 2001, and 2003. See 64 Fed. Reg. 55,112 (1999); 66
Fed. Reg. 51,088 (2001); [**14] 68 Fed. Reg. 56,860

(2003). Neither Congress nor the Secretary revoked the
PIJ’s designation at any time, and the PIJ has not sought
judicial review of its designations as a FTO.
2. IEEPA
The second statute central to these motions is IEEPA. HN8
Under IEEPA, the President is granted the authority ″to deal
with any unusual and extraordinary threat … to the national
security, foreign policy, or economy of the United States, if
the President [*1331] declares a national emergency with
respect to such threat.″ 50 U.S.C. § 1701(a). The President’s
authority includes the power to investigate, regulate, or
prohibit financial transactions. See id. § 1702(a)(1). Section
1705(b) makes [**15] it unlawful to willfully violate or
attempt to violate any executive order or regulation issued
pursuant to IEEPA and provides for imprisonment of up to
10 years for such a violation. See id. § 1705(b).
On January 23, 1995, pursuant to IEEPA, President Clinton
issued Executive Order 12947 (the ″Executive Order″). See
Exec. Order No. 12947, 60 Fed. Reg. 5079 (1995). The
Executive Order declared a national emergency with respect
to the Middle East peace process that threatened the United
States’ national security, foreign policy, and economy. See
id. The Executive Order prohibited financial transactions
with any specially designated terrorist (″SDT″). See id. The
President also authorized the Secretary, in coordination with
the Attorney General and Secretary of the Treasury, to
promulgate regulations to carry out the Executive Order.

(IV) An assassination.
(V) The use of any-(a) biological agent, chemical agent, or nuclear weapon or device, or
(b) explosive, firearm, or other weapon or dangerous device (other than for mere personal monetary gain), with intent to
endanger, directly or indirectly, the safety of one or more individuals or to cause substantial damage to property.
(VI) A threat, attempt, or conspiracy to do any of the foregoing.

11

HN6 Terrorism is defined as ″premeditated, politically motivated violence perpetrated against noncombatant targets by subnational
groups or clandestine agents.″ 22 U.S.C. § 2656f(d)(2).

12

The Secretary designated the ″Palestine Islamic Jihad-Shaqaqi (sic) Faction also known as PIJ-Shaqaqi Faction, also known as PIJ,
also known as Islamic Jihad in Palestine, also known as Islamic Jihad of Palestine, also known as Abu Ghunaym Squad of the Hizballah
Bayt Al-Maqdis″ as a FTO. See id.
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See id. at 5079-80. 13 [**16] The annex to the Executive
Order designates the PIJ as a SDT. 14 See id. at 5080.
The Secretary of the Treasury promulgated regulations that
are contained in Title 31 C.F.R. part 595. Most relevant to
this case, HN9 Section 595.204 makes it unlawful to ″deal
in property or interests in property 15 [**17] of a … [SDT],
including the making or receiving of any contribution of
funds, goods, or services 16 to or for the [*1332] benefit of
a [SDT] ….″ 31 C.F.R. § 595.204 (footnotes added). The
regulations interpret this prohibition to include charitable
contributions or ″donation[s] of funds, goods, services, or
technology to relieve human suffering, such as food,
clothing, or medicine.″ Id. § 595.408(a). The regulations
interpret the prohibition against financial transactions to
extend to conspiracies and attempts. See id. § 595.205.
HN13 Not all transactions with a SDT are banned or are
criminal. For example, the regulations make clear that there
is no liability for a charitable contribution if the contribution
is made ″without knowledge or reason to know that the
donation or contribution is destined to or for the benefit of
a [SDT] ….″ Id. § 595.408(b). In addition, the regulations
exempt certain transactions from the ban, including
transactions that: (a) are licensed or authorized; (b) involve
personal communications that do not transfer anything of

value; (c) involve some types of information and
informational materials; or (d) are incidental to travel. See
id. §§ 595.101, 595.206, 595.501.
HN14 IEEPA itself does not explicitly or implicitly provide
for [**18] judicial review of an executive order, but it does
provide a procedure for court review of classified
information. See 50 U.S.C. § 1702(c) (stating that ″this
subsection does not confer or imply a right to judicial
review″). The regulations provide a process for
administrative review of a designation of an organization as
an SDT. See 31 C.F.R. § 501.806 (mistaken identity); §
501.807 (removal of designation as an SDT). Courts have
held that judicial review of a designation under IEEPA or its
regulations exists and that the Administrative Procedures
Act governs that review. See, e.g., Holy Land Foundation
for Relief and Development v. Ashcroft, 357 U.S. App. D.C.
35, 333 F.3d 156 (D.C. Cir. 2003), cert. den. U.S. , 158 L.
Ed. 2d 153, 124 S. Ct. 1506, 2004 U.S. LEXIS 1656, 72
U.S.L.W. 3551, 2004 WL 368125 (Mar. 1, 2004). There are
no limitations on judicial review like those contained in
AEDPA.
II. DISCUSSION
HN15 Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 12(b)
allows a defendant to ″raise by pretrial motion any defense,

13

The Executive Order also delegated to the Secretary the ability to designate foreign persons SDTs, upon concluding that the person:
(a) committed or posed a significant risk of committing acts of violence for the purpose or effect of disrupting the Middle East peace
process; or (b) assisted, sponsored, or provided financial, material, or technological support or services in connection with such acts of
violence. See id. at 5079. The Secretary of Treasury may also designate persons SDTs if they are owned or controlled by a SDT or act
on behalf of a SDT. See id.
14

Fathi Shiqaqi, co-defendant Awda, and co-defendant Shallah were designated SDTs. See 60 F.R. 5084-01, 1995 WL 25636 (F.R.)
(Jan. 25, 1995) (naming Shiqaqi and Awda);60 F.R. 58435-03, 1995 WL 694334 (F.R.) (Nov. 27, 1995) (naming Shallah).
15

HN10 Section 595.310 broadly defines property and property interests to include, but not be limited to:
money, checks, drafts, bullion, bank deposits, savings accounts, debts, indebtedness, obligations, notes, guarantees,
debentures, stocks, bonds, coupons, any other financial instruments, bankers acceptances, mortgages, pledges, liens or other
rights in the nature of security, warehouse receipts, bills of lading, trust receipts, bills of sale, any other evidences of title,
ownership or indebtedness, letters of credit and any documents relating to any rights or obligations thereunder, powers of
attorney, goods, wares, merchandise, chattels, stocks on hand, ships, goods on ships, real estate mortgages, deeds of trust,
vendors sales agreements, land contracts, leaseholds, ground rents, real estate and any other interest therein, options,
negotiable instruments, trade acceptances, royalties, book accounts, accounts payable, judgments, patents, trademarks or
copyrights, insurance policies, safe deposit boxes and their contents, annuities, pooling agreements, services of any nature
whatsoever, contracts of any nature whatsoever, and any other property, real, personal, or mixed, tangible or intangible, or
interest or interests therein, present, future or contingent.

31 C.F.R. § 595.310. HN11 The regulations define ″interest,″ as in ″interest in property,″ to mean ″an interest of any nature
whatsoever, direct or indirect.″ 31 C.F.R. § 595.307.
16

HN12 Services is also broadly interpreted and includes legal, accounting, public relations, educational, or other services to a SDT.
See 31 C.F.R. § 595.406. However, Sections 595.506and 595.507 allow for legal and emergency medical services, including legal
services to a SDT regarding its designation. See id. §§ 595.506, 595.507.
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objection, or request that the court can determine without a
trial of the general issue.″ Fed. R. Crim. Proc. 12(b) [**19]
. Moreover, Rule 12(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Criminal
Procedure requires certain motions be made prior to trial
including motions ″alleging a defect in the indictment.″
Fed. R. Crim. Proc. 12(b)(3)(B).
HN16 This Court may resolve a motion to dismiss in a
criminal case when the ″infirmity″ in the indictment is a
matter of law and not one of the relevant facts is disputed.
See United States v. Korn, 557 F.2d 1089, 1090 (5th Cir.
1977); 17 United States v. Zayas-Morales, 685 F.2d 1272,
1273 (11th Cir. 1982) (concluding that it was appropriate for
a district court to rule on a motion to dismiss when parties
stipulated undisputed facts). As the Eleventh Circuit has
commented, ″there is no summary judgment procedure for
criminal cases″ and no rule provides a pretrial determination
of the sufficiency of the government’s evidence. United
States v. Critzer, 951 F.2d 306, 307 (11th Cir. 1992) (per
curiam). In deciding a motion to dismiss, this Court must
deny the motion if the factual allegations of the indictment
taken [*1333] in the light most favorable to the government
[**20] are sufficient to charge an offense as a matter of law.
See United States v. Devegter, 198 F.3d 1324, 1327 (11th
Cir. 1999) (quoting United States v. Torkington, 812 F.2d
1347, 1354 (11th Cir. 1987)). 18
In addition, HN17 this Court [**21] may strike surplusage
from an indictment. See United States v. Huppert, 917 F.2d
507, 511 (11th Cir. 1990); United States v. Awan, 966 F.2d
1415, 1426 (11th Cir. 1992). The standard for striking
surplusage is ″exacting.″ Huppert, 917 F.2d at 511. The
standard requires it to be clear that the allegedly surplus
language is irrelevant to the charge and is also inflammatory
and prejudicial. See id. The Court may reserve ruling on a
motion to strike surplusage until hearing the evidence and
determining its relevance at trial. See Awan, 966 F.2d at
1426.
The motions pending before this Court can be segregated
into three categories. First, Defendants’ motions raise a host
of statutory construction and constitutional issues purportedly

on which this Court should dismiss or strike Counts 1
through 4 (or parts of Counts 1 through 4). Second,
Defendants raise a variety of technical or procedural
arguments to some of the Counts and acts contained in the
Indictment. Third, Defendants Ballut and Fariz have appealed
the Magistrate’s order on the bill of particulars (Dkt. # 428).
This Court will examine each category in turn.
[**22] A. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION AND

CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES
1. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION OF AEDPA AND
IEEPA
a. First Amendment, Overbreadth, and Vagueness
Background
Before reaching the statutory construction issues, it is
helpful, if not necessary, to understand certain constitutional
arguments raised by the parties that affect this Court’s
construction of AEDPA and IEEPA. Defendants have moved
to dismiss Counts 1 through 4 of the Indictment, arguing
that the Indictment attempts to criminalize their First
Amendment rights of speech in support of and association
with the PIJ. Defendants assert that Counts 1 through 4 are
unconstitutional because they do not require either: (a) a
specific intent to further the unlawful activities of the PIJ; or
(b) an intent to incite and a likelihood of imminent disorder.
19
Alternatively, Defendants argue that Counts 1 through 4
are not content neutral and are subject to analysis under
strict scrutiny, which is rarely, if ever, met and is not met in
this case.
[**23] As a corollary to their First Amendment argument,

Defendants also claim that the doctrines of overbreadth and
vagueness invalidate AEDPA or IEEPA in whole or in part.
Defendants assert that the statutes sweep so broadly that
they include substantial amounts of constitutionally protected
advocacy within their prohibitions. [*1334] Similarly,
Defendants argue that the material terms of each statute are
so broadly defined that a person is incapable of knowing
when otherwise protected activity becomes criminal. In

17
In Bonner v. City of Prichard, the Eleventh Circuit adopted as binding precedent all of the decisions of the former Fifth Circuit
handed down prior to September 30, 1981. 661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 1981) (en banc).
18

See also United States v. Covington, 395 U.S. 57, 60, 23 L. Ed. 2d 94, 89 S. Ct. 1559 (1969) (stating ″[a] defense is capable of
pretrial determination if trial of facts surrounding the commission of the alleged offense would be of no assistance in determining the
validity of the defense″); United States v. Ayarza-Garcia, 819 F.2d 1043, 1048 (11th Cir. 1987) (concluding a motion to dismiss does not
allow a defendant to challenge the ″truth of the allegations″ contained in the indictment).
19

To support this argument, Defendants rely on a series of decisions involving the communist party and its members. See, e.g., Yates
v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 1 L. Ed. 2d 1356, 77 S. Ct. 1064 (1957); Dennis v. United States, 341 U.S. 494, 95 L. Ed. 1137, 71 S.
Ct. 857 (1951).
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support of Defendants’ position, Defendants cite to two
Ninth Circuit opinions where that court twice concluded
that portions of AEDPA are unconstitutionally vague as
applied to the plaintiffs in that case. 20 Defendants argue that
the same hypothetical utilized by the Ninth Circuit indicates
that other sections of AEDPA and IEEPA are similarly
vague and unconstitutional.
[**24] The government responds that the Indictment
alleges that Defendants engaged in criminal conduct and
activities, not protected speech or association. The
government asserts that the Indictment alleges that
Defendants conspired with the PIJ and assisted the PIJ in the
accomplishment of unlawful activities, including, but not
limited to, murder, extortion, and money laundering.
According to the government, speech is utilized in the
Indictment to show Defendants’ agreement to participate in
the conspiracy, and their role, motive, and intent, all of
which is allowable under the First Amendment. The
government argues that AEDPA and IEEPA need not contain
a specific intent to further unlawful activities or be limited
to situations where a defendant intends to incite and a
likelihood of imminent disorder, because the statutes and
the Indictment are aimed at conduct and not speech or
association. Similarly, the government asserts that AEDPA
and IEEPA need not meet strict scrutiny, but only need meet
the intermediate scrutiny standard of United States v.
O’Brien, 21 which is far easier to meet and, according to the
government, is met by AEDPA and IEEPA. The government
also cites to the [**25] Ninth Circuit’s Humanitarian cases,
where the Ninth Circuit twice applied this analysis and
concluded that AEDPA did not violate the First Amendment
rights of the plaintiffs in those cases. 22

The government also opposes the Defendants’ contentions
that AEDPA and IEEPA are overbroad or vague. The
government relies on the presence of ″knowingly″ or
″willfully″ mens rea requirements in the statutes to remove
protected speech from the prohibited conduct covered under
both statutes. Similarly, the government argues that the
statutes [**26] in the vast number of applications cover only
unprotected conduct and only in remote hypothetical
situations do AEDPA and IEEPA even come close to

impinging upon protected speech. The government cites to
a line of Supreme Court cases, which have held in such
circumstances that courts should not use the overbreadth
and vagueness doctrines to invalidate statutes.
While it may not be apparent from either parties’ arguments,
the dispute between the parties on what analysis applies and
the constitutionality of Counts 3 and 4 of the Indictment
actually turns on how this Court interprets AEDPA and
IEEPA. [*1335] The broader this Court interprets AEDPA
and IEEPA, the more likely that the statutes receive a higher
standard of review and are unconstitutional. For example, if
this Court interprets AEDPA and IEEPA as requiring a
specific intent to further the illegal activities of the FTO or
SDT, then no constitutional problems exist. Similarly, if this
Court interprets AEDPA’s and IEEPA’s prohibitions broadly
and does not impose a specific intent mens rea requirement,
it will likely be forced to perform a vagueness analysis and
find portions of AEDPA and IEEPA unconstitutional, as did
the Ninth [**27] Circuit in the Humanitarian cases.
b. Standards for interpreting a statute
HN18 In interpreting statutes, the Court is to begin with the
words of a statutory provision. See Jackson v. State Bd. of
Pardons and Paroles, 331 F.3d 790, 794-95 (11th Cir.
2003); CBS, Inc. v. Primetime 24 Joint Venture, 245 F.3d
1217, 1222 (11th Cir. 2001). If the plain meaning of a
provision is unambiguous, then this Court’s inquiry is
usually complete. See Jackson, 331 F.3d at 794. Only when
the plain meaning is ambiguous or causes absurd, unintended
results is this Court’s analysis incomplete. See United States
v. X-Citement Video, Inc., 513 U.S. 64, 69-70, 130 L. Ed. 2d
372, 115 S. Ct. 464 (1999); CBS, Inc., 245 F.3d at 1222. If
an ambiguity exists or an absurd result occurs, this Court is
to resort to the cannons of statutory construction to determine
the meaning of a statutory provision by focusing on the
broader, statutory context. See X-Citement Video, Inc., 513
U.S. at 70-78; CBS, Inc., 245 F.3d at 1222.
Several cannons of statutory construction are useful in this
case. First, HN19 courts are [**28] to interpret statutes in a

20

See Humanitarian Law Project v. United States Dep’t of Justice, 352 F.3d 382, 403-05 (9th Cir. 2003) (hereinafter referred to as
″Humanitarian II″); Humanitarian Law Project v. Reno, 205 F.3d 1130, 1137-38 (9th Cir. 2000), cert. den. sub nom., Humanitarian Law
Project v. Ashcroft, 532 U.S. 904, 149 L. Ed. 2d 136, 121 S. Ct. 1226 (2001) (hereinafter referred to as ″Humanitarian I″) (collectively
Humanitarian I and Humanitarian II are referred to as ″Humanitarian″).
21

391 U.S. 367, 376-77, 20 L. Ed. 2d 672, 88 S. Ct. 1673 (1968). Under the O’Brien standard, a court evaluates whether: (a) the
regulation is within the government’s power; (b) the regulation supports an important or substantial government interest; (c) the
regulation is unrelated to suppression of speech; and (d) the restriction on speech is no greater than necessary. See id.
22

Humanitarian II, 352 F.3d at 385, 393; Humanitarian I, 205 F.3d at 1133-36.
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manner that avoids constitutional difficulty. 23 [**29] See
X-Citement Video, 513 U.S. at 78 (stating that it is
″incumbent … to read the statute to eliminate [constitutional]
doubts so long as such a reading is not plainly contrary to
the intent of Congress.″); Frisby v. Schultz, 487 U.S. 474,
483, 101 L. Ed. 2d 420, 108 S. Ct. 2495 (1988) (holding that
lower courts run ″afoul″ of a well established principle of
statutory interpretation when they fail to avoid constitutional
difficulties and broadly interpret a statute). 24 Second,
HN20 courts interpret criminal statutes to include broadly
applicable scienter requirements. See X-Citement Video,
513 U.S. at 69.
In X-Citement Video, the Supreme Court faced almost the
same statutory interpretation issues faced in this case.
There, the Supreme Court considered the Protection of
Children Against Sexual Exploitation Act, 18 U.S.C. §
2252. 513 U.S. at 65-66. Section 2252 of that Act made it
unlawful for any person to ″knowingly″ transport, ship,
receive, distribute, or reproduce a visual depiction involving
a ″minor engaging in sexually explicit conduct.″ Id. at 68.
The Ninth Circuit had interpreted ″knowingly″ to only
modify the surrounding verbs, like transport or ship. See id.
Under this construction, whether a defendant knew the
minority of the performer(s) or even knew whether the
material was sexually explicit was inconsequential. See id.
at 68-69. The Supreme [*1336] Court reversed, concluding
that, while the Ninth Circuit’s [**30] construction of
Section 2252 complied with the plain meaning rule, the
construction caused absurd results. See id. at 69. Under the
Ninth Circuit’s construction, the Court noted that a Federal
Express courier who knew that there was film in a package
could be convicted even though the courier had no
knowledge that the film contained child pornography. See
id. To avoid such results, the Court utilized the cannons of
statutory construction to imply a ″knowing″ requirement to
each element, including the age of the performers and the
sexually explicit nature of the material. See id. at 70-78.

HN21 The Court stated that in criminal statutes ″the
presumption in favor of a scienter requirement should apply
to each of the statutory elements that criminalize otherwise
innocent conduct.″ Id. at 72.
c. Statutory Construction of AEDPA
Turning now to AEDPA, Section 2339B(a)(1) makes it
unlawful for a person to ″knowingly provide[] material
support or resources 25 to a foreign terrorist organization, or
attempts or conspires to do so ….″ 18 U.S.C. § 2339B(a)(1)
(footnote added). The Ninth Circuit has twice in [**31] a
single case interpreted Section 2339B and found portions to
be unconstitutionally vague as applied to the plaintiffs in
that case. See Humanitarian II, 352 F.3d at 385, 393;
Humanitarian I, 205 F.3d at 1133-36. Humanitarian involved
a civil action for declaratory and injunctive relief brought by
six organizations and two United States citizens who wished
to provide the Kurdistan Workers’ Party (the ″PKK″) and
the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (the ″LTTE″) with
support for the political and nonviolent humanitarian
activities of each organization. See 205 F.3d at 1133. 26
[**32] In Humanitarian I, the Ninth Circuit faced head on
a challenge to Section 2339B on freedom of association,
freedom of speech, and vagueness grounds. See id. at
1133-38. The Ninth Circuit affirmed the district court’s
determination that AEDPA did not impinge upon the
plaintiffs’ associational or speech rights. See id. at 1133-36.
However, the Ninth Circuit also affirmed the district court’s
determination that the terms ″personnel″ arid ″training″
(specified elements of ″material support″) were
unconstitutionally vague because those terms could impinge
on a person’s advocacy rights. See id. at 1137-38. The Ninth
Circuit commented that:

Someone who advocates the cause of PKK could be
seen as supplying them with personnel; it even fits

23

Indeed, this cannon of statutory construction is explicitly embedded in the purposes section of AEDPA. In passing AEDPA, Congress
sought to prevent persons within the United States or subject to United States’ jurisdiction from providing material support to foreign
organizations engaged in terrorist activities ″to the fullest possible basis, consistent with the Constitution.″ AEDPA, Pub. L. No. 104-132,
§ 301(b).
24
See also Cable Holdings of Georgia, Inc. v. McNeil Real Estate Fund VI, Ltd., 953 F.2d 600, 604 (11th Cir. 1992); United States
v. Brown, 731 F.2d 1491, 1494 (11th Cir. 1984).
25

The term ″material support or resources″ is defined in AEDPA to mean ″currency or other financial securities, financial services,
lodging, training, safehouses, false documentation or identification, communications equipment, facilities, weapons, lethal substances,
explosives, personnel, transportation, and other physical assets, except medicine or religious materials.″ Id. § 2339A(b); id. §
2239B(g)(4).
26

In Humanitarian I, the Ninth Circuit faced a cross-appeal of a motion for preliminary injunction, which the district court granted in
part and denied in part. 205 F.3d at 1133. In Humanitarian II the Ninth Circuit again faced a cross-appeal of motions for summary
judgment and permanent injunction, which the district court granted in part and denied in part. 352 F.3d at 385.
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under the government’s rubric of freeing up resources,
since having an independent advocate frees up members
to engage in terrorist activities instead of advocacy. But
advocacy is pure speech protected by the First
Amendment.
Id. at 1137.

27

[**33] [*1337] Similarly, the Ninth Circuit stated that
training was also vague because it could include ″a plaintiff
who wishes to instruct members of a designated group on
how to petition the United Nations to give aid to their group
….″ Id. at 1138. The government ″invite[d]″ the Ninth
Circuit to cure these vagueness problems by implying
″knowingly,″ which occurs earlier in the statute, to the
material support requirement. The Ninth Circuit rejected
this construction, reasoning that such a construction would
be judicially rewriting the statute. See id. at 1138. The Ninth
Circuit construed ″knowingly″ as modifying only ″provides,″
which meant that the scienter requirement was met when the
accused had knowledge that he provided something, rather
than ″knowledge … that what is provided in fact constitutes
material support.″ See id. at 1138 n.5.

On subsequent appeal in Humanitarian II, the Ninth Circuit
reaffirmed its prior rulings on the plaintiffs’ First Amendment
arguments. 352 F.3d at 385, 393. However, the Humanitarian
II panel faced a new Fifth Amendment challenge by the
plaintiffs, who argued that the lack of personal guilt
rendered it
requirement in Section 2339B [**34]
unconstitutional. See id. at 385. Therefore, the Ninth Circuit
reconsidered its interpretation of the mens rea requirement
in Humanitarian I. See id. Under its new interpretation, the
Ninth Circuit concluded that Section 2339B also required
proof that a person either knew: (a) that an organization was
a FTO; or (b) of an organization’s unlawful activities that
caused it to be designated as a FTO. See id. at 400. The
Ninth Circuit then reaffirmed its prior holding on the
vagueness of ″personnel″ and ″training″ without analyzing
how the change in the mens rea requirement affected its
prior vagueness analysis. See id. at 403-05.
This Court agrees with the Ninth Circuit in Humanitarian I
that a purely grammatical reading of the plain language of

Section 2339B(a)(1) makes it unlawful for any person to
knowingly furnish any item contained in the material
support categories to an organization that has been designated
a FTO. And like Humanitarian II, this Court agrees that this
construction renders odd results and raises serious
constitutional concerns. For example under Humanitarian I,
a donor could be [**35] convicted for giving money to a
FTO without knowledge that an organization was a FTO or
that it committed unlawful activities, and without an intent
that the money be used to commit future unlawful activities.
28

Humanitarian II attempted to correct this odd result and
accompanying constitutional concerns by interpreting
″knowingly″ to mean that a person knew: (a) an organization
was a FTO; or (b) an organization committed unlawful
activities, which caused it to be designated a FTO. See 352
F.3d at 400. But, Humanitarian II’s construction of Section
2339B only cures some of the Fifth Amendment concerns.
First, Humanitarian II fails to comply with X-Citement
Video’s holding that a mens rea requirement ″should apply
to each of the statutory elements that criminalize otherwise
innocent conduct.″ 513 U.S. at 72. Humanitarian II implies
only [**36] a mens rea requirement to the FTO element of
Section 2339B(a)(1) and not to the material support element.
Under Humanitarian II’s construction, a cab driver could be
guilty for giving a ride to a FTO member to the UN, if he
knows that the person is a member of a FTO or the [*1338]
member or his organization at sometime conducted an
unlawful activity in a foreign country. Similarly, a hotel
clerk in New York could be committing a crime by
providing lodging to that same FTO member under similar
circumstances as the cab driver. Because the Humanitarian
II’s construction fails to avoid potential Fifth Amendment
concerns, this Court rejects its construction of Section
2339B.
Second, the Humanitarian II construction does not solve the
constitutional vagueness concerns of Section 2339B(a)(1),
29
[**38] which can be avoided by implying a mens rea
requirement to the ″material support or resources″ element
of Section 2339B(a)(1). If this Court accepted the
Humanitarian II construction, it would likely have to declare

27

The Humanitarian II panel provided an illustration of how an advocate could free up members to engage in terrorism. See 352 F.3d
at 404. The Ninth Circuit stated that ″personnel″ could include ″efforts to urge members of Congress to support the release of kurdish
political prisoners in Turkey.″ Id.
28

Similarly, a bank teller who cashes the donor’s check for a FTO could also be guilty despite a similar lack of knowledge.

29

The government quotes Hill v. Colorado, 530 U.S. 703, 733, 147 L. Ed. 2d 597, 120 S. Ct. 2480 (2000), for the proposition that
this Court should not use hypothetical situations to support a vagueness attack on Section 2339B. However, the quote on which the
government relies is dicta. Moreover, it occurs in the opinion right after the Supreme Court determined that the statute was not vague
because the statute at issue contained a knowingly mens rea requirement. See 530 U.S. at 732.
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many more categories of ″material support″ (in addition to
″training″ and ″personnel″ determined to be
unconstitutionally vague in the Humanitarian cases)
unconstitutionally [**37] vague for impinging on advocacy
rights, including ″financial services,″ ″lodging,″ ″safe
houses,″ ″communications equipment,″ ″facilities,″
″transportation″ and ″other physical assets.″ Using the
Ninth Circuit’s vagueness example on ″training,″ 30 the
statute could likewise punish other innocent conduct, such
as where a person in New York City (where the United
Nations is located) gave a FTO member a ride from the
airport to the United Nations before the member petitioned
the United Nations. Such conduct could be punished as
providing ″transportation″ to a FTO under Section 2339B. 31
The end result of the Ninth Circuit’s statutory construction
in Humanitarian II is to render a substantial portion of
Section 2339B unconstitutionally vague.
But, it is not necessary to do such serious damage to the
statute if one follows the analysis used by the United States
Supreme Court in [**39] X-Citement Video. 32 [**40] This
Court concludes that it is more consistent with Congress’s
intent, which was to prohibit material support from FTOs to
the ″fullest possible basis,″ to imply a mens rea requirement
to the ″material support″ element of Section 2339B(a)(1).
Therefore, this Court concludes that HN22 to convict a
defendant under Section 2339B(a)(1) the government must
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant knew
that: (a) the organization was a FTO or had committed
unlawful activities [*1339] that caused it to be so designated;
and (b) what he was furnishing was ″material support.″ To
avoid Fifth Amendment personal guilt problems, this Court

concludes that the government must show more than a
defendant knew something was within a category of
″material support″ in order to meet (b). In order to meet (b),
the government must show that the defendant knew (had a
specific intent) that the support would further the illegal
activities of a FTO. 33
This Court does not believe this burden is that great in the
typical case. 34 Often, such an intent will be easily inferred.
For example, a jury could infer a specific intent to further
the illegal activities of a FTO when a defendant knowingly
provides weapons, explosives, or lethal substances to an
organization that he knows is a FTO because [**41] of the
nature of the support. Likewise, a jury could infer a specific
intent when a defendant knows that the organization
continues to commit illegal acts and the defendant provides
funds to that organization knowing that money is fungible
and, once received, the donee can use the funds for any
purpose it chooses. That is, by its nature, money carries an
inherent danger for furthering the illegal aims of an
organization. Congress said as much when it found that
FTOs were ″so tainted by their criminal conduct that any
contribution to such an organization facilitates that conduct.″
Pub. L. No. 104-132, § 301(a)(7).
This opinion [**42] in no way creates a safe harbor for
terrorists or their supporters to try and avoid prosecution
through utilization of shell ″charitable organizations″ or by
directing money through the memo line of a check towards

30
The Ninth Circuit utilized the example of ″a plaintiff who wishes to instruct members of a designated group on how to petition the
United Nations to give aid to their group ….″ Humanitarian I, 205 F.3d at 1138.
31

Other examples of innocent conduct that could be prohibited include the same person allowing the FTO member to spend the night
at his house, cashing a check, loaning the member a cell phone for use during the stay, or allowing the member to use the fax machine
or laptop computer in preparing the petition. And, the additional phrase ″expert advice or assistance″ added by the Patriot Act in 2002
could also fail as unconstitutionally vague. Humanitarian Law Project v. Ashcroft, F. Supp. 2d , 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 926, 2004
WL 112760, at *12-14 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 22, 2004) (holding that ″expert advice or assistance″ added by the Patriot Act to definition of
″material support″ was unconstitutionally vague).
32

HN23 The Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that a scienter or mens rea requirement may mitigate a law’s vagueness. See,
e.g., Posters ’N’ Things, Ltd. v. United States, 511 U.S. 513, 526, 128 L. Ed. 2d 539, 114 S. Ct. 1747 (1994).
33

This Court’s conclusion is consistent with the Seventh Circuit’s decision in Boim v. Quranic Literacy Inst., 291 F.3d 1000 (7th Cir.
2002). In Boim, the Seventh Circuit considered whether a violation of Section 2339B could serve as a basis for civil liability under
Section 2333. The Seventh Circuit held that to succeed on a Section 2333 claim, plaintiff must prove that the defendant knew about the
unlawful activities of the FTO and intended to help in those unlawful activities. See id. at 1023-24. This Court’s construction of Section
2339B avoids the anomaly of civil liability being more narrow than criminal liability based on the same statutory language.
34

Indeed, Congress recently added 18 U.S.C. § 2339C, which criminalized raising funds with the specific intent that the funds will
be or are used to cause the death or serious bodily injury of a civilian with the purpose of intimidating the population or compelling a
government to do or abstain from doing any act. See 18 U.S.C. § 2339C.
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lawful activities. 35 This Court believes that a jury can
quickly peer through such facades when appropriate. This is
especially true if other facts indicate a defendant’s true
intent, like where defendants or conspirators utilize codes or
unusual transaction practices to transfer funds. Instead, this
Court’s holding works to avoid potential constitutional
problems and fully accomplish congressional intent.
d. Construction of IEEPA, the Executive Order, and the
Regulations
HN24 Section 1705(b) makes it unlawful to ″willfully″
violate or attempt to violate any regulation or order issued
pursuant to [**43] IEEPA. 50 U.S.C. § 1705(b). Pursuant to
IEEPA, the President issued the Executive Order, and the
Executive Order prohibits financial transactions with any
SDT. See Exec. Order No. 12947, 60 Fed. Reg. 5079
(1995). Pursuant to the Executive Order, the Secretary of the
Treasury promulgated [*1340] regulations. Section 595.204
of those regulations makes it unlawful to ″deal in property
or interests in property of a … [SDT], including the making
or receiving of any contribution of funds, goods, or services
36
to or for the benefit of a [SDT] ….″ 31 C.F.R. § 595.204
(footnote added). The regulations further interpret this
prohibition as including some charitable contributions. See
id. § 595.408.
[**44] While no court has construed the criminal prohibition
contained in IEEPA, this Court concludes that a conviction
under IEEPA in these circumstances requires similar proof
of intent similar to that required under AEDPA. In other
words, this Court concludes that HN25 to criminally convict
a defendant for violating IEEPA the government must prove
a defendant: (a) knew either that an organization was a SDT
or committed unlawful activities that caused it to be
designated as a SDT; and (b) had a specific intent that the
contribution be used to further the unlawful activities of the
SDT. 37
[**45] This Court’s conclusion is based on the plain
language of Section 1705(b), which criminalizes only
″willfully″ committed violations of the Executive Order and

the regulations interpreting the Executive Order. HN26 The
Supreme Court has interpreted ″willfully″ in criminal statutes
to ″differentiate between deliberate and unwitting conduct″
and means an act ″undertaken with a ’bad purpose.’″ Bryan
v. United States, 524 U.S. 184, 191, 141 L. Ed. 2d 197, 118
S. Ct. 1939 (1998). In Bryan, the Supreme Court approved
of a jury instruction that defined ″willfully″ as:
… intentionally and purposely and with intent to do
something the law forbids, that is, with the bad purpose
to disregard the law. Now, the person need not be aware
of the specific law or rule that his conduct may be
violating. But he must act to do something that the law
forbids.
Id. at 190, 199. HN27 While knowledge of IEEPA, the
Executive Order, or the regulations thereunder is not
necessary to support a conviction, some ″bad purpose″ must
be demonstrated by the government. This Court concludes
that a ″bad purpose″ cannot be demonstrated by proof of
knowledge of past unlawful activity alone. The [**46]
government must show some additional intent to further
future unlawful activity to support criminal liability.
This Court’s interpretation of Section 1705(b) is not contrary
to the intent of the Executive Order or its regulations. First,
IEEPA contains a separate civil penalty provision that
penalizes violations that are not willful. See 50 U.S.C. §
1705(a). It makes sense that the regulations punish some
unlawful transactions by a civil penalty only, while punishing
worse transgressions both civilly and criminally. Second,
the regulations themselves contain an exception for charitable
contributions, if the contribution is made without knowledge
or reason to know that it was made to or for the benefit of
a SDT. See id. § 595.408(b). [*1341] Such an exception
reinforces this Court’s interpretation of a requirement of
proof of a specific intent because it shows that the
administering agency interprets the prohibition to not reach
purely innocent or unwitting conduct.
Finally, this Court is concerned that without such a scienter
requirement the prohibitions in the Executive Order may be

35
For example, a donation to a suicide bomber’s family given with the intent to encourage others to engage in such activities or support
such activities would satisfy this specific intent requirement.
36

Services is also broadly interpreted and includes legal, accounting, public relations, educational, or other services to a specially
designated terrorist. See 31 C.F.R. § 595.406. However, Sections 595.506and 595.507 allow for legal and emergency medical services,
including legal services to a SDT regarding its designation. See id. §§ 595.506, 595.507.
37

While Defendants only raise the PIJ in their arguments about the constitutionality of IEEPA, under the Executive Order and the
regulations, a person can also be designated a SDT. While the government’s burden should not differ whether a defendant contributes
to an organization or individual, this Court believes that often it will be far easier to show a specific intent to further unlawful activities
when an individual is the SDT.
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unconstitutionally vague 38 or violate the Fifth Amendment’s
requirement [**47] of personal guilt. By requiring a specific
intent to further the illegal activities of the SDT, this Court
avoids considering whether the regulations are
unconstitutionally vague or violate the Fifth Amendment’s
requirement of personal guilt.

Section 1189(a)(8) is reinforced by the Supreme Court’s
decision and construction of a similarly worded clause in
Johnson. Therefore, this Court concludes that this Court
may review the constitutionality of AEDPA.

e. Judicial Review

Given this Court’s construction of the mens rea requirements
of AEDPA and IEEPA, little remains to be said of
Defendants’ First Amendment challenges to Counts 3 and 4.
This Court will address two points raised by Defendants as
to the Indictment in general.

Before reaching the constitutional issues, this Court has one
additional statutory construction issue to determine: whether
8 U.S.C. § 1189(a)(8) precludes judicial review of a
constitutional challenge to AEDPA. 39HN28 Section
1189(a)(8) provides that a criminal defendant may not ″raise
any question concerning the validity of the issuance of such
designation as a defense or objection at any trial or hearing.″
8 U.S.C. § 1189 [**48] (a)(8). Defendants argue that Section
1189(a)(8) only precludes review of the Secretary’s
designation of an organization as a FTO and not a criminal
defendant’s ability to raise a constitutional challenge. This
Court agrees.
In addition to the general rules of statutory construction
discussed above, HN29 the Supreme Court requires a clear
and convincing showing of congressional intent before a
court construes a statute to prohibit judicial review because
of the serious constitutional concerns that such a prohibition
causes. See Johnson v. Robison, 415 U.S. 361, 366-74, 39 L.
Ed. 2d 389, 94 S. Ct. 1160 (1974). In Johnson, the Court
considered a similar clause to the one in this case which was
contained in the Veteran’s Readjustment Act and concluded
that the clause prohibited judicial review of a veteran’s
benefit claim under the act, but not judicial review of a
veteran’s claim that the act itself was unconstitutional.
[**49] See id. at 373-74.
The most natural reading of Section 1189(a)(8) prohibits a
criminal defendant from challenging the designation of an
organization as a FTO, but does not prohibit a criminal
defendant from challenging AEDPA’s constitutionality.
Neither the language, the structure, nor the legislative
history of AEDPA suggests that Congress intended to
preclude a criminal defendant from asserting that AEDPA is
unconstitutional. Moreover, this Court’s construction of

2. FIRST AMENDMENT

First, this Court agrees with the government that the
Indictment does not criminalize ″pure speech.″ Instead, the
overt acts section of the Indictment utilizes the speech of
Defendants to show the existence [**50] of the conspiracies,
the Defendants’ [*1342] agreement to participate in them,
their level of participation or role in them, and the
Defendants’ criminal intent. HN30 It is well established that
the government can use speech to prove elements of crimes
such as motive or intent. See Wisconsin v. Mitchell, 508 U.S.
476, 489, 124 L. Ed. 2d 436, 113 S. Ct. 2194 (1993); United
States v. Stewart, 65 F.3d 918, 930 (11th Cir. 1995). 40 As
Associate Justice Jackson eloquently stated concurring in
Dennis v. United States:
The defense of freedom of speech or press has often
been raised in conspiracy cases, because, whether
committed by Communists, by businessmen, or by
common criminals, it usually consists of words written
or spoken, evidenced by letters, conversations, speeches
or documents. Communication is the essence of every
conspiracy, for only by it can common purpose and
concert of action be brought about or be proved ….″But
it has never been deemed an abridgement of freedom of
speech … merely because the conduct was in part
initiated, evidenced, or carried out by means of language
…. Such an expansive interpretation of the constitutional
guaranties of speech and [**51] press would make it
practically impossible ever to enforce laws against
agreements … and conspiracies deemed injurious to
society.″
341 U.S. 494, 575-76, 95 L. Ed. 1137, 71 S. Ct. 857 (1951)

38

The regulations interpret the prohibition on transactions to include contributions of ″goods and services.″ The word ″goods″ is
undefined, and ″services″ is broadly defined. Such words, without a scienter requirement, could easily include protected expression in
the same way that AEDPA could.
39

No such clause exists in either IEEPA or any other statute cited in the Indictment.

40

See also Planned Parenthood of the Colombia/Willamette, Inc. v. Am. Coalition of Life Activists, 290 F.3d 1058, 1083 (9th Cir.
2002); United States v. Rahman, 189 F.3d 88, 117-18 (2d Cir 1999); United States v. Salameh, 152 F.3d 88, 111-12 (2d Cir. 1998); Rice
v. Paladin Enterprises, Inc., 128 F.3d 233, 243-44 (4th Cir. 1997).
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(quoting Giboney v. Empire Storage & Ice Co., 336 U.S.
490, 498, 93 L. Ed. 834, 69 S. Ct. 684 (1949)) (Jackson, J.,
concurring).
Such words are equally applicable to the conspiracies
charged in this case. The fact that Defendants’ speech is
contained in the overt act section of the Indictment is of
little consequence. HN31 As the Eleventh Circuit stated in
United States v. Lanier, ″an overt act need not be criminal,
and may indeed be otherwise innocent ….″ 920 F.2d 887,
893 (11th Cir. 1991); [**52] see also Yates v. United States,
354 U.S. 298, 334, 1 L. Ed. 2d 1356, 77 S. Ct. 1064 (1957)
(holding same). In support of that proposition, the Eleventh
Circuit cited to and relied on a Seventh Circuit case that
held constitutionally protected speech can constitute an
overt act. See id. at 893 n.48 (citing to United States v.
Donner, 497 F.2d 184, 192 (7th Cir. 1974)). The reason that
an overt act can include even protected speech is that it is
the agreement that is punishable in a conspiracy charge and
not the overt act itself. Therefore, this Court denies
Defendants’ motion to dismiss on ″pure speech″ grounds.

U.S.C. § 2333 because the defendant violated Section
2339B. See id. at 1027. Section 2333 provided a civil
remedy to U.S. nationals injured by acts of international
terrorism. See id. The defendant challenged Section
2333and 2339B’s constitutionality on First Amendment
grounds. See id. at 1026-27. The Seventh Circuit held that
Buckley’s contribution analysis applied and concluded that
Section 2333 (based on a violation of Section 2339B) did
not violate the First Amendment. See id. The Seventh
Circuit reasoned that Buckley applied because both speech
and association components are implicated by regulations
that restrict or prohibit a person’s ability to contribute or
fundraise on behalf of an organization. 42 [**54]
[**55] HN34 Under Buckley and its progeny, a regulation
of fundraising is constitutional if it is closely drawn to
further a sufficiently important government interest. See
McConnel,
U.S. at
, 124 S. Ct. at 654-56; Shrink
Missouri Gov’t PAC, 528 U.S. at 387-88; Buckley, 424 U.S.
at 30. This Court concludes that AEDPA, IEEPA, and the
other statutes at issue in this case easily meet this analysis.
43

Second, this Court declines Defendants’ invitation to
heighten the level of First Amendment protection given to
seeking and donating funds. HN32 The Supreme Court has
repeatedly considered the issue and determined that such
activities are more like expressive conduct than pure speech.
See, e.g., McConnel v. Fed’l Election Comm’n, U.S. ,
157 L. Ed. 2d 491, 124 S. Ct. 619, 654-56 (2003); Nixon v.
Shrink Missouri Gov’t PAC, 528 U.S. 377, 386-88, 145 L.
Ed. 2d 886, 120 S. Ct. 897 (2000); Buckley v. Valeo, 424
U.S. 1, 20-21, 46 L. Ed. 2d 659, 96 S. Ct. 612 (1976). [**53]
This Court agrees with the Seventh Circuit in Boim v.
Quaranic Literacy Institute and Holy Land Foundation for
Relief and Development that HN33 the Buckley standard
applies to determine the constitutionality of a regulation
prohibiting contributions to foreign organizations. 41 291
F.3d 1000, 1026-27 [*1343] (7th Cir. 2002). In Boim, the
plaintiffs claimed defendant was liable to them under 18

HN35 The Supreme Court has termed the protection of the
foreign policy interests of the United States to be of great
importance. See, e.g., Haig v. Agee, 453 U.S. 280, 307, 69
L. Ed. 2d 640, 101 S. Ct. 2766 (1981). Likewise, other
courts have [**56] concluded that the government’s interest
in stopping the spread of global terrorism is ″paramount″ or
″substantial.″ Boim, 291 F.3d at 1027; Humanitarian I, 205
F.3d at 1135. This Court agrees and would conclude that
stopping the spread of terrorism is not just a sufficiently
important governmental interest, but is a compelling
governmental interest.
Similarly, a congressional decision to stop the spread of
global terrorism by preventing fundraising and prohibiting
support is closely drawn to further this interest. This Court’s
construction of AEDPA and IEEPA (requiring proof of a
specific intent to further the unlawful activities of a SDT or

41
This Court disagrees with the Ninth Circuit that intermediate scrutiny under United States v. O’Brien applies to whether a prohibition
on fundraising and contribution is constitutional under the First Amendment. See Humanitarian I, 205 F.3d at 1134-35. The Ninth Circuit
opinion provides no reason on why Buckley’s contribution analysis should not apply to other forms of contributions. This Court sees
no basis for a difference in constitutional analysis between political contributions and other forms of contributions. Both have a speech
and an associational component. However, as a practical matter, it may be easier for the government to regulate contributions to foreign
groups because of the strength of the governmental interests at stake in cases similar to this one.
42

The government’s reliance on Wise Enterprises, Inc. v. Unified Govt. Athens-Clarke County, Georgia is misplaced. 217 F.3d 1360
(11th Cir. 2000). Wise Enterprise involved regulation of adult establishments and not regulation of contributions to organizations.
43

As to Counts 1 and 2, this Court concludes that the government has sufficiently important governmental interests in preventing
criminal conduct like that alleged in Counts 1 and 2 (activities like murder, maiming, injuring persons, extortion, and money laundering)
and that both statutes are closely drawn to further that interest.
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FTO) reinforces this Court’s conclusion that the prohibitions
in AEDPA and IEEPA are closely drawn to further the
governmental interest. Therefore, this Court denies
Defendants’ motion to dismiss on First Amendment grounds.
3. PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS: PIJ’S FTO
DESIGNATION UNDER AEDPA AND SDT
DESIGNATION UNDER IEEPA
Defendants argue that Counts 3 and 4 of the Indictment
should be dismissed because the PIJ 44 was denied due
[*1344] process under AEDPA and IEEPA when it was
designated, respectively, a FTO and a [**57] SDT.
Defendants rely primarily on the Supreme Court’s opinion
in United States v. Mendoza-Lopez, 45 and a district court
decision in the United States District Court for the Central
District of California, United States v. Rahmani, 46 in
support of their argument. The government argues that
Mendoza-Lopez is inapplicable to this case because these
Defendants lack standing to challenge the PIJs designation
and that Rahmani is seriously flawed. This Court concludes
for those and additional reasons Defendants may not
collaterally attack the designations of the PIJ under AEDPA
or IEEPA.
[**58] In Mendoza-Lopez, the Supreme Court broadly held
that ″our cases establish that where a determination made in
an administrative proceeding is to play a critical role in the
subsequent imposition of a criminal sanction, there must be
some meaningful review of the administrative proceeding.″
481 U.S. at 837-38 (emphasis in original). The Court
continued that where defects in the original proceeding
foreclosed judicial review, collateral attack of a prior
administrative decision in a subsequent criminal proceeding
was allowable. See id. at 838-42. Mendoza-Lopez involved
a criminal prosecution for illegal re-entry in which the

defendant had been deprived of his right to appeal in the
underlying deportation proceeding. 47 See id. at 842. The
Court affirmed the dismissal of an indictment and concluded
that in such circumstances a prior deportation determination
could not be used in a subsequent criminal proceeding. See
id. In reaching its decision in Mendoza-Lopez, the Court
distinguished two of its prior cases, Yakus v. United States
48
and Lewis v. United States, 49 which provide this Court
with additional guidance [**59] in this case.
In Yakus, the Supreme Court dealt with the conviction of
three defendants for violating the Emergency Price Control
Act (the ″EPCA″) by selling beef at prices above the
maximum prices allowable under a regulation. 321 U.S. at
418-19. The EPCA delegated to a price administrator the
authority to make regulations setting maximum prices of
certain goods. See id. at 423. The EPCA required someone
challenging a regulation to seek administrative review
within 60 days. 50 The EPCA limited [**60] judicial review
of that administrative review to a specially established
court, with a short statute of limitations period (30 days).
See id. at 428-29. The EPCA allowed criminal liability to
attach prior to the expiration of the time periods for
administrative review or judicial determination. [*1345]
See id. at 438-39. The Court concluded that the EPCA did
not violate the defendant’s due process rights by not
allowing a defendant to challenge the regulation in a
criminal prosecution because the defendants had the right to
challenge the designation elsewhere. See id. at 447.
In Lewis, the Supreme Court dealt with whether a defendant
could challenge the constitutionality of a prior felony
conviction in a subsequent federal prosecution for possession
of a firearm. 445 U.S. at 57-58. [**61] The Court held that
it was constitutional to not allow a defendant to challenge a
prior felony conviction in a subsequent federal prosecution

44
While not specifically mentioned in the motion, this Court assumes that Defendants also argue that Fathi Shiqaqi, co-defendant
Awda, and co-defendant Shallah were denied due process when they were designated SDTs.
45

481 U.S. 828, 95 L. Ed. 2d 772, 107 S. Ct. 2148 (1987).

46
209 F. Supp. 2d 1045 (C.D. Cal. 2002). The district court in Rahmani dismissed an indictment charging a violation of AEDPA based
on a denial of due process to an FTO in its designation. See id. at 1058-59. The Court held AEDPA’s designation procedure was facially
unconstitutional. See id.
47

The government stipulated that the defendant received a fundamentally unfair deportation hearing. See 481 U.S. at 839-40.

48

321 U.S. 414, 88 L. Ed. 834, 64 S. Ct. 660 (1944). The Court in Mendoza-Lopez distinguished Yakus on the grounds that Yakus
involved the ″exigencies of wartime,″ dealt with regulations and not an adjudication, and adequate judicial review was available in
another forum. 481 U.S. at 838 n.15.
49

445 U.S. 55, 63 L. Ed. 2d 198, 100 S. Ct. 915 (1980).

50

The administrator would decide any appeal within thirty days. The objecting party could submit evidence along with its objection.
There was no guaranty that the administrator would hold a hearing.
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because the defendant could challenge the validity of the
conviction in another proceeding or otherwise seek removal
of the disability before obtaining a firearm. See id. at 65-67.
Neither Mendoza-Lopez, Yakus, nor Lewis is exactly
apposite to the case at hand. However, this Court concludes
that this case is closer to Yakus and Lewis than
Mendoza-Lopez. 51 [**62] Unlike Mendoza-Lopez and like
Yakus, AEDPA and IEEPA are measures taken to protect the
national security of the United States. Similar to Yakus and
Lewis, under either AEDPA or IEEPA, a designated
organization can seek some judicial review of its designation.
52
Additionally, like in the Humanitarian cases, Defendants
could have challenged AEDPA and IEEPA in a civil action.
In such circumstances, this Court concludes that Defendants,
like the defendants in Yakus and Lewis, cannot collaterally
challenge the designation procedure utilized to designate the
PIJ.
Additionally, a FTO designation is a designation of a
third-party and not a designation of Defendants themselves.
This Court views that distinction as a critical distinction to
the cases under Mendoza-Lopez. HN36 Except in rare
cases, third parties do not have standing to assert the legal
rights or interests of others. See Campbell v. Louisiana, 523
U.S. 392, 397-98, 140 L. Ed. 2d 551, 118 S. Ct. 1419 (1998);
Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 410-11, 113 L. Ed. 2d 411,
111 S. Ct. 1364 (1991); Warth v. Seldin, 422 U.S. 490,
498-501, 45 L. Ed. 2d 343, 95 S. Ct. 2197 (1975). The
limited exception to this general rule occurs only when: (1)
a defendant suffers an injury-in-fact; (2) a defendant had a
″close relationship″ to the third party such that the two share
a common interest; and (3) there is some hindrance to the
third party’s assertion of its rights. Powers, 499 U.S. at 411.
[**63]

This Court concludes that the PIJ has suffered no disincentive
to assert its rights, like the jurors in Campbell and Powers,
and third party standing does not exist in this case. Indeed,
the PIJ had every incentive to assert any due process rights
that it might possess, so that it [*1346] could resume
fundraising and other activities in the United States. The

existence of this incentive is demonstrated by the numerous
groups that have challenged their designations under
AEDPA. See, e.g., United States v. Sattar, 272 F. Supp. 2d
348, 364 (S.D.N.Y. 2003) (containing a list of cases).
Therefore, this Court concludes that Defendants lack
standing to collaterally attack the procedure utilized to
designate the PIJ.
Even if this Court concluded that Defendants could challenge
the procedure employed in designating the PIJ, this Court
would conclude that AEDPA’s and IEEPA’s designation
procedure is facially constitutional. The Supreme Court has
stated that ″[a] facial challenge to a legislative Act is, of
course, the most difficult challenge to mount successfully,
since the challenger must establish that no set of
circumstances exists under which the Act would be valid.
[**64] ″ United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 745, 95 L.
Ed. 2d 697, 107 S. Ct. 2095 (1987). The Supreme Court has
also held that aliens are generally not entitled to
constitutional rights until they are within the United States’
territory and develop a substantial connection to the United
States. See Zadvydas v. Davis, 533 U.S. 678, 693, 150 L. Ed.
2d 653, 121 S. Ct. 2491 (2001) (distinguishing the
constitutional rights of an alien who entered the United
States with the lack of constitutional rights for an alien who
has not entered the United States); United States v. Verdugo
-Urquidez, 494 U.S. 259, 269, 108 L. Ed. 2d 222, 110 S. Ct.
1056 (1990) (holding Fifth Amendment protections do not
extend to aliens outside the territorial boundaries of the
United States).
AEDPA’s and IEEPA’s designation procedures are
constitutional when they apply to foreign organizations and
individuals without a substantial connection to the United
States. Therefore, Defendants’ facial challenge fails. By
AEDPA’s and IEEPA’s very terms, the acts’ designation
procedures primarily apply to foreign organizations and

51

Even if Mendoza-Lopez applied to this case, Defendants have failed to make the showing required under United States v. Holland,
876 F.2d 1533, 1536 (11th Cir. 1989). See also Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)
(defining the prejudice that must be shown for a due process violation as but for the violation the result of the proceeding would have
been different). Defendants have not shown that the outcome of the PIJ’s designation might have been affected if the PIJ had every bit
of judicial review to which Defendants’ claim that the PIJ was entitled. See Holland, 876 F.2d at 1536; also Rahmani, 209 F. Supp. 2d
at 1055 (denying Mendoza-Lopez challenge under AEDPA because the defendant could not demonstrate that the outcome would have
been different). As such, the Defendants’ motions to dismiss are denied.
52

IEEPA or the regulations promulgated pursuant to IEEPA do not contain any of the limitations on judicial review present in AEDPA,
except that the government is authorized to submit ex parte classified information.
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individuals. 53 In such limited and exceptional circumstances,
this Court holds that the facial [**65] analysis of a statute,
like AEDPA or IEEPA, should include application to foreign
organizations and individuals without a substantial
connection to the United States. This Court disagrees with
the Rahmani court that such an analysis would ″effectively
eviscerate the doctrine of facial invalidity.″ 209 F. Supp. 2d
at 1056. Instead, this Court concludes that such an analysis
prevents this Court from intruding into an area that ″the
Judiciary has neither aptitude, facilities nor responsibility [,
which] … belongs to the domain of political power not
subject to judicial intrusion or inquiry.″ Chicago & Southern Air Lines, Inc. v. Waterman S.S. Corp., 333 U.S. 103,
111, 92 L. Ed. 568, 68 S. Ct. 431 (1948); see also Zadvydas
v. Davis, 533 U.S. at 696 (stating that ″heightened deference
[is due] to the judgments of political branches with respect
to matters of national security.″)
[**66] Finally, even if Defendants could challenge the
designation procedures as applied [*1347] to the PIJ, this
Court would conclude that AEDPA’s and IEEPA’s
designation procedures did not violate the due process rights
of the PIJ. None of the Defendants argue that the PIJ has
property in or a substantial connection to the United States.
At best, it appears that the PIJ has members in the United
States who themselves own property in the United States.
The United States Court of Appeals for the District of
Columbia has twice concluded that a foreign organization’s
due process rights were not violated by AEDPA’s designation
procedure in such circumstances. 54 See 32 County Sovereignty Committee v. Dep’t of State, 352 U.S. App. D.C. 93,
292 F.3d 797, 799-800 (D.C. Cir. 2002); People’s Mojahedin Org. of Iran v. Dep’t of State, 337 U.S. App. D.C. 106,
182 F.3d 17, 22 (D.C. Cir. 1999). Without any compelling
reason why the PIJ should be treated differently, this Court
concludes that the PIJ had no right to due process under the
Constitution because it has no substantial connection to the
United States. Therefore, this Court denies Defendants’
motions to dismiss the [**67] Indictment for alleged due
process violations of the PIJ’s rights.

4. EX POST FACTO
Finally, Defendants argue that Counts 1 through 4 attempt to
punish the Defendants for conduct that was not criminal
when it took place in violation of the ex post facto clause of
the Constitution. Defendants argue that this Court should
strike any overt act or reference to an act that occurred prior
to PIJ’s designation as a FTO (October 8, 1997) or prior to
PIJ’s designation as a SDT (January 23, 1995). Alternatively,
Defendants argue that this Court should strike any act prior
to the respective designation date from Counts 3 and 4. The
government responds that the Defendants’ conduct in this
case has always been unlawful and that the PIJ’s designation
as a SDT and a FTO provided additional bases for [**68]
criminal liability. The government also responds that conduct
prior to either designation date is relevant to Counts 3 and
4 because Defendants are charged with being in conspiracies
that continued after the conduct was criminalized and acts
prior to the designation dates go to the existence of a
conspiracy, the parties’ agreement, and Defendants’ purpose,
motive, and intent.
Neither of Defendants’ arguments are well taken. Defendants
are correct only to the extent that HN37 the ex post facto
clause prohibits the enactment by Congress of a statute that
punishes an act which was innocent when committed. 55 See
United States v. Hersh, 297 F.3d 1233, 1244-45 (11th Cir.
2002). However, Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment seek to
punish Defendants for violating 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(d)
and956(a)(1). Both statutes were enacted (1970 and 1948
respectively) well prior to any act alleged in the Indictment.
As to Counts 3 and 4, HN38 the Eleventh Circuit has held
that the ex post facto clause was not violated when a
conspiracy continues after the effective date of a statute

53
See, e.g., 8 U.S.C. § 1189(a)(1)(A) (stating that in order to be a FTO ″the organization is a foreign organization″); 31 C.F.R. §
595.304 (defining ″foreign person″ as ″any citizen or national of a foreign state (including any such individual who is also a citizen or
national of the United States), or any entity not organized solely under the laws of the United States or existing solely in the United States
….″); id. § 595.311 (requiring a SDT designated by the Secretary of State be a foreign person); Exec. Order No. 12947, § 1(a)(i), 60
Fed. Reg. 5079 (1995) (requiring a SDT designated by the Secretary of State be a foreign person); id. § 2(d) (defining ″foreign person″
as any person who is not solely a citizen of the United States or any entity that is not organized exclusively under United States law,
but does not include a foreign State).
54

This Court would again note that the regulations under IEEPA appear to provide a SDT more procedural protections than an FTO
receives under AEDPA. Defendants argument largely fails to distinguish between the two.
55

The ex post facto clause reads: HN39 ″no Bill of Attainder or ex post facto Law shall be passed.″ See U.S. Const. Art. I, § 9, cl.

3.
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making that action illegal. 56 See Hersh, 297 F.3d at
[*1348] 1244-45. The [**69] Indictment alleges overt acts
in furtherance of the conspiracy after 1995 and 1997.
Therefore, this Court denies Defendants’ motions to dismiss
or strike on ex post facto grounds.
[**70] B. TECHNICAL AND PROCEDURAL ISSUES

1. INSUFFICIENCY OF THE INDICTMENT
Defendants also argue that the Indictment violates their
Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights by giving them insufficient
notice of the crimes with which they are charged such that
Defendants cannot prepare an adequate defense. For
example, Defendants claim Count 1 provides insufficient
notice of what two predicate acts Defendants knowingly or
intentionally agreed would be committed by the conspiracy.
57
Defendants also argue that these infirmities cause a
second due process violation because they do not give
Defendants notice of the potential penalty in violation of
Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 143 L. Ed. 2d 311, 119
S. Ct. 1215 (1999) and Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S.
466, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000). Finally,
Defendants argue that certain counts and allegations
contained in the Indictment should be dismissed or stricken
because the government has admitted that it misidentified
the speaker or its identification of the speaker is suspect.
This Court concludes that Defendants’ motions challenging
the sufficiency of the Indictment should be denied.
[**71] a. Sufficiency of the Indictment

HN40 Rule 7(c) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure
requires that an indictment ″must be a plain, concise, and
definite written statement ….″ Fed. R. Crim. Proc. 7(c). An
indictment is sufficient if it: (1) sets forth each essential
element of the offense so that a defendant has notice of the
charges against which he must defend; and (2) enables a
defendant to enter a plea which will act as a bar against
subsequent prosecutions for the same offense. See United

States v. Poirier, 321 F.3d 1024, 1028-29 (11th Cir. 2003).
The Supreme Court has stated that an indictment normally
is sufficient when it ″set[s] forth the words of the statute
itself ….″ Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117, 41 L.
Ed. 2d 590, 94 S. Ct. 2887 (1979); see also United States v.
Critzer, 951 F.2d 306, 308 (11th Cir. 1992) (per curiam)
(holding same). Further, the Eleventh Circuit has stated that
″’when analyzing challenges to the sufficiency of an
indictment, courts give the indictment a common sense
construction, and its validity is to be determined [**72] ’by
practical, not technical, considerations.’″ Poirier, 321 F.3d
at 1029 (quoting United States v. Gold, 743 F.2d 800, 813
(11th Cir. 1984)). This means that it is proper for a court to
infer or imply essential elements of a crime. See id. at 1029
(finding indictment sufficient even though indictment failed
to allege that documents were ″confidential″); United States
v. Woodruff, 296 F.3d 1041, 1047 (11th Cir. 2002) (inferring
knowingly into an indictment); United States v. Gray, 260
F.3d 1267, 1283 (11th Cir. 2001) (same). This Court turns to
an analysis of each count challenged by Defendants.
1. Count 1 - Conspiracy to Commit Racketeering
Count 1 charges Defendants with a Conspiracy to Commit
Racketeering in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). HN41
Section 1962(d) makes it unlawful for ″any person to
conspire to violate any of the provisions [*1349] of
subsection (a), (b), or (c)″ of Section 1962. See 18 U.S.C. §
1962(d). The Indictment charges that the Defendants
conspired to violate Section 1962(c). 58 HN42 In order to
sustain a conviction under Section 1962(d) the [**73]
government must prove that a defendant ″objectively
manifested, through words or actions, an agreement to
participate in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise.″
United States v. Shenberg, 89 F.3d 1461, 1471 (11th Cir.
1996). The government can meet this burden by showing
either that: (a) the defendant agreed to the overall
conspiracy’s objective; or (b) the defendant personally
committed two predicate acts. See id. The government can
show an agreement with a conspiracy’s overall objective by

56
In Hersh, the Eleventh Circuit held that a conspiracy continues when at least one overt act occurs after the effective date of the statute
that made the conspiracy illegal. See id. Hersh involved a defendant who was charged with conspiracy to travel in foreign commerce
to engage in a sexual act with a minor. See id. at 1245. The indictment alleged 17 overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy, only two
of which were illegal when they occurred. See id. The Eleventh Circuit concluded that there was no ex post facto concerns in that
particular case and utilized the defendant’s overt acts prior to the conspiracy becoming illegal to establish the defendant’s intent. See id.
at 1246-47.
57

This defect allegedly exists because the grand jury did not include the word ″personally″ in Paragraph 27 of Count 1 of the
Indictment.
58

HN43 Section 1962(c) makes it unlawful ″for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities
of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs
through a pattern of racketeering activity ….″ 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).
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showing ″that ’each defendant must necessarily have known
that the others were also conspiring to participate in the
same enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity.’″
Id. (quoting United States v. Gonzalez, 921 F.2d 1530, 1541
(11th Cir. 1991)).
[**74] The Indictment states that, from 1984 through the
date of the Indictment, Defendants:

being persons employed by and associated with the
enterprise described in Section A of this Count; that is,
the PIJ Enterprise, which enterprise engaged in, and its
activities affected, interstate and foreign commerce,
knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully did combine,
conspire, confederate, and agree together and with
other persons, both known and unknown to violate Title
18, United States Code, Section 1962(c); that is, to
conduct and participate, directly and indirectly, in the
conduct of the affairs of that enterprise, through a
pattern of racketeering activity, as defined in Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 1961(1) and(5) ….

Defendants argue that because Paragraph 27, quoted above,
does not contain the word ″personally″ the Indictment
provides them insufficient notice of what racketeering
activity the government intends to prove that they agreed
the enterprise would commit. First, this Court disagrees
with Defendants that by failing to include the word
″personally″ [**76] the government is in any way limited
in proving a conspiracy. The government is correct that the
word ″conspirator,″ contained in Paragraph 27, could be
fairly read as either a co-defendant, a defendant himself, or
an unindicted [*1350] co-conspirator personally committed
the racketeering activity. Second, Count 1 of the Indictment
tracks the language of the applicable statutes and provides
the Defendants with more than sufficient notice of the
charges. 60 The Indictment is highly specific and provides
Defendants with the factual support and the government’s
legal theory as to each of the Defendants’ role and
involvement in the RICO conspiracy. Therefore, this Court
denies Defendants’ motions to dismiss Count 1.

Indictment at Count 1, P 26.

2. Count 2 - Conspiracy to Murder, Maim, or Injure
Persons at Places Outside the [**77] United States

Previously, Count 1 defined the criminal enterprise as the
″PIJ enterprise″ 59 utilizing the language of 18 U.S.C. §
1961(4). See id. P 25. The Indictment also lists seven types
of racketeering activity, including murder, extortion, money
laundering, and providing material support to a foreign
terrorists. See id. Count I alleges that ″it was further part of
the conspiracy [**75] that each defendant agreed that a
conspirator would commit at least two acts of racketeering
in the conduct of the affairs of the enterprise.″ See id. P 27.
The Indictment then details the means and methods of the
conspiracy alleged in Count 1 by providing more detail to
the general types of racketeering activity alleged. See id. PP
28-42. Finally, the Indictment details the factual basis
supporting the RICO conspiracy charge by detailing 256
overt acts. See id. P 43.

Count 2 of the Indictment charges Defendants with
conspiring to murder, maim, or injure persons at places
outside the United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
956(a)(1). 61 HN44 In order to sustain a conviction under
Section 956(a)(1), the government must prove: (1)
Defendants agreed with at least one person to commit
murder, engage in kidnapping, or maim a person outside the
United States; (2) Defendants willfully joined the agreement
with the intent to further the conspiracy’s purposes; (3)
during the conspiracy, at least one of the conspirators must
commit at least one overt act in furtherance of the objects of
the conspiracy; and (4) at least one of conspirators was
within the United States when the agreement was made. See
United States v. Wharton, 320 F.3d 526, 537-38 (5th Cir.
2003).

59
The Indictment specifically defines that phrase as ″the Palestinian Islamic Jihad, Jihad-Shiqaqi Faction (PIJ). including the ICP,
WISE, IAF, and others known and unknown ….″ Id. P 25.
60

Several of Defendants move to dismiss Count 1 on grounds that there is not sufficient evidence to support a criminal conviction.
Such a motion is an inappropriate pretrial motion. Critzer, 951 F.2d at 307.
61

Section 956(a)(1) provides that:
HN45 Whoever, within the jurisdiction of the United States, conspires with one or more other persons, regardless of where
such other person or persons are located, to commit at any place outside the United States an act that would constitute the
offense of murder, kidnapping, or maiming if committed in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United
States shall, if any of the conspirators commits an act within the jurisdiction of the United States to effect any object of the
conspiracy be punished as provided in subsection (a)(2).

18 U.S.C. § 956(a)(1).
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[**78] Count 2 of the Indictment alleges that from about

1988 and continuing through the date of the Indictment the
Defendants ″knowingly, unlawfully, and willfully, combined,
conspired, confederated and agreed together and with each
other … to murder and maim persons at places outside of
the United States.″ Indictment at 85-86. Count 2 incorporates
the means and methods section of Count 1 and some of the
overt act section (Paragraphs 191-255) to allege the overt
acts committed in furtherance of the conspiracy. See id. at
86.
Count 2 of the Indictment tracks the language of the
applicable statutes and provides Defendants with more than
sufficient notice of the charges. 62 The Indictment is highly
specific and provides Defendants with the factual support
and the government’s legal theory as to each of the
Defendants’ role and involvement in this conspiracy.
Therefore, this Court denies Defendants’motions to dismiss
Count 2.
[**79] 3. Count 3 - Conspiracy to Provide Material
Support

Count 3 of the Indictment charges Defendants with
conspiring to provide the PIJ, a designated FTO, with
material support in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339B. Under
Section 2339B(a)(1), it is unlawful for persons to ″knowingly
provide[] material support or resources to a foreign terrorist
organization, or attempt[] or conspire[] [*1351] to do so
….″ 18 U.S.C. § 2339B. The term ″material support″ is
defined to mean ″currency or other financial securities,
financial services, lodging, training, safehouses, false
documentation or identification, communications equipment,
facilities, weapons, lethal substances, explosives, personnel,
transportation, and other physical assets, except medicine or
religious materials.″ Id. § 2339A(b); id. § 2339B(g)(4).
Count 3 of the Indictment alleges from about 1988 through
the date of the Indictment Defendants conspired with each
other ″to knowingly provide material support and resources,
as that term is defined in Title 18, United States Code,
Section 2339A(b) to a designated foreign terrorist
organization, namely, [**80] the Palestinian Islamic Jihad
(PIJ), all in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 2339B.″ Indictment at 87-88. The Indictment then

provides a mean and methods section, which provides
Defendants notice of what types of material support
Defendants allegedly provided to the PIJ. See id. at 87-95.
The Indictment additionally reincorporates Paragraphs
197-255 of the overt acts section of Count 1, providing
Defendants with notice of the specific factual allegations
against them. See id. at 95. 63
Defendants’ argument that they cannot discern what types
of material support were allegedly given by them to the PIJ
is not well taken. A straight forward, common sense reading
of either the ″Means and Methods of the Conspiracy″ or the
″Overt Acts″ sections [**81] of Count 3 clearly indicates the
government’s theory on what type of material support
Defendants allegedly provided. For example, Paragraph
3(a) of Count 3 indicates that Defendants ″used WISE, ICP,
and IAF offices … to raise funds and provide support for the
PIJ ….″ See id. at 88. Such allegations clearly indicate that
the government contends that Defendants provided material
support in the form of ″facilities″ and ″currency or other
financial securities.″ The remainder of Count 3 provides
Defendants with similar unambiguous detail.
Similarly, Defendants’ arguments that allegations in
Paragraphs 3(s) and 3(u) are vague and provide insufficient
notice are also not well taken. Defendants concentrate on
the individualized words in sentences, divorcing those
words from their context in a sentence, paragraph, and a
series of paragraphs. For example, Defendants complain
about the use of ″support activities″ as vague. However, the
sentence reads that Defendants ″would and did continue to
engage in PIJ fund-raising (sic) and support activities ….″
Indictment at 94 (emphasis added). 64 The remaining
portion of that paragraph details how Hammoudeh allegedly
took over part of [**82] A1-Arian’s fundraising role and the
proceeding 18 paragraphs detail different types of support
activities engaged in by Defendants prior to the time period
detailed in 3(s). A common sense construction of Paragraph
3(s) provides Defendants with sufficient notice of what
″support activities″ the government contends were performed
during this time period. This Court denies Defendants’
motions to dismiss Count 3.
4. Count 4 - Conspiracy to Make and Receive
Contributions of Funds, Goods, or Services to or for the
Benefit of a SDT

62

Several of Defendants move to dismiss Count 2 on grounds that there is not sufficient evidence to support a criminal conviction.
Such a motion is an inappropriate pretrial motion. Critzer, 951 F.2d at 307.
63

Several of Defendants move to dismiss Count 3 on grounds that there is not sufficient evidence to support a criminal conviction.
Such a motion is an inappropriate pretrial motion. Critzer, 951 F.2d at 307.
64

Paragraph 3(u), likewise, uses the word ″continue″ before the allegedly objectionable phrase ″activities in support″ of the PIJ.
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Count 4 of the Indictment charges Defendants with
conspiring to make and [*1352] receive contributions of
funds, goods, or services to or for the benefit of the PIJ, a
SDT, in violation of 50 U.S.C. § 1705(b); 18 U.S.C. § 371;
31 C.F.R. §§ 595.204, 595.205. HN46 Section 371 makes it
unlawful [**83] to conspire to commit any offense against
the United States or defraud the United States. See 18
U.S.C. § 371. In order to sustain a conviction under Section
371, the government must prove: (a) an agreement to
achieve an unlawful objective; (b) a defendant’s knowing
and voluntary participation; and (c) the commission of an
overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy. See United States
v. Brenson, 104 F.3d 1267, 1281-82 (11th Cir. 1997)
(quoting United States v. Harmas, 974 F.2d 1262, 1267
(11th Cir. 1992)).
The unlawful objective in this case is violating IEEPA, the
Executive Order, and the regulations thereunder. Section
1705(b) of IEEPA makes it unlawful to willfully violate or
attempt to violate any regulation issued pursuant to IEEPA
and provides for imprisonment of up to 10 years. Id. §
1705(b). The regulations issued pursuant to the Executive
Order interpret the Executive Order as making it unlawful to
″deal in property or interests in property of a … [SDT],
including the making or receiving any contribution of funds,
goods, or services to or for the benefit of a [SDT] ….″ 31
C.F.R. § 595.204 [**84] .
Count 4 of the Indictment alleges that from a date unknown
but not later than January 25, 1995, and continuing to the
date of the Indictment the Defendants conspired:
to commit offenses against the United States, that is,
knowingly and willfully to violate Executive Order
12947, by making and receiving contributions of funds,
goods, and service to or for the benefit of the Palestinian
Islamic Jihad, ABD AL AZIZ AWDA, Fathi Shiqaqi
and RAMADAN ABDULLAH SHALLAH, in violation

of Title 50, United States Code, Sections 1701 et seq.
and Title 31, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 595,
et seq.
Indictment at 98-99. Count 4 incorporates the means and
methods of the conspiracy section from Count 3 and
Paragraphs 122-255 from the Overt Acts section from Count
1. See id. at 99.
Count 4 of the Indictment tracks the language of the
applicable statutes, regulations, and the Executive Order
and provides Defendants with more than sufficient notice of
the charges. 65 The Indictment is highly specific and
provides Defendants with the factual support and the
government’s legal theory as to each of the Defendants’ role
and involvement in this conspiracy count. 66 Therefore,
[**85] this Court denies Defendants’ motions to dismiss
Count 4.
[**86] [*1353] 5. Counts 19, 36 through 38, 40 through
42, and 44 - Travel in Interstate or Foreign Commerce or
Use of Mail or Any Facility in Interstate or Foreign
Commerce

Counts 19, 36 through 38, 40 through 42, and 44 charge
Defendants with violating what is known as the Travel Act,
18 U.S.C. § 1952. 67 [**87] In relevant part Section 1952(a)
makes it unlawful for a person to:
HN47 travel[] in interstate or foreign commerce or uses
the mail or any facility in interstate or foreign commerce,
with intent to … (2) commit any crime of violence to
further any unlawful activity; 68 or (3) otherwise
promote, manage, establish, carry on, facilitate the
promotion, management, establishment, or carrying on,
of any unlawful activity, and thereafter performs or
attempts to perform -- (A) an act described in paragraph
… (3) shall be … imprisoned not more than 5 years; or
(B) an act described in paragraph (2) shall be …

65

Several of the Defendants move to dismiss Count 4 on grounds that there is not sufficient evidence to support a criminal conviction.
Such a motion is an inappropriate pretrial motion. Critzer, 951 F.2d at 307.
66
Defendants also argue that Count 4 should be dismissed because the government incorporated Part B of Count 3 and not Part C of
Count 3 when it attempted to incorporate the ″means and methods″ section of Count 3. The use of B instead of C is a typographical or
clerical error going to the form of the Indictment. Count 4 of the Indictment makes clear that the government is incorporating the means
and methods section of Count 3 and Defendants are not prejudiced by this Court correcting that error. See United States v. Field, 875
F.2d 130, 133-34 (7th Cir. 1989). Though, this Court is baffled at why the government has not previously corrected this obvious error
with a superseding indictment along with the Awda mistakes and some of the other inaccuracies raised in Defendants’ motions to dismiss.
67

The Indictment also alleges a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2. See Indictment at 102. HN48 Section 2 makes it unlawful to commit an
offense against the United States or aid, abet, counsel, command, procure, or willfully cause the commission of an offense. See 18 U.S.C.
§ 2.
68

HN49 Section 1952(b) defines ″unlawful activity″ to include extortion and money laundering. See 18 U.S.C. § 1952(b).
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imprisoned for not more than 20 years … and if death
results shall be imprisoned for any term of years or for
life.
18 U.S.C. § 1952 (footnote added).
Counts 5 through 44 of the Indictment are collectively
presented via a chart as violations of the Travel Act. See
Indictment at 100-02. The Indictment alleges that on
identified dates certain identified defendants ″did knowingly
and willfully use a facility as described below in interstate
and foreign commerce with intent to″ violate Sections
1952(a)(2)or 1952(a)(3). See id. at 100. The Indictment
identifies the unlawful activity as extortion and money
laundering. See id. The chart then provides Defendants with
a date, which Defendants were involved, the interstate or
foreign commerce facility, and the corresponding overt act
from Count 1, which is incorporated by reference and
provides the factual background for the count. See id. at
100-02.
The Travel Act counts, Counts 19, 36 through 38. 40
through 42, and 44, of the Indictment, which Defendants
challenged, track the language of the applicable statute and
provide Defendants with more [**88] than sufficient notice
of the charges. 69 The Indictment is highly specific and
provides Defendants with the factual support and the
government’s legal theory as to each of the Defendants’ role
and involvement in each count. This Court denies
Defendants’ motions to dismiss Counts 19, 36 through 38,
40 through 42, and 44.
B. Apprendi and Jones
Defendants’ next argument, challenging the sufficiency of
the Indictment on Apprendi and Jones grounds, is equally
unavailing. In United States v. Sanchez, the Eleventh Circuit
considered a similar argument and affirmed a district court’s
denial of a defendant’s motion to dismiss. 269 F.3d 1250,
1275 (11th Cir. 2001) (en banc). HN50 The Eleventh Circuit
held that Apprendi [**89] has no effect on whether a
complete federal crime is alleged in an indictment. See id.
The Eleventh Circuit commented that ″facing theoretical or
potential [*1354] exposure to a particular fate … borders on
the metaphysical″ and does not create Apprendi error. See
id. at 1275-77. The Eleventh Circuit found such a concern
of no consequence unless a defendant is sentenced above
the otherwise applicable statutory maximum based on a
statutory enhancement without being indicted on that

enhancement, that enhancement being submitted to a jury,
and that enhancement being proven beyond a reasonable
doubt. See id. at 1276-78.
For the reasons stated in Sanchez, this Court concludes that
dismissal on Apprendi or Jones grounds is inappropriate.
Defendants’ objections are premature at this point and this
opinion should not be construed as determining any Apprendi
or Jones issue that may be raised if these Defendants are
convicted. However, this Court is aware that the Magistrate
raised several potential Apprendi type issues in its Order
(Dkt. # 428) on the Defendants’ Motions for Bill of
Particulars. Of course, the government may decide [**90] to
try to avoid having a potential Apprendi issue by obtaining
a superseding indictment correcting the issues raised by
either Defendants or the Magistrate.
c. The Government’s Misidentification of Awda
Defendants also move to dismiss Counts 35, 37, 41, and 43
and also strike Paragraph 43(236), 43(240), 43(247) and
43(253) of Count 1 of the Indictment. Defendants argue that
the government’s admission that Awda was misidentified in
Paragraphs 43(253) and his identification in 43(236),
43(240), and 43(247) is suspect and makes these paragraphs
irrelevant, prejudicial and inflammatory. The government
responds that Fariz and Ballut are not challenging the
relevance of these subparagraphs, but are instead attacking
the sufficiency of the evidence supporting the Indictment.
Further, the government argues that dismissal is an
inappropriate sanction in this case because Defendants have
not alleged prosecutorial misconduct. At oral argument, the
government indicated that it was likely to seek a superseding
indictment, correcting the misidentification and suspect
identifications of Awda as well as other errors in the
Indictment.
This Court concludes that the motion to dismiss or [**91]
strike these counts should be denied without prejudice. This
Court is denying Defendants’ motion because it challenges
the sufficiency of the evidence. This Court does not
understand why in the past twelve months since learning of
this and other mistakes the government has not superseded

69

Several of Defendants move to dismiss Counts 19, 36 through 38, 40 through 42, and 44 on grounds that there is not sufficient
evidence to support a criminal conviction. Such a motion is an inappropriate pretrial motion. Critzer, 951 F.2d at 307.
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the Indictment. 70 While baffled and confused at this failure
to act and moot Defendants arguments, nothing in the record
indicates that the misidentifications and suspect
identifications resulted from prosecutorial misconduct. In
such circumstances, the Eleventh Circuit has repeatedly
held that this Court may not dismiss an indictment despite
mistaken testimony before a grand jury. See United States v.
Garate-Vergara, 942 F.2d 1543, 1550 (11th Cir. 1993)
(citing cases). Accordingly, Defendants’ motions to dismiss
or strike based on the suspect or misidentification of Awda
are denied.
[**92] 2. MOTION TO QUASH P 26(b)-EXTORTION

Next, Defendants move to quash Paragraph 26(b) of Count
1 of the Indictment, arguing that this Court should quash
extortion as a racketeering activity in this case because the
government failed to allege that the PIJ enterprise obtained
[*1355] or attempted to obtain property. The government
argues that the Indictment sufficiently alleges a legal and
factual basis to support extortion as a racketeering activity.
This Court disagrees with the government, grants
Defendants’ motion, and quashes Paragraph 26(b). 71
The Indictment charges that the Defendants conspired to
violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
1962(d). HN51 Section 1962(c) makes it unlawful ″for any
person employed by or associated with any enterprise
engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or
foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or
indirectly, [**93] in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs
through a pattern of racketeering activity ….″ 18 U.S.C. §
1962(c). ″Pattern of racketeering activity″ is statutorily
defined as at least two acts of ″racketeering activity.″ Id. §
1961(5). In turn, ″racketeering activity″ is defined to include
various crimes, including extortion ″chargeable under State
law and punishable by imprisonment for more than one
year.″ Id. § 1961(1).
The Supreme Court has held to constitute the racketeering
activity of ″extortion″ a state statute must exist that in a
″generic sense″ criminalizes the crime of extortion as it was
understood in the majority of states and under the Model
Penal Code. See Scheidler v. National Organization for
Women, Inc., 537 U.S. 393, 409-10, 154 L. Ed. 2d 991, 123
S. Ct. 1057 (2003). The Supreme Court has defined ″generic″
extortion statute as a statute that criminalizes ″’obtaining

something of value from another with his consent induced
by wrongful use of force, fear, or threats.’″ Id. at 410
(quoting United States v. Nardello, 393 U.S. 286, 296, 21 L.
Ed. 2d 487, 89 S. Ct. 534 (1969)).
Scheidler involved a civil suit against [**94] multiple
anti-abortion groups who allegedly conspired to shut down
abortion clinics nationwide through a pattern of racketeering
activity mainly by threats of violence. See id. at 398. The
plaintiffs alleged that the defendants’ conduct constituted
extortion because the defendants attempted to deprive
plaintiffs of their right to receive and provide medical
service. See id. at 400-01. A jury found in plaintiffs’ favor
and awarded damages. See id. at 397. The Supreme Court
reversed finding that the defendants’ conduct did not
constitute extortion because the defendants did not obtain
the plaintiffs’ property when defendants’ illegal acts shut
down a clinic. See id. at 397, 404-05. The Court stated that
merely interfering or depriving someone of property was
insufficient as a matter of law to constitute extortion. See id.
at 405.
Turning to the case at hand, it is undisputed that HN52
Florida law, specifically Florida Statutes § 836.05, makes
chargeable the crime of extortion which is punishable by
imprisonment of more than one year. All parties agree that
Section 836.05 is a ″generic″ extortion statute. But, the
parties disagree on whether the [**95] government alleges
facts in the Indictment to support extortion as a racketeering
activity. Specifically, Defendants argue that there is no
allegation that the PIJ obtained or attempted to obtain
property.
While the government cites to other parts of the Indictment,
this Court’s review of the Indictment indicates that in only
one paragraph has the government even attempted to allege
the PIJ obtained or attempted to obtain property. In Paragraph
29 of the Indictment, the government alleges that:
The enterprise members would and did commit acts of
violence, intimidation, [*1356] and threats against
Israel, its inhabitants and others, including murders and
suicide bombings, and solicit and cause others to do so,
with the intent to drive Israel out of the territory from
the Jordan River to the Mediterranean Sea and to end
any influence of the United States in the Middle East.
Indictment P 29.

70

Unlike some of the other errors in the Indictment, misidentifying Awda is substantive and not a clerical error of the type curable
under Rule 36 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. Transactions with or involving Awda subject a defendant to criminal liability
because he is a SDT.
71

This Court rejects Defendants remaining arguments on Paragraph 26(b).
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The government concedes in its response that these
allegations ″inarticulately″ state an extortionate scheme.
While most of the Indictment is clear and specific, Paragraph
29 is not.

with which he was affiliated with and aided committed
terrorist acts. See United States v. Bin Laden, 91 F. Supp. 2d
600, 621-22 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (refusing to strike ″terrorist
groups″).

Paragraph 29 never alleges that any of the current owners of
the real estate (or the property or thing [**96] of value that
is allegedly being extorted) in any way lose title to that real
estate. What the PIJ attempted to extort according to
Paragraph 29 is Israeli sovereignty over property between
the Jordan River and the Mediterranean Sea. In light of
Scheidler, this Court is in serious doubt whether such an
intangible property right is capable of being extorted. See
537 U.S. at 412 (Stevens, J., dissenting) (stating that the
majority opinion construed extortion to cover nothing more
than acquisition of tangible property). Sovereignty is even
more of an amorphous concept than the alleged property
rights, the right to receive and perform medical services, in
Scheidler. Further, while undoubtedly sovereignty has
″value″ in some sense of that word, sovereignty does not
have value in the economic sense that is used in extortion
statutes. 72 [**97] Because the Indictment fails to allege that
Israel or any other person lost or could have lost anything of
value, this Court grants Defendants’ motion. 73

[*1357] Even if this Court could find ″terrorist,″ ″terrorism,″
and ″terrorist activities″ irrelevant, which it does not, it
would not find the use of the words prejudicial. If this Court
followed Defendants’ logic, the government could use
without objection the much longer detailed description of
the unlawful activity instead of a short-hand succinct phrase
like ″terrorist attack.″ This Court concludes that use of these
succinct phrases is far less prejudicial to the Defendants
than allowing the government to continually repeat that ″the
PIJ murdered twelve people and injured several others,
[**99] ″ Indictment P 254, or some other similar act(s)
allegedly committed by the PIJ. This Court denies
Defendants’ motion to strike ″terrorist,″ ″terrorism,″ and
″terrorist activities.″

3. MOTION TO STRIKE SURPLUSAGE
a. ″Terrorism,″ ″terrorist″ and ″terrorist activity″
Defendants move to strike the words ″terrorism,″ ″terrorist″
and ″terrorist activity″ from the Indictment. HN53 The
standard for striking surplusage is ″exacting″ and requires it
to be clear that the allegedly surplus language is irrelevant
to the charge and is also inflammatory and prejudicial.
Huppert, 917 F.2d at 511. This Court cannot conclude that
the use of the words ″terrorism,″ ″terrorist,″ and ″terrorist
[**98] activity″ are irrelevant. First and foremost, an
essential element of two of the charges against Defendants
is that they supported and conducted prohibited transactions
with groups designated by the United States as terrorists.
Second, the government can prove Defendants’ participation,
intent, and the existence of the four conspiracies alleged in
the Indictment in part by showing the acts of the groups

b. Words indicating animus against the United States
Second, Defendants move to strike all phrases that indicate
animus towards the United States. Defendants argue that
such phrases are irrelevant to the charges against them and
are also highly prejudicial. The government argues that such
phrases are relevant to the nature and goals of the PIJ
enterprise and show Defendants’ motive and intent. At this
stage, this Court will reserve ruling on Defendants’ motion
to strike these phrases until determining the language’s
relevance at trial. See Awan, 966 F.2d at 1426.
c. Subparagraphs that do not allege illegal conduct
Third, Defendants move to strike from Count 1, Paragraph
43, Subparagraphs (208), (209), (211), (215), (238), (239)
and (244). Defendants argue that these subparagraphs do not
contain allegations: (a) of an illegal act; (b) in furtherance of
any of the conspiracies; or (c) showing an intent to commit
an illegal act. The government responds that each of these
subparagraphs [**100] is relevant because each goes,
individually or collectively, to: (1) the existence of the
conspiracies; (2) Defendants’ participation and agreement
in the conspiracies; (3) illegal acts or activities; or (4)

72

Similarly, Paragraph 29 never alleges that the PIJ, a co-conspirator of the PIJ, individuals associated with the PIJ, or others will
receive legal title to anything of value. The Indictment does not indicate who under this alleged scheme would end up with sovereignty
over the territory between Jordan and the Mediterranean Sea.
73

In the event that the government attempts to supersede this Indictment and re-allege extortion as a racketeering activity, this Court
would make one additional comment. The Indictment as written termed Israel as both Israel proper and the occupied territories. It seems
to this Court that an extortionate scheme might differ between Israel proper and the occupied territories. By grouping them together the
government may be making it difficult to understand and unnecessarily require proof and complicated explanation by the government
of the international status of the occupied territories.
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Defendants’ state of mind or intent, including their
knowledge of the PIJ enterprise. This Court has reviewed
the allegations in the subparagraphs and agrees with the
government that, while some of the subparagraphs do not
contain illegal activity in themselves, each is probative of
other issues related to the conspiracies alleged in this case.
See United States v. Lanier, 920 F.2d 887, 893 (11th Cir.
1991) (stating that ″an overt act need not be criminal, and
may indeed be otherwise innocent ….″); United States v.
Morse, 851 F.2d 1317, 1320 (11th Cir. 1988) (stating that
activity supporting a conspiracy charge need not be illegal
in and of itself); United States v. LaChance, 817 F.2d 1491,
1494 (11th Cir. 1987) (holding similarly). This Court denies
Defendants’ motions to strike surplusage on this ground.

e. Close associate of Al-Arian, Hammoudeh, and Ballut

d. Words indicating other co-conspirators or unindicted
criminal conduct

Finally, while again not presenting any argument or making
any mention of it in his motion, Defendant Fariz highlighted
subsection 1 of subparagraph (186) on page 66 of the
Indictment. The subsection he requests to be stricken states
that Defendant Al-Arian had in his possession a document
detailing how to establish, operate, and structure a hostile
intelligence organization at a university. The government
argues that the document is probative of the plans, means,
and methods of operation for the conspiracies alleged in the
Indictment. This Court agrees and Fariz’s motion to strike is
denied on this ground.

Fourth, Defendants move to strike language [**101] from
the indictment that indicates that there are other unmentioned
co-conspirators or other unindicted criminal conduct by
these Defendants. The conspiracy sections (Counts 1 through
4) of the Indictment repeatedly refer to other known and
unknown co-conspirators. Additionally, the Overt Act section
of Count 1 contains one assertion that the Defendants and
their co-conspirators committed certain overt acts ″among
others.″ Defendants argue that such reference invites a jury
to improperly infer that Defendants were involved in other
acts or with other persons not charged in the Indictment.
However, well established law in this circuit holds that
HN54 ″the government is not limited to the overt acts
pleaded in the indictment in proving a conspiracy; it may
show other acts of the conspirators occurring [*1358]
during the life of the conspiracy.″ United States v. Elliott,
571 F.2d 880, 911 (5th Cir. 1978) (affirming denial of bill of
particulars); see also United States v. Lockheed Corp., case
no. 1:94-cr-226, 1995 WL 17064093, at *6-7 (N.D. Ga. Jan.
3, 1995) (refusing to strike ″among others″ in an overt act
section as surplusage). Similarly, it is common to see
allegations [**102] of other unnamed persons being involved
in a conspiracy. See, e.g., United States v. Briggs, 514 F.2d
794, 805 (5th Cir. 1975) (requiring the use of ″other
persons″ or fictitious names in an indictment instead of real
names of unindicted co-conspirators). This Court notes that
lack of notice and unfair surprise are not likely in this case
because the Magistrate ordered the government to provide
by way of bill of particulars most of this information. While
this Court believes that these phrases are likely relevant to
this case, this Court will reserve ruling on Defendants’
motion to strike these phrases until determining the
language’s relevance at trial.

While not presenting any argument or even mentioning the
word in his motion, Defendant Fariz highlighted the word
″close″ on page 5 of the Indictment, indicating that he
wishes the word stricken. The government argues that the
level and depth of his relationship with his co-defendants is
probative to the existence of the four conspiracies and the
likelihood of Fariz’s and the other Defendants’ participation
in them. This Court agrees and Fariz’s motion to [**103]
strike is denied as to this ground.
f. The charter

4. STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS
Defendant Ballut moves to dismiss Count 19, arguing that
the statute of limitations has expired for an offense allegedly
committed in May 24, 1995. Ballut’s argument consists of
less than a sentence and provides this Court with no
citations or arguments. Probably because of the off-hand
nature of Ballut’s argument, the government failed to
respond to it. Therefore, this Court will give Defendant
Ballut and the government an opportunity to brief this issue
before it rules upon it.
C. [**104] APPEAL OF BILL OF PARTICULARS
Defendants Ballut and Fariz also appeal the Magistrate’s
Order granting in part and denying in part their motions for
bill of particulars (Dkt. # 428). The Magistrate granted
Defendants’ motions in so far as they sought: (a) the identity
of the unindicted co-conspirators; (b) the identity of the
individual(s) in Paragraph 43(236), (240), (247), and (253);
and (c) co-conspirators associated with PIJ mentioned in
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Count 2. 74 The Magistrate denied the remaining [*1359]
demands for particulars, finding that Defendants were
seeking to use the bill of particulars as a means of getting
particularized discovery.
HN55 Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(A), this Court may
reconsider [**105] any pretrial matter referred to a magistrate
and reverse the magistrate’s decision where it is shown that
the decision is clearly erroneous or contrary to law.
Defendants argue that the magistrate erred when he failed to
require the government to provide particulars as far as: (a)
identities of individuals named in the Indictment; (b)
allegations of criminal conduct; (c) coded conversations; (d)
dates that Defendant Ballut joined the four conspiracies; and
(e) citations to legal authority for prosecution of a crime that
occurred prior to a particular date.
HN56 Under Rule 7(f) of the Federal Rules of Criminal
Procedure, a court may direct the government to file a bill
of particulars. The purpose of a bill of particulars is to: (1)
inform a defendant of the charges so that a defendant can
prepare a defense; (2) avoid surprise at trial; and (3) enable
a defendant to plead double jeopardy. See United States v.
Anderson, 799 F.2d 1438, 1441 (11th Cir. 1986). A bill of
particulars is not a means to obtain generalized discovery.
See United States v. Warren, 772 F.2d 827, 837 (11th Cir.
1985). It is an appropriate way to [**106] discover the
names of the unindicted co-conspirators who the government
plans to use as witnesses at trial. See United States v.
Barrentine, 591 F.2d 1069, 1077 (5th Cir. 1979). However,
a bill of particulars is not typically warranted in so far as it
seeks information already available through other sources.
See United States v. Rosenthal, 793 F.2d 1214, 1227 (11th
Cir. 1986).
After reviewing Defendant Ballut’s and Fariz’s motions,
this Court concludes that the motions for reconsideration
should be denied. Many of the specific requests are
foreclosed for the very reasons that this Court has stated
earlier in this Order. For example, Ballut’s request for
citation of legal authority for prosecution of a crime that
occurred prior to a particular date need look no further than
the ex post facto section (Section II(A)(4)) of this Order.
Similarly, most of Fariz’s arguments regarding the vagueness
of the allegations in the Indictment have been exhaustively
addressed in the insufficiency of the indictment section
(Section II(B)(1)) of this Order. For instance, this Court has
already concluded that the Indictment is not vague on what

type(s) of material [**107] support the Defendants provided
the PIJ. Similarly, this Court has concluded that it is
premature to address Apprendi and Jones concerns.
This Court would also note that the Magistrate has already
given Defendants in his Order the names of the known
co-conspirators for Counts 2, 3, and 4 because many of the
sections of Count 1 of the Indictment are incorporated by
reference into Counts 2, 3, and 4. Additionally, several of
the Magistrate’s recent orders, particularly the Order (Dkt. #
428) on the bill of particulars and the Order (Dkt. # 437) on
various discovery motions, have significantly reduced the
burden on the defense in preparing for trial.
A common sense look at the Indictment, especially the overt
act section, makes obvious what FTOs, SDTs, known
terrorists, and terrorist organizations are involved in this
case. Similarly, it should be equally obvious when one reads
the overt acts in Paragraph 43 what coded conversations the
government is alleging. Therefore, this Court denies Ballut
and Fariz’s motion for reconsideration of the Magistrate’s
Order (Dkt. # 428).
It is therefore ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that:
1. Defendant Ballut’s Motion to Dismiss or Strike Counts
[**108] 1 through 4, 19, 36 [*1360] through 38, and 40
through 42 (Dkt. # 200) is DENIED in part and
DEFERRED in part as detailed in this Order.
2. Defendant Ballut shall file within FIVE (5) DAYS from
the date of this Order a legal memorandum of no more than
FIVE (5) PAGES addressing the applicability of the statute
of limitations to Count 19. The government shall file a
response FIVE (5) DAYS after the date of service of no
more than FIVE (5) PAGES.
3. Defendant Al-Arian’s Motion to Dismiss Counts 1, 2, 3
and 4 of the Indictment (Dkt. # 245) is DENIED.
4. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Dismiss Count 44 of the
Indictment (Dkt. # 250) is DENIED.
5. Defendant’s Fariz’s Motion to Strike Surplusage (Dkt. #
251) is DENIED in part and DEFERRED in part as
detailed in this Order.
6. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Dismiss Count 1 of the
Indictment (Dkt. # 255) is DENIED.
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The Magistrate also required that the government turn over or show cause why it cannot turn over the Israeli documents within thirty
(30) days. The Israeli documents will provide Defendants with critical information such as names of victims, suspects, and witnesses to
the alleged PIJ terrorist attacks.
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7. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Strike as Surplusage
Paragraphs 43(236), (240), (247), and (253) of the
Indictment, and to Dismiss Counts 35, 37, 41, and 43 of the
Indictment (Dkt. # 256) is DENIED without prejudice.

12. Defendant Hammoudeh’s Motion to Dismiss Count 1 of
the Indictment (Dkt. # 313) is DENIED.

8. Defendant Al-Arian’s Amended Motion to Dismiss Counts
[**109]
1, 2, 3 and 4 of the Indictment (Dkt. # 273) is
DENIED.

14. Defendant Fariz’s Motion for Reconsideration of
Magistrate Judge’s Order Denying in Part Fariz’s Motion
for Bill of Particulars (Dkt. # 440) is DENIED.

9. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Dismiss Counts 3 and 4 of
the Indictment (Dkt. # 301) is DENIED.

15. Defendant Ballut’s Motion for Reconsideration of
Motion for Bill of Particulars (Dkt. # 441) is DENIED.

10. Defendant Fariz’s Motion to Quash Section (b) of
Paragraph 26 of the Indictment for Failure to State a Legal
Basis for Relief (Dkt. # 302) is GRANTED.

DONE and ORDERED in Tampa, Florida on this 12 day of
March, 2004.

13. Defendant Hammoudeh’s Amended Motion to Dismiss
Count 1 of the Indictment (Dkt. # 330) is DENIED.

JAMES S. MOODY, JR.
11. Defendant Fariz’s Request for Oral Argument on
Defendant’s Pretrial Motions (Dkt. # 303) is DENIED as
moot.
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Disposition: [**1] Government’s motions to detain
Defendants Al-Arian and Hammoudeh granted but denied
as to Defendants Fariz and Ballut.

bombers in order to encourage a policy designed to entice
new human weapons. The case against defendant three and
defendant four was not particularly substantial. However,
the government’s case against defendant one and defendant
two was substantial and convincing. Defendant one and
defendant two hid and obfuscated their PIJ association. But
privately, they vowed their allegiance to the PIJ’s cause and
its brutal path. Neither defendant one nor defendant two
rebutted the presumption by direction of Congress for
dangerousness. Defendant one and defendant two were
serious risks to flee. There was no reasonable condition or
combination of conditions that would assure either defendant
one or defendant two’s presence as required.
Outcome

Core Terms
overt act, conversation, indictment, proffer, conditions,
pretrial, killed, intercepts, bonds, imprisonment, leaders,
government’s case, deportation, conspiracy, convincing,
terrorist, Services, sureties, counts, posted, terror, flee,
designated, searches, bombing, suicide, violent, Travel,
murder, funds

The government’s motions to detain defendant one and
defendant two were granted. The motions to detain defendant
three and defendant four were denied.

LexisNexis® Headnotes
Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Obstruction of Administration
of Justice > Bail Jumping & Failure to Appear > Elements

Case Summary

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Conditions of Release

Procedural Posture

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Burdens of Proof >
Prosecution

Defendant one, two, three, and four were charged with
being members of an international terrorist organization, the
Palestinian Islamic Jihad Shiqaqi Faction (PIJ). The
government moved to detain each of the four defendants
pursuant to 18 U.S.C.S. § 3142(f)(1)(A) and (B).
Overview
While defendants did not plan the attacks, the government
argued they supported them, applauded the PIJ’s tactics,
promoted its activities and organization, raised monies to
fund its terror operations, and gave succor to the families of

HN1 The Bail Reform Act requires a judicial officer to
consider certain factors when deciding if conditions of
release can be set reasonably assuring a defendant’s presence
as required and the safety of any other person and the
community. These are: (1) the nature and circumstances of
the crime charged, and particularly whether the offense is a
crime of violence; (2) the weight of the evidence against the
person; (3) the history and characteristics of the person; and
(4) the nature and seriousness of the danger to any person or
the community that would be posed by the person’s release.
18 U.S.C.S. § 3142(g). The government must show the
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defendant is a serious flight risk by a preponderance of the
evidence and dangerousness by clear and convincing
evidence. 18 U.S.C.S. § 3146(f).
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Dangerousness
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Risk of Flight

HN2 Every defendant has the burden to produce evidence to
suggest that he is either not dangerous or not likely to flee
if turned loose on bail.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Delays in Granting of Bail
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
General Overview
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Conditions of Release
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Speedy
Trial > Constitutional Right

HN3 Although the Bail Reform Act does not list the length
of pretrial delay as a factor a court should consider in
weighing conditions of release, the United States Court of
Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit has recognized that at
some point and under some circumstances, the duration of
pretrial detention becomes unconstitutional.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Speedy
Trial > Constitutional Right

HN5 So long as pretrial detention is administrative rather
than punitive, it is constitutional.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Speedy
Trial > Constitutional Right

HN4 To determine if pretrial detention will become
excessive, courts look to these factors: (1) its length; (2) the
extent of the prosecution’s responsibility for the delay of the
trial; (3) the gravity of the charges; and (4) the strength of
the evidence upon which detention was based.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Conditions of Release
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Dangerousness

HN6 In the context of the Bail Reform Act, the presumption
of dangerousness, or evidentiary finding, militates against
release, thus counterbalancing the absence of a criminal
history.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Dangerousness
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Risk of Flight

HN7 A finding of either danger to the community or risk of
flight will be sufficient to detain the defendant pending trial.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Risk of Flight

HN8 Risk of flight is directly related to the weight of the
evidence. The stronger the government’s case, especially if
the sentence will be severe, the greater a defendant’s
incentive to flee. And the release of any defendant always
depends upon a trust that person will appear when required.
Criminal Law & Procedure > Preliminary Proceedings > Bail >
Risk of Flight

HN9 A longer pretrial detention is more justifiable for a
defendant found to be dangerous than for a defendant who
presents only a risk of flight. This is because the former
risks injury to other persons and the community, while the
release of the latter ordinarily risks only the loss of his
conviction and imprisonment.
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For SAMI AMIN AL-ARIAN, defendant: Franklyn
Louderback, Louderback and Helinger, St. Petersburg, FL.
For SAMEEH HAMMOUDEH, defendant: Daniel Mario
Hernandez, Law Office of Daniel M. Hernandez, Tampa,
FL.
For GHASSAN ZAYED BALLUT, defendant: Bruce G.
Howie, Piper, Ludin, Howie & Werner, P.A., St. Petersburg,
FL.
For HATIM NAJI FARIZ, defendant: Donald E. Horrox,
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Opinion
[*1346] ORDER

The government has moved to detain each Defendant
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3142(f)(1)(A) and (B). After a
detention hearing, and having considered the factors outlined
in 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g), the government’s motions to detain
Defendants Al-Arian and Hammoudeh are [**2] granted but
denied as to Defendants Fariz and Ballut.

-Claudio, 806 F.2d 334, 339 (2d Cir. 1986)). 1 In this case
the pretrial delay will be more than a year, perhaps two.
Added to this is the length of the anticipated trial -- six
months to a year. HN4 To determine [**4] if pretrial
detention will become excessive, courts look to these
factors: (1) its length, (2) the extent of the prosecution’s
responsibility for the delay of the trial, (3) the gravity of the
charges, and (4) the strength of the evidence upon which
detention was based. United States v. El-Hage, 213 F.3d 74,
79 (2d Cir. 2000).
II.

I.
HN1 [*1347] The Bail Reform Act requires a judicial
officer to consider certain factors when deciding if conditions
of release can be set reasonably assuring a defendant’s
presence as required and the safety of any other person and
the community. These are: (1) the nature and circumstances
of the crime charged, and particularly whether the offense is
a crime of violence; (2) the weight of the evidence against
the person; (3) the history and characteristics of the person;
and (4) the nature and seriousness of the danger to any
person or the community that would be posed by the
person’s release. See 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g). The government
must show the defendant is a serious flight risk by a
preponderance of the evidence and dangerousness by clear
and convincing evidence. See 18 U.S.C. § 3146(f); United
States v. King, 849 F.2d 485, 489 (11th Cir. 1988). In this
case, because all the Defendants are charged with conspiracy
to kill, maim, or injure persons in a foreign country (18
U.S.C. § 956(a)(1); count 2), a rebuttable presumption
exists that each [**3] Defendant is a flight risk and a danger
to the community. See 18 U.S.C § 3142(e). Thus, each
Defendant carries the burden of production to come forward
with evidence to rebut these presumptions. In other words,
HN2 every Defendant has the burden to produce evidence
″to suggest that he … [is] either not dangerous or not likely
to flee if turned loose on bail.″ United States v. Quartermaine, 913 F.2d 910, 916 (11th Cir. 1990) (quoting United
States v. Hurtado, 779 F.2d 1467, 1479 (11th Cir. 1985)).
HN3 Although the Bail Reform Act does not list the length
of pretrial delay as a factor a court should consider in
weighing conditions of release, the Eleventh Circuit has
recognized, accepting the Second Circuit’s reasoning, that
″at some point and under some circumstances, the duration
of pretrial detention becomes unconstitutional.″ Quartermaine, 913 F.2d at 917 (quoting United States v. Gonzalez

A. Perspective
All the Defendants are charged with being members of an
international terrorist organization, the Palestinian Islamic
Jihad Shiqaqi Faction (PIJ). Comprehending the seriousness
of the offenses leveled against these Defendants requires
perspective. In the overwhelming majority of cases
prosecuted in federal court, the charged offense impacts no
more than a few victims. For some cases, like serious drug
crimes or organized criminal rings, the breadth [**5] of the
affected might extend to a neighborhood or the local
community. And almost always, the prospect of economic
gain drives the conduct. This case is different. The breadth
of the affected here extends to nations and world regions.
Moreover, a zealous commitment to a violent philosophy
fuels the actors. Appreciating the magnitude of the
accusations requires examining the PIJ’s structure, the
Defendants’ positions within the organization, and their
claimed interaction with one [*1348] another against the
backdrop of the events occurring in the Mid-East during
critical dates.
B. The government’s proffer
The PIJ considers itself the ″vanguard of the Islamic
Revolutionary Movement.″ (Court’s ex. 3). Its creed is
blunt, violent, and uncompromising. The PIJ rejects any
peaceful solution to the Palestinian question. It advocates
the destruction of Israel, the elimination of Western influence,
particularly from the United States, in the region, and the
creation of an Islamist state. And it aims to achieve all this
through terror -- the senseless, brutal murder of innocents in
public places designed to instill fear, instability, and panic in
the populace and the government of Israel. The PIJ [**6]
killed over a hundred in Israel and the occupied territories
during the period referenced in the indictment. It maimed

1

HN5 So long as pretrial detention is administrative rather than punitive, it is constitutional. See United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S.
739, 746-51, 95 L. Ed. 2d 697, 107 S. Ct. 2095 (1987).
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many more. The roll call of dead and wounded included
Americans.
The ″Secretary General″ and a ten-member ″Shura Council,″
or managing board of directors, run the PIJ. Fathi Shiqaqi
acted as the PIJ’s Secretary General from its beginning until
his assassination in October 1995. Defendants Al-Arian,
Muhammed Tasir Hassan Al-Khatib (Al-Arian’s
brother-in-law), Abd Al Aziz Awda, Ramadan Abdullah
Shallah, and Bashir Musa Mohammed Nafi served on the
Shura. The PIJ operates cells worldwide. For example,
Al-Arian, according to the government, acted as the PIJ’s
leader in North America and operated the Tampa cell that
included Defendants Shallah (for a time), Hammoudeh,
Fariz, and Mazen Al-Najjar (Unindicted Co-Conspirator
Twelve and Al-Arian’s brother-in-law). Defendants Ballut
and Fariz, until he recently moved to this district, were
alleged members of the PIJ’s Chicago unit. Notably, the PIJ
paid some members, like Hammoudeh and Al-Najjar, though
they were not on the Shura.
Al-Arian, Shallah, Hammoudeh, and Mazen Al-Najjar taught
or attended the University of South Florida [**7] (USF); the
government asserts this was not a coincidence. USF provided
them academic cover and the opportunity to bring PIJ
members and associates into the United States. See doc. 1 at
Ps 16 and 28. From 1986 through the return of the
indictment, Al-Arian served on the engineering faculty. 2
Shallah taught Mid-East studies in the early 1990’s. Al-Najjar
entered USF as a student in 1986 and eventually earned his
Ph.D. in industrial engineering in 1994. Hammoudeh is a
candidate for his Ph.D. in applied anthropology and an
adjunct professor. See Al Najjar v. Ashcroft, 257 F.3d 1262,
1271-1273 (11th Cir. 2001) (outlining Shallah’s and
Al-Najjar’s relationship to USF and the PIJ). 3
[**8] The Tampa cell used other covers besides USF. The
government proffered Al-Arian and other PIJ members
conducted PIJ activity through three fronts, the Islamic
Concern Project, Inc. (ICP), the World and Islam Studies
Enterprise, Inc. (WISE), and the Islamic Academy of
Florida, Inc (IAF). Al-Arian incorporated both ICP,
ostensibly a charitable organization, and WISE, a think tank

for Islamic issues, in the late 1980s and early 1990s.
[*1349] Al-Najjar acted as executive director of ICP and
WISE. WISE also employed Shallah and Hammoudeh. And
both Al-Arian and Hammoudeh are officers of IAF, a
private Muslim school offering classes from kindergarten
through high school. Al-Arian, who founded the school
along with Al-Najjar, was its principal and chairman of the
board; Hammoudeh is the assistant principal and, according
to the government, its treasurer.
From February 1992 through January 22, 1995, the PIJ tried
to derail the peace process through suicide attacks within
Israel and the occupied territories in places named Hula,
Afula, Mirage Junction, Netzarim Junction, and Beit Lid.
See doc. 1, P43(11, 13, 80, 109, 115, and 121). Dozens died.
Over a hundred injured. Despite the carnage, the [**9]
political leaders in the region progressed toward peace. In
September 1993, the Israel-Palestinian Declaration of
Principles (Oslo Accords) was signed. The PLO
acknowledged Israel’s right to exist, and the declaration
accepted United Nations resolutions renouncing terrorism.
In October 1994, the Nobel Committee awarded Israel’s
Prime Minister, Yitzhak Rabin, and the Palestinian’s
chairman, Yasser Arafat, its Peace Prize as a consequence of
the Oslo efforts. That same month, Jordan and Israel signed
a peace treaty. After several wars and decades of instability
in the region, the world could genuinely hope for peace. 4
The PIJ, however, abhorred any peaceful solution. On
January 22, 1995, it sent two of its operatives to Beit [**10]
Lid, Israel for a double suicide attack. The bombers killed
twenty-two as if to emphasize to all the PIJ’s commitment
to its violent, uncompromising creed. The brutality also
portended a pattern of savage attacks. The PIJ trumpeted
these killings, denounced the Clinton administration’s peace
efforts, criticized any Arab government which supported the
peace process, and condemned the Palestinian Authority’s
crackdown on PIJ members. The day after Beit Lid, the
President issued Executive Order No. 12947. Claiming a
national emergency, he declared the PIJ’s ″grave acts of
violence″ threatened to disrupt the peace process and
constituted ″an unusual and extraordinary threat to the

2

Al-Arian’s curriculum vitae states he became an assistant professor at USF in 1986 and an associate professor in the Computer
Science and Engineering Department in 1992 (Al-Arian ex. 9). From 1995 through 1998 he took administrative leave. After the grand
jury indicted Al-Arian, USF terminated his position.

3

This case involves Al Najjar’s and his wife’s challenges to deportation orders. The INS presented evidence during their deportation
proceedings about Al-Najjar’s and Shallah’s involvement with WISE and the PIJ.

4

The government, admittedly, did not detail all the world events as reported here. Nonetheless, this Court takes judicial notice of these
historical facts to give perspective to the seriousness of the charged crimes and particularly those overt acts occurring during the relevant
dates.
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national security, foreign policy, and economy of the United
States.″ The order designated the PIJ, the Abu Nidal
Organization, Hizballah, and Hamas, as ″terrorist
organizations″ and PIJ’s secretary general, Fathi Shiqaqi,
and spiritual leader, Abd Al Aziz Awda, as ″Specially
Designated Terrorists.″ See 60 FR 5079. It also barred all
financial transactions with these groups or individuals. Id.
Sadly, the order had no effect on the carnage, nor on PIJ
member’s efforts to raise funds in the [**11] United States
for the group’s brutal methods. More than two months later,
a suicide bomber in an automobile detonated a bomb beside
a bus in Kfar Darom, Gaza Strip. Eight died, including a
twenty year-old American woman; forty were wounded
including three Americans.
In October 1995, unknown assailants assassinated Fathi
Shiqaqi in Malta. Shallah, who had just departed WISE and
USF in June, quickly and publicly pronounced himself the
new secretary general for the PIJ. He also vowed to
″eradicate″ Israel, avenge the fallen leader’s murder, and
praised Yizhak Rabin’s recent assassination. A month later,
President Clinton added Shallah to the list of ″Specially
Designated Terrorists.″ The Secretary of State, two years
later, listed the PIJ as a [*1350] ″foreign terrorist
organization″ pursuant to the Antiterrorism & Effective
Death Penalty Act of 1996 (8 U.S.C. § 1189) (doc. 1, P 22).
See also Al Najjar, 257 F.3d at 1273. Consequently, it
became illegal for any person within the United States or
subject to its jurisdiction to provide material support to the
PIJ. See 18 U.S.C. § 2339B.
The PIJ continued its campaign of terror: [**12] thirteen
dead and forty wounded in the Dizengoff Center Shopping
Mall on March 4, 1996; twenty injured in a suicide car
bombing in Mahane Yehuda Market in Jerusalem on
November 6, 1998; two more killed at the same market on
November 2, 2000; two murdered and forty-six wounded in

a shooting attack on a bus in the French Hill area of
Jerusalem on November 4, 2001; seventeen killed and
forty-five injured in a bus bombing near Megiddo Junction
on June 3, 2002; fourteen killed and fifty wounded at Karkin
Station on October 20, 2002, in a bus blast; and twelve
killed on November 15, 2002, in Hebron. Throughout all
these events, the government contends the Defendants
remained committed to the PIJ and its violent acts.
III.
A. Applying Section 3142(g)
1. the charged offenses
The indictment covers roughly twenty years in 121 pages
and fifty counts. It accuses the Defendants with committing
various violent crimes, some carrying potential life sentences,
and offenses impacting the due administration of justice and
the application of immigration of laws. These include:
conspiracy to commit racketeering (count one) 5; conspiracy
to murder, maim, or injure persons at places outside [**13]
the United States (count two) 6; conspiracy to provide
material support to designated terrorist organization (count
three) 7; conspiracy to make and receive contributions of
funds, goods, or services to or for the benefit of specially
designated terrorist (count four) 8 [**14] ; thirty-nine Travel
Act violations (counts five through forty-four) 9; attempt to
procure citizenship or naturalization unlawfully (count
forty-five) 10; false statement in an immigrant application
(count forty-six) 11; and obstruction of justice (count
forty-seven). 12
Admittedly, the government does not contend these
Defendants plotted suicide attacks or recruited PIJ bombers.
The [*1351] PIJ presumably divides its labor and assigns
various tasks to its members. Thus, [**15] while these

5

See 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d); the potential sentence is life imprisonment. All the Defendants are charged in this count.

6

See 18 U.S.C. § 956(a)(1); the potential sentence is life imprisonment. All the Defendants are charged in this count.

7

See 18 U.S.C. § 2339B; this offense carries up to fifteen years imprisonment. All the Defendants are charged in this count.

8

See 18 U.S.C. § 371; this offense is punishable by up to five years imprisonment. All the Defendants are charged in this count.

9

See 18 U.S.C. § 1952(a)(2)and (3); this offense is punishable by up to twenty years imprisonment. All the Defendants are charged
with Travel Act crimes: Al-Arian in counts 5-9, 11-13, 15, 18-20, 25-32, and 39; Hammoudeh in counts 5-9, 11-13, 15, 33-34, and 39;
Fariz in counts 35-38 and 40-44; and Ballut in counts 19, 36-38, 40-42.
10

See 18 U.S.C. § 1425(b); this offense is punishable by up to ten years imprisonment. Only Al-Arian is charged in this count.

11

See 18 U.S.C. § 1546(a); this offense is punishable by up to twenty-five years imprisonment. Only Hammoudeh is charged in this
count.
12

See 18 U.S.C. § 1505; this offense is punishable by up to five years imprisonment. Of the four Defendants, only Al-Arian is charged
in this count (along with Bashir Musa Mohammed Nafi).
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Defendants did not plan the attacks, the government argues
they supported them, applauded the PIJ’s tactics, promoted
its activities and organization, raised monies to fund its
terror operations, and gave succor to the families of bombers
in order to encourage a policy designed to entice new
human weapons. 13
The nature and circumstances of these violent acts
dramatically weighs against the Defendants. These are not
the heartland violent crimes Congress contemplated in the
Bail Reform Act. This terror rips civilization’s fabric. It
threatens this country’s national security, foreign policy, and
[**16]
economy, a conclusion the national leadership
shares as evidenced by executive orders and State
Department designations. And the PIJ’s actions incite others,
whether
organized
groups
or
self-proclaimed
super-empowered individuals, to use the same condemnable
tactics.
2. weight of the evidence
The indictment details in 255 overt acts the respective
activities of the Defendants during their participation in the
enterprise. These acts, together with the government’s
proffer, show a consistent pattern of activity by some of the
Defendants designed to promote, manage, and fund the PIJ.
And the government obtained most of its evidence against
the Defendants through wiretaps and searches of their
residences or businesses. In fact, the government candidly
admits conducting electronic surveillance pursuant to the
Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act (FISA) on one or
more of the Defendants or unindicted coconspirators from
1993 through December 2002, the last overt act referenced
in the indictment (doc. 1, P 43 (255)). See 50 U.S.C. § 1801
et seq. 14
[**17] a. Sami Amin Al-Arian

The government’s proffer and the lengthy indictment details
Al-Arian’s prominence within the PIJ’s leadership. Born in
Kuwait and having entered the United States in 1975 on a
student visa, he is a trusted, influential organizer, a key
fund-raiser, and thinker to the PIJ. Indeed, PIJ leaders, after
encountering financial difficulties in the mid-1990’s, asked
him to conduct a worldwide audit of PIJ assets (doc. 1, P 43
(43)). As the government reports, the number of pertinent
intercepted telephone calls and faxes involving him or
directed to him are staggering. The searches of the WISE/ICP
offices on November 20, 1995, turned up items that
confirmed the intense role he played within the PIJ: the PIJ
Manifesto (Court’s ex. 3); a computer file revealing the
wills of two PIJ suicide attackers; a communique between
the PIJ and Hamas lamenting the violence between the
groups and vowing future cooperation and civility; a letter
from an unindicted coconspirator identifying Al-Arian and
other Shura members as part of his group and authorizing
Al-Arian’s use of pledged funds irrespective of [*1352] the
donor’s intent. When agents searched Al-Arian’s house that
same day, they [**18] found similar incriminating evidence:
a document entitled ″Charter of the Center of Studies, the
Intelligence and the Information″ which outlines in complex
detail a method for establishing an organization for spreading
an international ″Islamic Movement″ including using
intelligence and security techniques such as ciphers (Court
Exhibit # 2); and a letter Al-Arian wrote to a Kuwaiti
legislator asking he donate to the PIJ because the families of
the bombers in the Beit Lid terror attack needed funds and
the PIJ needed his monetary assistance for future terror
operations. 15
[**19] After the November 20, 1995, searches, Al-Arian,
understandably cautious, limited his phone use, but he still
remained committed to the PIJ. Instead of discussing PIJ
business openly like before, he avoided using his home

13

Agents seized the PIJ’s Manifesto from WISE offices in November 1995. In a section entitled, ″Principles and Thoughts of the
Movement″ [which is the Islamic Revolutionary Movement], the PIJ announces, ″The masses are the tool of the Revolution against the
oppressors [i.e., anyone, group, or nation disagreeing with the PIJ’s goals]. They are the real and strategic dimension.″ See Court’s ex.
3.

14

The Defendants strenuously argue the government’s use of any wiretap secured via FISA taps violates their Fourth Amendment
guarantees. At this juncture, however, this Court is bound to consider the government’s proof, no matter what future constitutional
challenges the Defendants make. United States v. Apker, 964 F.2d 742, 744 (8th Cir. 1992) (wiretap challenged); United States v. Angiulo,
755 F.2d 969, 974 (1st Cir. 1985) (same).
15

Al-Arian dismisses all this. First, he contends the agents found the WISE items in Shallah’s office and computer, a room Al-Arian
proffers Shallah kept locked. Al-Arian also dismisses the significance of the intelligence study found at his home. He proffered the
document, authored by some young students in their late teens or early twenties at a conference, dates back to the early 1980’s and is
insignificant. I find his positions unconvincing. Roughly two-thirds of the racketeering conspiracy’s 256 overt acts predate these
searches. These acts, almost always, track PIJ activity through intercepted calls and faxes. With a few exceptions, Al-Arian is referenced
in all the overt acts up to the search (doc. 1, P 43 (186)). These calls detail his association with the PIJ, Shallah, and other Shura members.
Further, the seized documents found at Al-Arian’s residence are damaging. The study, at least from my reading, bears a broad strategic
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telephone, instructed others to be careful, or used coded
terms to conceal the subjects of conversations (see e.g., doc.
1, P 43 (188, 189, 191, 194, 195, 196, 198, 200, 219, 220,
221)). Throughout the time of the conspiracy, he remained
acutely wired to PIJ events and its bombing campaign. And,
despite the searches of his home and workplaces, the
deportations of Mazen Al-Najjar and Al-Arian’s sister, the
revelations about PIJ activity during those deportation
proceedings, the countless inquiries by the press, and the
investigations by USF, Al-Arian remained steadfast to the
PIJ. He continued to raise PIJ funds (doc. 1, P 43 (194, 197,
200, 201, 203, 205, 207, 220, 221)) and to play a leadership
role within the PIJ (doc. 1, P 43 (227)). 16 [**20] The
government’s case against Al-Arian is both substantial and
convincing. 17
b. Sameeh Hammoudeh
Hammoudeh, who was born in the West Bank, reasonably
argues he arrived in the [*1353] United States months later
than the government says and may have sent some money to
his family or to charity rather than the PIJ as the government
claims. Nevertheless, the weight of the evidence against him
is substantial. A variety of sources and events prove
Hammoudeh’s longstanding association and involvement
with the PIJ. First, several Shura members agreed the PIJ
should pay Hammoudeh $ 1,000 a month for his services, a
strong confirmation for Hammoudeh’s value to the
organization. For example, on January 22, 1994, Defendant
Abd Aziz Awda spoke to Al-Arian about Hammoudeh.
Awda admitted he told Shiqaqi the PIJ should pay

Hammoudeh a salary. Shiqaqi replied he had paid
Hammoudeh and other members of the PIJ cell [**21] a
substantial amount of money in 1993 (doc. 1, P 43 (31)).
This conversation occurred just a month after Hammoudeh
arrived in Tampa from Palestine to study at USF. And the
timing convincingly suggests Hammoudeh provided valuable
services to core PIJ leaders long before he arrived in the
United States. Three months later, in mid-April 1994,
Al-Arian told Nafi that Shiqaqi should compensate
Hammoudeh $ 19,000 in back pay. A week later, Shiqaqi
wired $ 19,984.50 to Hammoudeh’s bank account at First
Union National Bank via a bank in Beirut (doc. 1, P 43 (89,
93)). 18
[**22] Hammoudeh worked with Al-Arian, Shallah and
Al-Najjar at USF and WISE, and with Al-Najjar and
Al-Arian at IAF. The government proffers Hammoudeh is
Al-Arian’s closest confidant in the United States. When
Al-Arian learned Fathi Shiqaqi had been killed in Malta, he
quickly met with Al-Najjar and Hammoudeh to discuss the
matter. His involvement with the PIJ continued throughout
the indictment period, and the government’s evidence
against him is substantial.

c. Hatim Naji Fariz
The government’s case against Fariz, unlike that for Al-Arian
and Hammoudeh, is not substantial. I base this conclusion
after carefully considering the impact of the government’s
recent ″Supplement to the Record.″ See doc. 71. Acting on
information it learned after its initial presentation, the

resemblance to the Manifesto and advocates the use of a university to achieve the Center’s aims. The letter Al-Arian wrote to the Kuwaiti
speaks plainly to Al-Arian’s participation and focus.
16
Overt acts 194, 197, 200, 201, 203, 205, 207, 220, 221 are Al-Arian intercepts or ones about him. All take place between January
27, 1998, and August 8, 2000. In these, the government concludes Al-Arian is raising PIJ funds or involved in PIJ finances given the
speakers’ use of code for money amounts (″shirts,″ ″magazines,″ or ″things″ generally as units for $ 1,000). Al-Arian contends several
of these acts (194, 203, 205, 207, 220, 221) concern his efforts to help his brother-in-law, Mazen Al-Najjar, during pending deportation
proceedings, and he offers an affidavit by Mazen’s father, Abdel Karim S. Al-Najjar (also Al-Arian’s father-in-law) to confirm this. See
Al-Arian ex. 31. But after comparing the affidavit to specific overt acts, I do not find it persuasive. Most of the overt acts do not even
reference Mazen as a topic of conversation. Nor does the affidavit account for the speakers’ need for code terms.
17

To counter the government’s proffer, Al-Arian submitted excerpts from an immigration judge’s decision in the Al-Najjar matter
(Al-Arian ex. 4) and William Reece Smith’s report to USF (Al-Arian ex. 5). The records before these fact-finders did not include the
FISA intercepts.
18

Hammoudeh sent considerable sums of money to the Mid-East from 2000 until the indictment’s return. The government asserts he
sent it to PIJ coffers; Hammoudeh counters with affidavits and documents showing he sent it to charity (″Friends of the Blind″) and to
purchase stock in a Palestinian company (Hammoudeh ex. 1, 8). By Hammoudeh’s accounting, he sent more than $ 32,000 abroad in
less than four years. If true, this amount represented a hefty fraction of his earned income; he made only $ 25,000 a year according to
the government’s proffer, a particularly modest salary given his numerous dependents (a wife and six children). For example, on May
17, 2000, and June 15, 2000, Hammoudeh talked to an overseas relative about sending that person $ 15,000. Three days after the second
call, Hammoudeh complained to Mazen Al-Najjar that IAF’s salary did not even cover his living expenses (doc. 1 P 43 (216-218). And
the degree of Hammoudeh’s generosity seems inconsistent with Al-Arian’s efforts in the mid-1990s to have PIJ pay Hammoudeh back
for services rendered and Hammoudeh’s about poor pay at IAF.
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government quickly and commendably corrected its proffer
against Fariz:
On April 7, 2003, at 12:30 p.m., the Government was
informed that the individual Hatim Naji Fariz spoke
with in the conversation described at Overt Act 253 in
Count I is a PIJ activist other than Abd Aziz Awda.
Accordingly, references to Abd Al Aziz Awda in Overt
Acts 236, 240, and 247 in Count I are suspect.
This change significantly [**23] alters the relevancy and
significance of Fariz’s comments. Further, the remaining
unaffected [*1354] overt acts do not present a clear and
convincing case that Fariz is a danger to others and the
community.
Of the RICO conspiracy’s 256 overt acts, Fariz is identified
in seventeen, all of which are based on FISA intercepts. The
first call occurs in mid-June 1995 (doc. 1, P43 (176)). Then
four years pass. On October 24, 1999, an unidentified
person in Chicago telephones Hammoudeh’s home and says
he has been trying to reach Fariz (doc. 1, P 43 (207)).
Nothing about this conversation is particularly remarkable
or illuminating to the charged offense. From that date until
Fariz’s final intercept in December 2002, the government
identifies Fariz as a speaker in fifteen calls (doc. 1, P 43
(215, 236, 238 - 240, 242, 244 - 247, 249 - 251, 253, 255)).
All of these overt acts except 215 reference intercepts after
May 2002 (by then, Fariz had moved from Chicago to this
district).
Fariz, according to the indictment, speaks with Awda, then
in the Mid-East, two times. On May 26, 2002, Fariz
discusses fund-raising and the amount of money Fariz had
sent Awda the last time (about $ 4,000), compared
fund-raising [**24] in Chicago versus Florida (Floridians
are suspicious about who receives the funds according to
Fariz), and expressed frustration concerning Hamas’s success
in raising money (doc. 1, P43 (236)). By the date of this call,
Awda had been a designated terrorist for seven years (doc.
1, P43 (122)). In their November 10, 2002, conversation
(253), the two again talk about fund-raising with Fariz
cautioning Awda to be wary of informants and to
″compartmentalize″ information. By conversing with Awda
about such matters, the indictment implies Fariz had an
integral relationship with a PIJ leader and Shura member.
The government’s correction changes this conclusion.
The government will now only identify the other speaker in
calls 253 and 236 as a ″PIJ activist.″ Any further description
19

of this person, the extent of the individual’s ties to the PIJ,
and the reasons for the government’s supplement are
classified. Yet, irrespective of these revisions, the government
maintains the substance of the conversations remains the
same. But without Awda as one of the actors, the weight I
attribute to those conversations lessens considerably. In
summary, I have no confidence Fariz is discussing ″PIJ
business″ [**25] as the government claims, especially in
view of the nebulous identification of the ″other person″ in
the intercepts. Now, Fariz’s discussion on May 26, 2002
(overt act 236), can reasonably be interpreted as one about
acquiring donations for legitimate Palestinian charities. The
conversation on November 10, 2002, as corrected, adds
little to Fariz’s purported PIJ involvement. Accordingly, I
will not consider overt acts 236 and 253 nor those portions
of overt acts 240 and 247 (Fariz-Ballut conversations) that
reference Awda.
The remaining portions of 240 and 247 and Fariz’s other
overt acts do not add significantly to the weight of the
government’s case against him. 19 The most troubling are
overt acts 238, 239, part of 247, and 255. The first two
concern conversations Fariz had with Ballut and then with
Al-Arian about the recent Megiddo Junction bombing. The
last one (255) relates to the killings in Hebron. While these
conversations strongly suggest Fariz approved of the PIJ’s
brutal actions, the calls, without more, do not show Fariz
materially supported the PIJ nor do they [*1355]
substantially add to the weight of the government’s evidence.
[**26] Lastly, agents found several items at Fariz’s home
when they arrested him and executed a search warrant: a
picture of him with a PIJ poster in the background, videos
of Shallah speaking on the fifth anniversary of Fathi
Shiqaqi’s death, ″martyr″ videos, a document from the PIJ
instructing members to secure PIJ information and property,
and a list showing cash reserves and property of $ 80,000,
and phone numbers of Awda and Nafi. Aside from the
picture, which the government proffered, the government
did not explain the purported ″PIJ document″ and the list of
cash reserves nor connect their relationship, if any, to this
case.

d. Ghassan Zayed Ballut
Born in the West Bank, Ballut entered the United States in
1985 and became a naturalized citizen in 1992. The
government traces his PIJ association to just before he took
his oath, an ICP event that took place in September 1991 in
Chicago. After Al-Arian introduced Ballut as the ICP’s

Of Fariz’s nine Travel Act counts, four are based on overt acts 236, 240, 247, and 253 (counts 35, 37, 41, and 43, respectively).
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Chicago representative, Ballut addressed the attendees.
According to the government, Ballut said the way to success
was clear, the rifles must be raised in one direction, the chest
of the enemy, and then advised the crowd that the enemy
was in the desert [**27] of Kuwait and that coalition forces
were going to kill their babies in Iraq (a reference to the first
gulf war). Ballut then criticized Israel for deporting Shiqaqi,
who he described as a Muslim thinker and freedom fighter
(doc. 1, P 43 (7)). Aside from Ballut’s militant rhetoric, not
much else, at least as of then, connects him to the PIJ.
Ballut’s contacts with other PIJ members after 1991 are
sporadic. In some calls, Ballut approved of the PIJ’s
bombing campaign. For example, in April 1994, more than
two years after the 1991 ICP conference, he spoke with
Al-Arian. The two discussed dates for Al-Arian’s visit and
an individual (″Raed″) who blew himself up in a joint
Hamas-PIJ venture a week earlier (this refers to the Afula
suicide bombing of a bus where nine died and fifty were
wounded; see doc. 1, P 43 (80, 84, 87)). Ballut stated he
knew about Raed but did not want to discuss it on the phone
(doc. 1, P43 (85)). 20 A year later, May 24, 1995, Al-Arian
asked Ballut to quickly arrange an overseas call so Al-Arian
could speak to Awda’s brother, Suliman, who the Israelis
had arrested and released after seventy-five days. Al-Arian
wanted to know what Suliman said, what questions [**28]
the authorities asked, and what did authorities know
(Transcript at pp. 43-44; doc. 1, P 43 (170)). The bulk of
Ballut’s intercepts occur after Fariz moved to this district
from Chicago, but as noted earlier, the government has
stated two of these are suspect in their references to Awda
(doc. 1, P 43 (240 and 247)). Like its case against Fariz, the
government’s case against Ballut is not particularly
substantial.
3. the history and characteristics of the person
The overwhelming part of the four-day detention hearing
focused on each Defendant’s character, physical and mental
condition (including any history of drug or alcohol abuse),
family and community ties, [**29] employment, criminal
history, and record of court appearance. See 18 U.S.C. §
3142(g)(3)(A). All are prominent leaders [*1356] and
models of civic involvement in their respective communities.
Only Ballut has a prior felony conviction, nonetheless he
has contributed significantly to community-based programs
in the Chicago area. Family members, friends, associates,
and community leaders presented glowing testimonials and

letters about each Defendant’s good character and high
reputation. Al-Arian’s record of civic achievement, both on
the local level and national stage, is particularly outstanding.
All the Defendants are well-educated. Al-Arian holds a
Ph.D. in computer engineering; Hammoudeh is a candidate
for his Ph.D. in applied anthropology; and both Ballut and
Fariz are college-educated. All publicly preach and practice
the ideals of good citizenship, tolerance, morality, and
devotion to their religious faith. Echoing Al-Arian’s lawyer’s
comments about Al-Arian, but which seemingly apply to all
the Defendants, their public achievements embody the
proud history of our nation’s immigrants living the American
dream and contributing to our national mosaic.
Yet, specifically [**30] as to Al-Arian and Hammoudeh, I
must reconcile their public discourse for peace and tolerance
against their intercepted dialogues promoting PIJ violence
aimed at ″cleansing″ Palestine. Both Defendants are
essentially asking me to ignore the government’s convincing
and substantial offer of proof laying open their secrets and,
instead, witness their glowing personal achievements. This
dichotomy, a private life versus a public one, however,
reveals much about their character and the tenacity of their
commitment to a pattern of deception for achieving the
PIJ’s goals.
At every turn, Al-Arian or Hammoudeh hid and obfuscated
their PIJ association. Al-Arian, when attempting to procure
his citizenship in late 1993 through late 1994, claimed he
had never, at any time, anywhere, ever ordered, incited,
assisted or otherwise participated in the persecution of any
person because of race, religion, national origin, or political
opinion (doc. 1, count 45). On March 16, 2000, Hammoudeh
declared under penalty of perjury he had never been
associated with or assisted an organization that engaged in
any form of terrorism (doc. 1, count 46). From late August
through October 2000, Al-Arian, during deportation [**31]
proceedings involving his brother-in-law (Al-Najjar), stated
he did not support freedom for Islam though violence and
caused statements to be made that Al-Najjar and others were
not PIJ members (doc. 1, count 47). Throughout all the USF
investigations, the media inquiries, and the likely probing
questions by friends and professional associates, Al-Arian
and Hammoudeh remained true to the party line - they

20

About this time, Ballut was facing aggravated arson charges involving the burning of his business. The details regarding Ballut and
Al-Arian’s business relationship are unclear, but the government proffered Al-Arian declared a loss from the fire. Ballut was convicted
of the aggravated arson, received probation, and completed his sentence early.
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repudiated any PIJ association. But privately, they vowed
their allegiance to the PIJ’s cause and its brutal path. 21
[**32] 4. dangerousness

Besides the nature of the charged offense, courts look to the
defendant’s prior criminal record, or lack thereof, to gauge
his potential risk for criminal conduct while on release. The
reason for this is recidivists generally present a danger to the
community. None of these Defendants is a recidivist in the
classic sense. Nonetheless, each Defendant is presumed by
direction of Congress to be a danger to [*1357] the
community regardless of any prior record. See 18 U.S.C. §
3142(e) (count 2 charges a violation of 18 U.S.C. §
956(a)(1), a predicate crime triggering presumption for
dangerousness and flight risk). That HN6 presumption, or
evidentiary finding, ″militates against release,″ thus
counterbalancing the absence of a criminal history. Quartermaine, 913 F.2d at 916 (″[the presumption] remains in
the case as an evidentiary finding militating against release,
to be weighed along with the other factors listed in
3142(g)″).
Because the government’s case against Al-Arian and
Hammoudeh is substantial and convincing, I find neither
has rebutted the presumption for dangerousness. First, both
have allegedly [**33] participated in PIJ activities for more
than a decade. For example, the government claims
Al-Arian’s association dates back to the late 1980s and
Hammoudeh’s began in the early 1990s. For more than ten
years these two repeatedly committed acts supporting the
PIJ. And importantly, these two tenaciously remained loyal
to the PIJ throughout years of public focus into the
organization and its members (i.e., Al-Arian, Shallah, Awda,
Nafi, and Al-Najjar).
Viewed from this altered perspective, namely, accounting
for uncharged criminal conduct, Al-Arian and Hammoudeh
fit the classic recidivist model. These two, based on the
government’s strong presentation, repeatedly assisted,
promoted, or managed the PIJ, an organization which

indiscriminately murders to achieve its goals. And both did
this for years regardless of the risks, risks apparent to all
from the court of public discourse. I find the government
has shown by clear and convincing evidence Al-Arian and
Hammoudeh pose a danger to the community, and I cannot
fashion any conditions that will reasonably conform their
behavior. 22
As to Fariz and Ballut, however, the evidence
against them is not substantial for the reasons set out. Each,
I find, has rebutted the presumption. Unlike Al-Arian and
Hammoudeh, the evidence of their strong commitment and
participation in PIJ affairs is not as apparent. On the basis of
the government’s proffer, even factoring the presumption as
a militating fact against release, I conclude I can set
conditions that will reasonably assure the safety of any other
person and the community.
[**34]

5. flight risk
Ballut and Fariz are United States citizens. Al-Arian and
Hammoudeh are legal residents who have been in the
United States for long periods (Al-Arian entered the United
States in 1975; Hammoudeh arrived in late 1992). Yet, both
Al-Arian and Hammoudeh are in jeopardy of removal as
evidenced by the detainers lodged with the United States
Marshal by the Bureau of Immigration and Customs
Enforcement (formerly known as the Immigration and
Naturalization Service). While each Defendant has some
family living in the Mid-East, every Defendant has
substantial familial and economic ties to the United States
and, with the exception of Ballut whose home is in Chicago,
to this district. 23 [**35] Moreover, lines of family and
friends are willing to risk their savings [*1358] believing
their loved one will appear when required. Drawing on this
support, every Defendant presented impressive proposals
for conditions of release using a combination of property
bonds, personal sureties, and other special conditions:

21

This Court is convinced Al-Arian and Hammoudeh, and probably Fariz and Ballut, equate support for the PIJ with support for the
Palestinian dream of an autonomous state. The two are not the same. The First Amendment will always protect those who advocate for
the latter. Here, the indictment’s focus is not protected speech but murder and attempted murder. See generally, Virginia v. Black, 155
L. Ed. 2d 535, 123 S. Ct. 1536, 2003 U.S. LEXIS 2715, U.S. , 2003 WL 1791218 (2003) (Virginia’s ban on cross burning with intent
to intimidate did not violate the First Amendment).
22

This finding of dangerousness is enough to detain Al-Arian and Hammoudeh. Nonetheless, because the parties may appeal this order,
I address each Defendant’s risk of flight. See King, supra, 849 F.2d at 488 HN7 (a finding of either danger to the community or risk
of flight will be sufficient to detain the defendant pending trial).
23

For example, Al-Arian reports his mother and four siblings live in Cairo. Hammoudeh’s parents and some of his siblings reside in
Ramallah. Ballut’s mother and some of his siblings are in the West Bank. Fariz has a sister living in Jordan.
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Al-Arian pledged approximately $ 3,280,000 24 [**36] ;
Hammoudeh submitted about $ 1,025,000 25; Fariz offered
about $ 1,787,000 26; and Ballut tendered approximately $
860,000. 27 Armed with such support, each Defendant’s
argument rings essentially the same. No Defendant would
jeopardize the wealth of their families and friends. And,
while the government highlights every Defendant’s familial
ties to the Mid-East and emphasizes the grave penalties each
Defendant faces, all the Defendants argue the United States
is their home and no one will flee.
Weighing competing concerns, particularly in light of the
sizable bail packages each Defendant proposes, is difficult.
Three factors guide my analysis. First, by law each
Defendant is presumed to be a flight risk. 18 U.S.C. §
3142(e). Next, HN8 risk of flight is directly related to the
weight of the evidence. The stronger the government’s case,
especially if the sentence will be severe, the greater a
defendant’s incentive to flee. 28 And the release of any
defendant always depends upon [**37] a trust that person
will appear when required.
a. Al-Arian and Hammoudeh
I find Al-Arian and Hammoudeh are serious risks to flee.
Each, irrespective of the attractive life he has made in the
United States, is willing to risk all for the PIJ’s vision of
Palestine. [**38] Ever since November 1995, when agents
searched WISE and Al-Arian’s residence, they knew the
government suspected one or both. Yet, despite intense
scrutiny by the government and the media, each still
supported the PIJ. This assumption of the risks, this
willingness to lose all for the PIJ’s goals, is telling. It means
each valued the PIJ more than family or lifestyle. Each
mentally accepted the prospect his family could be devastated
emotionally and financially by his exposure. 29 Finally, the

aura of the PIJ’s vision of Palestine captivated [*1359]
Al-Arian and Hammoudeh more than the successful life
each had made in the United States. In a very real sense,
both see Palestine as their home. This makes each’s decision
to flee easier because the place he would be fleeing to
means more than the place he would be leaving. Because
Al-Arian and Hammoudeh have been prepared and willing
to risk all, and may believe eventual deportation is a reality,
I find by a preponderance of the evidence that I cannot
reasonably set any condition or combination of conditions
that will assure either Defendant’s presence as required. In
making this decision I have considered their pretrial
incarceration could extend [**39] to two years with an
anticipated trial length of six months to a year. Applying
El-Hage’s factors, I do not find the lengthy pretrial detention
envisioned for these Defendants will violate their
constitutional guarantees. The delay approximates El-Hage’s
pretrial delay, thirty to thirty-three months. Further, the
government has not caused the delay, the charges are grave,
and, as outlined above, the strength of the government’s
case against them is substantial.
B. Fariz and Ballut
I find Fariz and Ballut have rebutted the presumption each
is a flight risk. The incentive to flee, particularly given the
quality of the government’s evidence against them, is not as
strong as to outweigh the substantial conditions of release
each proposes. Both have strong ties keeping them here
(Fariz has a wife and two children; Ballut and his wife have
four children) and impressive support from family, and
friends willing to act as [**40] personal sureties. Further,
the potential length of pretrial incarceration under these
circumstances is difficult to justify. However, because I
view the government’s case against Fariz stronger than for

24

Seven individuals, including Al-Arian and his wife, and the Islamic Academy are willing to pledge property with an estimated equity
totaling $ 1,727,000. Forty-one persons are prepared to sign signature bonds in various amounts totaling $ 1,551,500.
25
Five persons, including Hammoudeh, and the Islamic Academy have agreed to post property with an equity approximating $
898,000. Three individuals have stated they are willing to sign surety bonds totaling $ 125,000.
26

Six sureties are prepared to post property and assets valued at over $ 787,000. Ten members of Fariz’s family have also offered to
sign signature bonds totaling $ 1,000,000.
27
Ballut’s proposed property bonds approximate an almost $ 600,000 from three sources including the Chicago Islamic Center and
signature bonds by four family members adding up to $ 270,000.
28

An added aspect here is the length of the anticipated pretrial incarceration, perhaps as much as two years with a trial then lasting
another year. The government bases its proof for dangerousness on the allegations in the indictment. For Fariz and Ballut, that proof is
not substantial. A lengthy pretrial incarceration solely based on risk of flight might not be justifiable. See El-Hage, supra, 213 F.3d at
80 HN9 (″A longer pretrial detention is more justifiable for a defendant found to be dangerous than for a defendant who presents only
a risk of flight. This is because the former risks injury to other persons and the community, while the release of the latter ordinarily risks
only the loss of his conviction and imprisonment.″)
29

Al-Arian is married with five children. Hammoudeh is married with six children.
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Ballut, I find it appropriate to treat Fariz differently in
setting his conditions of release.

b. The posting of $ 500,000 in personal surety bonds by
responsible sureties.

IV.

c. The Defendant is also to sign a personal appearance
bond (unsecured) in the amount of $ 100,000.

I find by clear and convincing evidence Defendants Al-Arian
and Hammoudeh are dangers to others and the community
and by a preponderance of the evidence each is a serious
risk to flee. Furthermore, I conclude I cannot set any
condition or combination of conditions for these Defendants
that will reasonably assure their appearances and the safety
of the community. Finally, as to Defendants Fariz and
Ballut, I find the conditions of release set below will
reasonably assure each’s appearance and the safety of the
community. Accordingly, it is
ORDERED:
1. Defendants Al-Arian and Hammoudeh are to be detained
pending trial and are committed to the custody of the
Attorney General for confinement in a correction facility
separate, to the extent practicable; from persons awaiting or
serving sentences or being held in custody pending appeal;
2. Both Defendants Al-Arian and Hammoudeh are to [**41]
be afforded reasonable opportunity for private consultation
with counsel;
3. On order of a court of the United States or on request of
an attorney for the Government, the person in charge of the
corrections facility in which either Defendants Al Arian or
Hammoudeh is confined shall deliver that Defendant to a
United States Marshal for the purpose of an appearance in
connection with a court proceeding.
4. As to Defendant Fariz, the following conditions are set
for his release. If he satisfies these conditions, a separate
order for his release will be issued. Moreover, this Court
will consider any other conditions the government proposes.
a. The posting of $ 500,000 in cash or property or any
combination of the two. Any property posted as
collateral [*1360] is to be accompanied by an agreement
to forfeit property that includes evidence of ownership.
Moreover, if property bonds are posted, the Defendant
must supply some proof of the equity value of that
property.

d. Supervision by Pretrial Services [**42] and reporting
to that agency as directed and when directed.
e. The Defendant is to refrain from any fund-raising
unless specifically authorized by Pretrial Services.
f. The Defendant is to maintain verifiable employment.
g. Travel is restricted to the Middle District of Florida.
h. The Defendant is to surrender any passport or travel
documents he possesses.
5. As to Defendant Ballut, the following conditions are set
for his release. If he satisfies these conditions, a separate
order for his release will be issued. Moreover, this Court
will consider any other conditions the government proposes.
a. The posting of $ 250,000 in cash or property or any
combination of the two. Any property posted as
collateral is to be accompanied by an agreement to
forfeit property that includes evidence of ownership.
Moreover, if property bonds are posted, the Defendant
must supply some proof of the equity value of that
property. 30
b. The posting of $ 270,000 in personal surety bonds by
responsible sureties.
c. The Defendant is also to sign a personal appearance
bond (unsecured) in the amount of $ 100,000.
d. Supervision by Pretrial Services and reporting [**43]
to that agency as directed and when directed.
e. The Defendant is to refrain from any fund-raising
unless specifically authorized by Pretrial Services.
f. The Defendant is to maintain verifiable employment.
g. Travel is restricted to the Middle District of Florida.
31

h. The Defendant is to surrender any passport or travel
documents he possesses.
DONE and ORDERED, at Tampa, Florida, on April 10,
2003.

30

This Court, for the reasons stated by the government in doc. 53, will not accept as collateral the property belonging to the Chicago
Islamic Center.
31

Ballut indicated at the detention hearing he would be willing to reside in this district. If he is unable to meet this demand, he must
make application to the Court.
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UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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On August 21, 2001, Fresno County Sheriff’s personnel
responding to a possible burglary in the Dunlap area came
under fire from appellant Ramadan Abdur-Rauf Abdullah.
Deputy Erik Telen was killed by a shotgun blast to the face.
In this appeal from his ensuing conviction on multiple
charges, appellant does not dispute that he fired the fatal
shot, but instead challenges certain of the trial court’s
rulings with respect to the admission of evidence concerning
appellant’s mental state at the time. For the reasons that
follow, we will affirm.
PROCEDURAL HISTORY
Count 1 of the second amended information charged
appellant with murder of a peace officer engaged in the
performance of his duties, in the commission of which
appellant personally [*2] used a firearm, and personally and
intentionally discharged a firearm, proximately causing
death. (Pen. Code, 1 §§ 187, subd. (a), 190, subd. (c)(4),
12022.53, subd. (d).) Peace-officer-killing, lying-in-wait,
and burglary-felony-murder special circumstances were also
alleged. (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(7), (15) & (17).) Counts 2-4
charged appellant with assault with a firearm on a peace
officer, in the commission of which appellant used, and
personally and intentionally discharged, a firearm. (§§ 245,
subd. (d)(1), 12022.5, subd. (a), 12022.53, subd. (c).)
Appellant pleaded not guilty and not guilty by reason of
insanity (NGI). The People sought the death penalty.
A doubt was declared as to appellant’s competency (§ 1368)
and criminal proceedings were suspended on April 12,
2004. 2 Appellant subsequently was found incompetent and
committed to the state hospital. On January 13, 2005,

1

All statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise stated.

2

Criminal proceedings were also suspended and reinstated in 2002, prior to the preliminary hearing.
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following certification that he was competent, criminal
proceedings were reinstated. On August 11, 2005, criminal
proceedings were again suspended pursuant to section 1368.
On August 25, 2005, appellant was found to be competent
and criminal [*3] proceedings were reinstated.
Jury trial began on September 5, 2006. During jury selection,
a doubt was declared as to appellant’s competency and
proceedings were suspended pending psychiatric evaluation.
On September 26, appellant was found incompetent to stand
trial and the panel of prospective jurors was discharged. On
July 13, 2007, following certification that he was competent,
criminal proceedings were reinstated.
Jury trial began anew on March 3, 2008. On April 29, the
jury announced that it was deadlocked with respect to guilt
on all counts due to ″fundamental differences in the belief
regarding the ’state of mind.’″ A mistrial was declared.
On September 10, 2008, the parties entered into an agreement
whereby appellant withdrew his NGI plea; the People
withdrew their request for the death penalty; both sides
waived their right to a jury trial; and the matter was
submitted to Judge Nunez, who presided over the earlier
jury trial, on the transcript of that trial. On September 19,
the court found appellant guilty on all charges, and found all
special circumstances and allegations to [*4] be true.
Appellant’s motion to strike the special circumstance
findings was denied, and he was sentenced to life in prison
without the possibility of parole plus 25 years to life plus 43
years 4 months. He filed a timely notice of appeal.
FACTS
I

was locked, as were most of the windows. The window
leading to the room in which a piano and desk were located
was left cracked for ventilation, but it had a screen on it.
Robert Champlin and his wife, Rachel, lived east of the
Gregorys, between Old Oak and Dunlap Roads. On Tuesday,
August 21, they left about 9:00 a.m. and returned about 4:00
p.m. After [*5] putting the car in the garage, Champlin went
to feed his cats. When the cats would not approach food
placed on a platform by the tree house out back, Champlin
figured there was an animal in the tree house. He banged on
it with a stick, and something moved. Appellant then came
out of the tree house. He had to have been crouching or
lying down, or Champlin would have seen him.
Appellant, who was holding his side, said he was hurt and
asked if Champlin could help him. When Champlin asked
what was wrong with him, appellant said he was just hurt.
He said he needed to use the bathroom, and Champlin told
him to go over around the bushes. Appellant said he would
like something to eat, and Champlin said he would get
something, but that appellant should go over by the gate to
the driveway. Appellant then asked Champlin for a ride to
the bus station. Champlin refused. Champlin told him to go
to the gate and Champlin would talk to him there. Champlin
pointed toward the gate. During this conversation, appellant
kept walking closer to Champlin. He did not appear fearful.
When appellant kept getting closer, Champlin ran into the
house and locked the door. Frightened, he grabbed a loaded
pistol from [*6] the bedroom. When he came into the living
room holding his revolver, he saw appellant walk past the
window toward the front door. Mrs. Champlin heard
someone trying to open the front door. Champlin yelled at
appellant to go to the gate and that he would talk to him
there.

PEOPLE’S CASE-IN-CHIEF
On August 21, 2001, Robert Gregory and his wife resided
near Old Oak and East Kings Canyon Roads in Dunlap.
Their daughter, Kathleen Reed, lived on adjoining property.
Gregory had a number of firearms in the house. His
12-gauge shotgun was kept unloaded in a gun safe in the
middle bedroom. Also kept in the safe was a .357 magnum
six-shot revolver. Ammunition for the guns was kept in and
on top of the gun safe.
Gregory and his wife left home about 10:00 a.m. Their
Mitsubishi was left parked on the southeast side of the
residence, and the gun safe was left unlocked. The house
3

Through the window, Champlin saw appellant go down Old
Oak Road in the opposite direction from Highway 180.
Appellant left Champlin’s view for a few minutes, then
returned and went over the gate or the fence to the
Gregorys’ property. Mrs. Champlin then telephoned the
sheriff’s department. They arrived within 10 or 15 minutes.
3

Deputies Stalker and Telen, who were working a fire in the
area, responded. After talking to the Champlins, they
walked up the Gregorys’ driveway to the house, which was
around a quarter of a mile from the gate. When they neared
the house, they were able to see that the screen on one

According to the dispatch log, appellant was reported climbing a fence onto the Gregorys’ property at 5:12 p.m.
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window was bent down. Believing someone had climbed in
through the window, they walked around the entire house to
see if anything else looked suspicious. They were able to
gain access to what appeared [*7] to be a covered porch that
had been converted into an office, but the door from that
room into the main residence was locked. At that point, they
decided to check the rest of the property and the neighbor’s
property. They requested assistance from the helicopter unit,
and Forest Service Agent Launer and Deputy Robnett also
arrived to assist.
Because of the vehicle parked in the driveway, Stalker and
Telen did not know if anybody was home, and felt they
could not just walk away from the situation. Stalker decided
to return to the Champlins to see if they could provide any
information about who owned the house and who might
have a key. Kathleen Reed was contacted; she knew where
there was a spare key, and met Stalker at the Champlins’
house. She and Stalker then proceeded up the driveway to
the Gregory residence. As they neared the house, Stalker
called Reed’s attention to a screen that had been pulled back
from a window. She told him it was not normally that way,
then retrieved a house key from the patio and gave it to him.
The deputies unlocked the door to the kitchen. Stalker
opened the door and loudly stated their identity more than
once. There was no response. He and Telen then entered
[*8] the kitchen with their guns drawn. They moved slowly
through the narrow room, then stopped in front of the
entryway, where they could see there were rooms to the
right. Stalker took up a position next to the stove, and Telen
signaled that he was going to move ahead. Telen, who was
crouched down, moved slowly around the corner. He had
taken one or two steps when Stalker heard a loud bang.
Something flew into Stalker’s face, and it took him a couple
of seconds to realize he had heard a gunshot and been hit by
debris from the wall. He did not know what had happened
to Telen, and started yelling at him to get out as he himself
exited the house. Robnett joined him right outside the door,
and Stalker put out a radio transmission of shots fired. At
that point, he turned around, but Telen was not there. Stalker
went back to the entryway and saw him lying on the ground,
not moving. Stalker yelled at him, but there was no
response. Stalker did not know where the shot had come
from or where the suspect was. He and Robnett then each
fired a cover shot over Telen to keep the suspect from
getting near him. Robnett wanted to go in and get Telen, but
Stalker could see a large amount of blood flowing [*9] from
Telen’s head and knew he was dead. He instructed Robnett

to stay and cover Telen, then Stalker moved to the north
corner of the house to make sure that side of the house was
covered. He remained in that location until the helicopter
arrived.
Sergeant Rascon and Deputy Lail were assigned to the
sheriff’s department helicopter that day, and headed to the
Dunlap area in response to a call of a suspicious person in
the vicinity. They were in radio contact with Stalker and
Telen. Once in the area, they flew at an altitude of 500 to
700 feet. Their engine was loud enough that it could be
heard by someone on the ground. They searched the area for
10 to 20 minutes, then left to refuel at the Fresno Air
Terminal. During the refueling process, Rascon heard
Stalker’s radio broadcast of shots fired and an officer down.
4
He and Lail immediately headed back to the location and
arrived in about 15 minutes. Because they were the first
ones to arrive other than Stalker, Robnett, and Launer, they
flew low over the house and Rascon started directing
responding units to the location. After about three or four
minutes, Lail landed the helicopter 75 to 100 yards from the
house.
Sheriff’s Lieutenant Hollis arrived on scene at approximately
7:14 p.m. Stalker had taken up a position to try to prevent an
escape from the house. Rascon and Lail were approaching
the home in order to extricate Telen. They made their way
to the open back (kitchen) door, where Robnett was kneeling.
They could see Telen lying facedown, with his head at the
far end of the room. Rascon announced their identity and
told whoever was inside to come out. There was no
response. Rascon then announced that they were coming in
for their man. Again, there was no response or any sound of
movement. Lail then crawled inside the kitchen and Rascon
entered behind him, with Robnett covering them.
Lail grabbed Telen’s shoulders, while Rascon grabbed his
leg. As they started to pull, Rascon heard noise behind the
wall that separated the kitchen from the room beyond, then
a pop that he recognized as the discharge of a firearm,
probably a handgun. He saw something come off the wall,
and he and Lail began firing at the wall. Telen’s body began
to move [*11] as Robnett grabbed hold and pulled, and they
were able to drag Telen, who was bleeding, to the back
porch area. Rascon then fired inside again, to cover Lail
while he came out.
Hollis and a number of other deputies had arrived along a
fence line when he heard multiple gunshots coming from

4

According to the dispatch [*10] log, the helicopter reported being on scene at 5:55 p.m. and leaving to refuel at 6:13 p.m. The report
of shots fired and an officer down was made at 6:48 p.m.
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inside the house. At approximately 7:16 p.m., Rascon
advised Hollis by radio that he and Lail had successfully
gotten Telen out of the kitchen area and had taken cover
behind the Mitsubishi. By this time, other deputies were
present, and Rascon instructed those with shotguns to fire
on particular windows in the house as he and a California
Highway Patrol (CHP) officer moved Telen down the
driveway to a waiting patrol car. Rascon did not notice any
gunfire coming from within the residence at this time.
Rascon and the CHP officer met up with Hollis and other
deputies about 40 yards down the driveway. Hollis heard at
least one shot fired from inside the house, and deputies laid
down a covering fire and shot into the house. They were
able to get Telen down a hill and into a patrol car, and
officers drove him to medical aid waiting on the main road.
Despite their efforts, Telen died from perforations of
[*12] the brain due to shotgun injuries to the head. Most of
the shotgun wounds were to the right side of his face and
forehead. While most of the pellets directly struck his face,
there was evidence that some may have gone through a wall
or other intermediate target.
Stalker and some of the others in position around the house
were individually evacuated to less vulnerable positions.
During the first two extractions, there was more gunfire
from inside the house. Hollis believed he heard two different
types of weapons being fired inside the residence, and that
one was a handgun. He could not tell in which direction the
gunfire was going. He did not clearly see any bullets come
out of the house, nor did he become aware of any striking
near him or his deputies. Hollis heard no additional gunshots
from the home during the remaining extractions.
SWAT teams set up a perimeter around the house. About
9:30 p.m., Sergeant Morgan, the SWAT supervisor, started
hearing movement inside the house. About 10:00 p.m., he
heard glass breaking, and surmised a window was being
broken. For the next two and a half hours or so, Morgan
continued to hear intermittent noise inside the house,
including movement and [*13] more glass breaking.
Shortly after midnight on August 22, SWAT members heard
a noise from inside the house. Deputy Rivera heard a subject
say hello. It sounded like the voice was coming from deep
inside the residence. Deputy Severson heard a voice say
something like, ″Can you hear me?″ At that point, Rivera
announced who they were and ordered the person to come
out with his hands in the air. The person said he was coming
out. Appellant finally exited the residence and was taken in
to custody at 12:30 a.m. As he was being taken in to
custody, he complied with every order he was given. When

SWAT team members asked if there were any other people
in the house or if appellant had any guns or weapons,
appellant said there was nobody else in the house and that
he did not have anything. When asked if he was injured,
appellant said no, but that he was sick. He did not explain
what he meant.
The SWAT team entered the house to clear it. Telen’s
service pistol was in the kitchen. It had not been fired. There
was a gun safe in the northeast bedroom. The box springs
and mattress from the bed in that room were standing on
their sides on edge, and offered concealment from anyone
outside the window. [*14] A number of firearms and an
assortment of ammunition were found on the floor and
elsewhere in the room. Also on the floor was a large knife.
A steel, freestanding wood stove stood in one corner of the
living room. It offered good protective cover and a good
view of anyone entering the residence. A 12-gauge pump
shotgun, two expended shotgun casings (one of which was
the double-aught buckshot magnum round that killed Telen),
and a live double-aught buckshot round were found on the
ground on the west side of the stove. A box for, and
unexpended rounds of, .357-caliber ammunition were found
in the area of the stove, as were five expended .357 casings.
A .357 revolver bearing appellant’s fingerprint was found
on the floor of a closet in the living room. It was determined
that, in addition to the two shotgun rounds, appellant fired at
least six rounds from the .357 from the corner behind the
wood stove, and nine rounds from the .357 altogether. As
the revolver, which was found with the hammer pulled back,
held six rounds total and three live rounds were chambered,
it could not have fired all nine rounds without being
reloaded. Appellant’s shoes were found in front of the stove.
A blanket [*15] and a pillow were found near the center of
the living room. Open food and drink items were found in
various locations in the house. As far as Robert Gregory
could tell, no valuables were missing. The spare key to the
Mitsubishi was still hanging in its usual spot on the wall
near the kitchen entryway.
Detectives Toscano and Amador began to interview appellant
and process him for evidence at the command post around
1:00 a.m. Appellant gave his name, birth date and age, and
an address in Binghamton, New York, complete with zip
code. He was quiet and followed orders. He was a little
hesitant when asked to remove his pants and underwear in
the presence of a female crime scene technician, and he
commented that it was against his religion, but he complied
with the request. When asked if he had relatives nearby, he
mentioned a cousin in Culver City, then later gave a sister’s
name. He said he was unemployed, but used to work for a
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company in Michigan. He was able to give the company’s
name and address. When asked if he was sick or taking
medication, appellant said he was, but for an unknown
illness. He gave his doctor’s name as Al Sheikh Sayeed
Nubarkali Jilani, and said he was in Pakistan. [*16] During
the approximately 30 minutes Toscano was with appellant,
appellant made no bizarre statements and said nothing about
delusions, and seemed to understand and be responsive to
the questions.
At the conclusion of the processing, appellant was
transported to University Medical Center to have blood
drawn, and then to sheriff’s headquarters for an interview.
While at the hospital, appellant complied with all requests
and did not make any unusual statements. Appellant’s blood
tested positive for both the active component of marijuana
(THC) and its inactive metabolite. The fact THC was
present indicated usage within roughly the previous six
hours, plus or minus two hours, if the marijuana was
smoked. If it was eaten, ingestion could have been earlier.
Marijuana is not a stimulant and tends to have a calming
effect. With the quantity involved in this case, hallucinations
would not be expected, at least in a person who was not
mentally ill.

did not really know what type of treatment, but he had to
take medication. When asked what kind, he said that he had
to [*18] listen to the audio tapes the doctor ordered. He only
took the verses from Holy Quran, along with chapters for
praises asking for blessings on the descendents of the
Prophet. He also had to take the water that went along with
the tapes.
Appellant said he was last at the university on Monday,
August 20. He did not know what he did on August 21. He
left the university compound Monday morning by himself
and walked down the hill. He did not know where he spent
Monday night. He did not have any guns with him. He did
not know where he got the guns. He did not answer when
asked if he disliked police officers or if he had had problems
with them before. He denied being antigovernment and said
he did not want to take people’s lives, but did not answer
when asked why he would kill a police officer or whether he
knew it was a police officer. Appellant later said again that
he felt sick, and that it hurt when he did not have his
medicine. When asked why it hurt him, he responded that he
had bad dreams, and that he last took his medication the
night before [*19] he left the university.
II

The interview at sheriff’s headquarters began shortly after
3:00 a.m. 5 In the interview, appellant was asked if he knew
why he was there. He said no, that something happened.
After a number of questions that appellant did not answer,
appellant said [*17] he did not know what happened. 6 He
did not remember stopping by a house and asking for food.
When asked what he remembered, he said he did not know,
and that all he knew was that he was sick. When asked what
he was sick from, he said he did not know. He said he was
under a doctor’s care, but did not know for what. Appellant
did not know where the doctor -- Jilani -- was, but his book
was from Pakistan. Appellant had not met him in person.
Appellant said he had a cousin from ″Colouver,″ and also
had family members at the university in Miramonte. They
were related by faith. The university was the International
Quranic Open University, where appellant had been staying,
but he did not know for how long or the telephone number.
Appellant did not know why he shot at the officers. He was
not mad. He did not answer when asked why he broke into
the house. Appellant related that he had not been working
since he began receiving his treatment, which was about the
second week in July. He was receiving Quranic psychiatry
or Quranic therapy, from the Open Quranic University. He

DEFENSE’S CASE
Appellant was born to Mahdi and Yasmeen Abdullah in
Brooklyn, New York, in 1981. Appellant’s father and
paternal grandfather were both law enforcement officers.
Appellant’s father occasionally took appellant hunting and
taught him firearm safety.
Appellant’s father followed the Islamic religion. He
explained that a sheikh is a learned individual whose
responsibilities include being a spiritual leader. Islamberg is
a New York community of people practicing the Muslim
faith together. Sheikh Jilani, a direct descendant of the
Prophet, is the owner and spiritual leader of Islamberg.
There were retreats at Islamberg, in which men or women
from different parts of the United States would come to
study religion. In late June or early July 2001, appellant’s
father received a telephone call, telling him that something
had happened at the retreat and that he needed to get there
as quickly as possible. When he arrived, he was told that
appellant was saying he was Jesus, the son of Mary.

5

A videotape of the interview was played for the jury.

6

There were a number of times when appellant simply remained silent when asked something.
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Appellant’s father found appellant standing in a field with
his hands over his stomach. When appellant’s father asked
what was going on, appellant replied that he was Isa ibn
[*20] Mariyam, which means Jesus, the son of Mary, in
Arabic. Appellant said he was in charge and that everybody
had to listen to him and had to stop playing. He said it was
time for them to prepare themselves for the last days.
When appellant’s father was unable to convince appellant
that what appellant said was not going to happen, they went
to see the elder of the property, Kahlifa Jamil. Kahlifa Jamil
asked appellant what was going on; when appellant insisted
that he was Isa ibn Mariyam, Kahlifa Jamil asked who was
sitting next to him, referring to appellant’s father. Appellant
replied that it was Ramadan’s father. Appellant’s father had
never seen appellant in such a state before. He thought
appellant was possessed by some type of spirit or djin, and
that appellant’s problem was more spiritual than physical. 7
Kahlifa Jamil told appellant’s father to take appellant home.
Appellant’s father asked if there was any kind of Quranic
therapy that could be done. 8 Another elder, Kahlifa Khalid,
gave appellant’s father a clear pitcher [*21] of water over
which several of the Kahlifas had prayed, the Dalla Karat (a
cassette tape of prayers and verses from the Quran), and set
of headphones. He said appellant had to drink from the
water and wash his face with it, and should listen to the tape
several times a day for about 45 minutes at a time, and that
no one could use the headset other than appellant.
Appellant’s father took appellant back to the Binghamton
apartment in which appellant lived with his sister, Hamidah.
On the way, appellant asked what was wrong with him and
why he was feeling so weird. Once back in the apartment,
appellant was different. He would stick his spoon into his
food, but then just stop for a long period of time. Once he
put the food in his mouth, he would wait. Or, he would be
walking from one room to the next and would just stop and
stand there. Appellant’s father would call appellant’s name,

but it was like appellant was not even there. 9 [*22] After a
few days, appellant began to get better, although he was not
his usual self.
Appellant obtained permission from Kahlifa Khalid to
return to Islamberg. He took the bus there a day or two
before his birthday, which was July 9. Seemingly almost the
next day, his father got another telephone call that there was
a problem. Upon arrival, he found appellant lying on the
floor in a room in the community center. Appellant’s
clothing was damp, and he looked as though he had been
crying. He was limp and exhausted. When appellant’s father
put his arms around him, appellant began to weep.
Appellant’s father took him first to the house of appellant’s
older sister, then to the father’s house. While in the car on
the way, appellant lay against the door, sobbing. When
Haqiah, appellant’s sister, tried to talk to him, appellant was
unresponsive. 10 That evening, appellant was able to say
prayers with his father, [*23] although appellant was still
not right. Appellant’s stepmother suggested taking appellant
to the crisis center, where appellant could be evaluated by
mental health professionals in a safe environment.
Appellant’s father wanted to give the Quranic therapy a
chance.
Sometime after returning from Islamberg the second time,
appellant got into an argument with his stepbrother over
what to watch on television. Appellant’s father sent them
both to bed. When he awoke early the next morning,
appellant was gone. After several days, appellant telephoned
his father and said he was in Fresno, having taken the bus.
He said he was sick and had to get some help and to get his
Quranic therapy, and that there was a Quranic doctor there.
Appellant’s father contacted Islamberg; [*24] the people
there said they would call the people in California to get
appellant at the bus station. Appellant’s father subsequently
received another call, this one from Uthman Aziz, saying
that appellant was there and they would try the therapy

7

Appellant’s father explained that djins are beings that exist but cannot be seen. In the Islamic view, there are human and nonhuman
djins, and good and bad djins.

8

Quranic therapy is the application of verses from the Quran, and prayers that have been brought down through the years from different
saints, in order to heal spiritual issues.

9

Once, Hamidah asked appellant what was going on. Appellant kept repeating that he was just hearing and obeying. He had a blank
stare. When Hamidah asked what he was doing, he responded that after morning prayers, he had been walking with one of his friends
and his friend just disappeared.

10

Around this same general time period, appellant would visit Haqiah’s house and sometimes cover up her television or remove her
picture magnets from the refrigerator, and tell her it was so spirits would not jump out of the things. On one occasion when he and Haqiah
were at the mall, appellant did not want to touch some lady’s hand, because he said she had bad spirits with her and if he touched her,
her spirits would jump into him.
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there. 11 They asked appellant’s father to give it 30 days,
and he agreed. He telephoned periodically to see how
everything was going. Sometime after August 17, he learned
appellant had been arrested.
Appellant’s father recalled several occasions on which
appellant stated that he had hallucinations and was hearing
and seeing things. These occurred over quite a period of
time, before appellant was ever in jail. Appellant would
actively hallucinate in front of his father.
Deborah Tas first met appellant sometime around May
2000, when both worked for TeleSpectrum. [*25] As quality
manager, she monitored his work and had regular contact
with him. Her impression of him was that he was ″a fine
young man″ and ″an overall good guy.″ In addition to a
working relationship, she considered him a friend.
In around fall of 2000, Tas started noticing changes in
appellant’s behavior. Instead of being neat and organized,
appellant’s clothing and paperwork were disheveled. He did
not seem to be the same person he had been earlier. He was
doing things that did not make sense, showing up late to
work, having some outbursts, and offending coworkers by
some of the things he was saying. On one occasion, when
the power went out, Tas said, ″’Oh, lord Jesus.’″ Appellant
responded, not jokingly, ″’Yes, you called.’″ Appellant also
started referring to TeleSpectrum as a modern-day Sodom
and Gomorrah, as one employee was supposed to be a
Wiccan minister and there were also gay employees.
Appellant said he destroyed Sodom and Gomorrah once and
could do it again. In addition, appellant became socially
withdrawn. This coincided with him having personal hygiene
issues. He complained to Tas about women becoming
pregnant without being married, employees using crude
language, and [*26] women wearing revealing clothing. He
would say the women were putting out an odor and trying to
tempt him. He was very offended when TeleSpectrum
decided to allow employees to wear a costume to work for
Halloween of 2000. He told Tas it was wrong to celebrate an
evil holiday. On one occasion, she observed him having a
conversation with himself.
In his performance review of June 8, 2001, appellant
received a ″meets expectations″ in each category. On June
29, however, he resigned. He stated that it was for religious

reasons, in that there were ″’too many witches, warlocks,
and homosexuals’″ working there.
Beginning in January 2001, Cecilia Salazar, a nurse, was
part of the Jail Assessment Team (JAT). The team performed
mental health assessments for inmates at the jail who were
suicidal, homicidal, or had some other type of disturbing
behavior. After appellant’s arrest, Salazar saw him regularly,
as he was usually housed next to the JAT’s office. Other
times, he was housed in a camera cell, where he could be
watched 24 hours a day for suicide attempts. If he did make
a suicidal gesture, he was then moved to the safety cell.
On September 3, 2001, appellant told Salazar that he needed
his [*27] therapy from ″Sheikh the Sultan.″ He also said that
he ran from his people and thought people were coming
after him with guns. He thought it was the FBI, so he broke
into someone’s house and shot a police officer. Appellant
said he was chronically ill and needed to get some help. He
said he was molested when he was seven years old and was
looking at the Internet, and that that was when he started
thinking people were after him. He said he was not the
Messiah, but maybe he was, and that he knew Salazar could
read his thoughts. He was crying when he spoke to Salazar
about shooting the officer. On September 8, he did not
respond to questions and seemed internally preoccupied.
This can be a sign someone is having delusions. On
September 18, he was chanting Islamic songs. He was
smiling and said he knew what was going to happen, but he
would not explain. He told Salazar that he was a mental
patient and would tell the courts so they would not give him
the lethal injection. On October 6, 7, and 15, he was in the
safety cell.
Dr. Charles Scott was Chief of Psychiatry and the Law at the
University of California, Davis, and board certified in
forensic psychiatry and other areas in the field. [*28] He had
specialized training in diagnosing mental illnesses such as
schizophrenia, as well as expertise in diagnosing a person’s
mental state at the time of an offense. He also had
specialized experience in the assessment of malingering,
which is the intentional exaggeration or feigning of
psychiatric symptoms. 12
Scott explained that a psychotic disorder means the person
loses touch with reality and starts to believe in things that

11

Aziz, who had known appellant since the late 1990’s, was staying at Baladullah at the time. When he encountered appellant at the
bus station, appellant had ″like a shadow on his face,″ like he had a lot on his mind. He was not as talkative as in the past, and did not
seem normal. During appellant’s time at Baladullah, he was very standoffish, did not seem happy, and was ″just somewhere else.″
12

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV), which is the psychiatric diagnostic manual, discusses malingering
and lists several areas in which it should be considered. One is when a person is involved in, and being charged with, a crime.
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are not true. The things may be triggered by the environment,
but take on a meaning far greater than what reality proves to
be true. One symptom of a psychotic disorder is a delusion.
A delusion is a fixed false belief. There are different types
of delusions. With paranoid delusions, the person is very
suspicious and fearful, and starts to perceive an environment
in a hypervigilant, nervous state. With grandiose beliefs, the
person may think he or she is Jesus or God or the Pope. A
person may also experience [*29] distortion of the reality of
the world around him or her; for instance, by hearing things
that are not there. This is an example of an auditory
hallucination. Other forms of psychosis may be more subtle.
For instance, there may be negative symptoms of psychosis
or negative symptoms of schizophrenia, where the person
becomes almost mute, barely speaking or barely responsive
to the environment, because of the thoughts he or she may
be experiencing. The person’s thinking may get very slowed
or very jumbled.

said that when he arrived at the bus station, he called back
to New York. He said that while he was in the camp in New
York -- presumably Islamberg -- they gave him a number to
the Muslim compound at the top of the mountain, and he
recalled them calling Baladullah. [*31] Later, he told Scott
that he tried to leave, but they would not let him, and
someone left his car running, so appellant drove it down the
mountain. He had several complaints about Baladullah; he
did not feel he had enough to eat, they woke him at sunrise,
the plumbing was bad and the shower was outside, and there
were ″heavy Freud overtones″ at the camp. Scott had no
idea whether any, or how much, of what appellant related
was true.

During the examination, appellant was cooperative in the
sense that he was pleasant to Scott. In terms of obtaining a
psychiatric history, however, it was hard to focus appellant
on the topic, because [*30] he was so disorganized and
psychotic. He had multiple delusions of different types
throughout the interview. 13 When Scott would attempt to
refocus him, appellant could return to the subject
momentarily, but then would start rambling again about
unconnected information. Scott did not see him as being
voluntarily uncooperative; appellant was trying to tell a
story, but his story was disorganized, psychotic, and
rambling.

Appellant told Scott that once he was in the house in which
he was arrested, he walked around, grabbed water and
pretzels, and sat behind the wood-burning stove. He said he
was not sure how long it was before people would come
after him, and he grabbed the shotgun in the house and the
police showed up. He also talked about the elderly man and
the tree house, and how the man told him to leave his
property. This was property appellant thought he had been
in, in 1998, when he had been drinking Sprite and eating a
Snickers bar. Appellant said he remembered that when he
got to the house where he was arrested, he tried to lock the
door. He looked around and grabbed a knife from a wooden
block. He thought the house was his own house, and he did
not have his keys [*32] on him, so he locked the door when
he got in the window. He said he knew ″’they’″ would come
in the back door, so he built a house so he would be
protected. Although he did not specifically say whether
″’they’″ were the people purportedly chasing him from
Baladullah or the police, he said that when he was 15, he
read his father’s handbook about SWAT teams, and that they
come in the back door. Appellant said that when he went
behind the wood-burning stove, he went to take cover, but
he said he did that because an elderly man told him ″’[s]hirts
on Germany’″ and he wanted to lock up his guns from
Nebraska. Appellant’s hearing a voice saying ″’[s]hirts on
Germany’″ indicated the presence of an auditory
hallucination.

With respect to the present offense, appellant said the tapes
would show that people were chasing him down the
mountain and he was hanging off the side of the mountain,
and that they could see he was not mad at the police.
Appellant was able to relate that when he came from New
York to the bus station in Visalia or Fresno, he was carrying
a backpack that contained a portable sun shower and shoes
that are worn in the water, as well as a flashlight. He also

Appellant said that after he obtained a gun, he shot so they
could know where he was. He thought he was doing
something called gun talk. He said the person was wearing
a police uniform and appellant thought it was a police
officer. Appellant said the officer did not hear him when
appellant was banging the gun to get attention. Appellant
said that when he did the gun talk, he shot away from him,
then he heard a gun go off. It was appellant’s belief that he

Scott was asked to conduct a psychiatric evaluation of
appellant, and also to evaluate his mental state at the time of
the offense. He had over 100 sources of information,
including police reports, interviews with family members,
and mental health and jail records. In addition, he interviewed
appellant for seven and a half hours on January 5, 2008. A
forensic examination often takes this long, plus it is harder
for someone to malinger in a lengthy examination than it is
in a shorter one.

13

Scott detailed many of these delusions for the jury.
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may not have fired [*33] the shot that killed the officer.
Appellant recalled that after he opened the house door, they
told him to get on the ground. He remembered hoping they
would not shoot him. He figured they would shoot him,
because ″they″ shot the officer.
Appellant did not volunteer much to Scott about his
family’s psychiatric history. However, collateral records
indicated that a cousin or other family members might have
schizophrenia, and that there might be some other severe
mental illness in the family. There is an increased incidence
of mental illness in family members, particularly with
schizophrenia, if there is a family history of that illness.
When Scott performed a mini mental status examination on
appellant, appellant’s score indicated he had some
impairment, but not enough for Scott to believe he had a
separate brain disorder or some sort of cognitivelike
dementia.
Scott considered all of the records between the time of
appellant’s arrest and Scott’s evaluation of him, and looked
very carefully at the 30-day period following the arrest,
including the tape of appellant’s postarrest interrogation and
the jail records. Initially in the jail records were notations of
observations, such as that [*34] appellant was guarded or
had a flat affect, that were consistent with negative symptoms
of schizophrenia. Within a couple of weeks, appellant was
reporting auditory and visual hallucinations of people chasing
him. He was also exhibiting other signs of schizophrenia,
such as a belief other people could read his thoughts.
In reviewing the various materials, Scott saw evidence that
appellant experienced delusions both before and shortly
after the offense. Prior to the offense, appellant claimed on
several occasions to be Jesus, son of Mary. The fact this was
noted by multiple people over time and in different locations
indicated to Scott that it was a persistent belief. After the
offense, there was a jail note dated September 13, 2001, in
which appellant talked about a curse that was placed on him
at TeleSpectrum, and that he believed his collarbone and
head were shrinking and he was fearful he would die as a
result. This was consistent with a delusional belief.
Based on his interview of appellant and his review of all of
the records, and in conjunction with the criteria set out in the
DSM, Scott’s Axis I diagnosis of appellant was
schizophrenia, undifferentiated type. 14 Schizophrenia
[*35] is one of the severest forms of mental illness. It

significantly impairs a person’s ability to interpret reality -to accurately perceive what is going on around him or her.
With schizophrenia, the person loses touch with reality.
Psychosis is a cardinal symptom of schizophrenia. The
illness can affect thought, speech, behavior, and attention. In
Scott’s opinion, appellant ″more than met, from the evidence
leading up to and around the time of the crime, the diagnosis
of schizophrenia.″
Based on his review of all the records that were available
and his interview with appellant, Scott formed the opinion
that appellant met the criteria for schizophrenia,
undifferentiated type, on the day of the offense. Appellant
had psychotic symptoms noted before the offense,
specifically, delusions about being Jesus. He also had a
sufficient duration of symptoms leading up to the offense to
meet that
[*36] particular diagnostic criterion for
schizophrenia. It was Scott’s ″strong opinion″ that appellant
was not feigning his mental illness. Instead, the evidence
was ″overwhelming″ that appellant met the criteria for
schizophrenia. Scott did not believe appellant’s beliefs were
caused by cannabis-induced intoxication from his marijuana
use, as opposed to schizophrenia, because appellant’s
symptoms existed before the positive blood test, and they
also existed in hospital and jail settings and during Scott’s
interview with him, years later and independent of marijuana
use. Scott did not believe appellant met the criteria for an
Axis II diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder, because,
while appellant may have had some antisocial traits, his
behaviors were not really antisocial acts, but instead were
related to his mental illness.
In trying to assess what happened on the day of the
shooting, Scott relied more on the evidence before, during,
and shortly after the crime than on what appellant told him
years later. An individual suffering from schizophrenia,
particularly with paranoid symptoms, may try to take
protective steps out of fear for his or her safety. When a
paranoid psychotic believes [*37] his or her perceived
persecutor is here or he or she is in harm’s way, that person
may flee and try to avoid. There was evidence in this case
of fleeing, both in the context of leaving New York and in
leaving Baladullah. The person may take other protective
steps, such as barricading him- or herself in a room. A
barricade can be created by taking mattresses off the bed
and putting them up against the wall, and closing the
windows and locking the doors. The more paranoid and
fearful the person is, the more he or she will ready him- or

14

″Undifferentiated″ meant appellant did not merely have one basic type of delusion, as would, for example, a paranoid schizophrenic,
whose prominent symptom is paranoia. Instead, appellant had other kinds of disorganized speech and behavior, and multiple other types
of delusions, in addition to paranoia.
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herself with weapons, sometimes in an overnecessary kind
of state.
Because a schizophrenic’s mental illness is misperceiving
the environment, such a person may incorporate his or her
environment and give significance and meaning to things
that other individuals would not. For instance, a paranoid
person who was fleeing and believed people were out to
harm him or her, and who randomly came upon a house and
then heard a helicopter or a police force closing in, might
have increased fear and be in a paranoid, psychotic, panicky
kind of state. The majority of research shows that when a
person is in an active phase of schizophrenia, he or she has
an increased [*38] risk of violence.
In Scott’s opinion, appellant was suffering from a major
mental illness on August 21, 2001, specifically
schizophrenia, undifferentiated type, characterized by
symptoms of paranoia, fear, and disorganized thinking.
Delusional thinking was part of that opinion. While Scott
believed appellant met the criteria for schizophrenia of six
months’ duration, it did not matter whether the duration
might be slightly shorter so that the diagnosis would be
schizophreniform. Both involve psychotic illness. Moreover,
schizophreniform can be considered, in the acute sense
when it first starts, as carrying a higher risk for violence
than schizophrenia.
III
PEOPLE’S REBUTTAL
Dr. Kris Mohandie had a Ph.D. in clinical psychology.
Although he had his own consulting business at the time of
trial, he was employed in the Los Angeles Police
Department’s Behavioral Science Unit from 1989 to 2003,
during the course of which he was a consultant to the SWAT
Crisis Negotiation Team. In that role, he came in contact
with people who had an array of mental problems, including
those who were acutely delusional because of schizophrenia.
In connection with this case, Mohandie reviewed a
substantial amount [*39] of material, including witness
statements, reports of the officers who took appellant into
custody, and interviews. Mohandie also viewed the videotape
of the interview of appellant following his arrest. Mohandie
saw no indication appellant was responding to auditory or
visual hallucinations. There was no evidence he was
experiencing paranoia in terms of how he was acting, or in

terms of statements that people were out to get him or that
he had to protect himself. Generally speaking, he was
responsive to the questions that were asked of him, although
not as responsive to specific questions about the events that
had just occurred. Mohandie’s assessment was that appellant
was making decisions about what to talk about and what not
to talk about. Appellant’s affect was somewhat flat and
muted, but there was no pressured speech as will sometimes
be seen with people who are very impaired, and appellant
was still observant of his religious practices. 15 Mohandie
saw nothing in the tape or any of the reports made
immediately after the arrest, to lead him to believe appellant
was actively delusional or experiencing any sort of
hallucinations at that time.
Mohandie met with appellant on three separate occasions in
August 2006. Mohandie likes to see people across time, to
see if the presentation is consistent. Appellant’s was. Prior
to these meetings, Mohandie reviewed various materials,
including jail records and reports of other professionals who
had evaluated appellant. Appellant was ″absolutely
psychotic″ when Mohandie met with him. Even so, he
showed some awareness of his actions on the date of August
21, including that he knew the people were sheriff’s
deputies or police officers, and that he recognized hearing
police radios. When he first saw Deputy Telen, he recognized
him as wearing a police uniform. Appellant also related that,
before surrendering, he put the guns down, because he knew
that if he did not have the guns, he would not be shot at.
Mohandie conceded it was possible that, from being asked
questions and having conversations with his attorneys and
others over the years, appellant could have constructed
some aspects of his recollection.
Mohandie’s Axis I diagnosis of appellant [*41] was
schizophrenia, undifferentiated type. His Axis II diagnosis
was personality disorder, not otherwise specified, meaning
appellant had a mixed personality of narcissistic and
antisocial features. The diagnosis of schizophrenia,
undifferentiated type, was how Mohandie assessed appellant
as of 2006, when the evaluation was completed. The
diagnosis of personality disorder was the diagnosis that
Mohandie made going back to the events of 2001 and that
he felt still applied. Mohandie’s opinion with respect to
appellant’s mental condition on August 21, 2001, was that
appellant had schizophreniform disorder, without good
prognostic indicators; his Axis II diagnosis was personality
disorder, not otherwise specified, with narcissistic and
antisocial features. Schizophreniform displays many of the

15

At the conclusion of the interview, [*40] some sandwiches and fruit were brought over from the jail for appellant. Appellant ate
the fruit, but not the sandwiches. He said they were not kosher.
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same symptoms as schizophrenia, but the person has not had
it for sufficiently long to qualify for a diagnosis of
schizophrenia, and may not have the full level of impairment
that a person with full-blown schizophrenia would. Someone
suffering from schizophreniform may have delusional
thinking that comes and goes. Mohandie believed that was
what happened with appellant. When the person becomes
sicker, [*42] the delusion becomes more fixed and focused.
In looking at whether appellant possessed a mental state that
would allow him to premeditate and deliberate on the date
of the incident, Mohandie believed it would be important to
determine whether he was actively delusional or involved in
any hallucinations at the time of the incident. That, of itself,
would not be enough; one would also need to look at
whether there was a nexus between any delusions and what
actually occurred. Mohandie was aware appellant had, on
more than one occasion prior to the incident but not
consistently, had active delusional thinking in terms of the
Jesus, son of Mary comments. With respect to a nexus,
however, Mohandie saw no evidence of any type of
delusional sort of belief that, for example, appellant was
doing something altruistic, on August 21 and 22.
Schizophrenia becomes worse over time, particularly in the
beginning, when it may progress from transitory delusions
and negative symptoms such as a flat affect, to active
symptomology of delusions and hallucinations.
Schizophrenia can also exist in different levels or degrees. If
appellant had been significantly impaired due to a full-blown
schizophrenic condition [*43] on August 21 and 22,
Mohandie would have expected to have seen evidence of it
during the police interview and also during the incident
itself. He did not. There was no behavior such as appellant
shooting at things that were not there or looking for
protection when he surrendered. If a person is impaired
enough to be responding to delusions or hallucinations in a
homicidal manner, he or she is not going to be subtly
impaired. If appellant had been floridly psychotic in the
time period immediately surrounding the incident, there
would have been documentation of it, because it would have
been obvious to the people who were around him. Instead,
documentation of active symptoms began in late August and
early September, when, Mohandie believed, appellant’s
blossoming illness was moving out of the prodromal phase
and reaching its full-blown stage.
A command hallucination is an auditory hallucination in
which voices tell a person to do something. 16 In Mohandie’s
16

review of the record, he saw no evidence appellant was
suffering from command hallucinations, or delusions with a
violent thought content, at or immediately around the date
of the shooting. Moreover, Mohandie found an absence of
evidence [*44] of paranoia, terror, or panic. He considered
that the shooting itself might be evidence of paranoia, but
did not see it that way. The shots that were fired were in
response to real-world stimuli and were goal-directed in that
sense.
If a person armed himself, erected barricades, loaded
firearms with appropriate ammunition, took up a position of
cover and concealment, and then fired at a time when a
target was there, even if there were a command hallucination
or delusion, Mohandie would find the behavior strongly
indicative of a person who was very much aware of what he
was doing and who was engaging in goal-directed,
purposeful behavior. In his opinion, ″It is effective
problem-solving as it relates to committing a homicidal
act.″ Mohandie had seen people who were delusional, yet
quite methodical and purposeful. A person can be delusional
and yet fully know what he or she is doing and the
implications of his or her actions. In short, purposeful,
goal-directed behavior and delusional thinking are not
mutually exclusive.
DISCUSSION
I
Appellant contends the trial court erred [*45] by precluding
Dr. Scott from opining or implying that appellant experienced
delusions on the day of the shooting. Our reading of the trial
court’s ultimate ruling differs from that of appellant, and we
conclude there was no error.
A. Background
The issue of the scope of expert psychological testimony
was first raised during jury selection. Mr. Jones, one of
appellant’s attorneys, 17 stated that he anticipated the
defense expert would testify it was likely, at the time of the
shooting, that appellant suffered from delusions, was
delusional, and was not able to premeditate and deliberate
the offense. Relying on cases construing sections 28 and 29,
the prosecutor argued that evidence of mental illness could
be introduced when relevant to whether a defendant actually
formed a mental state that was an element of a charged

This does not mean the person does it; some research suggests many people actually resist what they are being told.

17

Appellant was represented by Mr. Jones and Mr. Lambe. At times, we will simply refer to defense counsel without specifying which
attorney.

Jennifer Breedon

Page 12 of 20
2010 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 4920, *45
offense, but that an expert could not offer an opinion on
whether a defendant had the mental capacity to form a
specific mental state or actually harbored such a mental
state. The prosecutor conceded that an expert could explain
to the jury, in general terms, the common symptoms of
schizophrenia and what might be expected from a
schizophrenic person in certain circumstances, [*46] as well
as the phenomenon of delusional thinking that occurs in
people who are schizophrenic, but that offering an opinion
as to whether appellant was delusional on the date of the
incident was precluded by the statutes. The trial court
agreed, stating that experts could testify to the ″general
outlines″ of a mental illness, but could not give an opinion
that on the date of a certain offense, for example, the
defendant was hallucinating.
The court also agreed with the prosecutor’s argument that
details going to the ultimate issue of fact, i.e., whether
appellant had the requisite intent or was delusional, were
precluded by the statutes, stating, ″That’s for the trier of
fact.″ Lambe argued that whether appellant was hallucinating
or delusional was not the ultimate fact; instead, the ultimate
fact was whether he acted with deliberation and
premeditation. The prosecutor reiterated his position that the
defense could offer psychological evidence regarding
appellant being schizophrenic and the delusional aspects of
that illness, and that in the expert’s [*47] opinion he was
fully psychotic and subject to suffering delusions and
hallucinations at the time of the shooting, but that the expert
was precluded by statute from opining, based on statements
appellant made later on, that he was in fact suffering from
hallucinations or delusions on the date of the incident. When
Jones suggested he would tell the jury in opening statement
that the circumstances were consistent with someone being
delusional, the prosecutor stated he had no objection.
The issue arose again during the defense’s direct examination
of Cecilia Salazar concerning her notations of her interactions
with appellant while she was a nurse at the jail. Defense
counsel argued that appellant’s mental state went to the
heart of the prosecution’s first degree murder accusations,
and that the expert would be relying on information from
both before and after the shooting as the basis for the
opinion that what happened on August 21, 2001, was
consistent with someone who was delusional at the time.

The prosecutor responded that, in the guilt phase of trial, an
expert could ″testify as to the general symptomology of
schizophrenia and what might be expected of a person who
is schizophrenic [*48] or in the early stages of schizophrenia,
and certainly [he] can use this in forming [his] opinion as to
that diagnosis that he was schizophrenic, the psychiatric
records, the Jail Assessment Team records, all that can be
drawn upon, but pursuant to Penal Code Sections 28 and 29
[he is] not allowed to offer an ultimate conclusion of fact
regarding whether Mr. Abdullah was suffering from some
hallucination…. [P] … [P] Now, [he] cannot offer an
ultimate opinion regarding Mr. Abdullah at that time, but
[he] certainly can offer an opinion regarding [his] diagnosis
and the symptoms associated with that diagnosis.″
Defense counsel argued that CALCRIM No. 627 allowed a
defendant to attack the mental state for first degree murder
on the ground he or she had a mental illness and was
delusional or hallucinating at the time. 18 Counsel asserted
that under the instruction, the defense was entitled to have
an opinion from an expert that at the time of the offense, one
reasonable interpretation was that appellant was delusional;
to give the basis for that opinion; and to present enough
information to support the expert’s opinion. The prosecutor
reiterated that he had no objection to general psychiatric
[*49] evidence regarding the symptoms that might be
expected from a person like appellant, at his stage in the
illness, but argued that the issue of sanity should not be
″morph[ed]″ into the issue of premeditation and deliberation.
During direct examination, defense counsel asked Dr. Scott
whether, in viewing appellant’s history, and at the time of
his interview of appellant, he saw evidence of hallucinations
and/or delusions. Scott discussed the delusions apparent
[*50] during his interview with appellant. He also discussed
evidence he had seen, in reviewing the materials, that
appellant experienced delusions both before and after the
offense.
Scott subsequently testified that, based on his review of all
of the records that were available and his interview with
appellant, he formed the opinion that appellant met the
criteria for schizophrenia, undifferentiated type, on the day
of the offense. In explaining how appellant met the criteria,
Scott discussed the duration of appellant’s symptoms and

18

CALCRIM No. 627 provides: ″A hallucination is a perception not based on objective reality. In other words, a person has a
hallucination when that person believes that he or she is seeing or hearing [or otherwise perceiving] something that is not actually present
or happening. [P] You may consider evidence of hallucinations, if any, in deciding whether the defendant acted with deliberation and
premeditation. [P] The People have the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant acted with deliberation and
premeditation. If the People have not met this burden, you must find the defendant not guilty of first degree murder.″ As ultimately given
in appellant’s jury trial, the instruction was modified to include delusions.
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anticipated the argument that appellant had schizophreniform
disorder and not schizophrenia, because his symptoms had
not yet lasted six months. This ensued:
″A [Dr. Scott] … [T]he issue is, did he have a psychotic
illness on that date, yes. Now that we have his history
over time, has he met the criteria for schizophrenia, yes.
He, in my opinion, met criteria for schizophrenia on
that day. He has plenty of delusions. They have been
several months in duration. Downward functioning -″MR. PETERSON: Objection, Your Honor, move to
strike based on Penal Code sections 28 and 29 at this
point, as to the last statement. [P] … [P] I can tell you
what I’m objecting to, [*51] and that is, delusions on
that date.
″THE COURT: Uh. That part is ordered stricken…. [P]
… [P] Again, I will admonish the jury not to consider
anything that has been stricken by the Court. [P] … [P]
″MR. JONES: Q Dr. Scott, based on your assessment of
the time leading up to August 21st, 2001, all the other
information, evidence you reviewed, … would you say
it is consistent with being delusional?

The defense subsequently asked for a recess so that the issue
involving sections 28 and 29 could be addressed. Outside
the jury’s presence, defense counsel stated that he wanted
″to be able to ask [Scott] an opinion to the effect that based
on what he has considered here on this case, if the conduct
of Mr. Abdullah is consistent with someone who meets the
criteria or was delusional and paranoid. Not that he has a
certain mental state, but that could be one interpretation.″
This ensued:
″MR. JONES: I guess I would like some direction here
as far as what I can and cannot ask…. [S]o far we have
on the record that Mr. Abdullah is schizophrenic and he
was schizophrenic [*53] at the time. We have on the
record that he suffered from paranoid delusions and that
there were circumstances which could create those
paranoid delusions. Is that as far as I can go with Dr.
Scott? Or am I allowed to ask him if, one step further,
if he has an opinion on whether or not that based on
everything he has reviewed and considered, that that is
a reasonable interpretation?
″THE COURT: It is consistent, okay. Mr. Peterson
[prosecutor]?
″MR. JONES: Consistent. Consistent. [P] … [P]

″MR. PETERSON: Same objection.
″THE COURT: Sustained.
″MR. JONES: Q We’ll get back to that.″
Scott subsequently was permitted to describe what he found
significant, from a psychiatric standpoint, in terms of the
scene of the shooting. When defense counsel asked whether,
generally speaking, someone suffering from a paranoid
delusion would be incapable of owning a weapon, finding a
place of safety, or doing something that would require basic
organized thinking, the prosecutor’s objection, based on
sections 28 and 29, was overruled. Defense counsel then
questioned Scott about what he was able to glean from the
interrogation tape concerning appellant’s mental state. In
the course of his answer, Scott stated, ″[Appellant] also
initially is asked, ’Do you know what happened?’ Or, ’Do
you know -- do you [*52] know why you are here?’ And his
first answer is, ’No.’ And that may seem kind of surprising
considering that he -- there has been this hold-out, if you
will, there has been people surrounding him for a couple
hours. He is now in custody…. But if you are psychotic and
you are delusional and you truly believe you are in harm’s
way and you thought this horrible thing is going to happen
--″ The prosecutor’s objection, that the testimony violated
sections 28 and 29, was sustained, and the last portion of the
answer was stricken.

″THE COURT: That was the proposed question. The
proposed question was asking the doctor whether from
everything he has testified to, everything he has
reviewed with the defendant, is that -- phrase it again,
it is consistent with -″MR. JONES: That Mr. Abdullah was suffering from
paranoid delusions. Apparently [People v. Young (1987)
189 Cal.App.3d 891, a case cited by the prosecutor]
would support my position, because I’m not asking Dr.
Scott the premeditated, deliberated. I’m saying did he
suffer, in your opinion, on that date, at the time of the
offense, from paranoid delusions. That is perfectly
acceptable then?
″THE COURT: It seems like it is to me.
″THE PROSECUTOR: Well, I don’t disagree with that.
[*54] I think he has already offered the opinion that Mr.
Abdullah was floridly psychotic, I guess,
undifferentiated schizophrenia on the date in question.
And he has pointed to a lot of things in the record…. It
seems to me that a lot of it has already sort of gone in
this direction. However, I think there should be some
limitation. I mean, I’m not exactly sure what is being
proposed here, but it sounds like it is in violation of
Penal Code section 29, in particular.
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″I mean, certainly, he can offer the hypothetical, or the
-- or he can offer or ask for an opinion regarding his
mental state, or his psychotic state on this date of
August 21, 2001. But to say whether he was capable,
and I’m not sure, consistent with his not being able to
premeditate and deliberate, you know, the course of his
actions on that date, I think is inappropriate.

Back in the jury’s presence, the following took place:
″Q [by Mr. Jones] Dr. Scott, in your opinion, was
Ramadan Abdullah suffering from a major mental
illness on August 21st, 2001?
″A Yes.
″Q And that mental illness was what?

″MR. JONES: Well, that is what I was hoping to ask.
And I’m limited to asking Dr. Scott’s opinion on that
date --

″A Schizophrenia, undifferentiated type, characterized
by symptoms of paranoia, fear, and disorganized
thinking.

″THE COURT: Consistent.

″Q And is delusional thinking part of that opinion?

″MR. JONES: -- at the time of the offense, in his
opinion, Mr. Abdullah was suffering from paranoid
delusions. Is that --

″A Yes.″ (Italics [*56] added.)

″MR. PETERSON: I think there is no problem with
that.
″THE COURT: I think maybe then we thought we had
[*55] an issue but we don’t have?
″MR. JONES: No, I wanted to ask about premeditation
and deliberation.
″THE COURT: That is for the jury. That is the ultimate
question. That is where I draw the line. You cannot ask
that question.
″MR. JONES: Just establish an opinion -″THE COURT: Sure, it is consistent. It is up to the jury
whether it is deliberated, premeditated. [P] … [P]
″[DR. SCOTT]: Real quick question…. The one answer
that I thought got struck was that he was psychotic or
delusional that day, but I think that answer was stricken
from the jury, but it sounds like I am now allowed to
actually say that. I don’t want to get struck again. Am
I clear I can say that or not?
″MR. PETERSON: I think you are mistaken. I think
actually the Court overruled that objection.
″[DR. SCOTT]: Okay ….″ (Italics added.)

B. Analysis
From our review of the record, it is apparent that Dr. Scott
was indeed correct concerning the striking of his testimony.
Nevertheless, it is further apparent that the trial court’s
ultimate ruling permitted the defense to elicit Scott’s opinion
concerning whether, at the time of the offense, appellant
was suffering from paranoid delusions. That defense counsel
chose to ask whether delusional thinking was part of Scott’s
opinion, rather than directly asking whether, in Scott’s
opinion, appellant was suffering from paranoid delusions at
the time of the offense, does not mean the court’s ruling
precluded counsel from asking the latter question.
In light of the foregoing, we cannot agree with appellant’s
claim that the trial court erred by precluding Scott from
rendering an opinion that appellant, as a result of his
schizophrenia, experienced delusions on the day of the
incident. Although the trial court’s initial rulings had that
effect, its ultimate ruling did not. 19 Moreover, even if we
were to conclude the defense was limited to eliciting Scott’s
opinion that appellant’s conduct at the time of the offense
was consistent with that of someone who was delusional, we
[*57] would find no error.
Considered together, sections 25, 20 28, 21 and 29 22 mean
that ″evidence of mental problems is inadmissible to show

19
Our conclusion that the trial court’s final ruling did not preclude such inquiry is supported by the fact the prosecutor questioned both
Scott and Mohandie concerning the existence of any evidence appellant was actively delusional at the time of the shooting.
20

Subdivision [*58] (a) of section 25 provides in pertinent part: ″The defense of diminished capacity is hereby abolished. In a criminal
action, … evidence concerning an accused person’s … mental illness, disease, or defect shall not be admissible to show or negate
capacity to form the particular purpose, intent, motive, malice aforethought, knowledge, or other mental state required for the
commission of the crime charged.″
21

Subdivision (a) of section 28 provides: ″Evidence of mental disease, mental defect, or mental disorder shall not be admitted to show
or negate the capacity to form any mental state, including, but not limited to, purpose, intent, knowledge, premeditation, deliberation,
or malice aforethought, with which the accused committed the act. Evidence of mental disease, mental defect, or mental disorder is
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that a defendant lacked the capacity to form the requisite
mental state, but is admissible to show that the defendant
actually lacked the requisite mental state. An expert may
testify regarding the defendant’s mental condition so long as
the expert gives no opinion on the ultimate question of
whether or not the defendant actually had the requisite
mental state.″ (People v. Molina (1988) 202 Cal.App.3d
1168, 1173, italics omitted, disapproved on another ground
in People v. Saille (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1103, 1113, 1115-1116;
accord, People v. Coddington (2000) 23 Cal.4th 529, 582,
superseded by statute on another ground as stated in Verdin
v. Superior Court (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1096, 1107, fn. 4,
disapproved on another ground in Price v. Superior Court
(2001) 25 Cal.4th 1046, 1069, fn. 13.)
″A delusion is defined as ’something that is falsely or
delusively believed or propagated … as … a false conception
and persistent belief unconquerable by reason in something
that has no evidence in fact [or] a false belief regarding the
self or persons or objects outside the self that persists
despite the facts….’ [Citation.]″ (People v. Mejia-Lenares
(2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 1437, 1453, fn. 22.) Similarly, ″[a]
hallucination is a perception with no objective reality.
[Citations.]″ (People v. Padilla (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 675,
678-679.) Thus, in either instance, the person ″is not
negligently interpreting actual facts; instead, he or she is out
of touch with reality.″ (People v. Mejia-Lenares, supra, at p.
1454.)
Appellant says delusion is not an intent or mental state that
is an element of any crime charged or special circumstance
alleged in this case, nor does a delusion negate any
[*60] such intent or mental state. Accordingly, his argument
runs, nothing in sections 25, 28, or 29 precluded Scott from
rendering opinions as to appellant’s delusional beliefs on
the day of the shooting.
In People v. Nunn (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1357, the appellate
court held that ″section 29 does not simply forbid the use of
certain words, it prohibits an expert from offering an
opinion on the ultimate question of whether the defendant
had or did not have a particular mental state at the time he
acted. An expert may not evade the restrictions of section 29
by couching an opinion in words which are or would be
taken as synonyms for the mental states involved. Nor may

an expert evade section 29 by offering the opinion that the
defendant at the time he acted had a state of mind which is
the opposite of, and necessarily negates, the existence of the
required mental state.″ (People v. Nunn, supra, at p. 1364,
italics added; see also People v. Bordelon (2008) 162
Cal.App.4th 1311, 1327 [hypothetical question cannot be
used to do indirectly what cannot be done directly under
statute].)
In People v. Padilla, supra, 103 Cal.App.4th at page 679,
this court determined that a hallucination can negate
[*61] deliberation and premeditation, and so reduce first
degree murder to second degree murder. By logical
extension, a delusion can also negate premeditation and
deliberation. A delusion does not necessarily do so, however;
as this court has also observed, ″[W]hile one who acts on a
delusion may argue that he or she did not realize he or she
was acting unlawfully as a result of the delusion, he or she
may not take a delusional perception and treat it as if it were
true for purposes of assessing wrongful intent…. [P] To
hold otherwise would undercut the legislative provisions
separating guilt from insanity.″ (People v. Mejia-Lenares,
supra, 135 Cal.App.4th at p. 1456.)
Because a delusion does not necessarily negate intent or
premeditation, expert testimony that a defendant was
delusional does not automatically run afoul of the holding of
People v. Nunn, supra, 50 Cal.App.4th at page 1364. This is
so because such testimony is not necessarily synonymous
with lack of intent or lack of premeditation and deliberation.
Depending on the circumstances of the particular case, then,
such testimony may be permissible. (See, e.g., People v. San
Nicolas (2004) 34 Cal.4th 614, 662-663 [trial court did
[*62] not abuse discretion by (1) admitting expert testimony
concerning spillover concept in abstract and how it might
relate to defendant’s conduct on day of murders, but (2)
excluding expert testimony on spillover rage that related to
whether defendant actually had requisite mental state];
People v. Bordelon, supra, 162 Cal.App.4th at pp. 13261328 [defense counsel was properly precluded from eliciting
expert’s opinion concerning defendant’s specific intent or
mental state through hypothetical question based on facts of
case, but hypothetical question concerning motive of
someone in defendant’s position would have been
permissible under § 29]; People v. Jackson (1984) 152

admissible solely on the issue of whether or not the accused actually formed a required specific intent, premeditated, deliberated, or
harbored malice aforethought, when a specific intent crime is charged.″
22

Section 29 provides: ″In the guilt phase of a criminal action, any expert testifying about a defendant’s mental illness, mental disorder,
or mental defect shall not testify as to whether [*59] the defendant had or did not have the required mental states, which include, but
are not limited to, purpose, intent, knowledge, or malice aforethought, for the crimes charged. The question as to whether the defendant
had or did not have the required mental states shall be decided by the trier of fact.″
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Cal.App.3d 961, 968, 969 [defense psychiatrists testified
that on day of stabbing, defendant’s action was result of
mental disease and psychotic compulsion, but could not
specifically testify that defendant did not premeditate or
have malice aforethought].)
Precisely because delusion is not conclusive on the issue,
however, we perceive no significant difference, in terms of
establishing or negating a required mental state, between
expert opinion that a defendant was in fact delusional at the
time of the charged offenses, [*63] and expert opinion that
a defendant’s behavior, background, and mental state were
consistent with him or her being delusional at the time of
the offenses. Such testimony neither violates the pertinent
statutes nor is unduly restrictive. (See, e.g., People v.
Coddington, supra, 23 Cal.4th at pp. 582-583 [expert’s
opinion that a form of mental illness can lead to impulsive
behavior is relevant to existence of mental states of
premeditation and deliberation, and so is admissible under
§§ 28 & 29]; People v. Bordelon, supra, 162 Cal.App.4th at
p. 1328 [in response to hypothetical question concerning
motive, expert presumably would have testified that
defendant’s behavior was consistent with someone with
″’institutionalization’″ who wanted to be returned to prison;
it would remain for jury to draw inference that, because he
wanted to get back to prison, defendant did not have specific
intent required for robbery, the charged crime]; People v.
Nunn, supra, 50 Cal.App.4th at p. 1365 [expert could
permissibly opine that defendant, because of history of
psychological trauma, tended to overreact to stress and
apprehension, that such condition could result in defendant
acting impulsively under [*64] particular circumstances,
and that encounter shown by evidence in case was type that
could result in impulsive reaction from one with defendant’s
mental condition; expert could not conclude defendant did
act impulsively, viz., without intent to kill (express malice
aforethought)].)
A trial court’s decision to admit expert testimony, even
under sections 25, 28, and 29, is reviewed for abuse of
discretion. (People v. San Nicolas, supra, 34 Cal.4th at p.
663; People v. Bordelon, supra, 162 Cal.App.4th at p.
1327.) Appellant has established no such abuse here.
II
Appellant next contends the trial court erred by setting an
arbitrary cutoff of a month after the date of the shooting,
with respect to records and evidence on which Dr. Scott
could rely in rendering his opinions. Our reading of the
record shows that the trial court did not limit the materials
on which Scott could rely, but only those that could be

delineated in his testimony. Under the circumstances of this
case, we find no error.
A. Background
By the time of trial, appellant had been in custody for years,
and in that time, voluminous jail and other mental health
records were compiled. Prior to his opening statement,
defense counsel [*65] noted that the prosecutor wanted to
limit the focus of any psychological testimony to several
weeks around the time of the incident. Defense counsel said
he could do that.
Defense counsel questioned Cecilia Salazar, the jail nurse,
about notes she had written concerning her interactions with
appellant. When counsel inquired about a note dated October
15, 2001, the prosecutor objected on grounds of relevancy
and Evidence Code section 352. The trial court sustained the
objection.
Outside the presence of the jury, Lambe explained that,
while Salazar had testified concerning some of appellant’s
hallucinations and delusions, other of her notes reflected
less severe mental difficulties; hence, the defense was
attempting to present a balanced portrait of what she
observed so that the jury had a full picture, and so that there
was no risk the defense’s credibility would be damaged by
only bringing out the worst parts and having the prosecution
bring out the less severe aspects of appellant’s behavior. The
prosecutor argued that the testimony was getting far from
the date of the incident, which was the focus of the jury’s
consideration. He noted that many hundreds of pages of
records had been [*66] generated with respect to appellant,
and argued that there had to be some limitation, with a
determination under Evidence Code section 352 as to what
was time-consuming and what was probative in the context
of the guilt phase of trial. Jones responded that the expert
relied heavily on all of appellant’s records and formed his
opinions based on everything he read and considered, and
Jones needed to go over all of the material with the expert
in order to be able effectively to present an opinion that
appellant’s conduct on August 21 was consistent with
someone suffering from schizophrenia and delusions. Jones
conceded, however, that Scott, and probably the other
experts, felt that things that were said later on were not
really reliable, because they were totally delusional. As a
result, the most reliable time period to look at was as close
to the offense as possible. Jones expressed concern that the
parties could use portions of statements made later on to
attack the opinions of each other’s experts, but he stated that
if required to contain the doctor to the JAT records and
documents immediately surrounding the incident, the defense
could attempt to do that.
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The prosecutor asserted that [*67] the experts could use the
entire mental health record generated in this case as the
basis on which to form their opinions, but that testimony
from other witnesses regarding any delusions or
hallucinations that may have existed should be limited to 30
days before and after the date of the shooting. When Jones
pointed out that under the DSM-IV, a longer period was
needed to establish the mental illness, the prosecutor agreed
that events leading up to, and any symptomology that was
present before, August 21, 2001, was unobjectionable, even
if it was beyond 30 days. He did believe, however, that JAT
records and other psychological documents generated for
years since the shooting were time-consuming and of little
probative value with respect to the specific issues before the
court. The trial court agreed, stating: ″I think the history’s
important and I don’t know how much more history you
intend to put on the record. You do have other witnesses
who will be testifying post the date of August 21st. I think
there should be a time frame that we stick to. Beyond that,
I think we’re probably just wasting time, and I don’t think
any expert is going to not consider it relevant nor do I think
it [*68] is relevant to a decision. So I’m going to limit you
to 30 days post August 21st.″
During direct examination, Scott was asked whether, in
reviewing the materials, he saw any evidence that appellant
experienced delusions prior to the offense and ″within a
certain period of time″ after the offense. Scott answered yes
to both questions and proceeded to relate that evidence.
When he referred to a jail note dated September 13, 2001,
and then said that there were years’ worth of substantial
false beliefs from that point onward, including that appellant
had married Dominique Dawes, the gymnast, the prosecutor
objected. Scott then asked for clarification. Outside the
jury’s presence, he explained that appellant had personally
told him about Dawes, and that he had to look at appellant’s
life history to make a diagnosis. The court then inquired
whether it was important to Scott to be able to discuss things
beyond the limit of 30 days post-incident, aside from his
interview with appellant. Scott responded that having
sustained observation over time and looking at the records
to see if someone really did have a psychiatric diagnosis that
persisted versus something that only lasted for 30 days was
[*69] very important for making a diagnosis and ensuring
the patient was not malingering. It was also important in
differentiating schizophrenia from drug-induced psychosis.
Scott concluded: ″So that 30-day cutoff, you know, the fact
that he had such sustained symptoms over time really does
support he has a legitimate mental illness versus faking or
versus using drugs. [P] So to that extent it is helpful for
making a psychiatric diagnosis. I mean, I think it is critical.″
The prosecutor noted that appellant had been diagnosed as
schizophrenic by a number of experts, and represented that

malingering was not an issue. He asserted that the doctor
could offer an opinion regarding appellant’s psychosis and
could state his basis for that opinion, and he had no
objection to Scott offering an opinion based on his interviews
and the statements made to him by appellant. He believed,
however, that the 30-day cutoff was fair with respect to
statements regarding delusions and hallucinations from
other sources such as jail personnel.
When the trial court expressed concern that the 30-day
limitation might be unfair and artificial, Scott noted that in
his report, he stated that he gave more weight to statements
[*70] made about appellant’s mental state at the time of, and
closer to, the offense. A psychiatric diagnosis is made over
time, however. Thus, as Scott viewed it, there were two
issues: information to fairly and credibly support psychiatric
diagnoses, and mental state at the time of the offense.
Jones expressed the concern that appellant had said some
things after the offense that were consistent with certain
pieces of circumstantial evidence. For example, on several
occasions, he talked about the helicopters. In Jones’s view,
if the helicopters were something that could trigger or
exacerbate appellant’s mental problems, then Scott should
be able to comment. The prosecutor disagreed, arguing that
the presence of the helicopter on the date of the shooting
was a fact, not a delusion. When Scott was asked whether
something such as hearing helicopters was important in
considering all the evidence surrounding the time of the
offense, he replied that it could be, because, while it was not
a hallucination or delusion, one of the things to be considered
was how a mentally ill person perceived the environment
around him or her. If someone is paranoid, his or her
symptoms may worsen based on true, [*71] legitimate
stimuli. A jail note of November 10, 2001, reflected that
appellant talked about helicopters in relationship to the
offense. The prosecutor responded that Scott could give that
same explanation without making any reference to a
statement appellant made beyond the 30-day period. He
clarified that he had no objection to Scott stating that he was
basing his opinion and diagnosis on his review of the entire
record, but instead was simply objecting to any specific
references from collateral sources being put before the jury
in connection with that opinion if they were made beyond
30 days after the shooting.
The court ruled:
″THE COURT: I’m going to stay with the 30-day
limitation on collateral source evidence. You may refer
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to it but [obliquely]. 23 The jury may know that the
doctor read all those records, and the records go from
whatever date to whatever date they ended. So they will
know that these are things that he relied upon with no
specific reference to an item in the record. Okay? [P] …
[P]
″THE WITNESS: Just so I’m respectful of the Court’s
order, if it is something that he told me in my
psychiatric evaluation, and I’m getting that information
from that interchange but [*72] not the collateral record
past 30 days, am I allowed to mention that?
″THE COURT: The answer to that question, Doctor, is
yes.″ (Italics added.)
In the jury’s presence, Jones elicited that Scott had read all
of the records between the time of appellant’s arrest and the
time of Scott’s evaluation, and that he had looked at the
interrogation tape and the jail records that included the
30-day period following the arrest. Jones then had Scott go
through those jail records. Jones then asked whether, based
on his interview with appellant and his review of all of the
records, Scott had formed a diagnostic opinion. Scott
replied that he had, and stated his diagnosis. Jones
subsequently asked whether, based on his interview with
appellant and his review of all of the records that were
available, Scott was able to form an opinion regarding
appellant’s Axis I disorder at the time of the offense. Scott
replied that he was, and gave his opinion. When Jones
subsequently asked Scott what appellant told him about his
experience once he got to California, Scott explained that it
was important to know that some of the accounts from years
later could [*73] incorporate beliefs and information that
were part of the illness as it grew over time. Thus, Scott did
not see, in appellant’s earlier statements, some of the things
that appellant told him. This did not mean appellant had
inconsistent stories or was faking, however, but instead was
consistent with how schizophrenia progresses over time.
When Jones asked whether Scott relied heavily on what
appellant told him in trying to assess what happened on
August 21, 2001, Scott responded that he relied more on the
evidence before, during, and shortly after the crime.
B. Analysis
Evidence Code section 352 provides: ″The court in its
discretion may exclude evidence if its probative value is
substantially outweighed by the probability that its admission
will (a) necessitate undue consumption of time or (b) create
substantial danger of undue prejudice, of confusing the
23

issues, or of misleading the jury.″ ″[T]he trial court enjoys
broad discretion in assessing whether the probative value of
particular evidence is outweighed by concerns of undue
prejudice, confusion or consumption of time. [Citation.]
Where, as here, a discretionary power is statutorily vested in
the trial court, its exercise of that [*74] discretion ’must not
be disturbed on appeal except on a showing that the court
exercised its discretion in an arbitrary, capricious or patently
absurd manner that resulted in a manifest miscarriage of
justice. [Citations.]’ [Citation.]″ (People v. Rodrigues
(1994) 8 Cal.4th 1060, 1124-1125.) The trial court’s
discretion is not unlimited, however, ″especially when its
exercise hampers the ability of the defense to present
evidence.″ (People v. Cooper (1991) 53 Cal.3d 771, 816.)
We find nothing arbitrary, capricious, or absurd in the trial
court’s imposition of a 30-day cutoff with respect to specific
references to, and testimony about, collateral sources. It is
apparent that this amount of time was chosen as being the
most probative with respect to appellant’s state of mind at
the time of the shooting, which was the issue before the jury
in the guilt phase of trial, and that it resulted from an
implicit weighing of probative value against undue
consumption of time.
Evidence Code section 801, subdivision (b) requires an
expert’s opinion to be ″[b]ased on matter …, whether or not
admissible, that is of a type that reasonably may be relied
upon by an expert in forming an opinion upon the
[*75] subject to which his testimony relates, unless an
expert is precluded by law from using such matter as a basis
for his opinion.″ Here, Scott was not constrained from
relying on all of appellant’s records and other information,
but was merely precluded from reciting years of jail staff
and other observations of, and statements by, appellant to
the jury. Significantly, jurors were made aware that he relied
on all of the records.
Appellant points to Evidence Code section 802, which states
in pertinent part: ″A witness testifying in the form of an
opinion may state on direct examination the reasons for his
opinion and the matter … upon which it is based, unless he
is precluded by law from using such reasons or matter as a
basis for his opinion.″ This does not mean, however, that a
trial court may not impose limits, under Evidence Code
section 352, on the expert’s statement of reasons. (See
People v. Catlin (2001) 26 Cal.4th 81, 137.) Indeed, the
California Supreme Court has ″observed that ’″[w]here
expert opinion evidence is offered, much must be left to the
discretion of the trial court.″ [Citation.]’ [Citation.]″ (People

The reporter’s transcript uses the word ″bleakly.″
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v. Nicolaus (1991) 54 Cal.3d 551, 582.) No abuse of
discretion is [*76] shown here; Scott did state the matter on
which his opinion was based: all of the records. He himself
testified that he relied most heavily on those close in time to
the offense, and he was allowed specifically to refer to those
records in his testimony. There was no suggestion he needed
explicitly to state anything beyond the 30-day period in
order to give, or support, his opinion, especially in light of
the fact the prosecution did not seek to impeach that opinion
with any collateral source materials outside the 30-day
period.
In light of the foregoing, the trial court’s imposition of a
30-day cutoff was reasonable under the circumstances.
Moreover, it in no way impermissibly or unfairly impinged
upon or hampered the ability of the defense to present
evidence. There was no error.
III
Appellant separately contends that the trial court’s rulings,
discussed ante, violated his rights, under the Fifth, Sixth,
and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution, to present relevant exculpatory evidence and
to defend against the state’s accusations. He says this is so
even assuming the rulings were correct under California
law. As previously discussed, we found no error in the trial
[*77] court’s rulings under state law. We similarly find no
federal constitutional error. 24
″Application of the ordinary rules of evidence, as the trial
court did here, does not impermissibly infringe on a
defendant’s right to present a defense. [Citation.]″ (People
v. Mincey (1992) 2 Cal.4th 408, 440.) ″Courts retain … a
traditional and intrinsic power to exercise discretion to
control the admission of evidence in the interests of orderly
procedure and the avoidance of prejudice. [Citations.]″
(People v. Hall (1986) 41 Cal.3d 826, 834; accord, People
v. Lawley (2002) 27 Cal.4th 102, 155.)
We recognize that state evidentiary rules ″must yield to a
defendant’s due process right to a fair trial and to the right

to present all relevant evidence of significant probative
value to his or her defense.″ (People v. Cunningham (2001)
25 Cal.4th 926, 999; see, e.g., Rock v. Arkansas (1987) 483
U.S. 44, 55-57 [although right to permit relevant testimony
is not without limitation, [*79] state may not apply rule of
evidence that permits witness to take stand, but arbitrarily
excludes material portions of testimony; state’s per se rule
prohibiting admission of any defendant’s hypnotically
refreshed testimony violated defendant’s constitutional
rights]; Crane v. Kentucky (1986) 476 U.S. 683, 690-691
[absent valid state justification, state cannot exclude
competent, reliable exculpatory evidence where such
evidence is central to defendant’s claim of innocence];
Chambers v. Mississippi (1973) 410 U.S. 284, 302-303
[while respect is traditionally accorded to states in
establishment and implementation of criminal trial rules and
procedures, and while accused must comply with established
rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure fairness
and reliability in ascertainment of guilt, state hearsay rule
could not be applied mechanistically so as to defeat ends of
justice by precluding testimony bearing persuasive
assurances of trustworthiness and that was critical to
defense]; Washington v. Texas (1967) 388 U.S. 14, 23 [state
cannot arbitrarily deny defendant the right to present witness
who was physically and mentally capable of testifying to
events he personally observed, [*80] and whose testimony
would have been relevant and material to defense, merely
because witness was alleged accomplice].) Nevertheless,
although ″completely excluding evidence of an accused’s
defense theoretically could rise to″ a level of federal
constitutional error, ″excluding defense evidence on a minor
or subsidiary point does not impair an accused’s due process
right to present a defense. [Citation.]″ (People v. Fudge
(1994) 7 Cal.4th 1075, 1103; see, e.g., Taylor v. Illinois
(1988) 484 U.S. 400, 410 [under Sixth Amendment, accused
does not have unfettered right to present testimony that is
incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible under
standard rules of evidence]; Delaware v. Van Arsdall (1986)
475 U.S. 673, 679 [trial courts retain wide latitude, under
confrontation clause, to impose reasonable limits on

24

Citing People v. Clark (1990) 50 Cal.3d 583, respondent contends appellant forfeited his claim by not objecting to the trial court’s
previous rulings before submitting to the court trial. As appellant observes, Clark involved the admission of evidence in the retrial of
a penalty phase before a second jury after the first jury deadlocked, and not, as here, submission of the matter on the transcript of the
first trial. (Id. at pp. 593-594.) The California Supreme Court held that, absent a ruling or stipulation that objections and rulings would
be deemed renewed and made in a later trial, the failure to object at that later trial barred consideration of the issue on appeal, because
(1) a party might elect different tactics at a second trial, and (2) the trial court, being more fully informed, must be given an opportunity
to reconsider the prior ruling. (Id. at pp. 623-624; see also Evid. Code, § 353, subd. (a).) In appellant’s case, there was no issue of
different trial tactics; the matter was fully submitted on the transcript of the first trial. Moreover, defense counsel stated, without
contradiction [*78] from the prosecutor, that ″it would be a guilt phase case with the guilt issues that were presented before….″ (Italics
added.) In our view, this is tantamount to an implied stipulation that objections and rulings would be deemed renewed and made in the
court trial. Accordingly, we conclude the claim has been preserved.
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cross-examination, but constitutional error occurred when
trial judge prohibited all inquiry into potential bias of
prosecution witness]; Davis v. Alaska (1974) 415 U.S. 308,
316 [under confrontation clause, trial court retains broad
discretion to preclude repetitive and unduly harassing
cross-examination].)
Here, appellant clearly was not precluded from presenting
his [*81] defense. That the trial court exercised its
discretionary power to exclude some evidence does not
mean there was any constitutional infirmity in its rulings, as
they were neither arbitrary nor constituted anything close to
a blanket exclusion of any given subject. (See People v.
Hart (1999) 20 Cal.4th 546, 607 [no constitutional violation
where trial court merely exercised discretion to preclude
examination on collateral matters].) 25

appellant’s trial court. Appellant’s claim in this regard is
essentially one of judicial bias, which appellant forfeited by
failing to assert it in the trial court. (People v. Farley (2009)
46 Cal.4th 1053, 1110.) Moreover, appellant provides no
citations to the record supporting his assertion, and our
review of the record reveals no suggestion of inconsistent
rulings or rulings that were partial to either side. Appellant’s
claim is without merit. (People v. Alcala (1992) 4 Cal.4th
742, 798.)
DISPOSITION
The judgment is affirmed.
Ardaiz, P.J.
WE CONCUR:

Almost in passing, appellant submits that California trial
courts in general, and his trial court as well, have not
applied section 352 evenhandedly, thus resulting in a
constitutional violation. We are not concerned with rulings
[*82] of California trial courts in general, but only of

Levy, J.
Gomes, J.
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We note that the limitations on expert testimony contained in sections 28 and 29 have uniformly been held not to violate a
defendant’s federal constitutional rights. (People v. Coddington, supra, 23 Cal.4th at p. 583; People v. Nunn, supra, 50 Cal.App.4th at
p. 1363; People v. Young, supra, 189 Cal.App.3d at p. 905; People v. McCowan (1986) 182 Cal.App.3d 1, 14-15; People v. Whitler (1985)
171 Cal.App.3d 337, 340-341; People v. Lynn (1984) 159 Cal.App.3d 715, 732-733; People v. Jackson, supra, 152 Cal.App.3d at pp.
967-969.)
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